

METROPOLITAN WASHINGTON AIRPORTS AUTHORITY

CONTRACTING MANUAL

FOURTH EDITION

April 1, 2013

PROCUREMENT AND CONTRACTS DEPARTMENT
OFFICE OF FINANCE

METROPOLITAN WASHINGTON AIRPORTS AUTHORITY CONTRACTING MANUAL – FOURTH EDITION

FOREWORD

The Metropolitan Washington Airports Authority's *Contracting Manual* (Manual) sets forth the contracting policies and procedures that the Airports Authority uses to acquire goods and services with a total dollar commitment currently set at over \$50,000 and for all construction contracting procedures. The Manual also includes, in Chapter 6, contracting procedures for award of concession contracts and, in Chapter 10, contracting procedures for award of Federal Transit Administration grant supported contracts.

The Manual applies generally to the acquisition of goods, services and construction by the Airports Authority. It also applies to Airports Authority contracts for concessions and contracts to manage concessions at Ronald Reagan Washington National Airport and Washington Dulles International Airport or along the Dulles Toll Road. As set out more fully in the Introduction and Scope of the Manual, it does not apply (i) to circumstances that do not involve the acquisition of goods and/or services by the Airports Authority, such as grants and sponsorships provided by the Airports Authority and transactions involving real estate (such as leases (except in connection with a concession contract), easements and licenses), or (ii) to acquisitions by the Airports Authority that, by their very nature, do not require application of the Manual's contracting procedures, such as agreements with credit rating agencies, and agreements involving organizational memberships and membership dues, conferences and conference fees, and similar matters.

The Materials Management Divisions at Ronald Reagan Washington National Airport and Washington Dulles International Airport are responsible for the acquisition of goods and services that involve a dollar commitment that do not exceed \$50,000. Procedures for acquisitions by those offices are in the Airports Authority's *Airport Purchasing Policies and Procedures Manual*.

This fourth edition of the Manual is effective April 1, 2013.

The Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department, is responsible for publication and distribution of this Manual to Airports Authority division managers and above and to the public, as requested. It is also available on the Publications Section of the Airports Authority's website at www.mwaa.com. Inquiries should be directed to-

Metropolitan Washington Airports Authority Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department 1 Aviation Circle Washington, DC 20001-6000 Phone (703) 417-8660

E-Mail Address: contracting@mwaa.com

Numerous other Airports Authority points of contact are included in Appendix B.

John E. Potter

President and Chief Executive Officer

R E. Totte

Contracting Manual	Fourth Edition
This Page Intentionally Left Blank	
Page ii	

TABLE OF CONTENTS

FOREWORD		I
TABLE OF CO	ONTENTS	III
INTRODUCTI	ION AND SCOPE OF CONTRACTING MANUAL	XIII
1	CONTRACTING AUTHORITY & PROCESS	1
1.1	FULL AND OPEN COMPETITION	1
1.2	FULL AND OPEN COMPETITION WITH EXCLUSIONS	
1.2.1	Local Disadvantaged Business Enterprises – 100% Set Aside	
1.2.2	Airport Security	1
1.3	FULL AND OPEN COMPETITION USING CONTRACTS COMPETITIVELY PROCURED BY O GOVERNMENTAL UNITS	THER
1.3.1	Governmental Contracts and Suppliers	
1.4	OTHER THAN FULL AND OPEN COMPETITION	
1.4.1	Circumstances That May Result in Other than Full and Open Competition Procurements	
1.4.2	Written Justifications for Other than Full and Open Competition	4
1.5	CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER'S AUTHORITY	
1.5.1	Delegations from CEO	4
1.5.2	Re-delegation of Contracting Authority	4
1.6	RESPONSIBILITIES OF PROCUREMENT OFFICES	
1.6.1	Procurement and Contracts Department	
1.6.2	Materials Management Divisions	
1.6.3	Emergency Purchase Authority	
1.7	ANNUAL ACQUISITION FORECASTS; QUARTERLY REPORTS	
1.8	ADVERTISEMENT OF CONTRACTING OPPORTUNITIES	
1.9	SOLICITATION AND CONTRACT AWARD	
1.9.1	Protests	
1.9.2	Notifying and Debriefing Unsuccessful Offerors	
1.10	CONTRACT ADMINISTRATION	
1.10.1	Disputes	
1.10.2	Points of Contact	
1.11	STANDARDS OF CONDUCT	
1.11.1	Codes of Ethics	
1.11.2	Contractor Certifications and Disclosures; Employment of Former Airports Authority Employees	
1.11.3	Prohibited Conduct and Procurement Integrity	δ
2	SOLICITATION PROCESS	11
2.1	PROPOSALS AND BIDDING COMPARED	11
2.1.1	Competition Guidelines	11
2.2	COMPETITIVE PROPOSALS (RFP)	11
2.2.1	Certificate of Current Cost or Pricing Data	11
2.2.2	RFP Content	12
2.2.3	Opening Proposals	12
2.2.4	Clarifications	12
2.2.5	Single Response to a Solicitation	
2.2.6	Review of Proposals – Conformity Determination	12
2.2.7	RFP Evaluation Criteria	
2.2.8	Evaluation Criteria – Price Only	
2.2.9	Evaluation Criteria– Both Price and Technical	
2.2.10	Evaluation Criteria– Technical Only	
2.2.11	Evaluation Criteria for Two-Step Design-Build Procurement Processes	
2.3	EVALUATION COMMITTEE (EC)	
2.3.1	Composition of EC	
2.3.2	Evaluation Steps	
2.3.3	Price Formula for Assigning Points	17

224	N , D , AV 1 (AVDIV) A 1 :	17
2.3.4	Net Present Value (NPV) Analysis	
2.4	PRE-AWARD	
2.4.1	Discussions/Negotiations	
2.4.2	Correction of Mistakes Prior to Award	
2.4.3	Competitive Range	
2.4.4	Best and Final Offers	
2.4.5	Final Contract Processing	
2.4.6	Determination of Responsibility	
2.4.7	Contract Format	
2.4.8	Pre-Award Conference	
2.4.9	Contract Award	
2.5	BEST VALUE PROCEDURE	
2.6	A/E SOURCE SELECTION	
2.6.1	A/E Announcement and Responses	
2.6.2	A/E Evaluation Criteria	
2.6.3	A/E Evaluation Committee Procedures	
2.6.4	Negotiating With Top-Ranked A/E Firm	
2.7	CONTRACTING FOR CONSTRUCTION	
2.7.1	Construction Contracting Approach	
2.7.2	Construction Contractor Responsibility	
2.7.3	Construction Specifications	
2.7.4	Minimum Work by General Contractor	
2.7.5	Design-Build Contracts	
2.8	ADVERTISED SEALED BIDS	
2.8.1	Basis for Solicitation of Bids	
2.8.2	Preparation of Invitation for Bids	
2.8.3	Opening of Bids/Pre-Award	
2.8.4	IFB Determination of Responsiveness	
2.8.5	Two-Step Advertised Sealed Bids	
2.9	OTHER CONTRACTING METHODS	
2.9.1	Limited Competitive Proposals	
2.9.2	Controlled Distribution RFP	
2.9.3	Sole Source Negotiation	
2.9.4	Cooperative/Government Purchasing Agreements	
2.10	RFQ/PURCHASE ORDERS	
2.10.1	Purchase Order/Blanket Purchase Order	
2.10.1	GENERAL SOLICITATION CONSIDERATIONS	
2.11.1	Combined/Modified Solicitations	
2.11.2 2.11.3	Solicitation Distribution	
	Pre-Proposal Conference/Site Visit	
2.11.4	Planholders List	
2.11.5 2.11.6	Public Release of Information	
	Amendments	
2.11.7	Timely Submission of Proposals	
2.11.8	Electronically Transmitted Offers	
2.11.9	Alternate or Qualified Offers	
2.11.10	Qualified Proposals	
2.11.11	Revisions/Withdrawals of Proposals	
2.11.12	Right to Cancel a Solicitation	29
3	CONTRACT TYPES AND PROCEDURES	31
3.1	FIRM FIXED-PRICE CONTRACTS	31
3.2	FIXED-UNIT-PRICE CONTRACTS	
3.3	COMBINED FIRM-FIXED/UNIT-PRICE	
3.4	FIXED-PRICE WITH PRICE ADJUSTMENT	
3.5	TIME-AND-MATERIALS CONTRACTS	
3.6	COST-REIMBURSEMENT CONTRACTS	
J.U		

3.7	INCENTIVE CONTRACTS	33
3.8	TASK CONTRACTS	33
3.8.1	Use of Task Contracts	
3.8.2	Guidelines for Using Task Contracts	
3.9	PURCHASE OF GOODS INDEFINITE DELIVERY CONTRACTS	
3.10	AIP AND OTHER GRANT-FUNDED PROCUREMENTS	
3.11	GENERAL CONTRACTING PROCEDURES	
3.11.1	Discounts	
3.11.2 3.11.3	Quantity, Price, DeliveryFOB/Freight Payment Terms	
3.11.3 3.11.4	Provisions for On-Site Work	
3.11.5	Contractor License Requirements	
3.11.6	Nondiscrimination	
3.11.7	Performance, Payment and Bid Bonds	
3.11.8	Bonds for Non-construction	
3.11.9	Litigation Bonds	
3.11.10	Insurance	
3.11.11	Contacts with Vendors	37
3.11.12	Rental, Lease, and Installment Purchases	38
3.11.13	Purchasing Used Equipment	
3.11.14	Samples	
3.11.15	Multiple Awards and Split Awards	
3.11.16	Contracting for Equipment Maintenance	
3.11.17	Use of Vendor's Standard Contract Form	
3.11.18	Endorsement of Vendors' Products/Services	
3.11.19	Allowable Cost Reimbursements	
3.11.20	Maximum Allowable Profit	
3.11.21	Delivery Incentives	
3.11.22	Performance Periods	
3.11.23 3.11.24	Options May Extend or Change Performance	
3.11.25	Living Wage	
3.11.26	Audit and Inspection of Records	
	EQUAL OPPORTUNITY CONTRACTING PROGRAMS	
4	-	
4.1	LDBE/DBE PARTICIPATION	
4.2	DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS ENTERPRISE (DBE) PROGRAM	
4.3	LOCAL DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS ENTERPRISE (LDBE) PROGRAM	
4.4	VOLUNTARY MBE AND WBE PARTICIPATION	
4.5 4.6	LDBE AND DBE CERTIFICATION DETERMINATION OF LDBE/DBE POTENTIAL	
4.7	PROPOSING DBE AND LDBE PARTICIPATION FOR AUTHORITY CONTRACTS	
4.8	GOOD FAITH EFFORTS WAIVERS	
4.9	PREAWARD SUBSTITUTIONS	
4.10	POST-AWARD COMPLIANCE WITH DBE GOAL AND LDBE REQUIREMENTS	
5	CONTRACT ADMINISTRATION	
5.1	PRE-PERFORMANCE CONFERENCE	47
5.2	AWARD AND NOTICE-TO-PROCEED (NTP)	
5.3	CORRECTION OF MISTAKES AFTER AWARD	
5.3.1	Correction by Modification	
5.3.2	Other Possible Actions	47
5.3.3	Clear and Convincing Evidence	
5.4	CHANGE ORDERS/CONTRACT MODIFICATIONS	
5.4.1	Types of Modifications	
5.4.2	Preference for Bilateral Contract Modifications	
5.4.3	Reopening a Closed Contract	49

5.5	PAYMENT CONSIDERATIONS	49
5.5.1	Electronic Transfer of Funds	49
5.5.2	Timeliness of Payments	50
5.5.3	Prepayments	50
5.6	SUBCONTRACTOR NON-PAYMENT	50
5.7	SUSPENSION OF WORK	51
5.8	CONTRACTOR PERFORMANCE	51
5.8.1	Documentation of Performance Critically Important	
5.8.2	Contractor Performance Evaluation Reports	
5.8.3	Contractor Delinquencies	
5.8.4	Cure Notice	
5.8.5	Show Cause Notice	
5.9	TERMINATION FOR DEFAULT (T FOR D)	52
5.9.1	Termination for Default Notice	
5.9.2	Re-procurement of Goods or Services	
5.9.3	Other Damages	
5.9.4	Memorandum of the Termination Action	
5.10	TERMINATION FOR CONVENIENCE (T FOR C)	
5.10.1	T for C Contracting Officer's Responsibilities	
5.10.2	T for C Contractor's Responsibilities	
5.11	TERMINATION SETTLEMENT	
5.11.1	Principles of Compensation	
5.11.2	Termination Settlement Reviews	
5.12	CONTRACT CLOSEOUT	
5.12.1	Closeout Modification	
5.12.2	Time Goal for Closeout	
5.12.3	Exceptions to Full Release of Claims	
6	CONCESSIONS CONTRACTS	
6.1	CONTRACTING AUTHORITY	
6.1.1	Contracting Officers	
6.1.2	Vice President Approvals	
6.1.3	Contracting Process Oversight	
6.1.4	Board Approval	
6.1.5	Full and Open Competition	
6.1.6	Full and Open Competition With Exclusions - Airport Concessions Disadvantaged Business Enterprises	-
(17	100% Set Aside	
6.1.7	Other than Full and Open Competition	
6.1.8		57
6.1.9	Codes of Ethics	
6.1.10	Contractor Certifications and Disclosures; Employment of Former Authority Employees	
6.1.11	Prohibited Conduct	
6.2	SOLICITATION PROCESS	
6.2.1	Solicitation Types - Competitive Proposals	
6.2.2	Solicitation Types – Advertised Sealed Bids (IFB)	
6.2.3	Types of Solicitations - Sole Source Negotiation	
6.2.4	Types of Solicitations – Combined/Modified Solicitations	
6.2.5	Preparation of Solicitations and Draft Contracts	
6.2.6	Advertisement of Concession Opportunities	
6.2.7	Solicitation Distribution	
6.2.8	Prospective Offeror Lists	
6.2.9	Amendments	
6.2.10	Public Release of Information	
6.2.11	Timely Submission of Proposals	
6.2.12	Electronically Transmitted Proposals	
6.2.13	Alternate or Qualified Offers	
6.2.14	Qualified proposals	64

6.2.15	Revisions / Withdrawals of Proposals	64
6.2.16	Right to Cancel a Solicitation	
6.2.17	Single Response to a Solicitation	65
6.2.18	Opening Proposals	65
6.2.19	Clarifications	
6.2.20	Review of Proposals – Conformity Determination	65
6.3	PROPOSAL EVALUATION	
6.3.1	Composition of Evaluation Committee	
6.3.2	Evaluation Process	
6.3.3	Correction of Mistakes Prior To Award	
6.3.4	Competitive Range/Short List	
6.3.5	Discussions with Offerors	
6.3.6	Best and Final Offers	
6.3.7	Final Evaluation and Recommendation	
6.3.8	Determination of Responsibility	
6.3.9 6.4	Pre-Award Conference CONTRACT AWARD	
6.4.1	Apparent Successful Offeror	
6.4.2	Apparent Successful Offeror	
6.4.3	Use of Contractor's Standard Contract Form	
6.5	POST-CONTRACT AWARD	
6.5.1	Notifying and Debriefing Unsuccessful Offerors	
6.5.2	Pre-Performance Conference	
6.5.3	Correction of Mistakes after Award	
6.6	TWO-PHASE CONCESSION SOLICITATION	71
6.6.1	Phase 1	
6.6.2	Phase 2	
6.7	CONTRACT ADMINISTRATION	
6.7.1	Contract Modifications	
6.7.2	Extension of Contracts	
6.7.3	Termination and Temporary Suspension of Concession Operations	73
6.7.4	Contractor Performance	
6.7.5	ACDBE Compliance	74
6.7.6	Termination for Default	74
6.7.7	Contract Expiration	
6.7.8	Disputes	
6.8	REVIEW OF CONCESSION CONTRACT ACTIONS	
6.9	AUDIT AND INSPECTION OF RECORDS	
6.10	MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS	
6.11	PROTESTS; SUSPENSION AND DEBARMENT	75
7	PROTESTS	77
7.1	FORMAT	77
7.1	SCHEDULE FOR PROTESTS	
7.2	REVIEW	
7.4	AWARD OF CONTRACT AND NOTICE TO PROCEED.	
7.5	PROTEST PROCEDURE FOR TWO-STEP DESIGN-BUILD PROCUREMENT PROCESS	
7.6	SOLICITATIONS FUNDED BY THE FTA	
8	DISPUTES	
8.1	DISPUTES - GENERAL	
8.2	WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL	
8.3 8.3.1	DISPUTES PROVISION	
8.3.2	Steps of Administrative Disputes Procedure	
8.4	REMEDIES FOR INAPPROPRIATE CLAIMS	
9	SUSPENSION AND DEBARMENT	83

9.1	POLICY	83
9.2	NATURE OF SUSPENSION AND DEBARMENT.	
9.3	DEFINITIONS	
9.4	DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY TO MAKE SUSPENSION OR DEBARMENT DETERMINATIONS	
9.5	DEBARMENT	83
9.5.1	Causes for Debarment	84
9.5.2	Debarment of Contractor Affiliated or Connected with Another	84
9.5.3	Procedures for Debarment Determinations	84
9.5.4	Airports Authority Review of a Debarment Determination	85
9.6	SUSPENSION	
9.6.1	Procedures for Suspension	
9.7	CONSEQUENCES OF DEBARMENT OR SUSPENSION	
9.8	LISTS OF PARTIES DEBARRED OR SUSPENDED	86
10	FEDERAL TRANSIT ADMINISTRATION (FTA) REQUIREMENTS	87
10.1	DEFINITIONS	87
10.1.1	Advance Payments	
10.1.2	Best Practices Procurement Manual (BPPM)	87
10.1.3	Best Value	87
10.1.4	Cardinal Change	87
10.1.5	Common Grant Rule	88
10.1.6	FTA	88
10.1.7	Federally Required Clauses	88
10.1.8	Full and Open Competition	88
10.1.9	Local Government	88
10.1.10	Master Agreement	
10.1.11	Progress Payments	
10.1.12	Recipient	
10.1.13	Revenue Contract	
10.1.14	State or Local Government Purchasing Schedule or Purchasing Contract	
10.1.15	Third Party Contract	
10.2	APPLICABILITY OF FEDERAL, STATE AND LOCAL PROCUREMENT LAWS, REGULATIONS A	
	GUIDANCE DOCUMENTS	
10.2.1	FTA Circular 4220.1F	
10.2.2	Scope of Circular 4220.1F	
10.2.3	Federal Laws and Regulations	
10.2.4	State and Local Laws and Regulations	
10.3	AIRPORTS AUTHORITY RESPONSIBILITIES	
10.3.1	Written Standards of Conduct	
10.3.2	Third Party Contracting Capacity	
10.4	WRITTEN PROCUREMENT PROCEDURES	
10.4.1	Specifications	
10.4.2	Necessity	
10.4.3	Lease Versus Purchase	
10.4.4	Metric Usage	
10.4.5	Environmental and Energy Efficiency Preferences	
10.4.6	Procurement Methods	
10.4.7	Adequate Third Party Contract Provisions	
10.4.8	Sources	
10.4.9	Resolution of Third Party Contract Issues	
10.4.10	Determining the Airports Authority's Needs	
10.5	FEDERAL REQUIREMENTS THAT MAY AFFECT THE AIRPORTS AUTHORITY'S ACQUISITION	
1051	Contractor Ovalifications	
10.5.1 10.5.2	Contractor Qualifications	
10.5.2	Socio-Economic Requirements for the Acquisition of Property and Services	
10.5.3 10.5.4	Technical Restrictions on the Acquisition of Property and Services	
10.3.4	1 connect Restrictions on the Acquisition of 1 roperty and services	100

10.5.5	Dolling Stock Special Dequipments	107
10.5.5 10.5.6	Rolling Stock – Special Requirements	
10.5.7	Construction – Special Requirements	
10.5.8	Research, Development, Demonstration, Deployment, and Special Studies – Special Requirements	
10.5.9	Audit Services	
10.5.10	Record Keeping	
10.5.70	PROCEDURAL GUIDANCE FOR OPEN MARKET PROCUREMENTS	109
10.6.1	Competition Required	
10.6.2	Solicitation Requirements and Restrictions	
10.6.3	Cost and Price Analysis.	
10.6.4	Evaluations	
10.6.5	Contract Award	
10.7	CONFLICTING PROVISIONS	
10.7.1	Introduction	
10.7.2	Full and Open Competition [1.1]	
10.7.3	Full and Open Competition with Exclusions [1.2]	
10.7.4	Government Purchasing Agreements [1.3.1]	
10.7.5	Other Than Full and Open Competition [1.4]	
10.7.6	Advertisement of Contracting Opportunities [1.8]	
10.7.7	Single Response to a Solicitation [2.2.5]	
10.7.8	Evaluation Criteria – Price Only [2.2.8]	
10.7.9	Evaluation Criteria – Both Price and Technical [2.2.9]	
10.7.10	Evaluation Criteria – Technical Only [2.2.10]	
10.7.11	Determination of Responsibility [2.4.6]	
10.7.12	Construction Contracting Approach [2.7.1]	
10.7.13	Design-Build Contracts [2.7.5]	
10.7.14	Limited Competition Proposals [2.9]	
10.7.15	Sole Source Negotiation [2.9.3]	
10.7.16	RFQ/Purchase Orders [2.10]	
10.7.17	Purchase Order/Blanket Purchase Order [2.10.1]	
10.7.18	Contract Types and Procedures [Chapter 3]	
10.7.19	Cost Plus a Percentage of Cost Contract [Chapter 3]	
10.7.20	Fixed-Unit-Price Contracts [3.2]	
10.7.21	Purchase of Goods Under Indefinite Delivery Contracts [3.9]	
10.7.22	Litigation Bonds [3.11.9]	
10.7.23	Options May Extend or Change Performance [3.11.23]	
10.7.24	Reopening a Closed Contract [5.4.3]	
10.7.25	Correction of Mistakes Alter Award [5.3]	
10.7.26	Payment Considerations [5.5]	118
10.7.27	Prepayments [5.5.3]	118
10.7.28	Subcontractor Non-Payment [5.6]	118
10.7.29	Termination for Default [5.9]	119
10.7.30	Concession Contracts [Chapter 6]	119
10.7.31	Protests [7.3]	119
10.7.32	Disputes [8.1]	119
10.7.33	FTA Contract Prohibitions	119
APPENDIX A	AIRPORTS AUTHORITY DEFINITIONS	A-1
APPENDIX B	POINTS OF CONTACT	B-1
B.1	PROCUREMENT AND CONTRACTS DEPARTMENT (MA-29)	B-1
B.2	MATERIALS MANAGEMENT DIVISIONS	
B.3	CONCESSIONS AND PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT (MA-430)	
B.4	AIRPORT ADMINISTRATION DEPARTMENTS	
B.5	EQUAL OPPORTUNITY PROGRAMS DEPARTMENT (MA-410)	
B.6	SUBMITTALS OF CONTRACT PROTESTS AND DISPUTES	
B.7	OFFICES RESPONSIBLE FOR PROTEST REVIEWS	

APPENDIX C	REQUISITION PROCESS	
C.1	PROCUREMENT CYCLE	C-1
C.2	SUBMITTING REQUISITIONS	
C.3	REQUESTOR FURNISHED INFORMATION	
C.3.1	Contracting Officer's Technical Representative (COTR)	C-1
C.3.2	Price Estimate	C-1
C.3.3	Evaluation Criteria	C-1
C.3.4	LDBE Participation	C-1
C.3.5	Full Description	C-1
C.4	COMPETITION GUIDELINES	
C.4.1	\$250 and Less	
C.4.2	\$251 Through \$2,500	
C.4.3	\$2,501 Through \$10,000	
C.4.4	\$10,001 Through \$25,000	
C.4.5	\$25,001 Through \$200,000	
C.4.6	In Excess of \$200,000	
C.5	SPECIFICATION GUIDELINES	
C.5.1	Generic Description	
C.5.2	Brand Name or Equal	
C.5.3	Specified Choice Make/Model	
C.5.4	Proprietary Description	
C.6	REQUISITION APPROVAL REQUIREMENTS	
C.7	REQUISITION FUNDING CONSIDERATIONS	C-4
APPENDIX D	PROCUREMENT JUSTIFICATION FORM & INSTRUCTIONS	D-1
APPENDIX E	DETERMINATION OF RESPONSIBILITY FORM	E-1
APPENDIX F	STANDARD FORM 330 ARCHITECT-ENGINEER QUALIFICATIONS	F-1
APPENDIX G	COTR LETTER AND ATTACHMENT	
APPENDIX H	CONTRACTOR'S RELEASE FORM	Н-1
APPENDIX I	APPLICABILITY OF FTA CONTRACT CLAUSES	I-1
APPENDIX J	MODEL FEDERAL CLAUSES (AS OF MARCH 1, 2013)	J-1
J.1	NO FEDERAL GOVERNMENT OBLIGATIONS TO THIRD PARTIES	
J.2	FALSE STATEMENTS OR CLAIMS, CIVIL AND CRIMINAL FRAUD	
J.3	ACCESS TO THIRD PARTY CONTRACT RECORDS	
J.4	CHANGES TO FEDERAL REQUIREMENTS	
J.5	TERMINATION	
J.6	CIVIL RIGHTS REQUIREMENTS	
J.7	DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS ENTERPRISES (DBE)	
J.8	INCORPORATION OF FEDERAL TRANSIT ADMINISTRATION (FTA) TERMS	J-6
J.9	SUSPENSION AND DEBARMENT	
J.10	BUY AMERICA	
J.11	RESOLUTION OF DISPUTES, BREACHES AND OTHER LITIGATION	
J.12	LOBBYING	
J.13	CLEAN AIR	
J.14	CLEAN WATER	J-10
J.15	CARGO PREFERENCE	
J.16	FLY AMERICA	J-11
J.17	DAVIS-BACON AND COPELAND ANTI-KICKBACK ACTS	J-11
J.18	CONTRACT WORK HOURS AND SAFETY STANDARDS ACT	
J.19	BONDING	J-16
J.20	SEISMIC SAFETY	
J.21	TRANSIT EMPLOYEE PROTECTIVE ARRANGEMENTS	J-19
J.22	CHARTER SERVICE OPERATIONS	J-20
J.23	SCHOOL BUS OPERATIONS	J-20

J.24	DRUG USE AND TESTING AND ALCOHOL MISUSE AND TESTING	J-20
J.25	PATENT RIGHTS AND RIGHTS IN DATA AND COPYRIGHT REQUIREMENTS	J-21
J.26	ENERGY CONSERVATION	J-23
J.27	RECYCLED PRODUCTS	J-23
J.28	CONFORMANCE WITH ITS NATIONAL ARCHITECTURE	J-23
J.29	ADA ACCESS	J-23
APPENDIX K	FORMS FOR USE IN FTA FUNDED CONTRACTS	K-1
K.1	TIME AND MATERIALS REPORT	K-1
K.2	INDEPENDENT COST ESTIMATE	K-2
K.3	COST ANALYSIS	
K.4	PRICE ANALYSIS	K-4
K.5	PROCUREMENT HISTORY	K-5
INDEX		1

Contracting Manual	Fourth Edition
This Page Intentionally Left Blank	
Page xii	
i age XII	

INTRODUCTION AND SCOPE OF CONTRACTING MANUAL

The Metropolitan Washington Airports Authority (Airports Authority) is a public body, corporate and politic, created by joint legislation establishing an interstate compact between the Commonwealth of Virginia and the District of Columbia¹. As authorized by federal law in the Metropolitan Washington Airports Act of 1986, Ronald Reagan Washington National (Reagan National) and Washington Dulles International Airports (Dulles International) have been leased to the Airports Authority by the United States. The lease agreement provides:

"In acquiring by contract supplies or services for an amount estimated to be in excess of \$200,000, or awarding concession contracts, the Airports Authority shall obtain, to the maximum extent practicable, full and open competition through the use of published competitive procedures. By a vote of seven members, the Airports Authority may grant exceptions to the requirements of this paragraph."²

The Airports Authority's mission is to develop, promote, and operate safely Reagan National and Dulles International Airports, continually striving to improve our efficiency, customer orientation, and the level of air service offered at the two airports. Also, the Airports Authority supports the development and efficient operation of the Dulles Toll Road and the construction of the Metrorail Silver Line. Under 2012 amendments to the Virginia and District of Columbia Acts (see note 1), the Airports Authority is governed by a Board of Directors (Board) consisting of seven members appointed by the Governor of Virginia, four members appointed by the Mayor of the District of Columbia, three members appointed by the Governor of Maryland, and three members appointed by the President of the United States.³

To accomplish its mandate, the Airports Authority enters into a wide range of contractual relationships for the acquisition of goods, supplies, construction, and technical and administrative services for the Airports Authority, including Reagan National and Dulles International Airports, the Dulles Toll Road, and, until completed, the Metrorail Silver Line extension to Dulles. Acquisitions range from office supplies to heavy mobile equipment, from fuel oil and gasoline to replacement parts for air conditioning systems, from minor repairs to major construction and various professional consulting services. The Airports Authority also enters into a variety of revenue-generating concessions contracts to provide necessary and desirable goods and services to the traveling public. This Manual applies to the procurement of goods, services and construction by the Airports Authority. It also applies when the Airports Authority contracts for concessions or for contracts to manage concessions at Reagan National and Dulles International Airports or along the Dulles Toll Road.

The Manual does not apply to circumstances that do not involve the acquisition by the Airports Authority of goods and/or services. For example, the Manual does not apply to Airports Authority grants and sponsorships, such as those arising under the Airports Authority's air carrier cooperative marketing program and its community partnership program; transactions involving real estate, such as leases (except in connection with a concession contract), easements and licenses; or air carrier agreements. Nor does the Manual apply to acquisitions that, by their very nature, do not require application of the Manual's contracting procedures. Thus, for example, the Manual does not reach the following: agreements with credit rating agencies; agreements or other arrangements involving organizational memberships and membership dues, conferences and conference fees, training programs and registration costs, professional certification or licensing programs and the cost of such programs, as well as the cost of maintaining certifications and licenses, or goods or services, the costs of which are reimbursable under the travel, business expense or another policy of the Airports Authority.

¹ 1985 Virginia Acts of Assembly, Ch 598, as amended, Va Code §5-502 *et seq.*, and District of Columbia Regional Airports Authority Act of 1985, D.C. Law 6-67, as amended, DC Code §9-901 *et seq.* The Virginia and District of Columbia Acts contain several provisions relating to contracting by the Airports Authority including the express grant to the Airports Authority of power "to make and enter into all contracts and agreements necessary or desirable to the performance of its duties, the proper operation of the airports and the furnishing of services to the traveling public and airport users, and such contracts shall be exclusive or limited when it is necessary to further the public safety, improve the quality of service, avoid duplication of services, or conserve airport property and the airport environment." Va. Code §5.1-156; D.C. Code §9-905.

² Although the lease requires a vote of at least seven (7) members to grant an exemption from the requirements of "full and open competition", due to an increase in the number of Board members in 2012, the Airports Authority Bylaws were changed to require a vote of at least ten (10) members.

³ The Airports Authority is not a federal agency. For a more detailed discussion of the Airports Authority, see the Preface to Metropolitan Washington Airports Regulations, which can be accessed at www.mwaa.com under "Publications."

Publication of this Fourth Edition of the Manual fulfills the requirement as set forth in the lease between the Airports Authority and the U.S. Department of Transportation for "published competitive procedures". Procedures and guidance issued by the Airports Authority's Procurement and Contracts Department supplement certain aspects of this Manual, as referenced herein. Airports Authority employees are required to comply with the provisions of this Manual, and failure to do so may result in discipline. Chapter 10 of this Manual contains provisions reflecting procurement circulars published by the Federal Transit Administration (FTA) applicable to grantees of FTA financial assistance.

The Board may grant exceptions to the requirement in the lease that the Airports Authority "obtain, to the maximum extent practicable, full and open competition." This edition of the Manual limits use of the limited competition exception to full and open competition that was included in the Third edition. Special conditions may make it necessary to make material changes to the procedures in this Manual on a case-by-case basis and as authorized by the Board. In the event such exceptions are made, they will be identified as such in the solicitation which should be read with care prior to submission of a proposal, quotation or bid.

The Airports Authority is committed to maximizing the competitive procurement process and ensuring that its contracting actions are guided by and carried out in accordance with all applicable law, including the statutes establishing the Airports Authority, the lease with the United States, the bylaws of the Airports Authority, sound contracting methods, and the highest standards of integrity and ethical conduct. The Airports Authority's Code of Ethics for Employees and Code of Ethics for Members of the Board of Directors are available on the Airport's Authority's website at www.mwaa.com in the section entitled "About the Authority," or by contacting the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department, as shown in Appendix B.

The Airports Authority is also committed to full participation in its contracting programs by Disadvantaged Business Enterprises, which include minority and women-owned firms, and by Local Disadvantaged Business Enterprises, which is focused upon small, including minority and women-owned, businesses located within a 100-mile radius of the District of Columbia zero-mile marker.

Information for Users of this Manual

Definitions for many of the terms used in this document can be found in Appendix A.

This Manual uses terminology that is intended to describe the specific contracting policies and procedures of the Airports Authority. The use in the Manual of terminology that is the same as or similar to terms used by the federal government or any other jurisdiction does not imply or constitute the Airports Authority's adoption of any such terms.

Points of contact for various offices within the Airports Authority can be found in Appendix B.

References in this Manual are to specific paragraphs. The first digit indicates the chapter number or appendix letter designation where the paragraph can be found. For example, Paragraph 2.5.1 is in Chapter 2 and Paragraph C.3.4 is in Appendix C.

In addition to the Table of Contents in the front of the Manual, an index is provided at the end of the Manual as a quick-find topical reference.

⁴ Prior to the effective date of the first edition of the Contracting Manual, this requirement was met by the Airports Authority's Contracting Policies and Procedures Manual issued December 1, 1993, and by individual solicitations.

1 CONTRACTING AUTHORITY & PROCESS

Chapter 1 describes the delegations of authority which apply to the contracting process of the Airports Authority. It also describes the Airports Authority's commitment to use full and open competition procurement procedures and a description of the limited circumstances in which other than full and open competition procurement procedures may be utilized.

The legislation that created the Airports Authority vests the Board with full legal authority for contracting (see "Introduction," above, at footnote 1). The Board has delegated certain contracting authority to the President and Chief Executive Officer (CEO) who is authorized to further delegate such authority. All competitively offered construction contracts are fully delegated to the CEO. In its delegations of authority, the Board has reserved approval authority for contracts to acquire goods and services at a cost of \$3,000,000 or more and for concession contracts or leases that will result in annual revenue to the Airports Authority of \$3,000,000 or more. Board approval is also required of any exception to the requirement that the Airports Authority "obtain, to the maximum extent practicable, full and open competition" for any concession contract and for any goods, services or construction contract over \$200,000. approval requires a vote of ten (10) or more Board members.

1.1 FULL AND OPEN COMPETITION

The Airports Authority is committed to "obtain, to the maximum extent practicable, full and open competition" for its contracting opportunities. The Airports Authority's commitment to obtaining full and open competition includes publication and adherence to the detailed contracting procedures in this Manual, which are designed to enable those interested in the Airports Authority's contracting opportunities to become familiar with the procedures that the Airports Authority follows. Special conditions may make it necessary to make material changes to the procedures in this Manual on a case-by-case basis and as authorized by the Board. In the event such changes are made, they will be identified as such in the solicitation, which should be read with care prior to submission of a proposal, quotation or bid. Non-material changes to the Manual's procedures, provided they are not inconsistent with the achievement of full and open competition, may be made with approval of the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department.

NOTE: For solicitations funded by the FTA, see Paragraph 10.7.2 of this Manual for additional guidance on special requirements and restrictions.

1.2 FULL AND OPEN COMPETITION WITH EXCLUSIONS

1.2.1 Local Disadvantaged Business Enterprises – 100% Set Aside

The Airports Authority may set aside contracts, when appropriate, for competition only among Local Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (LDBE) firms. While competition for such contracts is limited to LDBE firms, all LDBE firms able to perform the scope of work may compete for them.

In this situation, there shall be a minimum of 3 to 5 LDBE firms qualified to compete for a procurement opportunity before competition may be limited to LDBE firms. The justification for limiting competition to LDBE firms must explain the analysis used to support the limitation.

NOTE: Paragraph 1.2 .1 does not apply to solicitations funded by the FTA.

1.2.2 Airport Security

For security reasons, distribution of some solicitations relating to airport security and information technology procurements must be controlled and issued only to Airports Authority-approved firms. This methodology may be used when it is possible that serious detrimental consequences could result to the public, the airlines, or the Airports Authority if the contents, or in some cases the existence, of the solicitation and contract were revealed to unauthorized persons, including of course individuals who may wish to do harm to the United States. In this situation, the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department, must determine, and document, that the solicitation distribution must, for airport security reasons, be issued only to firms approved by the Airports Authority. Standard competitive proposal procedures will be adapted as necessary in this situation to ensure the required security for the solicitation. In general, such procurements will be initiated by an invitation for all firms to submit their qualifications for an upcoming procurement falling within this category. The Airports Authority will select several firms, based upon the criteria stated in the Request for Qualifications, to receive the solicitation. In addition, if the need is clearly urgent and it is probable that serious detrimental consequences will result to the Airports Authority if the response time used in full and open competition procurements is used in this situation, a reduced

response time and/or other than full and open competition procedures may be used.

NOTE: For solicitations funded by the FTA, see Paragraph 10.7.3.2 of this Manual for additional guidance on special requirements and restrictions.

1.3 FULL AND OPEN COMPETITION USING CONTRACTS COMPETITIVELY PROCURED BY OTHER GOVERNMENTAL UNITS

1.3.1 Governmental Contracts and Suppliers

At times, the required goods, services or construction are able to be obtained by utilizing a contract previously awarded by a governmental entity using competitive procedures. If utilization of the contract is determined by the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department, to be appropriate and beneficial to the Airports Authority, the Airports Authority may utilize such contracts. Such governmental entities Metropolitan Washington Council of include the Governments (COG), the General Services Administration and other federal, state, county or local government agencies. In addition, required goods, services or construction may be acquired directly from a federal, state, local or regional governmental entity if this is necessary to comply with applicable governmental requirements, or if it is shown that acquisition of the required goods, services or construction in this manner is clearly less costly than if the acquisition were competed by the Airports Authority alone. Each contract under this Paragraph 1.3.1 must be supported by written justification that includes, at a minimum, a finding that such utilization is in the best interests of the Airports Authority and that the goods, services or construction cannot otherwise be obtained as conveniently or economically.

NOTE: For solicitations funded by the FTA, see Paragraph 10.7.4. of this Manual for additional guidance on special requirements and restrictions.

1.4 OTHER THAN FULL AND OPEN COMPETITION

As stated in Paragraph 1.1, the Airports Authority normally will obtain full and open competition when acquiring goods, services and construction. However, as described below in this paragraph, there are circumstances in which acquiring with other than full and open competition methods may be warranted. When the Airports Authority determines that the acquisition of goods, services or construction valued at over \$200,000, using other than full and open competition procurement procedures, is warranted, Board approval of the use of other than full and open competition shall be obtained; provided, that where obtaining Board approval is not possible

in advance of contract award due to the urgency of the circumstances, Board approval will be sought as soon as possible after award. In determining the value of an acquisition, the Airports Authority will consider the estimated total value of a contract, including the cost or price of options.

A variety of circumstances may give rise to the need to procure goods, services or construction with other than full and open competition. The following paragraphs describe these circumstances. However, even in these circumstances, no goods, services or construction may be procured with other than full and open competition unless the use of other than full and open competition is adequately justified and it is determined that the cost of the procurement will be fair and reasonable.

Preparation of this justification is addressed in Paragraph 1.4.2. The use of other than full and open competition is never justified by the lack of acquisition planning. The Contracting Officer shall be responsible for ensuring that the cost of the procurement will be fair and reasonable.

1.4.1 Circumstances That May Result in Other than Full and Open Competition Procurements

In general, when other than full and open competition procurement procedures are used, the Airports Authority will solicit offers from as many potential sources as possible or practicable under the circumstances, and except for situations where there is only one possible or practicable source, limited standard competitive proposal procedures (see Paragraph 2.2) will be used.

NOTE: For solicitations funded by the FTA, see Paragraph 10.7.5 of this Manual for additional guidance on special requirements and restrictions.

The following are the categories of circumstances in which other than full and open competition may be used with proper justification.

(1) <u>Urgent and Compelling Need</u>

The need for goods, services or construction is so urgent and compelling that the Airports Authority would be seriously injured, financially or otherwise, unless the Airports Authority can limit the number of sources from which it solicits bids or proposals (e.g., urgent airport safety or security considerations). When possible, the Airports Authority will endeavor in this situation to seek proposals from a minimum of three offerors, though a reduced response time may be utilized. In addition, where practicable, efforts will be made to enhance competition by a public announcement of the urgent needs on the Airports Authority's website.

(2) Airline Improvements to Airport Facilities

The procurement of construction services by an airline tenant to deliver specifically identified and approved improvements to airport facilities is in the best interests of the Airports Authority. The Airports Authority may enter into a reimbursement agreement with an airline tenant to deliver such improvements as an alternative to the Airports Authority contracting directly for the improvements only when the Airports Authority has determined that the airline tenant will have a substantial interest in the improvements as a part of its leasehold or the improvements will be integral to its operations (e.g., improvements to an airline tenant's passenger processing facilities, baggage handling system or communication facilities dissemination of passenger, flight and aircraft Whenever possible, the Airports information). Authority will require the airline tenant to obtain full and open competition for the construction services. If other than full and open competition is necessary, the Airports Authority will require the airline tenant to show that it has used reasonable measures to obtain fair and reasonable prices for the construction service, and may require competition among offerors acceptable to the Airports Authority, including using a list of prequalified contractors. Such a reimbursement agreement with an airline tenant may be used only when the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department, and the Chief Operating Officer determine, and document, that it is in the best interests of the Airports Authority to procure the improvements through the reimbursement agreement.

NOTE: For solicitations funded by the FTA, see Paragraph 10.7.5.2 of this Manual for additional guidance on special requirements and restrictions.

(3) Sole Source

There is only one responsible or one practicable source for required goods, services or construction, and no other supplies or services will satisfy the Airports Authority's requirements.

The following are examples of situations in which the Airports Authority may procure goods, services or construction directly from a sole source:

(a) <u>Unique or Innovative Concepts</u>

The source of the goods, supplies or services demonstrates a unique or innovative concept or capability not available from another source. Unique or innovative concept means a new, novel or changed concept, approach or method that is the product of original thinking, the details of which are kept confidential or are patented or copyrighted, and the concept, approach or method is available to the Airports Authority only from one source and has not in

the past been available to the Airports Authority from another source.

(b) Patents or Restricted Data Rights

The existence of patents or restrictions arising from intellectual property or other proprietary rights preclude competition and make goods, supplies or services available only from a single source.

(c) <u>Proprietary Equipment and Software</u>

In the case of a follow-on contract for the addition of proprietary equipment or software, or for the maintenance of such proprietary equipment or software, such equipment or software may be available from only a single source. Thus, where proprietary equipment or software was originally purchased by the Airports Authority through full and open competition or as part of a required system in the Airports Authority's design manual, add-on equipment or software and maintenance for the equipment or software may be procured using sole source procedures if the required product must be compatible with and is an integral component of existing equipment or systems, or the product is such that the user of existing proprietary equipment or systems would require considerable reorientation and re-training if another product were used. The Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department, must determine, and document, that it is not prudent to make a purchase of add-on equipment or software or maintenance through full and open competition because of the proprietary nature of the equipment or software or because of the incompatibility of other software or equipment. In performing the analysis of the sole source justification, consideration shall be given to replacing the existing proprietary equipment or software in total with an entirely new system purchased under full and open competitive procedures. The Airports Authority is not tied forever to existing proprietary equipment or software; technically acceptable systems that utilize generic, compatible components are preferred as being in the best interests of the Airports Authority.

NOTE: For solicitations funded by the FTA, see Paragraph 10.7.5.3 of this Manual for additional guidance on special requirements and restrictions.

(d) *Utility Services and Supplies*

When utility services or supplies are available from only one actual, or one practicable, source, the requesting office must clearly document that

there are no other reasonably available sources for the required utility services or supplies.

NOTE: For solicitations funded by the FTA, see Paragraph 10.7.5.1 of this Manual for additional guidance on special requirements and restrictions.

1.4.2 Written Justifications for Other than Full and Open Competition

Prior to award, all contracts awarded through other than full and open competition must be supported by a written justification document. The justification shall be prepared by the Contracting Officer's Technical Representative (COTR) and must include, at a minimum: identification of the document as a Justification for Other than Full and Open Competition; a description of the contracting activity; a description (including estimated price) of the goods, services or construction needed to fulfill the Airports Authority's requirements; an identification of the authority provided by this Manual to enter into the contract (indicating the applicable provision of Paragraph 1.4) through other than full and open competition; a demonstration that the proposed contractor's unique qualifications or the nature of the acquisition requires the use of other than full and open competition procedures; a description of the efforts used to ensure that bids or proposals were solicited from as many sources as possible or practicable; a determination by the Contracting Officer that the cost to the Airports Authority will be fair and reasonable; any other facts supporting the use of other than full and open competition; a listing of sources, if any, that expressed interest in the acquisition; a statement of the actions, if any, that the Airports Authority can take to avoid other than full and open competition in subsequent acquisitions; and a certification by the Contracting Officer that the justification is accurate and complete to the best of his/her knowledge and belief. Justifications must be made publicly available by posting them on the Airports Authority website within fourteen (14) days after the contract award and must remain available for a minimum of thirty (30) days.

1.5 CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER'S AUTHORITY

The CEO has been delegated by the Board the authority to acquire the full range of goods, services and construction needed to operate and maintain the Airports, including the authority to enter into and administer contracts for such acquisitions that bind the Airports Authority, subject to and in accordance with the conditions and limitation in the Board's delegation. The CEO also has been authorized by the Board to extend existing concession contracts for up to twelve (12) months when the existing concession contract would expire prior to the date a new contract would take effect.

1.5.1 Delegations from CEO

The CEO has delegated certain contracting authority to various Airports Authority staff members in a Metropolitan Washington Airports Authority directive as it may be amended from time to time (Directive). This document is available on the Airports Authority's website and by contacting the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department.

1.5.2 Re-delegation of Contracting Authority

As specified in the Directive, the contracting authority delegated by the CEO to certain staff members may only be re-delegated in writing by those members to persons meeting the requirements and qualifications described in the Directive. Any re-delegation of contracting authority by a staff member may not exceed the limits of such staff member's delegated authority under the Directive.

Documentation of all contracting authority re-delegations shall be maintained by the staff members making such redelegations, and shall include the name of the person receiving the re-delegation, the date of the re-delegation, the duration of the re-delegation, and any limitations on the redelegation. A copy of each re-delegation shall be sent to the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department. The Procurement and Contracts Department shall keep a centralized record of all delegations and re-delegations of contracting authority.

Only persons with a valid written delegation of contracting authority that authorizes them to contractually commit and bind the Airports Authority may enter into acquisition contracts on behalf of the Airports Authority and any related contractual instruments, such as contract modifications, change orders, task orders, delivery orders, and purchase orders.

All persons delegated contracting authority and all COTRs shall receive initial and recurring formal procurement training.

1.6 RESPONSIBILITIES OF PROCUREMENT OFFICES

The procurement of all goods, services and construction for the Airports Authority and the Board shall be undertaken only by the procurement offices listed below in this paragraph, or undertaken pursuant to authorization granted by one of the procurement offices listed below, in accordance with their described authorities and responsibilities.

1.6.1 Procurement and Contracts Department

The Procurement and Contracts Department is authorized to procure goods, services and construction in excess of the dollar amounts delegated to the Materials Management Divisions as set forth in Paragraph 1.6.2 and is also responsible for specific categories of procurement actions as described in Paragraph 1.6.2.

The Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department, develops and provides procedures, as necessary, for concession contract solicitations and for purchases made under the *Airport Purchasing Policies and Procedures Manual*. In addition, the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department oversees the contracting process for concession contracts to be awarded under Chapter 6 of this Manual

NOTE: For solicitations funded by the FTA, see Paragraph 10.4.6 of this Manual for additional guidance on special requirements and restrictions.

1.6.2 Materials Management Divisions

The Materials Management Division at each Airport reports to the Manager, Airport Administration Department. Except as provided below, the Materials Management Divisions are authorized to procure services and property that involves a total commitment which is currently set at \$50,000 or less where the evaluation criteria are based on price only. That commitment level is subject to change as directed by the Chief Operating Officer who may also designate any exceptions to the purchasing authority of the Materials Management Divisions. Currently, the designated exceptions are that the Procurement and Contracts Department will maintain centralized responsibility for the following categories of purchases:

- (1) Motorized vehicles, including trucks, tractors and automobiles, regardless of cost.
- (2) Firearms, weapon systems, and ammunition, regardless of cost.
- (3) Purchases that involve funding by federal or state grants, regardless of cost.
- (4) Computers and related equipment, including portable and desktop computers, file servers, minicomputers, computer assisted design (CAD) systems, network equipment such as routers, bridges, hubs and repeaters, network interface cards, printers, scanners, etc. This applies to capitalized equipment in Natural Account Code 1800 (with unit prices \$10,000 or above) as well as non-capital equipment in Code 6800 (less than \$10,000) with one exception. The exception is that the airports are authorized to purchase non-capital

- equipment such as mice, keyboards, printer cartridges, tape backup systems, etc., with unit prices of \$250 or less.
- (5) Miscellaneous office equipment consisting of facsimile (fax) machines, copiers, word processors, typewriters, stenographic equipment, and mailing/sorting equipment regardless of cost.

1.6.2.1 <u>Additional Responsibilities</u>

The Material Management Divisions have the responsibility for purchasing support for Consolidated Functions and Public Safety, within the same limitations as set forth in Paragraph 1.6.2 above.

1.6.2.2 Operational and Procedural Direction

The Materials Management Divisions are responsible to the Airport Administration Department Managers and ultimately to their respective Airport Managers. They are subject to the Airports Authority's *Airport Purchasing Policies and Procedures Manual*. Waiver authority for procedural issues is vested in the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department. Requests for all construction contracts, and for services and property which are beyond Materials Management Divisions' procurement authority as set forth in Paragraph 1.6.2, shall be submitted to the Procurement and Contracts Department. Splitting requirements of the same items between two or more orders to stay within the Materials Management Divisions' authority level is not an acceptable practice. Requestors must submit requests that exceed Airport limits to the Procurement and Contracts Department.

1.6.3 Emergency Purchase Authority

During hours that the Procurement and Contracts Department is not open for business, the Airport Operations Officer may authorize emergency purchases. The CEO must approve use of emergency procurement procedures that are exceptions to the standard procedures described in this Manual. Such approval should be prior to any purchase, however, if exigent circumstances exist, may be obtained as soon as possible after the purchase and must be supported by a written justification. These emergency procedures can be implemented when an urgent or critical need exists and an exception to normal procedures is necessary to prevent potential injury, bodily harm, and significant financial loss to the Airports Authority, or significant interruption of air service. Compliance with the following reporting procedures is the responsibility of the manager of the department that made the emergency procurement. If the emergency procurement is over \$10,000 and is within the CEO's contracting authority, an after-action report of the situation, including an explanation of the need to use the emergency procurement procedures, shall be submitted to the CEO within three (3) business days after the occurrence. Those emergency procurements that exceed the CEO's contracting authority require an after-action report of

the situation to be submitted to the Board within three (3) business days after the action is taken. When appropriate, the report shall recommend ways to preclude recurrence of the situation that required the emergency procurement.

1.7 ANNUAL ACQUISITION FORECASTS; QUARTERLY REPORTS

The annual acquisition forecast is an essential step in the Airports Authority's acquisition process. The forecast, which shall be completed by March 31 of each year, is designed to ensure that offices requiring goods, services or construction at a cost of over \$50,000, well in advance of the actual acquisition of these items, identify their needs and begin to plan for the procurement of the items and their inclusion in the Airports Authority's annual budget.

Every Airports Authority office shall provide the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department, with an annual acquisition forecast in accordance with instructions from that department. Personnel from each office, using its forecast, will then work with the Procurement and Contracts Department to develop a comprehensive contracting plan to meet the office's needs. The goal of this process is to ensure the Airports Authority's acquisition requirements are met on time and with full consideration of needs, cost and revenue impacts.

A quarterly procurement report shall be presented to the Board and to the U.S. Secretary of Transportation that lists (1) acquisitions made during the quarter, including (a) the type of acquisition made, (b) the vendor the contract was awarded to, (c) the dollar amount of the award, (d) whether full and open competition was used, and if not, the authority under which it was not, (e) the extent of competition (number of bids received), and (f) the awarding official; (2) contract modifications and task orders issued during the quarter, including dollar value; (3) contract actions approved by the Board during the quarter; (4) planned procurements for the next quarter; and (5) employees with contracting delegations and any limits to their authorities.

1.8 ADVERTISEMENT OF CONTRACTING OPPORTUNITIES

The Airports Authority fosters competition and develops sources for acquiring goods and services by using the following methods to achieve maximum exposure for current contracting opportunities:

(1) The primary public notice of the availability of all solicitations over \$25,000 is on the Airports Authority's website (www.mwaa.com). In most cases, the entire solicitation is available for download; when electronic download is not available, requestors will be

- furnished electronic documents on CD-ROM for a fee which is listed on the Airports Authority's website.
- (2) In addition to posting on its website, the Airports Authority provides periodic e-mail notification of contracting opportunities to interested firms that have registered on-line (www.mwaa.com) for "PROJECT eLERT." Notification of contracting opportunities will be sent directly to the e-mail address of registered firms. This e-mail notification is distributed approximately bi-weekly with increased frequency when a large number of contracting opportunities have been issued by the Airports Authority. If not previously enrolled, interested LDBEs and DBEs with e-mail addresses may register for PROJECT eLERT.
- (3) Except as provided herein, notification of the availability of solicitations over \$200,000 will be publicly advertised in a newspaper of general circulation in the Washington, D.C. metropolitan area. If deemed necessary, appropriate notice may also be included in an industry trade publication which is known to precisely target prospective offerors.
 - **NOTE:** For solicitations funded by the FTA, see Paragraph 10.7.9 of this Manual for additional guidance on special requirements and restrictions.
- (4) The Airports Authority conducts Business Opportunity Seminars to inform all interested parties about how to compete for the opportunities that exist. It also provides a face-to-face forum for prime contractors to meet and discuss subcontracting opportunities with interested firms. The Airports Authority is also represented at business and trade fairs, and industry conferences sponsored by other organizations.
- (5) The Airports Authority may also promote participation by local, small, minority, and women-owned businesses through direct mailings and notices in media which reach this business community.
- (6) The Airports Authority maintains an "open door" policy with the business community.
- (7) The length of time between the date a solicitation is advertised and the due date for offers or bids will vary depending on the Contracting Officer's assessment of the complexity of the solicitation and the Airports Authority's needs. Average complexity solicitations normally will be advertised for approximately 4 weeks. More complex and unusual solicitations may be advertised for approximately 6 to 8 weeks, and simpler ones, typically those for goods, may be advertised for 3 weeks or less. During the advertisement period the Contracting Officer may choose to extend the deadline for submission of proposals or bids when feasible.

1.9 SOLICITATION AND CONTRACT AWARD

The solicitation and contract award phase of the procurement process includes the activities that take place between the time a fully-approved Requisition is received by the authorized procurement office and the time a contract or purchase order is issued. This phase could include soliciting proposals, qualifications, quotations, or bids from responsible sources; evaluating the responses to the solicitation; securing the necessary approvals; and awarding the contract to the selected source. To obtain goods and services and to grant concession contracts, the Airports Authority normally will use one or a combination of the following contracting methods which are discussed in Chapter 2:

	Contracting Method	<u>Paragraph</u>
(1)	Competitive Proposals (RFP)	2.2
(2)	Best Value Procedure	2.5
(3)	A/E Source Selection	2.6
(4)	Construction Contracting	2.7.1
(5)	Design-build Contracts	2.7.5
(6)	Advertised Sealed Bids	2.8
(7)	Two Step Advertised Sealed Bids	2.8.5
(8)	Limited Competitive Proposals	2.9.1
(9)	Controlled Distribution RFP	2.9.2
(10)	Sole Source Negotiation	2.9.3
(11)	Cooperative/Government	
	Purchasing Agreements	2.9.4
(12)	Request for Quotations (RFQ)	2.10

1.9.1 Protests

Chapter 7 describes protest procedures, appeal process, remedies, and judicial review.

1.9.2 Notifying and Debriefing Unsuccessful Offerors

The Contracting Officer will notify offerors promptly when their proposals are excluded from the competitive range or otherwise eliminated from the competition. Prompt notification of the name and address of the firm receiving the award and the amount of the award will be made to offerors whose proposals were in the competitive range but were not selected for award.

A debriefing affords an opportunity for an unsuccessful offeror to be informed regarding the basis for final selection and contract award as it specifically relates to the offer submitted by the unsuccessful firm. The nature of the procurement process is such that debriefing requests will generally involve solicitations that contained evaluation criteria other than price. Where price was the only factor, a debriefing will not normally be conducted.

A firm may desire to learn as much information as possible concerning how its offer was evaluated by the Airports Authority so that it can reevaluate and perhaps change its technical approach, pricing strategy, or other aspects of future offers. The following paragraphs reflect some basic principles that apply to Airports Authority notifications and debriefings.

Contractor requests for debriefing must be submitted in writing to the Contracting Officer within fifteen (15) days after the firm was advised it was unsuccessful. However, if the initial request for a debriefing comes to the Contracting Officer in a phone call, it may be possible to immediately accomplish the debriefing by phone.

If the request is made prior to award and the offeror desires the debriefing to be prior to award, the Airports Authority will endeavor to accommodate that request, but may proceed to award the contract prior to debriefing if the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department, determines it is in the best interests of the Airports Authority to do so.

The Contracting Officer has primary responsibility for responding to debriefing requests; staff assistance will be requested as needed. In conducting a debriefing, the Contracting Officer will concentrate on information that can be of benefit to the firm without revealing any sensitive or proprietary data regarding the competition. Paragraph 2.11.5 of this Manual, relating to release of information, will apply. Price discussions should be limited to bottom-line amounts. A competitor's internal pricing information (profit, overhead rates, etc.), trade secrets, manufacturing processes, or other confidential business information will not be revealed. Airports Authority debriefings are structured to protect the integrity of information submitted by all competitors. Concentration will be on the firm being debriefed, its submittal, and when appropriate, a general description of the basis for the Airports Authority's selection decision. The debriefing will address the strengths and weaknesses of the firm as related to the evaluation criteria in the solicitation.

When A/E source selection procedures are used, notification of non-selection to the short list shall be made by the Airports Authority when the short list is established. Unsuccessful short-listed firms shall be notified of the name and address of the firm selected for final contract negotiations. Firms so notified may request and receive a debriefing.

1.10 CONTRACT ADMINISTRATION

Contract administration refers to the activities that take place between the time a contract or purchase order is signed with the successful offeror/bidder and its formal closeout.

Contract administration activities are designed to assure that the contractor complies with all aspects of the contractual agreement. Airports Authority contracts contain audit

provisions that allow examination of contractors' financial records by the Airports Authority.

1.10.1 Disputes

Chapter 8 provides information concerning non-binding dispute resolution procedures as applied to Airports Authority contracts and the required waiver of jury trial.

1.10.2 Points of Contact

Appendix B, Points of Contact, provides the addresses and telephone numbers for various Airports Authority offices.

1.11 STANDARDS OF CONDUCT

The Airports Authority expects all employees and members of its Board to act in the best interests of the Airports Authority at all times and to not engage in conduct that is illegal, dishonest, or brings discredit upon the Airports Authority, or participate in any Airports Authority matter as to which the employee has a conflict of interests. In particular, employees who obligate the Airports Authority to spend money, approve payments, and make decisions affecting disbursements have a special duty to make their recommendations and decisions without prejudice, seeking to obtain the maximum value for the Airports Authority.

1.11.1 Codes of Ethics

The Airports Authority's Code of Ethics for Employees and Code of Ethics for Members of the Board of Directors, as they may be amended from time to time, are available on the Airports Authority's website, www.mwaa.com, and are hereby incorporated into this Manual as if they were expressly set forth. In general, these Codes prohibit the solicitation of Gifts and restrict the acceptance of Gifts;1 prohibit employees and members of the Board from using their position for the gain of acquaintances or relatives or their own gain; define Substantial Financial Interests and restrict employees and members of the Board from participating in any transaction or matter as to which they have a conflict of interests; and define certain restrictions (including restrictions related to Airports Authority contracting activities) that are applicable to employees following the termination of employment with the Airports Authority and to Board members following the expiration of their term.

Employees and members of the Board who violate these Codes are subject to sanctions as set forth in the applicable Code.

1.11.2 Contractor Certifications and Disclosures; Employment of Former Airports Authority Employees

All offerors for Airports Authority contracts shall be required to submit certain representations and certifications, on a form provided by the Airports Authority, with their proposal that state that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, and with the exception of any information listed in the representations and certifications, they have no information concerning any conduct by an Airports Authority employee or a member of the Board undertaken in connection with or related in any manner to the procurement that is or may be in violation of either of the Codes of Ethics. The Airports Authority will evaluate the information provided by the offeror and, based on the information, may cancel the solicitation or take any other action it determines to be in the best interests of the Airports Authority, such as the disqualification of the offeror. If it is subsequently determined that an offeror to which a contract has been awarded submitted a certification with false or erroneous information or falsely or negligently certified that it had no information concerning actual or possible violations of the Codes, its contract may be cancelled or rescinded and it may be required to repay the Airports Authority all amounts paid to it under the contract.

Contractors are advised that the Code of Ethics for Employees imposes certain restrictions on the activities in which employees may engage following their employment with the Airports Authority, and contractors should consult the Code before engaging such employees after their departure from the Airports Authority.

1.11.3 Prohibited Conduct and Procurement Integrity

Airports Authority business shall be conducted in a manner above reproach and with complete impartiality and preferential treatment for none. The following conduct is strictly prohibited:

- (1) The offer or the provision of anything of value, by an offeror or contractor, to an Airports Authority employee or a member of the Board with the intent to influence an action or decision to be made by the employee or Board member, or with the intent to compensate or recognize the employee or member for an action or decision that the employee or member has made. (Gifts to employees and Board members are substantially restricted by the Codes of Ethics; persons seeking to contract with, or under contract with, the Airports Authority should consult the Codes for details.)
- (2) The disclosure by an Airports Authority employee, Board member or offeror, other than to persons authorized to receive such information, of bid or

¹ Capitalized terms in this paragraph are defined in the Airports Authority's *Code of Ethics for Employees* and/or *Code of Ethics for Members of the Board of Directors*.

proposal information or source selection information prior to contract award, except in accordance with this Manual and the Airports Authority's Freedom of Information Policy.

- (3) Use of procurement information by an Airports Authority employee or Board member for personal gain, including in negotiation for future employment outside of the Airports Authority.
- (4) Acceptance of kickbacks, bribes, gratuities and other similar monetary payments by anyone.
- (5) Participation in a particular matter by those acquisition personnel having a conflict of interest regarding the matter.

All acquisition and contracting personnel having decision making or contract administration duties shall receive, as part of their annual ethics training, supplemental procurement integrity training.

Any violations of this chapter may be subject to both supervisory discipline and referral to the Airports Authority Ethics Officer for investigation.

Contracting Manual	Fourth Edition
This Page Intentionally Left Blank	
Page 10	

2 SOLICITATION PROCESS

This chapter describes types of solicitations utilized by the Airports Authority for procurement with emphasis on Requests for Proposals and the methods used to evaluate contractors' proposals. Other solicitation methods are covered including architect/engineer (A/E) selection procedures, sole source negotiations, requests for quotations and Purchase Orders. Funding considerations, competition guidelines, and guidance for preparation of solicitations are also provided.

2.1 PROPOSALS AND BIDDING COMPARED

Procurement by advertised sealed bids entails the solicitation of bids by the Airports Authority in an Invitation for Bids (IFB), the submission of sealed bids by qualified offerors, the public opening at a set hour, the recording of bids, and the awarding of a contract to the responsive and responsible bidder whose bid will be the most advantageous to the Airports Authority, price and price related factors considered. More subjective criteria such as quality of past performance and business reputation are not evaluated by the Contracting Officer. Additionally, there cannot be any changes to the wording of contract provisions. Using sealed bids, each solicitation is processed to a contract without negotiating the contract specifications or the particular terms of the contract. These are set in the solicitation documents.

When the Airports Authority requests competitive proposals (negotiation), the rules for procurement by advertised sealed bids are for the most part not applicable. The negotiation procedure is initiated when the Airports Authority issues a Request for Proposals (RFP) or a Request for Quotations (RFQ) rather than an Invitation for Bids (IFB). Both sealed bids and negotiation procedures require full and open competition to the maximum extent practicable. implemented by the Airports Authority, both advertised sealed bids and competitive proposals require offerors to submit sealed offers and both are advertised procurement actions. Unlike sealed bids, competitive proposals require no public opening. In sealed bids, for an offeror to be considered for award, that offeror must have submitted a bid which was fully responsive to the solicitation at the time of the submission. In competitive proposal procurements, there is more flexibility in determining which proposals are acceptable to the Airports Authority. In addition, when using an RFP, the Airports Authority may consider technical criteria in addition to price when choosing an offeror for award. Finally, the two processes differ because IFB offerors cannot change their bids after the closing date and must keep their bid effective for a certain period of time; whereas in competitive proposals, if discussions are held, offerors will be encouraged to modify their proposals which may be withdrawn any time prior to award. The Airports Authority uses both competitive proposals and advertised sealed bidding; however, most often, competitive proposals are used.

NOTE: For solicitations funded by the FTA, see Chapter 10 for additional guidance on special requirements and restrictions.

2.1.1 Competition Guidelines

The Airports Authority's policy is to achieve, to the maximum extent practicable, full and open competition. Solicitations will include requirements for the goods, services or construction to be provided which will satisfy the Airports Authority's needs and encourage competition.

2.2 COMPETITIVE PROPOSALS (RFP)

Request for Proposals (RFP) procedures are used when-

- There is a potential need to enter into negotiations after receipt of offers, or to request best and final offers because of budget or other limitations, prior to contract award;
- (2) There may be criteria other than, or in addition to, price that are important when choosing an offeror for award;
- (3) There are potentially significant qualitative differences among contractors' products or services;
- (4) There are two or more qualified sources; or
- (5) Lead times are adequate.

2.2.1 Certificate of Current Cost or Pricing Data

Certified cost or pricing data generally are required to be submitted by contractors in connection with proposals and claims under federally-assisted contracts. When certified cost or pricing data are required, the Contracting Officer should require the contractor to execute a Certificate of Current Cost or Pricing Data, using the format in this paragraph and should include the executed certificate in the contract file.

"CERTIFICATE OF CURRENT COST OR PRICING DATA

This is to certify that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, the cost or pricing data submitted either actually or by specific identification in writing, to the Contracting Officer in support of contract _____ is accurate, complete, and current as of _____. This certification includes the cost or pricing data supporting advance agreements and forward pricing rate

agreements between the offeror and the Airports Authority that are part of the proposal.

Firm	
Signature/Name/Title	
Date of Execution	,,

2.2.2 RFP Content

2.2.2.1 <u>RFP Formats</u>

An RFP is issued to describe that which is to be procured and the terms and conditions of the procurement. The Procurement and Contracts Department maintains standard RFP formats for several different types of procurements, such as goods, services, construction, design-build, etc. Selection of architectural/engineering firms is covered in Paragraph 2.6.

2.2.2.2 RFP Preparation

The RFP is designed so that a proposal completed and submitted by an offeror becomes an enforceable contract after being executed by the Contracting Officer and conveyed back to the offeror. The RFP is prepared as carefully and accurately as possible to minimize the amount of negotiations required. Upon receipt of an adequate proposal, no further negotiation may be needed.

2.2.2.3 RFP Information Sources

In addition to the sub-headings under this Paragraph 2.2, the following is a partial list of additional paragraph references that contain information pertaining to RFPs:

Subject Matter	Ref
Information furnished by requestor	C.3
Preparation of specifications	C.5
Establishing performance period	3.11.22
Pre-proposal conferences and site visits	2.11.3
Determination of responsibility	2.4.6
Contract award	2.4.9

2.2.3 Opening Proposals

Public openings of proposals are not required. Proposals received will be recorded on an Abstract of Offers form. If the Contracting Officer determines there is a compelling reason for a public opening, the only information read aloud and available to the offerors and general public is the names of those who have submitted offers in a timely manner.

2.2.4 Clarifications

Clarifications may be requested from an offeror for the purpose of eliminating minor irregularities, informalities, or apparent clerical mistakes in the proposal. Such clarifications relate to a conformity determination as discussed in Paragraph 2.2.6. Clarifications may also be requested during proposal evaluation process. Clarification is achieved by explanation or substantiation, either in response (written or oral) to the Contracting Officer's inquiry or as initiated by the offeror. Uncertainties as to the pricing or technical aspects of proposals, unless significant, may be resolved through clarification. Unlike discussion (see Paragraph 2.4.1), clarification does not give the offeror an opportunity to revise or modify its proposal, except for correction of apparent clerical mistakes or eliminating minor irregularities. Clarifications need not be requested from all offerors.

2.2.5 Single Response to a Solicitation

Even though multiple sources exist and are solicited by full and open competition methods, there are occasions when only one response is received for a solicitation. Such procurements shall be considered to have been fully and openly competed even though only a single response was received. However, prior to contract award, the Contracting Officer will investigate to determine why other offerors did not respond and make a determination whether to award or to reject the offer and re-solicit. The Contracting Officer may negotiate the terms of the contract with the single offeror with the written approval of the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department. Prior to award, the Contracting Officer shall make a written determination that the price is fair and reasonable.

NOTE: For solicitations funded by the FTA, see Paragraph 10.7.10 of this Manual for additional guidance on special requirements and restrictions.

2.2.6 Review of Proposals – Conformity Determination

In the RFP process, the conformity determination begins after opening of the offers and it continues until bonds, if applicable, have been received immediately prior to award.

Substantial deviations from the requirements of the solicitation cannot be waived or corrected after opening. A substantial deviation is one that goes to the substance of the offer when it alters the price, quantity, quality, delivery or performance. If the defect amounts to only a minor informality or irregularity, then the Contracting Officer may request clarification as described in Paragraph 2.2.4.

The conformity determination shall include verifying compliance with the following requirements:

- (1) Offer submitted to Procurement and Contracts Department by the deadline date and time. See Paragraph 2.11.7 for treatment of late offers.
- Submitted a hand-signed Solicitation Offer and Award form.

- (3) Offer included no material conditions, limitations or other qualifying statements. See Paragraph 2.11.9 for exceptions.
- Acknowledged receipt of all amendments. The acknowledgement may take several forms. The preferred method is for the amendment to be listed by number and date on the Solicitation, Offer and Award form. Alternatively, the amendment form itself may be signed and returned with the offer submittal or on an earlier date to the Contracting Officer. In addition, receipt of an amendment may be acknowledged by fax transmittal of the signed amendment to the Contracting Officer prior to the required submittal date and time. There may also be a constructive acknowledgement of receipt of an amendment determined by the Contracting Officer from the circumstances surrounding the submittal of the offer, e.g. submittal of the offer using a schedule that was distributed with an amendment. The Contracting Officer must be able to conclude from the circumstances that the offeror has bound itself to the terms of the amendment. addition, failure to acknowledge an amendment that involves only a matter of form or has either no effect or merely a negligible effect on price, quantity, quality or delivery of the offered item will not be considered nonconformance.
- (5) Submitted pricing data in Section III, Schedule, for all mandatory line items.
- (6) Submitted completed Section IV, "Representations and Certifications."
- (7) Submitted commitment to LDBE or DBE participation (signed Exhibit D and waiver if applicable) as required by the solicitation and which, for the apparent successful offeror, is acceptable to Equal Opportunity Programs Department. See Paragraph 4.7.
- (8) Submitted any technical, qualifications, or experience information if that was required by the solicitation.
- (9) Upon request, verified the offered price, and submitted clarifying or supporting data if applicable as well as information needed for a determination of responsibility.
- (10) Upon request, submitted acceptable insurance certifications and enrolled in the Airports Authority's contractor insurance program, if applicable.
- (11) Upon request, submitted acceptable performance and payment bonds.

Any proposals determined by the Contracting Officer to be in material non-conformance with the solicitation must be eliminated from the competition and a certified letter with specific comments concerning the reason for nonconformance should be sent to the offeror within five (5) business days from the date eliminated from competition.

2.2.7 RFP Evaluation Criteria

2.2.7.1 Establishment of Criteria

Evaluation criteria as described in Paragraph C.3 should be submitted with the Requisition by the requestor. The solicitation and the Airports Authority's website announcement shall clearly state the evaluation criteria the Airports Authority will use in awarding the contract. These criteria will be listed in descending order of relative importance, with each criterion having the same or less weight than the one preceding it.

The specific value or weight of each criterion need not be published in the RFP.

Each separate evaluation criterion shall be worded in such a way that the criterion should encompass the necessary and relevant elements which must then be evaluated collectively to determine the score for the criterion. If necessary, the description of a criterion may require several sentences, but the scoring must be done only on a collective basis; there shall be no breakdown of scoring for the various elements of a criterion.

The scoring for the evaluation criteria may be numeric, adjectival (e.g., excellent, very good, etc.) or color-coded, and will be described in the RFP.

2.2.7.2 Sub-Criteria Not Recommended

The use of sub-criteria to further break-down a criterion is not recommended unless its use has been approved by the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department. If sub-criteria are authorized, they shall be given equal weight with respect to each other unless the RFP states that certain sub-criteria will be given greater weight than other sub-criteria.

2.2.7.3 Price Formula

The price formula for evaluating pricing can be found at Paragraph 2.3.3.

2.2.7.4 Net Present Value (NPV) Analysis

Price evaluations for multi-year contracts may include net present value (NPV) analysis if deemed appropriate by the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department. In that case, the RFP evaluation criteria shall state that price offers will be subjected to net present value analysis, and shall include the discount rate to be used as well as a description of the net present value analysis methodology.

2.2.7.5 Changes to Evaluation Criteria

Any changes to the published evaluation criteria or the published weighting shall be made prior to submission of proposals and shall be issued in an amendment to the solicitation. Prior to the opening of proposals, the Contracting Officer and the evaluation committee shall prepare the specific value or weight to be given each evaluation criterion. The criteria and weights assigned must be consistent with the published RFP.

Only the evaluation criteria listed in the solicitation and public announcement and the pre-assigned weights shall be used by the Evaluation Committee.

2.2.8 Evaluation Criteria – Price Only

When no additional criteria are recommended by the requestor, and the Contracting Officer agrees that none are needed, the RFP will be structured so that the evaluation will be based only on price and price-related criteria.

The Abstract of Offers form should be used for an overall perspective of how the Airports Authority's estimate compares to the offers received. If all of the offers exceed the Airports Authority's estimate by more than 10 percent, the reason(s) will be explored by the requester/Contracting Officer to identify the cause. The estimate may have to be reviewed to see if adjustments are warranted. It is also possible the specifications or drawings did not accurately reflect the Airports Authority's requirements or the solicitation was otherwise deficient. In that case, an amendment and best and final offers may be needed. If the technical deficiencies of the RFP are of such significance that some potential offerors may have been discouraged from submitting a proposal, then the Contracting Officer must determine if it is appropriate to cancel the solicitation and resolicit after any necessary changes are made to the solicitation.

When the low offer is more than 10 percent below the second low offer and more than 10 percent below the Airports Authority's estimate, the low offeror will be informed when asked to verify its price that "you were substantially lower" or other words to that effect. It may be of no benefit to the Airports Authority to award to an offeror who has submitted an exceptionally low price; it may result in many changes, poor quality work, delays or perhaps all of these.

The end result of the price evaluation is to ensure that the Contracting Officer and COTR are satisfied that the low offeror's price represents a fair and reasonable price for the work involved. As with any contract, a determination of responsibility is required prior to award – see Paragraph 2.4.6.

NOTE: For solicitations funded by the FTA, see Paragraph 10.7.8 of this Manual for additional guidance on special requirements and restrictions.

2.2.9 Evaluation Criteria – Both Price and Technical

If the requestor recommends that technical evaluation criteria be used in addition to price, they shall be reviewed for reasonableness by the Contracting Officer who shall ensure that the criteria are appropriate and that they will help the Airports Authority determine which is the best proposal; criteria must not be chosen to benefit one firm over other competitors.

Examples of technical information that Contractors may be requested to submit for evaluation under the technical evaluation criteria include: i) recent experience with contracts of similar dollar value, ii) evidence that they have the required specific technical capability and experience, iii) technical proposal that describes how they will satisfy the Airports Authority's requirements as described in the Statement of Work, iv) schedule of their current contracts, v) breakdown of their available equipment and workforce resources, vi) the firm's latest financial statement, and vii) evidence such as a letter from an acceptable surety showing that the firm will be able to obtain bonds in the required amounts.

Evaluation and scoring will be in accordance with any published evaluation criteria. See also Paragraph 2.3.2 for evaluation steps.

Technical evaluations will be made without the technical evaluator(s) having access to the pricing data. Further, under certain circumstances even though offerors have been requested to submit both price and technical information, the technical criteria alone may be used to establish a competitive range of proposals. This process will be used only when the development of the pricing proposal would not be burdensome for the offerors and where project time constraints necessitate that both technical and pricing information be included in the original submittal. The solicitation document will clearly advise potential offerors if the establishment of a competitive range will be based on technical merits exclusive of price consideration. The Airports Authority will not use pre-set threshold scores to determine which firms are within the competitive range.

When technical factors only are to be used to determine a competitive range, and pricing the proposals is deemed burdensome for the offerors, the solicitation will be structured so that pricing is requested from only those firms in the competitive range.

When evaluating certain labor-intensive services contracts, including, but not limited to custodial services, grounds maintenance, unarmed guards, and window cleaning,

Evaluation Committee (EC) Members should be aware that the living wage provision at Paragraph 3.11.25 may apply.

NOTE: For solicitations funded by the FTA, see Paragraph 10.7.12 for additional guidance on special requirements and restrictions.

2.2.10 Evaluation Criteria – Technical Only

Proposals for (i) architect - engineer services, (ii) legal, financial, audit, or legislative representation professional services or, (iii) if approved by the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department, proposals for unusual or technically demanding projects may be evaluated based solely upon technical criteria, without consideration of price. The solicitation document will clearly advise potential offerors when contractor selection will be made on technical merits exclusive of price or to establish the competitive range.

The technical criteria shall be reviewed for reasonableness by the Contracting Officer who shall ensure that the criteria are appropriate and that they will help the Airports Authority determine which is the best proposal; criteria must not be chosen to benefit one firm over other competitors.

Examples of technical information that Contractors may be requested to submit include: i) recent experience with contracts of similar dollar value, ii) evidence that they have the required specific technical capability and experience, iii) evidence such as a letter from an acceptable surety showing that the firm will be able to obtain bonds in the required amounts, iv) schedule of their current contracts, v) breakdown of their available equipment and workforce resources, and vi) the firm's latest financial statement.

Evaluation and scoring will be in accordance with any published evaluation criteria and assigned weights. See also Paragraph 2.3.2 for evaluation steps.

Based on the technical evaluation, the Airports Authority may establish a competitive range or shortlist of firms for further technical review. The Airports Authority will not use pre-set threshold scores to determine which firms are within the competitive range.

Even though a firm is selected based solely upon technical criteria, the Airports Authority retains the ability to negotiate price with that firm. The Airports Authority also retains the ability to negotiate a contract with the next highest technically rated firm in the event that price negotiations are unsuccessful with the highest technically rated firm. The final agreed-to price must be fair and reasonable.

NOTE: For solicitations funded by the FTA, see Paragraph 10.7.9 of this Manual for additional guidance on special requirements and restrictions.

2.2.11 Evaluation Criteria for Two-Step Design-Build Procurement Processes

The two-step design-build procurement process described in Paragraph 2.7.5 is a custom-designed solicitation, and the establishment of evaluation criteria and the evaluation of such criteria will be specifically described within the solicitation documents for each step of the process. Guidance for the development and evaluation of these solicitation documents shall be derived from the principles set forth in this Chapter 2.

2.3 EVALUATION COMMITTEE (EC)

2.3.1 Composition of EC

The user Vice President is responsible for establishing an Evaluation Committee when required to evaluate technical evaluation criteria. The size and composition of the EC shall be tailored to each individual procurement action. The EC should have a minimum of 3 voting members with a broad base of experience. For larger or complex procurements, non-voting representation from the Office of General Counsel and Equal Opportunity Programs Department may be included. The EC should include members from outside the Airports Authority office that is conducting the procurement. In addition, consultant contractors and other professionals may be requested to provide individuals to serve as EC members.

In order to ensure independent evaluations, no two voting EC members should work for the same first-level supervisor, nor shall a supervisor and a subordinate serve as EC voting members. All EC members shall be unbiased and be capable of objectively assessing the merits of the various proposals. All members of the EC shall each have one vote. The Chair of the EC may request other personnel to attend an EC meeting in an advisory capacity.

Both the COTR and the Contracting Officer shall be sensitive to potential conflicts of interest. Prior to the start of the evaluation, EC members and non-voting advisors are required to sign a written statement concerning conflicts of interest. The Authority's Code of Ethics for Employees shall be consulted when reviewing an actual or apparent conflict of interest.

2.3.2 Evaluation Steps

The following evaluation steps are written in language which applies to an EC doing the technical evaluation; however, if no EC is being used, the Contracting Officer or COTR doing the evaluation shall comply with the intent of these steps:

(1) The Contracting Officer furnishes the Chair of the EC (usually the requestor/COTR) copies of the technical proposals (the Contracting Officer retains the originals)

for distribution to EC members. The Chair distributes the proposals along with the evaluation criteria and assigned points.

- (2) Adjectival descriptions shall be developed and used for the scoring range for each evaluation criterion. For example, if the range for a criterion has 100 points available, a score of 90 to 100 points could be labeled "Outstanding" and the range of 80 to 89 could be labeled "Very Good," etc.
- (3) Unless specifically authorized by the Procurement and Contracts Department Manager, the Contracting Officer shall withhold the price information from the EC until the technical evaluations are completed.
- EC members shall evaluate each proposal against the evaluation criteria. The Chair of the EC and the Contracting Officer shall assure that scoring approaches used are consistent for all proposals. Although the scoring is a matter of subjectivity, the EC member's judgment must be based on fact as presented in the proposal. In addition, consideration will be given to any presentations made by the offerors to the EC. An offeror shall not be penalized due to lack of experience with the Airports Authority itself, but may be judged, among other considerations, on the relevancy of its experience and expertise wherever it occurred. Likewise, an offeror shall not be given an unfair advantage or disadvantage of points simply because of a previous contract relationship with the Airports Authority. However, the relevancy of such experience and its quality in terms of the RFP's scope of work may be judged.
- (5) Prior to the start of evaluation, the Contracting Officer shall ensure that the EC members have a common understanding of how the proposals are to be evaluated and scored. Only the evaluation criteria shown in the solicitation shall be used for the evaluation. Also, the relative order of importance of the evaluation criteria cannot be changed from that in the solicitation.
- Working alone, the EC Members review the proposals, (6) make notes concerning the strengths and weaknesses of each proposal, and assign tentative scores in as impartial and objective a manner as possible to each criterion. EC Members should carefully document any areas of noncompliance with the specific requirements stated in the RFP. After each member has completed evaluation of all proposals, the EC will hold an organized discussion of the strengths and weaknesses of each proposal in terms of the evaluation criteria. In the event of vague or conflicting language in a proposal, an evaluator may request the Contracting Officer to secure clarification from the offeror (see Paragraph 2.2.4). Minor technicalities pertaining to noncompliance may be waived.

- (7) References are checked by the Chair of the EC, Contracting Officer, or other individuals as designated by the Chair. The individual who makes the checks then reports the results to other EC members. On-site inspections of offerors' facilities or equipment being offered are permissible for the purpose of verifying information presented in proposals.
- (8) Those proposals determined to be in material noncompliance with the requirements of the RFP may be eliminated from further consideration. When appropriate, the Contracting Officer will make a determination of non-conformance (Paragraph 2.2.6) or determine that the offeror is not responsible (Paragraph 2.4.6).
- (9) If determined by the Chair of the EC and the Contracting Officer to be in the best interest of the Airports Authority, the EC may establish a shortlist of offerors based upon its initial evaluation of the technical proposals and at subsequent points during the evaluation process. The EC may conduct oral interviews with only the shortlisted offerors and include the results of the interviews in its evaluation and consider only these firms for contract award. Once the technical evaluation is complete, those price proposals of offerors on the final shortlist will be combined with the technical score in making the final selection of contract award.
- (10) The EC may conduct oral interviews with offerors within the shortlist or competitive range, for the purpose of collecting additional information, enhancing Airports Authority understanding of proposals, and obtaining minor clarification of proposals. EC members may adjust their evaluation scores to reflect information obtained at the oral interview, provided the information is appropriately considered under the evaluation criteria stated in the RFP. If an offeror provides information during the oral presentation that the Airports Authority intends to include in the final contract, such information must be provided to the Airports Authority in writing.

Discussions, as explained in Paragraph 2.4.1, may be held with offerors on the short list or within the competitive range, in addition to or in lieu of oral interviews.

(11) After the EC concludes its technical deliberations including the clarification process, and taking into account the results of the reference checks, the EC Members shall revise their scoring, if necessary, and sign and date their individual scoring sheets. A summary evaluation form will be prepared, signed and dated by the Chair of the EC. The summary sheet should show at a minimum (a) names of the EC members, (b) names of all offerors including those that

submitted non-conforming proposals, (c) evaluation criteria and maximum point values for each, and (d) points awarded to each offeror. The signed and dated summary sheet and the signed and dated individual scoring sheets will be given to the Contracting Officer for inclusion in the contract file.

(12) Proposals provided to the EC members should be returned to the Contracting Officer.

2.3.3 Price Formula for Assigning Points

When price is a factor, the following approach will be used by the Contracting Officer for assigning points to the price criteria unless a different methodology is approved by the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department. lowest price proposal that conforms to the solicitation is awarded the maximum number of evaluation points for price. All other conforming proposals are prorated points by determining the percentage differential between the low proposal total price and each of the other proposals' total price. This is determined by dividing the low offeror's price by the price of each of the higher offerors to arrive at a percentage factor for each offeror and then multiplying each offeror's percentage factor times the points assigned for price to compute the evaluation points to be assigned to its higher price proposal (LOW PRICE/HIGHER PRICE = % FACTOR X PRICE EVALUATION POINTS = POINTS TO BE ASSIGNED).

2.3.4 Net Present Value (NPV) Analysis

If Net Present Value (NPV) Analysis (Paragraph 2.2.7.4) is applicable for a solicitation, the NPV prices should be used in the calculations described in paragraph 2.3.3.

2.4 PRE-AWARD

2.4.1 Discussions/Negotiations

A contractor may be selected and award made with or without discussions, depending on the circumstances of the procurement, such as the complexity of the requirement, the extent of competition, and the quality of proposals received. Discussion in this context means negotiating with the offerors. Any communication between the Airports Authority and an offeror other than communications conducted for the purpose of clarification (Paragraph 2.2.4) or correction of mistakes (Paragraph 2.4.2), will be considered in the discussion.

2.4.1.1 <u>Initial Offer Should be Most Favorable to the Airports Authority</u>

Award may be made without discussion or contact with any offerors. Therefore, initial offers should represent the most favorable terms offerors can submit to the Airports Authority.

2.4.1.2 Award Without Discussions

Award may be made without discussion of proposals whenever the existence of adequate competition makes it clear that acceptance of the most favorable proposal will result in a reasonable price and is in the best interests of the Airports Authority.

Whenever there is uncertainty as to the pricing or technical aspects of the most favorable proposal, award shall not be made without discussions, unless the uncertainty is minor and can be resolved by clarification. Clarifications (see Paragraph 2.2.4) or correction of mistakes (see Paragraph 2.4.2) are not considered discussions and may be sought by the Contracting Officer at any time prior to award.

If the proposal most advantageous to the Airports Authority involves a significant departure from the solicitation requirements, all offerors must be given an opportunity to submit new or revised proposals on a comparable basis, but only if that can be done without disclosing confidential information.

2.4.1.3 <u>Award with Discussions</u>

Written or oral discussions (also referred to as negotiations) may be held with offerors to enable the Airports Authority to gain a better understanding of the proposal, to resolve uncertainties in proposals, and to give them an opportunity to revise their proposals. The contracting officer is not required to discuss every area where the proposal could be improved, however. The scope and extent of discussions are a matter of contracting officer judgment.

Discussions may cover all areas of the proposal including price. Even for procurements where an EC does not have access to price data, when appropriate, the Contracting Officer may conduct price discussions taking care not to divulge price to the EC. In situations where the Contracting Officer believes that prices are too high, that should be pointed out during discussions prior to requesting Best and Final Offers. Care will be taken to assure that information contained in one offeror's proposal is not divulged to a competing offeror.

If a determination is made that it is necessary to hold discussions with one offeror, discussions will be held with all offerors in the competitive range unless it is determined that only one offeror is fully qualified, or that one offeror is CLEARLY more highly qualified than the others under consideration. Such a circumstance would constitute a competitive range of one and with the approval of the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department, Contracting Officers may conduct discussions with only the one firm.

Revisions to offers as a result of discussions are requested by issuing Best and Final Offers per Paragraph 2.4.4.

2.4.2 Correction of Mistakes Prior to Award

If an offeror requests permission to correct a mistake in its proposal, the Contracting Officer shall request evidence from the offeror to show both the existence of the mistake and the proposal actually intended. The offeror must submit its original work sheets and other data used in preparing the proposal, subcontractors' and suppliers' quotations, and other evidence that could serve to establish the mistake, the manner in which the mistake occurred, and the proposal actually intended. The Contracting Officer will evaluate the evidence submitted, and if it is found to be clear and convincing, and with approval of the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department, the correction may be permitted. If a correction is permitted, the offer will then be evaluated or reevaluated after the correction is made. If the request for correction is rejected, the offeror will be informed that it may withdraw its offer from consideration. Mistakes that are discovered or reported after contract award are addressed in Paragraph 5.3.

2.4.3 Competitive Range

The Contracting Officer shall determine, based on the results of the evaluation, which proposals are in the competitive range for the purpose of conducting written or oral discussions (negotiations). The competitive range may be determined on the basis of price only (Paragraph 2.2.8), technical criteria only (Paragraph 2.2.10) or price and technical criteria (Paragraph 2.2.9). The most highly rated proposals will be included in the competitive range. Pre-set thresholds will not be used for determination of competitive range.

During discussions, if it is determined that a proposal is no longer one of the most highly rated proposals, it is by definition no longer in the competitive range and will no longer be considered for selection.

If the Contracting Officer initially solicits un-priced technical proposals, or pricing was received but a decision was made to initially evaluate based on technical content only, proposals shall be evaluated to determine which are acceptable or could, after discussion, be made acceptable; but this process is only acceptable if the solicitation stated that a competitive range could be established based on technical criteria only. After necessary discussion of these technical proposals is completed, the Contracting Officer shall (1) solicit price proposals, or open price proposals if already received for the acceptable technical proposals that offer the greatest benefit in terms of performance and other criteria, and (2) make award to the responsible offeror whose offer is in the best interests of the Airports Authority price and technical criteria considered, either without or following discussions, or cancel the solicitation.

2.4.4 Best and Final Offers

The Contracting Officer will determine if it is appropriate to call for best and final offers. This decision shall be based on the substance of discussions, if any, that took place and a judgment by the Contracting Officer of the impact of the discussions on the offerors' proposals. Also, if the statement of work needs to be clarified or changed that should be done along with a call for best and final offerors. If best and final offers are desired, the Contracting Officer will issue to all offerors still within the competitive range a request for best and final offers. The request will include (1) notice that discussions are concluded; (2) notice that this is the opportunity to submit a best and final offer; (3) a cutoff date and time that allows a reasonable opportunity for submission of written best and final offers; and (4) notice that if any proposal revision is submitted, it must be received by the date and time specified and is subject to the Late Submissions, Modifications, and Withdrawals provisions of the solicitation.

After receipt of best and final offers, the Contracting Officer may reopen discussions only if it is clearly in the Airports Authority's best interest to do so (e.g., information available is inadequate to reasonably justify contractor selection and award based on the best and final offers received). If discussions are reopened, the Contracting Officer may issue an additional request for best and final offers if appropriate.

2.4.5 Final Contract Processing

When an apparent successful offeror is identified, the Contracting Officer will contact that offeror and request a written verification of the proposed price along with references and other information pertaining to a determination of responsibility. Following receipt and verification of the information from the apparent successful offeror, including making the reference checks with satisfactory results, and after having resolved any LDBE/DBE or legal issues, the Contracting Officer will request payment and performance bonds and certificate of insurance if applicable.

To be effective, the award must be properly executed and be furnished to the successful offeror within the acceptance period. The Contracting Officer must be aware of the acceptance period and if necessary request an extension from the offeror.

Contracting Officers must ensure that all arrangements, understandings and agreements which they have verbally reached with the contractor are committed to paper and made a part of the contract provisions, the Statement of Work, specifications, or drawings as applicable. Answers to questions could be made a new attachment to Section X. Consistent with the negotiations and a BAFO, if one was issued, the contractor's final technical and price proposals shall be incorporated as part of the contract.

2.4.6 Determination of Responsibility

Contracts are awarded only to responsible contractors. The award of a contract based on price alone can be false economy if there is subsequent default, late delivery, or other unsatisfactory performance. To qualify for award a prospective contractor must affirmatively demonstrate general standards of responsibility, including, when necessary, the responsibility of its proposed subcontractors. For joint ventures, each party to the venture must demonstrate its responsibility. To be determined responsible, a prospective contractor must-

- (1) Be a regular dealer or supplier of the goods or services offered.
- (2) Have the ability to comply with the required delivery or performance schedule, taking into consideration other business commitments.
- (3) Have a satisfactory record of performance.
- (4) Have a sound record of integrity and business ethics.
- (5) Have the necessary facilities, organization, experience, technical skills, and financial resources to fulfill the terms of the contract.

NOTE: For solicitations funded by the FTA, see Paragraph 10.7.11 of this Manual for additional guidance on special requirements and restrictions.

2.4.6.1 Commitment to DBE or LDBE Participation

The offeror's commitment to the DBE goal and submission of the good faith efforts waiver form with the proposal are issues of conformity as discussed in Paragraph 4.7. All other matters relating to the DBE or LDBE participation proposed by an offeror will be treated as matters relating to the offeror's responsibility.

NOTE: The LDBE program does not apply to solicitations funded by the FTA.

2.4.6.2 Special Standards of Responsibility

Special standards of responsibility may be used when the nature of the acquisition is such that contractors must have unusual expertise or specialized facilities to assure satisfactory contract performance. When considered necessary for a particular contract, the COTR should include this information in the Requisition submittal. For example, a demolition contractor may be required to have asbestos removal experience. The special responsibility standards shall be set forth in the solicitation and must apply to all offerors. As an alternative to developing special standards of responsibility, consideration should be given to using technical evaluation criteria along with price to evaluate

proposals. See Paragraphs 2.2.7 and 2.3 for a discussion of evaluation criteria and Evaluation Committee procedures.

2.4.6.3 <u>Licensing Requirements</u>

Contractors are responsible to comply with all applicable licensing requirements for themselves and their subcontractors (see Paragraph 3.11.5) and to ensure availability of appropriate permits.

2.4.6.4 <u>Subcontractor Responsibility</u>

Prospective contractors must determine the responsibility of their prospective subcontractors. However, because matters of subcontractor responsibility may affect the determination of the prime contractor's responsibility, a prospective contractor may be required to provide written evidence of a proposed subcontractor's responsibility.

2.4.6.5 <u>Sources for Determining Responsibility</u>

The Contracting Officer can use a variety of sources to collect "responsibility" information: the prospective contractor, sources within the Airports Authority, the GSA "Lists of Parties Excluded from Federal Procurement or Non-procurement Programs" (formerly referred to as debarred or suspended contractors), Dunn and Bradstreet and other rating services, personal knowledge, and by doing a pre-award survey.

If available information does not provide an adequate basis for determining the responsibility or non-responsibility of a prospective contractor, the Contracting Officer may perform a pre-award survey, obtaining the assistance and participation of specialists as needed. The Contracting Officer may discuss pre-award survey information with the prospective contractor being surveyed. The extent of the survey must be consistent with the dollar value and complexity of the purchase, and may include examination of financial statements and records and on-site inspection of plant and facilities to be used for contract performance.

2.4.6.6 Responsibility Findings

Contracting Officers must document in the contract file their responsibility findings on a Determination of Prospective Contractor Responsibility Form (see Appendix E) for contracts over \$25,000.

Communication with a prospective offeror for the purpose of obtaining or clarifying information needed to determine responsibility is not "discussion" or negotiation and does not require that discussions be held with all those in the competitive range.

A letter of notification with specific reasons for a finding that a prospective contractor is not responsible will be sent by certified mail within five (5) business days to any offeror

found to be non-responsible. The notification letter will be coordinated with the Office of General Counsel. The offeror has the right to respond if desired.

NOTE: For solicitations funded by the FTA, see Paragraph 10.7.11 for additional guidance on special requirements and restrictions.

2.4.7 Contract Format

The contract as assembled and distributed by the Contracting Officer, consists of the following sections:

- (1) Section I Solicitation Offer and Award form; with the contractor's signature.
- (2) Section II Table of Contents; annotated to reflect Amendments and other items applicable to Section X -Attachments.
- (3) Section III Schedule; as submitted by the contractor.
- (4) Section IV Representations and Certifications; as submitted by the contractor.
- (5) Sections V IX. The exhibit formats from Sections VIII and IX may be retained as a permanent part of the Airports Authority's file.
- (6) Section X Attachments; including Amendments.

2.4.8 Pre-Award Conference

Pre-award Conferences are an effective management tool for construction and other complex contracts or for contracts where there are outstanding issues which need to be discussed and/or resolved prior to contract award. The Contracting Officer in coordination with the COTR will determine whether to hold such a conference, identify who should attend, set the agenda, and make the necessary arrangements.

2.4.9 Contract Award

The Contracting Officer will ensure that all significant procurement actions are taken before award. This shall include securing required Board approval (see Chapter 1); Office of General Counsel coordination, when appropriate; verifying that bonds and insurance are in place; that sufficient funds are available; and that the award amount does not exceed the authority in the Contracting Officer's appointment letter. After required approvals and when all else is in order, the Contracting Officer will make award to the responsible contractor who submitted an offer conforming with the requirements of the solicitation and who submitted the offer which is in the best interests of the Airports Authority. The award will be made by completing the "award" portion of the Solicitation, Offer and Award form. See Paragraph 1.9.2 for notification of unsuccessful offerors.

2.5 BEST VALUE PROCEDURE

Best value is a competitive negotiated procurement. Award will be made to that responsible offeror whose proposal provides the best overall value to the Airports Authority. In the determination of the best value, other factors and price will be separately ranked. The solicitation shall identify the relative importance of each of the other factors and whether all evaluation factors, other than price, when combined, are more important than the price.

Therefore, the Airports Authority may select other than the lowest priced, technically acceptable offer if it is determined that the additional technical merit offered is worth the additional cost in relation to other proposals received. For evaluation purposes, if proposals become more technically equivalent, then price becomes more important.

When utilizing a best value procedure, the Airports Authority is more concerned with obtaining excellent technical features than with making an award at the lowest overall price to the Airports Authority. However, the Airports Authority will not make an award at a significantly higher overall price to achieve only slightly superior technical features.

Award may be made without discussion or contact with any offerors. Therefore, initial offers should represent the most favorable terms offerors can submit to the Airports Authority.

The rationale for the selection and for technical - cost tradeoffs shall be documented in the contract file.

2.6 A/E SOURCE SELECTION

The selection of Architectural/Engineering (A/E) firms for design and consultant services shall be accomplished in accordance with the following selection procedures. In addition to design services, these procedures may also be used to select A/Es for special studies, analyses, reports, surveys, investigations, and other forms of inquiry where solicitation of competitively priced proposals is impracticable or considered not to be in the best interests of the Airports Authority.

A formally constituted Evaluation Committee shall accomplish the selection of design firms for all A/E projects including those using Federal Airport Improvement Program (AIP) funds. For a description of the appointment and qualifications of the EC see Paragraph 2.3.

2.6.1 A/E Announcement and Responses.

Upon receipt of a Requisition for a proposed A/E contract, the designated Contracting Officer will coordinate an announcement for publication and posting to the Airports Authority's website with the Equal Opportunity Programs Department and the project manager. This coordination will be accomplished prior to submitting the announcement to the

Procurement and Contracts Department Manager for approval to release the information to the public. The purpose of this announcement is to alert the A/E community to the impending work and to solicit their responses. A/E firms responding to the announcement are required to submit a completed Standard Form (SF) 330, Architect-Engineer Qualifications (see Appendix F), describing in Part I its qualifications for a specific contract and in Part II its general professional qualifications. This new Standard Form 330 Parts I and II replace the previous Forms 255 and 254, respectively.

The announcement on the Airports Authority's website shall clearly state the evaluation criteria the Airports Authority will use in awarding the contract. These criteria will be listed in descending order of relative importance, with each criterion having the same or less weight than the one preceding it.

2.6.2 A/E Evaluation Criteria

The EC shall consider the evaluation criteria listed below and any other, as appropriate, in developing project-specific criteria:

- (1) Professional qualifications necessary for satisfactory performance of required services;
- (2) Past contract performance with emphasis on cost control, quality of work, flexibility in accommodating changes, and compliance with performance schedules;
- (3) Specialized experience and technical competence in the type of work required, including where appropriate, experience in energy conservation, pollution prevention, waste reduction, and the use of recovered materials:
- (4) Capacity to accomplish the work in the required time; taking into consideration current and projected workload.

Each separate evaluation criterion shall be worded in such a way that the criterion should encompass the necessary and relevant elements which must then be evaluated collectively to determine the score for the criterion. If necessary, the description of a basic criterion may require several sentences, but the scoring must be done only on a collective basis; there shall be no breakdown of scoring for the various elements of a criterion.

The use of sub-criteria to further break-down a criterion is not recommended without approval of the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department.

Any changes to the published evaluation criteria shall be made prior to submission of Standard Form 330 and shall be issued in an amendment to the public announcement. Prior to the opening of SF 330, the Contracting Officer and the EC shall prepare the specific value or weight to be given each

evaluation criterion consistent with the published criteria. Only the evaluation criteria listed in the public announcement and the pre-assigned weights shall be used by the EC.

2.6.3 A/E Evaluation Committee Procedures

Copies of the qualifications (SF 330) will be provided to each of the EC members, who shall keep the qualifications and the EC proceedings confidential. EC voting members will review the qualifications and data for each firm and perform an evaluation based on the criteria stated in the public announcement. The EC may request the Contracting Officer to obtain additional information from firms under consideration to facilitate its evaluations.

After the EC has completed the evaluations and rankings, the Chair of the EC shall prepare a "short list" of the highest ranked firms. The short list of firms ranked in descending order of qualifications will be reviewed by the Contracting Officer to ensure that it accurately reflects the deliberations and final rankings of the EC. The Contracting Officer shall then notify the short-listed firms of their selection, promptly notify firms who were not short-listed, schedule oral interviews, and furnish copies of evaluation criteria and statements of work to the short-listed firms for their preparation for the interviews. A list of questions should be prepared prior to the interview session but should not be revealed to the firms being interviewed. Members of the EC should present the questions pertaining to their area of expertise. Each firm will be given approximately equal amounts of time for its presentation and question and answer session. Scoring of the interview sessions by EC members will be done by adjusting either upward or downward the scores they assigned during the SF 330 evaluations of the short-listed firms.

After the interviews, EC discussions, and scoring have been concluded, the Chair of the EC shall consolidate the point scores and prepare the formal EC report. The purpose of the report is to obtain approval from the Contracting Officer to begin contract negotiations with the highest rated firm. The report shall list those A/E firms considered best qualified in descending order of qualification. It will include sufficient narrative detail to establish the extent of the review and evaluation and the considerations upon which the recommendations are made. Voting members will, by their signature, concur or non-concur with the report. The report, as well as signed and dated originals of EC voting member score sheets, will be given to the Contracting Officer for inclusion in the contract file. See Paragraph 1.9.2 for information concerning debriefing unsuccessful firms. Copies of qualifications provided to EC members should be returned to the Contracting Officer.

2.6.4 Negotiating With Top-Ranked A/E Firm

The Contracting Officer shall prepare an RFP, using applicable portions of Paragraph 2.2, to solicit a price proposal from the top-ranked A/E firm and analyze and negotiate the A/E's proposal. The Contracting Officer's goal is to reach a contractual agreement with the highest ranking offeror. However, if in the judgment of the Contracting Officer, a fair and reasonable price or other contract terms and conditions cannot successfully be negotiated with the top-ranked offeror, the Contracting Officer shall, with the consent of the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department, terminate negotiations and proceed to issue an RFP to the next highest-ranked firm.

Upon successful negotiation of the contract, approval to award may be required by the appropriate delegation of authority.

2.7 CONTRACTING FOR CONSTRUCTION

As used in this paragraph, construction includes the building, alteration, or repairs of buildings, structures or other real property and also the dismantling, demolition, or removal of improvements. Construction contracts are subject to the requirements in other parts of this Manual, which shall be followed when applicable. When a requirement in this paragraph is inconsistent with a requirement in another part of the Contracting Manual, this paragraph shall prevail for construction contracts.

If a contract involves both construction and supplies or services, it will include provisions pertinent to the predominant part of the work, as well as any specific provisions that the Contracting Officer determines are necessary to accommodate the minor part of the work. Care must be taken to ensure in combining various provisions in one contract, that internal conflicts are not created between different provisions.

2.7.1 Construction Contracting Approach

Construction contracts are normally solicited using RFP procedures with award to the offeror who submitted a conforming proposal, was determined to be a responsible offeror and who submitted the lowest price. Use of an RFP preserves the Contracting Officer's ability to enter into discussions if necessary, to negotiate a better price, to make last minute adjustments because of budgetary constraints, or to request best and final offers.

Regardless of the method of solicitation, Contracting Officers shall use firm-fixed-price contracts for construction unless there is a compelling reason to use another type of contract.

NOTE: For solicitations funded by the FTA, see Paragraphs 10.4.6.3, 10.4.6.5, 10.4.6.7, 10.4.6.8 and 10.7.14 of this Manual for additional guidance or special requirements and restrictions.

2.7.2 Construction Contractor Responsibility

As noted in Paragraph 2.7.1, the Airports Authority generally awards construction contracts on the basis of price alone (after having verified compliance and responsibility) even when an RFP is used. For high cost contracts or in cases where unusual expertise or specialized facilities are needed, requestors should identify the need for qualification data as part of their Requisition submittal. The use of an RFP process enables the Airports Authority, on a limited case-bycase basis, to consider technical criteria besides lowest price when choosing an offeror for award. Depending upon the nature of the solicitation, offerors may be required to submit specific qualification data that is then determined to be acceptable or not, along with price, to determine the successful offeror. The approach would be to develop responsibility standards for a specific solicitation that would require a firm to have certain qualifications or experience in order to be considered a responsible contractor.

Construction contractors are responsible to comply with all applicable licensing requirements for themselves and their subcontractors (see Paragraph 3.11.5) and to ensure that appropriate construction permits have been issued by the Airports Authority.

2.7.3 Construction Specifications

Contracting Officers through their COTRs must ensure adherence to the specification guidelines in Appendix C.5. If the specification lists various brand names, it must be clear in each instance whether contractors have the right to provide an Airports Authority approved "or equal" substitute for a brand name or whether they must furnish one of the specified brand names.

The specifications must also be closely checked to identify any areas that conflict or overlap with the Contract or Special Conditions. Such problems may deal with warranties, liquidated damages, bonds, notice-to-proceed or almost any other subject. Contracting Officers and COTRs should work to eliminate conflicts and overlapping subject matter in the interest of reducing confusion and to create a unified, cohesive contract. A/E firms are generally furnished copies of the Airports Authority's construction contract format so that they can avoid creating specifications and drawings that contain conflicts.

2.7.4 Minimum Work by General Contractor

When submitting Requisitions for construction contracts, requestors shall indicate on the Requisition whether they recommend establishing a minimum percentage of the contract direct labor costs that must be performed by the prime contractor's own work force. Use of this provision will help assure that the prime contractor has sufficient presence on the job site to identify and correct problems as they develop.

2.7.5 **Design-Build Contracts**

Under appropriate circumstances, design-build provides an effective way to have a project designed and constructed. Frequently, time constraints are the driving factor although that is not the only reason to utilize design-build. Under this type of contract, the A/E provisions and the construction provisions are combined so that one prime contractor is responsible for the two disciplines which historically have been the responsibility of separate primes. From a management standpoint, it can be desirable for the Airports Authority to have one party fully responsible for both the design and construction aspects of a project.

Contracting Officers will consult with the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department, before embarking on a design-build contract. Design-build is used by both governmental and private/corporate entities in a variety of ways using many different procedures and techniques dependent on the nature of the solicitation. The Airports Authority's objective is to develop the specific methodology that will best serve the needs of each particular procurement action.

One such methodology is the two-step design-build procurement procedure authorized for use in design-build procurements undertaken by the federal government. This two-step design-build procurement procedure is a selection method in which a limited number of offerors are selected at the conclusion of the first step to submit detailed technical and price proposals as part of the second step. See 48 C.F.R. 36.300 et seq.

The two steps are as follows:

(1) Review of Technical Qualifications and Approach. The first step consists of the issuance of a "Request for Qualifications Information" (RFQI) seeking, and a subsequent review of, each offeror's technical qualifications to perform the scope of work. Qualification factors shall include the past performance of the offeror's team and qualifications of key personnel of the offeror's team, and may include any other factors that the Airports Authority determines are relevant. The solicitation shall establish a maximum number of offerors that, at the conclusion of the first

step, will be short-listed and invited to participate in the second step. The maximum number of short-listed offerors shall not exceed five offerors, unless the Airports Authority determines, for the particular solicitation, that a greater number is in its best interests and consistent with the purposes of the two-step procurement process. The first step solicitation shall not seek or evaluate cost- or price-related information, or detailed designs or technical information.

Review of Proposals from Short-listed Offerors. The second step consists of: (i) the issuance of an RFP solicitation for proposals from each short-listed offeror, which RFP will solicit a price proposal (including financing costs, if applicable) and a technical proposal that will include whatever technical information the Airports Authority determines is relevant, including but not limited to detailed designs; and (ii) a review of the proposals submitted by the short-listed offerors. The price and technical proposals from each short-listed offeror shall be submitted in separate packages, with the technical proposal being evaluated before the price proposal is opened and evaluated. The method and/or criteria for the evaluation of these proposals (as well as the timing of their submission) shall be set out in the RFP, and may include weighted criteria, adjusted low bid, price-technical tradeoffs and/or technically acceptable lowest price.

The statements of qualifications received by the Airports Authority during the first step, and the proposals received by the Airports Authority from the short-listed offerors during the second step, shall each be evaluated and scored in accordance with the criteria and processes identified, respectively, in the RFQI and the RFP.

Because of the potential cost to the short-listed offerors in developing a price and a technical proposal for a design-build solicitation, the Airports Authority shall have the discretion to give a monetary stipend to those short-listed offerors which are not awarded the design-build contract if the Airports Authority determines that such a stipend will benefit competition, create an incentive for obtaining better proposals, or otherwise be in the best interests of the Airports Authority. The conditions associated with a short-listed offeror receiving a stipend shall be set forth in the RFP.

Because design-build solicitations are customdesigned, and must be described for the potential offerors in the solicitation documents, they require approval by the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department with coordination by the Office of General Counsel, prior to the solicitation being distributed to the public.

NOTE: For solicitations funded by the FTA, see Paragraphs 10.4.6.5, 10.4.6.8 and 10.7.13 of this Manual for additional guidance on special requirements and restrictions.

2.8 ADVERTISED SEALED BIDS

The advertised sealed bid or Invitation for Bids (IFB) procedures may be used when:

- (1) There is no anticipated need to enter negotiations.
- (2) Price is the only evaluation criterion.
- (3) Products or performance are expected to be relatively uniform.
- (4) There are many qualified sources.
- (5) Lead times are adequate.
- (6) Clear, detailed specifications or requirements are available.

2.8.1 Basis for Solicitation of Bids

Bids are solicited on the basis of an accurate description of items desired, that is, specifications that state the needs of the Airports Authority clearly and fairly, to permit bidders to compete on a common basis without restricting competition. Specifications will not be adopted so as to favor the product of one contractor over another. Detailed information on specification preparation can be found in Appendix C.5.

2.8.2 Preparation of Invitation for Bids

An IFB requires that careful attention be given to its preparation because it is difficult to change the contract terms after bids are opened. For example, deficiencies in item descriptions, specifications, or special provisions of the proposed contract should be corrected prior to bid opening in order to avoid the costly and time-consuming process of readvertising. Careful preparation of the IFB is the key to preventing many of the problems that are encountered in advertised sealed bid procurements.

2.8.3 Opening of Bids/Pre-Award

Unlike the RFP process, when using an IFB, the Airports Authority will publicly open the bids. The Contracting Officer will verify the time from the Procurement and Contracts Department date/time clock. When the time for opening has arrived, the Contracting Officer personally and publicly opens all bids received prior to that time and reads them aloud to all bidders present. The following information will be read aloud: (1) bidder's name; (2) unit price or lot price as applicable; and (3) brand name and model number, if requested by attendees. The Contracting Officer shall prepare an Abstract of Offers that includes verification of bid bond receipt and acknowledgment of receipt of amendments.

Neither responsiveness nor responsibility determinations are made at the public bid opening.

2.8.4 IFB Determination of Responsiveness

After the bid opening, the Contracting Officer is required to evaluate each bid to verify that it is responsive to the solicitation. The general rule is that a deviation that goes to the substance of the bid may not be waived or corrected after opening, and a deviation that is only a minor irregularity or informality may be waived. A deviation goes to the substance of the bid when it alters the price, quantity, quality or delivery of the items offered. If the deviation amounts only to a minor informality or irregularity, then the Contracting Officer may allow the bidder the opportunity to cure or merely waive the informality or irregularity where it is to the advantage of the Airports Authority to do so. A minor irregularity is one that is merely a matter of form or is some immaterial variation from the exact requirements of the IFB, having no effect or merely a trivial or negligible effect on price, quality, quantity or delivery of the goods or performance of the services or construction being procured, and the correction or waiver of that would not affect the relative standing of, or be otherwise prejudicial to other bidders. Prejudice will not be found from the mere fact that correction or waiver will allow the offeror to remain in the competition. Examples of minor informalities or irregularities that may be cured include the failure of the bidder to return the requested number of copies of the signed bid, or a bidder's failure to furnish a statement concerning work force organization.

In contrast to the above examples wherein the irregularity could be waived, any bid that fails to conform to the essential requirements of the IFB must be rejected. Likewise, any bid that does not conform to the specifications shall be rejected. Substitution or addition of the bidder's own contractual terms, taking exception to any of the terms and conditions, failure to submit a valid and acceptable bid bond if required in the IFB, failure to sign the bid, submission of sample goods that do not meet the specification, or failure to acknowledge receipt of an amendment (see Paragraph 2.2.6 for additional information about acknowledgements), may make a bid non-responsive.

Although performance and payment bonds are not submitted with the contractor's bid, when they are received from the apparent low bidder, they shall be verified as acceptable in form and substance by the Contracting Officer. Any problem must be immediately resolved or the bid will be rejected.

2.8.5 Two-Step Advertised Sealed Bids

The classic two-step procurement process may be used when there is a need to solicit un-priced technical proposals in step one followed by submittal of sealed priced bids from those who submitted acceptable technical proposals. The step one technical proposals are evaluated by the Airports Authority based on evaluation criteria that are listed in descending order of importance in the solicitation. Only offerors who submitted acceptable technical proposals will be invited to submit pricing in step two based on their technical proposals. The step two priced bids are processed in accordance with Paragraph 2.8. The Airports Authority does not normally use the two step procedure.

2.9 OTHER CONTRACTING METHODS

2.9.1 Limited Competitive Proposals

Limited competitive proposals is a contracting method that may be used when other than full and open competition procedures are authorized. It is a competitive contracting method in which the solicitation is distributed to a limited number of offerors or for which eligible offerors are limited. This method is implemented by using the RFP procedures in Paragraph 2.2 or A/E Source Selection procedures in Paragraph 2.6.

NOTE: For solicitations funded by the FTA, see Paragraph 10.7.14 of this Manual for additional guidance on special requirements and restrictions.

2.9.2 Controlled Distribution RFP

Controlled distribution RFP is another contracting method that may be used when other than full and open competition procedures are authorized. Such RFPs are issued only to Airports Authority approved firms. This method may be used only when necessary and justified for airport security reasons. Dependent upon the situation, there may be no notice or announcement of the RFP or the award.

NOTE: For solicitations funded by the FTA, see Paragraph 10.7.3.2 of this Manual for additional guidance on special requirements and restrictions.

2.9.3 Sole Source Negotiation

Sole source negotiation is another contracting method that may be used when other than full and open competition procedures are authorized. This method occurs when there is only one known or acceptable source for the item. This method is implemented by using the RFP process described in Paragraph 2.2, except for aspects of that process that do not apply, such as advertisement and distribution of the solicitation. Examples of items whose acquisition may be subject to this contracting method are provided in Paragraph 1.4.1.

For sole source Requisitions in excess of \$2,500, the requestor shall include a sole source justification with the Requisition. The justification should comply with the requirements of Paragraph 1.4.2. Advertising and market

research are effective methods of locating new sources and creating a competitive environment.

Sole source justifications must be signed by the requestor's Department Manager and be approved by the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department, with a copy maintained in the contract file.

When making a sole source contract award, it is the Contracting Officer's responsibility to negotiate a contract that is in the best interests of the Airports Authority. The Contracting Officer should carefully research the product or services and determine a fair and reasonable price. This can be done by (1) comparing the price paid on a previous purchase of the product or service, (2) by obtaining costs on similar purchases by the Airports Authority or others, or (3) by performing a cost analysis of data submitted by the offeror. The user or COTR will furnish this information by completing the pricing block on the Airports Authority's Procurement Justification form Appendix D.

Negotiations can be conducted on adding terms and conditions favorable to the Airports Authority and deleting or changing terms that are one-sided in favor of the contractor. It is important to be well prepared and to know the marketplace.

For sole source negotiation procurements under Paragraph 1.4.1 (3) that are in excess of \$200,000, notice will be published on the Airports Authority's website, no less than fifteen (15) days prior to contract award and will remain posted for a total of 30 days, along with information describing the goods or services to be acquired, including the justification, stating that the Airports Authority has determined that only one source is practicably available, identifying that sole source, stating the date on which the contract will be awarded, stating that any responsible source may submit a statement of capabilities to provide the goods or services for consideration by the Airports Authority, and stating that any such statement of capabilities must be submitted no later than the close of business on the fifteenth day after the date of publication of the above (15^{th}) referenced notice on the website.

NOTE: For solicitations funded by the FTA, see Paragraph 10.4.6.9 and 10.6.3.1 of this Manual for additional guidance on special requirements and restrictions.

2.9.4 Cooperative/Government Purchasing Agreements

This contracting method is considered full and open competition using contracts competitively procured by other governmental units. Procurements under cooperative/government purchasing agreements are handled on Purchase Orders or Blanket Purchase Orders since there is no solicitation process involved. See Paragraph 2.10.1 for additional information.

2.10 RFQ/PURCHASE ORDERS

Requests for Quotations (RFQ) should be used when the Airports Authority has a need to invite contractors to submit quotations rather than proposals or bids. RFQs shall be used only for solicitations under \$200,000. When an RFQ is issued with the intent of possibly issuing a purchase order or blanket purchase order, a statement to that effect shall be included in the RFQ. To create a contract after issuing an RFQ and receiving quotations, the Airports Authority must issue either a purchase order or blanket purchase order (offer) which the contractor may choose to accept by completing and returning the acceptance copy of the purchase order to the Contracting Officer.

An RFQ may also be used to seek pricing or technical information from contractors when, because of a lack of funding or incomplete requirement data or other reasons, it is not desirable to request firm offers. Detailed RFQ procedures can be found in the *Airport Purchasing Policies and Procedures Manual*.

NOTE: For solicitations funded by the FTA, see Paragraph 10.7.16 of this Manual for additional guidance on special requirements and restrictions.

2.10.1 Purchase Order/Blanket Purchase Order

Certain procurement actions may be more efficiently handled by using a purchase order or blanket purchase order as the contractual instrument rather than standard а solicitation/offer/award contract document. instances, the Contracting Officer should refer to the basic purchase order/blanket purchase order procedures as set forth in the Airport Purchasing Policies and Procedures Manual as required. With approval of the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department, these procedures may be used for dollar values up to the Contracting Officer's delegation of authority. Contracting Officers should ensure that the Airports Authority's interests are adequately protected when using a purchase order or blanket purchase order rather than a standard contract.

NOTE: For solicitations funded by the FTA, see Paragraph 10.7.17 of this Manual for additional guidance on special requirements and restrictions.

2.11 GENERAL SOLICITATION CONSIDERATIONS

2.11.1 Combined/Modified Solicitations

It is the Airports Authority's intent that the solicitation methods described in this chapter are used in the manner in which they are described herein. However, if there is a particular situation wherein none of the solicitation processes described herein reasonably satisfy the need, then with the approval of the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department and in coordination with the Office of General Counsel, necessary adaptations may be made for an individual case. In such an instance, both the solicitation announcement and the solicitation itself must describe the variance from the standard process as described in this Manual.

2.11.2 Solicitation Distribution

Advertisement of solicitations is covered in Paragraph 1.8. Distribution is determined by whether the solicitation is or is not available for download from the Airports Authority's website, www.mwaa.com. The Airports Authority's objective is to simplify the distribution process by having as many solicitations as possible be available for download from the Internet. Solicitations which are not available for download are issued via CD-ROM for a fee which is listed on the Airports Authority's website.

2.11.3 Pre-Proposal Conference/Site Visit

For some solicitations, it may be beneficial to hold a conference and/or site visit early in the solicitation cycle. This provides an opportunity to emphasize and clarify critical aspects of the solicitation, eliminate ambiguities or misunderstandings, allow the potential offerors to become familiar with the work site, and permit contractors to submit written questions. When deemed necessary and appropriate, the Airports Authority may tape record pre-proposal proceedings.

2.11.3.1 Additional site visits

Requests by late entrants into the competition or by a firm unable to attend the scheduled site visit (perhaps an out-of-state firm), shall be accommodated when practicable.

2.11.3.2 Mandatory site visits

Mandatory site visits are not permitted on federally funded projects and their use on other Airports Authority procurements shall be limited to special situations which require approval of the requestor's manager and the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department. Examples of projects that would be candidates for mandatory site visits might include asbestos removal and removal of contaminated soil. When mandatory attendance is stipulated, only offers from those attending firms shall be considered for award unless waived by the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department.

2.11.3.3 Post Conference Amendment

The Contracting Officer will review the notes or recording and 1) determine the need to issue an amendment to the solicitation including any necessary addenda to the Statement of Work, 2) coordinate with appropriate Airports Authority staff to secure responsive answers to written contractor questions for inclusion in any amendment, and 3) include a summary of the conference including attendance sheet and agenda in the contract file.

2.11.4 Planholders List

A List of Planholders for each solicitation is provided on the Airports Authority's website (www.mwaa.com). The Planholders List is provided for information purposes only with the understanding that the Airports Authority does not endorse any of the firms listed. The Planholders List includes firms to whom solicitations have been furnished in hardcopy by the Airports Authority in addition to firms who have registered on-line as having downloaded the solicitation. The list is current as of the date shown on the document. It is important for firms interested in a particular solicitation to ensure they are included on the Planholders List because that list is used to distribute amendments that may be issued to the solicitation. Failure to receive and acknowledge receipt of an amendment may result in an offer being found in nonconformance (See Paragraph 2.2.6).

2.11.5 Public Release of Information

The Airports Authority's Freedom of Information Policy, adopted by the Board, governs the release of Airports Authority records. Under the Freedom of Information Policy, Airports Authority records containing confidential business information of the Airports Authority are exempt from release. Records containing confidential business information of parties other than the Airports Authority are also exempt from release, which may include records created by or relating to offerors and contractors. In addition, records that are considered privileged pre-decisional documents are exempt from release. These exemptions, when applied to records prepared during, in conjunction with, or as a result of Airports Authority procurement are intended to protect the integrity of the procurement process and to preserve the confidentiality of certain information submitted during the process by offerors and contractors. Airports Authority employees and Board members shall safeguard and not disclose any confidential business information or privileged pre-decisional documents associated with Airports Authority procurements.

The following provisions govern the release of records (including releases pursuant to requests under the Freedom of Information Policy) that have been prepared during, in conjunction with, or as a result of an Airports Authority procurement.

(1) Proposals or bids submitted by offerors may be withheld from release at any time, except that, after contract award, portions of the winning proposal or bid that have been incorporated into the contract and that

- do not contain confidential business information of the contractor, will be released.
- Price or financial offers and price schedules submitted by offerors, and abstracts of offers created by the Authority, may be withheld from release at any time, except that, following the date of contract award or the date written notice of award is sent to unsuccessful offerors, whichever occurs first, abstracts with the names of unsuccessful offerors redacted and with total price offers (other than unit prices) shown on such documents will be released. If the solicitation sought prices for multiple contract years, the total price offer for each contract year will be released after the date of award, or the date written notice of award is sent to unsuccessful offerors, whichever occurs first. With respect to solicitations conducted under Invitation for Bids procedures, bids, price schedules, and abstracts of offers containing information read aloud at bid opening pursuant to Paragraph 2.8.3 will be released after bid opening.
- (3) The names, notes and score sheets of individual EC members may be withheld from release.
- (4) Compilations of the scoring and scoring rationales of an EC may be withheld from release, except that a committee's final scoring summary, including its scores for each offeror under each evaluation criterion and its total score for each offeror, as well as the committee's rationales for such scoring, will be released after the date of contract award, or the date written notice of award is sent to unsuccessful offerors, whichever occurs first, but with the names and other identifiers of EC members and unsuccessful offerors redacted.
- Recommendation or information papers provided to the Board or Board Committees may be withheld from release, except that the following information in such papers will be released after the date of contract award, or the date written notice of award is sent to unsuccessful offerors, whichever occurs first: number of proposals or bids; identity of the winning offeror(s); description of the evaluation process; number of offerors on the short list (if any); final evaluation scores for each offeror (both by criterion and overall total), except that the identities of the unsuccessful offerors may be withheld from release; rationales for the final evaluation scores, except to the extent they contain proposal information that an offeror has claimed to be confidential or proprietary business information; and the total amount of each offeror's financial offer.
- (6) Offerors receiving notice of contract award to another offeror will be provided the same information that would be released to members of the public under this

Paragraph 2.11.5 and the Freedom of Information Policy, except that the evaluation scores assigned to the proposal of the offeror that is seeking the information will not be redacted.

- (7) During the term of a contract, amounts the Airports Authority has paid pursuant to the contract will be released.
- (8) Requests for information not addressed in this Paragraph 2.11.5 that are contained in records that have been prepared during, in conjunction with or as a result of an Airports Authority procurement will be considered in accordance with the Freedom of Information Policy.

2.11.6 Amendments

Between the time a solicitation is issued and the offers are due, the solicitation terms may be changed. Such changes can affect the specifications, quantities, delivery schedule, or other requirements. Changes also may correct or clarify ambiguities, errors, or omissions from the solicitation. The effect of the amendment on the closing date will be considered to ensure that offerors will have enough time to revise their submittals before the closing date — if not, a new closing date will be included in the amendment.

Amendments are posted to the Airports Authority's website and are distributed to all firms on the Planholders List of prospective offerors. If proposals have been received at the time the amendment is issued, distribution of the amendment shall be made to the offerors that submitted proposals or are within the competitive range.

Receipt of amendments must be acknowledged by the closing date and time for submission of offers. Failure to acknowledge receipt of an amendment may result in an offer being found in non-conformance (see Paragraph 2.2.6). Because distribution of amendments will be made to all firms on the Planholders List, potential offerors should refer to Paragraph 2.2.6(4) for additional information.

2.11.7 Timely Submission of Proposals

The solicitation will prescribe the manner in which offerors are to prepare and submit their proposals. Offerors are responsible for proposal preparation and timely submission. If a proposal, or response to a BAFO, is received after the time set for opening, it is considered late and shall not be considered by the Contracting Officer, unless it arrives before the award is made and one of the following conditions exist:

(1) It was sent by registered or certified mail not later than the fifth calendar day prior to the date specified for the receipt of offers;

- (2) It was sent by overnight express delivery service in time to have arrived prior to the date and time specified for receipt of offers;
- (3) It was sent by mail or by overnight express delivery service (or fax if authorized) and it is determined that the late receipt was due solely to mishandling by the Airports Authority after receipt;
- (4) It was received on the day proposals were due but after the appointed time, but proposals were not yet opened and the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department determines it is needed to promote adequate competition and that no impropriety occurred; and that acceptance of the proposal could not reasonably be prejudicial to the process.
- (5) It is the only proposal received; or
- (6) Other circumstances exist to warrant a decision by the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department to include the proposal with those being evaluated for possible contract award.

The only acceptable evidence to establish date of mailing of a late offer is the U.S. Postal Service postmark on the wrapper or on the original receipt from the U.S. Postal Service or positive proof of when it was turned-over to an overnight express mail service. If the postmarks are not legible, the offer is deemed to have been mailed late, if it arrives late.

The Procurement and Contracts Department date/time clock in the Plans Room shall be maintained to reflect the correct date and time for proposal receipt purposes. Proposals shall be stamped-in and initialed by the person accepting them upon receipt. The date and time printed by the time clock shall determine the official time of receipt. Proposals received prior to the time of opening shall be kept unopened in a secure place.

Proposals that are determined unacceptable because they are late will be returned unopened to the offeror. These rules concerning timeliness of receipt of proposals are established to protect the integrity of the competitive system.

2.11.8 Electronically Transmitted Offers

Electronic transmission, such as facsimile (fax), e-mail or telegram, is not acceptable for proposals or bids or modifications thereof unless specifically authorized in the solicitation. The use of such transmissions can result in prices being exposed prior to the deadline set for receipt. However, the Contracting Officer may determine that receipt of such transmittals is appropriate and in the best interest of the Airports Authority and document the contract file accordingly. The time of receipt of a fax shall be that printed on the fax by the Procurement and Contracts Department fax machine.

2.11.9 Alternate or Qualified Offers

An alternate offer is submitted in knowing variance from the specifications and must be clearly distinguished as an alternate by the offeror. Frequently, alternate offers incorporate the latest in technology and can result in substantial savings, not only in monetary terms, but in system-wide operational efficiencies. Such an offer which deviates from the specifications shall not be considered if it interferes with the competitive process. However, if in the best interests of the Airports Authority and with prior coordination by the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department, and Office of General Counsel, it may be possible to accept an alternate, or if in the best interests of the Airports Authority to reject all offers and re-solicit based upon revised specifications. Offerors are permitted to submit more than one offer as long as they clearly mark the primary offer that is to be evaluated and identify the alternate offers.

2.11.10 Qualified Proposals

A qualified proposals is a responses to an RFP in which an offeror has inserted language that places limits or exceptions concerning its offer. These qualifications may be acceptable if it is considered to be in the best interests of the Airports Authority, unless the Contracting Officer determines that the nature of the qualification is such that the offer is essentially in non-conformance with the RFP. Qualified bids are not allowed for an IFB because they would not be responsive.

2.11.11 Revisions/Withdrawals of Proposals

Offerors may revise their proposal in writing provided that the original proposal was timely and further provided that the request is received prior to the time set for receipt of proposals. If the revision, including a revision submitted as a response to a BAFO, is received after the deadline, it may be accepted only in accordance with rules similar to those established for the acceptance of late offers; however, a late revision of the otherwise successful offer may be accepted if it makes the terms of the offer more favorable to the Airports Authority. For purposes of the above, the successful low offeror is determined after the Airports Authority has completed evaluation of each proposal. Proposals may be withdrawn at any time prior to award.

2.11.12 Right to Cancel a Solicitation

A Contracting Officer may cancel a solicitation or otherwise reject all offers at any time prior to award. This should only occur when such action is clearly in the Airports Authority's best interest. Some of the circumstances that may justify the rejection of all offers are (1) inadequate or ambiguous specifications were used; (2) specifications need to be significantly revised; (3) the supplies or services being procured are no longer required; (4) offers received indicate that the needs of the Airports Authority can be satisfied by a

less expensive article differing from that on which the offers were invited; (5) all otherwise acceptable offers received are at unreasonable prices; (6) the offers were not independently arrived at in open competition, were collusive, or were submitted in bad faith; or (7) budget/funding considerations dictate that the solicitation should be canceled. The reason for the determination to cancel the solicitation shall be documented and made a part of the file.

Contracting Manual	Fourth Edition
This Page Intentionally Left Blank	
Page 20	

3 CONTRACT TYPES AND PROCEDURES

Chapter 3 describes the different types of contracts used by the Airports Authority and it notes a preference for firm fixed price contracts. This chapter also includes a significant number of general contracting procedures including contractor license requirements, bonds, insurance, multiple and split awards, endorsement of vendors' products, and options.

A number of contract types based on compensation arrangement are available to provide needed flexibility in acquiring the large variety of materials, services, and construction required by the Airports Authority. The contract types are grouped by pricing arrangement into the two broad categories of fixed-price contracts and cost-reimbursement contracts. These two types vary according to (1) the degree of responsibility and risk assumed by the contractor for the costs of performance, and (2) the amount and nature of the profit incentive offered to the contractor for achieving or exceeding specified standards or goals. The specific contract types range from firm-fixed-price to cost-plus-award-fee.

Negotiated contracts may be of any type or combination of types that will promote the Airports Authority's interest except as restricted herein. The cost-plus-a-percentage-of-cost contract is a last resort contract that requires Procurement and Contracts Department Manager's approval prior to any usage. Its use is prohibited if federal funds are involved.

NOTE: For solicitations funded by the FTA, see Paragraphs 10.7.18 and 10.7.19 of this Manual for additional guidance on special requirements and restrictions.

3.1 FIRM FIXED-PRICE CONTRACTS

A firm-fixed-price (lump sum) contract provides for a price that is not subject to adjustment on the basis of the contractor's cost experience in performing the contract. This is the preferred form of contract for Airports Authority use. It places maximum risk and full responsibility for all costs and resulting profit or loss on the contractor. It provides maximum incentive for the contractor to control costs and perform effectively and, since the contractor's cost experience is not a factor in determining compensation, it imposes a minimum administrative burden upon the contracting parties.

A firm-fixed-price contract is suitable for acquiring commercial products, construction, or services on the basis of reasonably definite, detailed specifications when the Contracting Officer can establish fair and reasonable prices at the outset, such as when-

- (1) There is adequate price competition;
- (2) There are reasonable price comparisons with prior purchases of the same or similar goods or services made on a competitive basis or supported by valid cost or pricing data or;

(3) Performance uncertainties can be identified and reasonable estimates of their cost impact can be made, and the contractor is willing to accept a firm-fixed-price representing assumption of the risks involved.

Contracting Officers must keep in mind that if the contractor would have to place a significant contingency factor in its contract price to cover fluctuations in labor or material costs, or to protect themselves from its inability to realistically estimate the production costs of new items, then the use of a firm-fixed-price contract may not be appropriate.

3.2 FIXED-UNIT-PRICE CONTRACTS

The provisions of this type of contract provide for the upward or downward revision of the contract price based upon actual quantities of work performed; however, the contract must include an overall Not-to-Exceed amount. Estimated quantities are used in the solicitation to provide a competitive basis for determining the successful contractor. Contractors provide fixed-unit prices for each item. During contract performance, the contractor is paid for quantities of work actually performed at the unit prices offered.

Unit-price contracts are used where (1) quantities cannot be determined in advance within limitations that would permit a lump-sum offer without a substantial contingency, (2) quantities can change significantly during performance, or (3) offerors would have to expend unusual effort in making quantity take-offs. Contracts with unit pricing will include a variation in estimated quantity provision which provides for negotiated adjustments to the unit price of any item for which the actual quantity varies by 15 percent or more from the estimated contract quantity. The total amount of money paid to the contractor for each work item remains indeterminable until completion of the contract. Administratively, the Airports Authority must provide an adequate field force to verify actual quantities of work performed. If the nature of the "units" to be measured is such that the method of measurement is unclear, then the contract must include language that specifies the method of measurement.

NOTE: For solicitations funded by the FTA, see Paragraph 10.7.20 of this Manual for additional guidance on special requirements and restrictions.

3.3 COMBINED FIRM-FIXED/UNIT-PRICE

A variant of the firm-fixed-price (lump sum) contract is the combination firm-fixed-unit-price contract. This type of contract should be used when it is not possible to determine the quantities required with reasonable accuracy prior to performance. The significant characteristic of this type of contract is that firm-fixed (lump-sum) prices are established for identifiable quantities of work and fixed-unit prices are established for only that portion of the work for which quantities are unknown or for which they cannot be reasonably forecast. If there are undefined areas of work which need to be included in the contract, a specific dollar allowance established by the Airports Authority shall be included in the Section III, Schedule. The contract must always include an overall not-to-exceed amount. evaluation for this type of contract is performed by multiplying the fixed-unit prices by the estimated quantities and adding the extended price to the lump-sum portion of the offer.

The actual final contract price, i.e., the total amount ultimately paid to the successful offeror, is not the proposed price. Payment for the unit-price portion of the contract is made by multiplying the fixed-unit price by the actual quantities required to perform the work.

A variation in estimated quantity provision will be included in lump-sum/unit-price contracts. Such a provision provides for an equitable adjustment of the fixed-unit prices to be made where the actual quantity varies by more than 15 percent above or below the estimated quantity stated in the contract.

3.4 FIXED-PRICE WITH PRICE ADJUSTMENT

The provisions for this type of contract provide for the upward or downward revision of the contract price upon the occurrence of certain contingencies that are specifically defined in the contract. These contingencies must be beyond the control of the contractor, e.g. industry-wide factors. Use of this type of contract is appropriate when serious doubt exists as to the stability of the market or labor conditions that will exist during an extended period of contract performance. It may also be appropriate when contingencies that would otherwise be included in the contract price can be identified and covered separately by a price adjustment provision. However, the contract must include an overall not-to-exceed Close pricing is obtained by minimizing contingencies through price adjustment provisions; this shifts a portion of the pricing risk to the Airports Authority. In return for the price adjustment provisions, the contractor is expected to eliminate from the price those contingency factors covered by the price adjustment.

3.5 TIME-AND-MATERIALS CONTRACTS

The time-and-materials contract provides for the procurement of goods and services on the basis of direct labor hours at specified hourly rates and materials at cost including, when appropriate, material handling charges. The charge for direct labor at specified fixed hourly rates includes wages, overhead, general and administrative expenses, and profit. The materials handling charge will include only costs clearly excluded from the labor hour rate. This type of contract shall include a ceiling price for each element and for the overall total that the contractor exceeds at its own risk. Although this type of contract provides for the payment of a fixed rate per unit of time, it is clear that unless the rate is insufficient to cover the contractor's costs, the total amount of profit under the contract increases proportionately as the number of hours increase. Therefore, this type of contract is used only after a determination that no other type of contract will suitably serve the interests of the Airports Authority. It is used when it is not possible at the time of placing the contract to estimate the extent or duration of the work or to anticipate costs with any substantial accuracy. It is used primarily in the procurement of engineering and design services, special tooling, repair and maintenance, overhaul work, and work to be performed in emergency situations. Its use requires provision for adequate controls, including appropriate surveillance by Airports Authority personnel during performance, to give reasonable assurance that inefficient or wasteful methods are not being used. A variant of this type of contract used under the same circumstances is the laborhour contract that differs from the time-and-materials contract in that no materials are supplied by the contractor. This type of contract shall also include a not-to-exceed cost ceiling.

3.6 COST-REIMBURSEMENT CONTRACTS

This generic category of contracts provides for payment to the contractor of allocable and allowable costs. In addition to costs, most cost-reimbursement contracts also provide for the payment of a fee (profit) to the contractor in addition to costs. Cost-reimbursement contracts establish an estimate of total cost for the purpose of obligating funds and establishing a cost ceiling which the contractor may not exceed (except at the contractor's own expense) without the prior approval or subsequent ratification of the Contracting Officer. Costreimbursement type contracts are suitable for use when the nature and complexity of the procurement are such that the costs of performance cannot be estimated with the accuracy necessary for a fixed-price contract. Since the actual costs of performance are the basis for payment to the contractor, it is essential that prior to contract award, the Contracting Officer verify that the contractor's cost accounting system is adequate for the determination of the reimbursable costs. As this type of contract gives a minimum incentive for efficient performance, provision must be made for appropriate surveillance by Airports Authority personnel to provide reasonable assurance that wasteful methods are not being used. Such contracts are used only after a finding that such method of contracting is likely to be less costly than other methods, and it is impractical to secure the necessary goods or services without the use of this type of contract.

3.7 INCENTIVE CONTRACTS

Incentive contracts are designed to harness the profit motive to stimulate the contractor to perform at a lower cost, to produce a better product or service, or to cut down lead time in delivery dates. It is a goal when utilizing incentive contracts to impact the contractor's management decisions throughout the performance of the contract. Care must be taken to ensure that the contract is so structured that any contract options are fair from both the contractor and the Airports Authority's point of view. The incentive contracts can be categorized in two ways: those in which the contractor's additional profits or losses are determined on an objective basis or those contracts in which the contractor's profit or loss is determined in a subjective manner. The fixed-price-incentive contract and the cost-plus-incentive-fee contract are examples in the objective category, while the cost-plus-award-fee contract is the predominant type in the latter category.

3.8 TASK CONTRACTS

Task contracts allow the Airports Authority to acquire an indefinite quantity, within stated limits, of supplies or services, including construction services, during a fixed period, with deliveries or performance to be scheduled by placing orders with the contractor after the Airports Authority's requirement is defined.

The Airports Authority may make multiple awards of a Task Contract to firms capable of performing the work described in the Task Contract's statement of work. The scope of the Task Contract may be broad but not unlimited. Work beyond the scope of the Task Contract may not be performed under the Task Contract and must be handled as a new procurement.

3.8.1 Use of Task Contracts

The Airports Authority utilizes Task Contracts as a means of support for supply, services and construction requirements. They may be used when appropriate to provide a contractual framework for recurrent needs, and when needs must be met on a relatively short-term time-frame. Efficiency results from reduced solicitation time and streamlined SOWs compared to the time required if each individual task was competed using full and open competition procedures. Another important efficiency of Task Contracts is in getting the work completed on an expedited schedule.

Consideration should be given to identifying whether time or cost is the most limiting factor and which procurement method is most likely to yield the greatest benefit. Coordination between the requestor and the Contracting Officer regarding applicability of a Task Contract, extent of competition, and proposed LDBE participation, if applicable, is necessary. The overarching objective is satisfying the Airports Authority's objectives consistent with the legal obligation to utilize full and open competition.

3.8.2 Guidelines for Using Task Contracts

(1) Task Contracts

For Task Contracts for standby construction services, multiple contracts may be awarded on a competitive basis to support mission requirements. Each Task Contract may not exceed \$2 million per year, except upon approval of the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department. CCP construction is also authorized two Task Contracts each at \$4 million per year to handle mission requirements. The need for multiple Task Contract awards will be a joint determination between the requesting office and the Procurement and Contracts Department.

For Task Contracts for other goods and services, multiple contracts may be awarded on a competitive basis. Factors that may be considered in determining the number of contracts to be awarded include: (i) the scope and complexity of the requirements; (ii) the expected duration and frequency of Task Orders; (iii) the mix of resources and skills a contractor must have to complete Task Orders; and (iv) the ability to maintain competition among the awardees through the contracts' period of performance.

For standby construction services, as well as other goods and services, a single Task Contract may be awarded if: (i) only one contractor is deemed capable of providing performance at the level of quality required because the services are unique or highly specialized; (ii) the Contracting Officer determines that the market is such that more favorable terms and conditions, including price, will be obtained if a single award is made; (iii) the expected cost of the administration of multiple contracts will outweigh the expected benefits of multiple awards; (iv) the projected Task Orders are so integrally related that only a single contractor can reasonably perform the work; or (v) multiple awards would not be in the best interests of the Airports Authority.

Task Contracts may be issued for a not to exceed one year base period with two pre-priced one-year options unless an alternate arrangement is justified.

Competition for Task Contracts will be solicited on a full and open competition basis using price and, if

required, technical evaluation criteria. Dependent upon the nature of the work, efforts will be made to solicit pricing on the basis of estimated quantities of standard units of work. This will facilitate pricing the follow-on work assignments. As an alternative to standard units of work, price competition may involve pricing estimated hours of various disciplines for which a requirement is anticipated. Architect/Engineering Task Orders are an exception; in accordance with standard procedures, A/E contracts will not be competitively priced.

The technical evaluation criteria will be evaluated based on written submittals unless it is determined to also require oral presentations by short-listed firms. Examples of technical information that contractors may be requested to submit for evaluation include: (i) recent experience with contracts of similar dollar value; (ii) evidence that they have the required specific technical capability and experience; (iii) a technical proposal that describes how they will satisfy the Airports Authority's requirements as described in the Statement of Work; (iv) a schedule of their current contracts; (v) a breakdown of their available equipment and workforce resources: (vi) their latest financial statement; and (vii) evidence, such as a letter from an acceptable surety, showing that the contractor will be able to obtain bonds in the required amounts.

(2) Issuance of Task Orders

- (a) All Task Orders must fall within the general scope of the underlying Task Contract. Task Orders outside the general scope of the underlying Task Contract shall not be issued and shall be handled as a new procurement.
- (b) After award of a Task Contract to a single contractor, the COTR may request that an individual work assignment (Task Order) be issued against the Task Contract. To secure a Task Order, the COTR shall forward the following to the Contracting Officer: a statement of work, an independent cost estimate, a proposal from the contractor, a determination that the contractor's estimated price and quantities for the work to be performed are fair and reasonable, and a Requisition with necessary funds. Based upon this information, the Contracting Officer shall determine whether the Task Order may be issued and, if so, shall provide in writing the basis for the determination.
- (c) After award of a Task Contract to multiple contractors, in order to secure a Task Order, the COTR shall forward to the Contracting Officer the same information set out in subparagraph (b), except that the contractor's proposal that is forwarded to the Contracting Officer shall be the

proposal obtained by the COTR, when required under subparagraph (d) below, as a result of having provided each task contractor a fair opportunity to be considered for the Task Order. Based upon this information, the Contracting Officer shall determine whether the Task Order may be issued and, if so, shall provide in writing the basis for the determination

(d) The procedures to be followed for issuance of Task Orders shall be established by the Procurement and Contracts Department and shall be followed by COTRs and Contracting Officers. In developing these procedures, the Procurement and Contracts Department shall work closely with the offices that utilize Task Contracts. These procedures may establish different Task Order issuance procedures for different types of Task Contracts and for different types of Task Orders based, for example, on size or cost.

The procedures developed by the Procurement and Contracts Department shall include, among other things, the following:

- (i) a requirement, for all Task Orders, including those with single and multiple contractors, with an estimated cost above \$200,000, that proper justification is included by the COTR in the information submitted under subparagraph (b) or (c) as to why the work should be performed under a Task Order rather than under a separate new contract;
- (ii) a requirement, for Task Orders with an estimated cost in excess of \$200,000 to be issued under a standby construction services Task Contract with multiple contractors, that an opportunity to submit a price proposal be given each contractor capable of undertaking the Task Order work and that the proposal of the contractor recommended by the COTR be included in the information submitted by the COTR under subparagraph (c);
- (iii) a requirement, for Task Orders with an estimated cost above \$10,000 to be issued under a non-construction Task Contract with multiple contractors, that notice be provided to each contractor by the COTR of the intent to issue a Task Order which shall include a clear description of the work to be performed under the Task Order and the requirements of the work, and the basis upon which the selection of a contractor will be made, and that each

contractor be provided the opportunity to submit a proposal for the work;

- (iv) a provision that, when reviewing Task Order proposals from multiple contractors, the COTR may consider the following factors: a task contractor's past performance on earlier Task Orders under the Task Contract, including quality, timeliness and cost control; the potential impact of awarding the Task Order to a contractor on its performance of other Task Orders that have been issued to it; and any minimum guarantees in the Task Contract; and
- (v) a provision that authorizes a Contracting Officer to authorize a COTR to issue a telephonic "call order," which is to be followed by the submission of the Task Order information described in subparagraph (b) or (c), in accordance with call order procedures established by the Procurement and Contracts Department.
- A Task Order may be awarded under a Task Contract with multiple contractors without providing an opportunity for all such Contractors to be considered in the following situations: the Airports Authority's need is so urgent that providing the opportunity would result in unacceptable delays; only one task contractor is capable of providing the supplies or services at the level of quality required because the supplies or services ordered are unique or highly specialized; the order must be issued on a sole source basis in the interest of economy and efficiency because it is a logical follow-on to an order already issued under the contract, provided all task contractors were given a fair opportunity to be considered for the original order; and it is necessary to place an order to satisfy a minimum guarantee.

3.9 PURCHASE OF GOODS INDEFINITE DELIVERY CONTRACTS

Indefinite delivery type contracts are bilateral agreements which reserve to the Airports Authority the right to specify at a time subsequent to the execution of the contract, when and in some cases in what amounts and to where, the contractor is to make deliveries under the contract. The principal advantage of this type of contract is in the savings in handling and warehousing costs and the conservation of space. The method of pricing can be firm-fixed-price, or fixed-price with economic price adjustment. When appropriate, minimum and maximum limits on the size of each order can be set. There

are three types of indefinite delivery type contracts: the definite quantity contract, the indefinite quantity contract, and the requirements contract. Procedures for the use of these contracts and issuance of orders under each shall be issued by the Procurement and Contracts Department which shall work closely in developing the procedures with offices that utilize these contracts.

NOTE: For solicitations funded by the FTA, see Paragraph 10.7.21 of this Manual for additional guidance on special requirements and restrictions.

3.10 AIP AND OTHER GRANT-FUNDED PROCUREMENTS

Contracts that include AIP or other similar grant funds must conform to mandatory provisions of the grant. Contracting Officers shall use the appropriate Standard Format solicitation provisions and contract/special provisions which include specific coverage for cost and pricing data, audit requirements, wage rates, DBE considerations, foreign trade restrictions, and others as required by the particular funding source.

3.11 GENERAL CONTRACTING PROCEDURES

3.11.1 Discounts

Any trade and/or prompt payment discounts must be clearly stated. Any questions about what is being offered by the offerors must be clarified, resolved, and coordinated with Accounts Payable prior to contract execution. From an evaluation standpoint, prompt payment discounts shall not be considered in determining the low offeror unless this was specifically addressed in the solicitation.

3.11.2 Quantity, Price, Delivery

Contracts shall explicitly specify the quantity of goods or services ordered, the price, and the required delivery date/performance period.

3.11.3 FOB/Freight Payment Terms

Unless there are specific reasons to do otherwise, Airports Authority solicitations will specify FOB destination as the Airports Authority warehouses at Reagan National or Dulles airports. FOB destination means that the contractor is responsible and pays the freight for delivery of the goods to the specified delivery destination. Title to the goods passes to the Airports Authority when the goods arrive at warehouse receiving dock and are accepted by the Airports Authority.

If the Contracting Officer has specific reasons which make it more advantageous to use a combination of FOB designation

and freight payment terms other than "FOB Destination," the contract file will be documented.

3.11.4 Provisions for On-Site Work

Contracting Officers must ensure that all contracts for services and construction, where the work is being done on Airports Authority premises, incorporate provisions pertaining to safety, security, insurance, licensing and permitting requirements, EEO, site clean-up, and others to protect the Airports Authority's interests.

3.11.5 Contractor License Requirements

Virginia statutes and regulations and local ordinances may require that some contractors must be properly registered, licensed or hold a permit. The Virginia regulatory agencies include the following; however, there may be others dependent upon the nature of the work being done:

Service	Regulatory Agency
Construction	VA. Dept. of Professional
	and Occupational
	Regulation
Pesticide application	VA. Dept. of Agriculture
**	& consumer services
Security service	VA. Dept. of Commerce
Treatment, storage,	VA. Dept. of Waste
transportation of	Management
hazardous waste or	_
radioactive material	

It is the responsibility of the prime contractor to ensure that it and all of its subcontractors comply with the rules and regulations issued by regulatory agencies. Contracting Officers must ensure that the Solicitation Provision for Virginia License Certification is included in solicitations for the services listed above.

If a procurement of \$1,000 or more involves construction, removal, repair or improvement of any building or structure permanently annexed to real property or any other improvement to such real property, the contractor must possess one of the following licenses issued by the Commonwealth of Virginia for the type of work involved:

- Class A Contractor (If the contract is \$120,000 or more, or if the total value of all such construction, removal, repair, or improvements undertaken by such person within any twelve-month period is \$750,000 or more.)
- (2) Class B Contractor (If the contract is \$7,500 or more, but less than \$120,000, or if the total value of all such construction, removal, repair, or improvements undertaken by such person within any twelve-month period is \$150,000 or more, but less than \$750,000.)

(3) Class C Contractor (If the contract is over \$1,000 but no more than \$7,500 or if the total value of all such construction, removal, repair, or improvements undertaken by such person within any twelve-month period is no more than \$150,000.)

If a contractor does not submit the license number with the solicitation response, the response may still be considered if the contractor submits the license upon the request of the Contracting Officer. In any case, the contractor must demonstrate that it has the required license prior to a determination of responsibility and subsequent contract award. Prime contractors are responsible for ensuring that only properly licensed subcontractors who have the appropriate specialty classification are permitted to work on the Airports Authority jobsite. Questions as to whether a licensed contractor is required for a specific type of work should be referred to the Virginia State Board of Contractors in Richmond, VA, (804) 367-8511. Information about when and where the tests for licensing are administered is available at (800) 733-9267.

3.11.6 Nondiscrimination

In the solicitation, award or administration of contracts, the Airports Authority shall not discriminate because of race, religion, color, sex, or national origin of the offeror/contractor.

3.11.7 Performance, Payment and Bid Bonds

Upon the award of any construction contract exceeding \$100,000 to any prime contractor, such contractor shall furnish to the Airports Authority the performance and payment bonds as listed below from an approved surety. Upon achieving substantial completion of the construction contract, the Contracting Officer may consider reducing the bond requirement from 100 percent to 50 percent. If the construction contract includes some period of operation and maintenance (O & M) service, the Contracting Officer may consider an appropriate reduction in the bond amount after construction is complete and the period of O & M coverage is commenced.

A performance bond shall be in the sum of the contract amount and conditioned upon the faithful performance of the contract in strict conformity with the plans, specifications and conditions of the contract.

A payment bond shall be in the sum of the contract amount and conditioned upon the prompt payment for material furnished or labor supplied or performed in the prosecution of the work. Such bond shall be for the protection of claimants who have and fulfill contracts to supply labor or materials to the prime contractor to whom the contract was awarded, or to any subcontractors, in the prosecution of the work provided for in such contract. The bond shall cover utility services and

reasonable rentals of equipment but only for periods when the equipment rented is actually used at the site.

Nothing herein is intended to preclude a contractor from requiring each subcontractor to furnish a payment bond with surety thereon in the sum of the full amount of the contract with such subcontractor conditioned upon the payment to all persons who have and fulfill contracts that are directly with the subcontractor for performing labor and furnishing materials in the prosecution of the work provided for in the subcontract.

By definition, bid bonds apply only to Invitation for Bids (IFB). The Airports Authority does not require similar bonding to be furnished with proposals that are submitted in response to RFPs.

Upon receipt, bonds must be validated by the Contracting Officer.

The Airports Authority has the right to reduce the penal sum of the performance and payment bond in cases involving large capital projects (excess of \$200 million) or design-build projects.

NOTE: For solicitations funded by the FTA, see Paragraph 10.5.7.1 of this Manual for additional guidance on special requirements and restrictions.

3.11.8 Bonds for Non-construction

Contracting Officers may require bid, payment, or performance bonds for contracts for goods or services if there is an appropriate need. The requirement must be stated in the Request for Proposals or Invitation to Bids.

3.11.9 Litigation Bonds

At the Airports Authority's option, and with approval of the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department, a requirement for litigation bonds may be included in an Airports Authority solicitation. The purpose of a litigation bond is to discourage law suits pertaining to award of a contract resulting from a specific solicitation. Secondly, the bond provides a mechanism for the Airports Authority, its officers, employees, or agents to recover damages, including (but not limited to) attorney fees, loss of revenue, loss of grants or portions thereof which may result from any such litigation. Failure to submit an appropriate bond with the offer at the time and place the offers are due may result in disqualification by virtue of the offer being in nonconformance with the solicitation. Upon receipt, bonds must be validated by the Contracting Officer.

NOTE: For solicitations funded by the FTA, see Paragraph 10.7.22 of this Manual for additional guidance on special requirements and restrictions.

3.11.10 Insurance

If a contractor is required to work on Airports Authorityowned or Airports Authority-leased property, consideration must be given to require and ensure that the successful offeror has proper insurance coverage to protect the Airports Authority from claims resulting from the contractor's work or personnel. Most coverage for work performed at the airport jobsite will be available for construction contracts under the insurance program provided by the Airports Authority, which is almost exclusively designed for the Capital Construction This insurance program covers Program (CCP). subcontractors, who must also be enrolled in the program, but normally does not cover architects, engineers, surveyors, consultants, suppliers, vendors, materials dealers, haulers, or any fabrication, manufacturing, or other operation conducted away from the airport jobsite or at the contractor's regular premises. The availability of coverage under this insurance program and any required supplemental insurance will be stated in the solicitation documents. Specific insurance program coverages are described in the Airports Authority's Insurance Program Manual, which can be accessed through the Airports Authority's website at www.mwaa.com.

When coverage under the Airports Authority's insurance program is available, the Contracting Officer shall ensure that the contractor and subcontractors are formally enrolled in the program before a notice-to-proceed (NTP) with on-site work is issued. Insurance program enrollment of contractors and subcontractors requires submittal of contractor license for the work to be performed.

When insurance program coverage is not available, the Contracting Officer shall ensure that the contract includes the specific insurance coverages required by the Risk Management Department. The contractor must provide such coverages during the contract period from an insurance company possessing a rating from the A. M. Best Company that meets the current standards established by the Risk Management Department. The Airports Authority shall be named as an additional insured on every policy except Workers' Compensation and Professional Liability.

Contractors shall advise the Airports Authority of any cancellation, non-renewal, or material change in any policy within five (5) business days of notification to the contractors of such action.

In accordance with contract provisions, contractors are required to submit certificates of insurance to Contracting Officers who shall send them to the Risk Management Department for review and approval.

3.11.11 Contacts with Vendors

Suppliers and manufacturers' representatives are valuable sources of information to help prepare a solicitation and should be contacted as necessary and appropriate.

Contractors' visits should be arranged in a manner that will assure a full, courteous, and mutually beneficial exchange of information. Such assistance should be considered normal sales effort and does not entitle a contractor to any preference in a competitive program. No commitments may be made which would lead a supplier to believe it will subsequently receive an order and any such statements are not binding on the Airports Authority.

If the Airports Authority receives contractor assistance in preparing a specification, a written record to that effect must be in the contract file.

If an extraordinary amount of help is needed from one or more contractors, the Contracting Officer should consider paying the contractors as consultants for services rendered.

3.11.12 Rental, Lease, and Installment Purchases

3.11.12.1 Rental or Lease

The procurement process for the rental or lease of any materials, equipment or supplies (with no labor involved) will be handled in the same manner as the procurement of goods. However, hiring a contractor to provide equipment and personnel (operators) to perform a task requires a services contract.

The solicitation will specify (1) length of time, (2) numbers and types of equipment, (3) who will provide maintenance and repair service and insurance coverage, and (4) inspection at time of delivery.

3.11.12.2 <u>Lease/Installment Purchase</u>

The procurement process for the lease purchase or installment purchase of any materials or equipment will be handled in the same manner as the procurement of goods. A contract is issued in the full amount subject to availability of funds but it is only funded on an annual fiscal year basis.

3.11.13 Purchasing Used Equipment

Purchases of used equipment may be negotiated by Contracting Officers within their delegated authority. If the nature of the used equipment is such that competition could be secured, then a competitive procurement process should be used. However, if that approach is not available, then following approval of a determination in writing that only one sole source is available; a contract may be negotiated and awarded. Complete information describing the item must be provided by the requestor. The information furnished must include a written statement from a person who is technically knowledgeable of the type of equipment to be purchased, normally the end user, verifying the condition of the equipment, its future usefulness, and that its purchase would be in the best interests of the Airports Authority.

3.11.14 **Samples**

There are situations when samples will be needed by the COTR to verify quality levels or to test offered materials to determine conformance with the specifications. A requirement for samples must be clearly indicated in the solicitation. Samples are the responsibility of the COTR and they should be properly labeled, stored, and controlled until no longer needed. Those not destroyed during testing may be returned at the offeror's expense. If, after sixty (60) days, the samples have not been picked up and the offeror fails to provide disposition instructions, samples may be used or disposed of by the Airports Authority. If the items have significant reusable utility value, they should be disposed of using established property disposal procedures.

3.11.15 Multiple Awards and Split Awards

Unless otherwise specifically indicated in the solicitation, the Airports Authority may award a multi-line item solicitation in whole, in part, or on an individual line item basis. Also, at its discretion the Airports Authority may make multiple awards based on responses received from a solicitation unless otherwise specifically indicated in the solicitation.

3.11.16 Contracting for Equipment Maintenance

Contracting for equipment maintenance falls into two basic methods:

- (1) Full service maintenance normally requires the contractor to provide scheduled service, preventive maintenance, necessary repair parts and additional service calls as required under an annual contract at a firm fixed price. Full service maintenance contracts should be used only on an exceptional basis or when experience indicates that maintenance/repair on an as needed basis is not practical. In providing full service maintenance, contractors include in their costs all contingencies that might occur during the contract period; normally this results in higher costs to the Airports Authority.
- (2) Maintenance/repair on an as-needed basis is normally provided on a time and materials cost basis. Materials and parts must be offered either at contractor's invoiced cost or on a percentage discount from manufacturer's published list or catalog prices. Time and materials contracts demand more effort by the receiving agency in monitoring actual hours expended, prompt identification and solution of problems, and cost control to assure the contractor's performance is not inefficient or wasteful. See Paragraph 3.5 for detailed information on time and materials contracts.

Solicitations for maintenance of equipment should identify the make, model, style, and the quantity of each type of equipment. Provisions may be included to add and/or delete equipment during the contract period on a prorated basis and for the loan of like equipment during extended periods of downtime. When maintenance is to be performed under contract on Airports Authority property at an off-airport site, the contractor will be required to provide evidence of insurance or other security, for the property to ensure the Airports Authority is protected from loss while the property is in the contractor's custody.

3.11.17 Use of Vendor's Standard Contract Form

The use of a vendor's standard contract form should be avoided; Airports Authority contract forms are preferred.

3.11.18 Endorsement of Vendors' Products/Services

It is the policy of the Airports Authority not to endorse the products or services of any vendor or manufacturer.

3.11.19 Allowable Cost Reimbursements

Contractors shall submit only those costs that can be verified as legitimate and accurate for reimbursement. Contracting Officers shall approve for payment only those costs determined to be reasonable.

3.11.20 Maximum Allowable Profit

This paragraph applies to maximum profit (fees) for cost-reimbursement type contracts or cost reimbursable line items. If a relatively minor change is issued which calls for essentially the same type and mix of work as the basic contract, the Contracting Officer may use the basic contract's profit rate as the pre-negotiation objective for that change.

For changes to fixed-price contracts that are negotiated on a cost-reimbursement basis, a maximum profit of 10 percent is allowable for work done by the prime contractor. A maximum 18 percent total profit shall apply to work done by any tier of subcontractor, including higher tier profit markups. For example, if a second tier subcontractor does the work at 10 percent profit and the first tier profit mark-up is 5 percent, only 3 percent profit mark-up is available for the prime. Profit mark-up at any tier is limited to 5 percent. For example, if a first tier subcontractor does the work for 8 percent profit, the prime is limited to 5 percent maximum profit mark-up (in this case the total profit would be 13 percent).

The most important price aspect of a negotiation is the ultimate total cost to the Airports Authority rather than any particular cost element such as profit.

3.11.21 Delivery Incentives

Delivery incentives can be considered in those limited situations when early delivery is judged to be of great benefit to the Airports Authority.

The incentive structure should reflect both a positive (bonus) and a negative arrangement. Although the use of a bonus arrangement does not preclude the use of liquidated damages, their relationship must be given careful consideration. Delivery incentives may be applied to the entire performance period or only to a specific portion of the contract. There can be instances when it is necessary to have incentives attached to multiple performance aspects of the contract. As a general rule, a "cap" will be put on the incentive arrangement to protect the parties. Any use of delivery incentives must be approved by the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department.

3.11.22 Performance Periods

Contract performance periods must be realistic - not overly optimistic. The specified performance period will have a direct impact on the prices that will be offered. If the offerors discern that there is a high risk of their having to use overtime or other costly measures to meet the schedule, that will be reflected in the prices offered. To increase competition and to give a greater number of contractors the opportunity to do business with the Airports Authority, contracts will be periodically re-competed.

3.11.23 Options May Extend or Change Performance.

Solicitations may include priced options for contract extensions or to change the performance required of the contractor. All options must fall within the scope of the original contract. The prices proposed for any options must be included in the total evaluated price for each offeror. This does not imply that the Airports Authority is obligated to exercise any or all of the options during the term of the contract.

The use of un-priced option years in contracts is not a common practice and a justification must be prepared and approved by the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department prior to the inclusion of an un-priced option in a solicitation. At the time of execution, an un-priced/unevaluated option requires Board approval as a sole source procurement action if the option is over \$200,000.

NOTE: For solicitations funded by the FTA, see Paragraph 10.7.23 of this Manual for additional guidance on special requirements and restrictions.

3.11.24 Award Alternates

Although not a common practice of the Airports Authority, some solicitations may include one or more award alternate line items which the Airports Authority will either include or exclude in the contract at the time of contract award. The purpose of such award alternates is to enable the Airports Authority to consider the pricing of several alternate line items and then make award based on available funding or other considerations. Price will be evaluated based on the total pricing including the alternates selected by the Airports Authority for award.

3.11.25 Living Wage

Specific services contracts, such as those listed below, will specify a minimum "living wage." The living wage is presently determined by averaging the current living wages specified by the City of Alexandria and Montgomery County. Other local jurisdictions which have adopted a living wage may be considered and used in calculating the average if deemed appropriate by the Airports Authority. The living wage will be specified in the solicitation and will apply to the entire term of the contract including option years.

The contracts currently subject to the living wage provision are:

Washington Dulles International Airport

- Custodial
- Grounds Maintenance
- Unarmed Security Guards

Ronald Reagan Washington National Airport

- Custodial
- Grounds Maintenance
- Unarmed Security Guards
- Window Washing

3.11.26 Audit and Inspection of Records

The following provision shall be included in all nonconcession contracts except that it will not normally be used in Purchase Orders:

The Contractor shall maintain records and the Contracting Officer shall, until the expiration of five years after final payment under this Contract have access to and the right to examine any pertinent books, documents, papers and records of the Contractor involving the formation of the contract, transactions related to the Contract, for the purpose of inspection, making audit, examination, excerpts and transcriptions. The Contractor further agrees to include in all its subcontracts hereunder a provision to the effect that the Contracting Officer shall until the expiration of five years after final payment under the Contract have similar access to and the right to examine any pertinent books, documents,

papers and records of the subcontractor(s) involving all aspects of the subcontract including formation.

The Contracting Officer shall have all of the aforementioned rights for all types of contracts including fixed price contracts. The rights include without limitation the right to examine costs. The Airports Authority's rights hereunder are in addition to any other audit and inspection rights under the The Airports Authority reserves these rights because cost information is frequently needed to investigate performance issues and whether it is in the Airports Authority's interest to exercise other reserved rights under the contract. The Contracting Officer shall have the broad rights of audit and inspection including but not limited to, the right to examine books, records, documents and other evidence and accounting procedures and practices, sufficient to reflect properly all direct and indirect costs of whatever nature that have been incurred for the performance of this Contract. Such right of examination shall include inspection at all reasonable times of the Contractor's labor, materials, plant or such parts thereof, or other costs or revenues as may be expended or received as a part of the performance of the Contract.

When costs are a factor in any request for an equitable price adjustment pursuant to a remedy granting provision of the Contract, the Contractor shall maintain separate accounts by specific designation or other suitable accounting procedure of all incurred segregative direct costs, less allocable credits. Failure to maintain such cost records is a bar to any claim, legal or equitable, for such costs.

4 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY CONTRACTING PROGRAMS

Chapter 4 describes the Equal Opportunity Contracting programs including the Airports Authority's Local Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (LDBE) program and the federal Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) program. It describes the qualifications and certification process for both the LDBE and DBE programs. It also includes the commitments that are required to be made by offerors and the Airports Authority's post-award compliance verification. (NOTE: The LDBE program does not apply to solicitations funded by the FTA.)

The Airports Authority's contracting opportunities are open to all and it is Airports Authority policy that no person or firm will be discriminated against because of race, color, national origin, sex, or disability in the award of Airports Authority contracts. Further, contractors shall not discriminate on the basis of race, color, national origin, sex, or disability in the performance of Airports Authority contracts.

4.1 LDBE/DBE PARTICIPATION

It is the policy of the Airports Authority to seek significant participation in its contracts by local small businesses and by small businesses owned by minorities, women and disadvantaged persons. The Airports Authority has two programs for achieving this policy objective - a Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) program for federally funded contracts and concession contracts and a Local Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (LDBE) program for contracts that do not include any federal funds. The Airports Authority's Equal Opportunity Programs Department is responsible for DBE and LDBE program procedures and oversees program coordination and compliance.

4.2 DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS ENTERPRISE (DBE) PROGRAM

The DBE program implements the Department of Transportation's regulations in 49 CFR Parts 23 and 26, as amended. It is the policy of the Airports Authority to provide opportunities for socially and economically disadvantaged businesses and to encourage their participation in federally funded Airports Authority contracts and in other contracts subject to the federal DBE program. Airports Authority contracts that have DBE goals are generally in the areas of architecture professional and engineering services, construction and construction-related services concessions. Overall DBE goals for procurement contracts and for concession contracts are established by the Board and submitted to the Federal Aviation Administration and the FTA for concurrence. The manner in which the overall DBE goals are met for individual contracts (e.g., through contract goals or through other methods) is coordinated by the Equal Opportunity Programs Department and the Contracting Officer, consistent with the Airports Authority's DBE Program.

A DBE is defined in the U.S. Department of Transportation regulations, 49 CFR Part 26, as a small, for-profit business

concern which is at least 51 percent owned and controlled by one or more socially and economically disadvantaged individuals, or, in the case of any publicly owned business, at least 51 percent of the stock of which is owned by one or more socially and economically disadvantaged individuals. In addition, a DBE firm's management and daily business operations must be controlled by one or more of the socially and economically disadvantaged individuals who own it, and it must meet other requirements set forth in 49 CFR Part 26. For DBE purposes, a "small business concern" is a small business as defined in Section 3 of the Small Business Act and relevant regulations, whose average annual gross receipts, as defined by SBA regulations (13 CFR 121.402), over the firm's previous three fiscal years do not exceed the limit set by the Secretary of the U.S. Department of Transportation under 49 CFR 26.65(b). Size standards for airport concession DBE (ACDBE) firms are determined under 49 CFR 23.33. "Socially and economically disadvantaged individuals" include individuals who are citizens of the United States (or lawfully admitted permanent residents) and who are: (1) determined to be socially and economically disadvantaged individuals on a case-by-case basis or (2) who are in one of the following groups, members of which are rebuttably presumed to be socially and economically disadvantaged: Americans, Hispanic Americans, Native Americans, Asian-Pacific Americans, Subcontinent Asian Americans (all as more specifically defined in 49 CFR 26.5); women; and any other minorities or individuals found to be disadvantaged by the Small Business Administration. Further detail concerning the definition of "socially and economically disadvantaged individuals" is provided in 49 CFR 26.5.

4.3 LOCAL DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS ENTERPRISE (LDBE) PROGRAM

The Airports Authority's LDBE program provides for participation by eligible local small business enterprises in Airports Authority contracting opportunities that are not funded in part or in whole with federal funds. This program is race and gender neutral. A portion of the Airports Authority's contracting opportunities may be setaside for eligible LDBEs, and LDBE participation requirements are established for many Airports Authority

contracting opportunities. Other LDBE program features include:

- (1) Size standards that are established by the U.S. Small Business Administration (SBA) for specific industrial codes to enhance the participation and success of LDBEs;
- Relaxation of bonding and insurance requirements for contracts valued at \$100,000 or below;
- (3) Elimination of cost of bonding and insurance from the Airports Authority's consideration of the bid or offer price for construction contracts.
- (4) Pre- and post-award compliance procedures; and
- (5) Outreach efforts to encourage participation.

An LDBE is defined as a small business concern that is organized for profit and that is located within a 100-mile radius of the District of Columbia's zero mile marker. Those business entities located within counties that fall partially within the aforementioned boundary are also eligible to participate in the Airports Authority's LDBE program. "Located" means that as of the date of its LDBE application, a business entity has an established office or place of business within a city, county, or town within the 100-mile radius referenced above. Evidence of whether a business is "located" within the region include: (1) an office address within the 100mile radius that is not a post office box and that is not an office principally devoted to the performance of work on a single project, and (2) the firm's owner, management, or the firm's employees are present and conduct the firm's business on a regular and frequent basis at that address. In addition, the firm must have one or more of the following: (1) a business license or registration to do business locally; (2) receipts showing payment of local taxes by the business; (3) current performance of work in the local area; or (4) other evidence that demonstrates that the business entity has an established local presence, and that its local presence is not just in connection with performance of a contract or project that it has received, or that it anticipates receiving, from the Airports Authority or any other entity. A residential address will not be considered an office address unless the firm demonstrates to the Airports Authority that the residence is used on a full-time basis during business hours for conducting the firm's business.

A "small business" is defined, for LDBE purposes, as a firm that is not dominant in its field, and that meets the SBA's small business size standards for the goods or services it will be providing in a specific solicitation. The Airports Authority uses North American Industry Classification System (NAICS) in classifying a firm and determining the associated SBA size standard. The receipts of the business or the number of employees, whichever is applicable to the size standard in question, of all affiliates will be counted in determining size of the firm. The Airports Authority uses the Small Business

Administration regulations, 13 CFR Part 121, as guidance in determining whether firms are affiliates of each other. A firm is not considered dominant in its field of operation when it does not exercise a controlling or major influence in a kind of business activity in which a number of business concerns are primarily engaged. In determining whether dominance exists, consideration will be given to all appropriate factors including volume of business, number of employees, financial resources, and competitive status or position.

4.4 VOLUNTARY MBE AND WBE PARTICIPATION

The Airports Authority encourages the participation of minority-owned and women-owned business enterprises (MBE and WBE) in Airports Authority contracts, even if they do not qualify for certification under the DBE or LDBE program or do not wish to go through the certification process. The Airports Authority may establish voluntary MBE/WBE goals for its contracts in addition to the LDBE participation requirements and may conduct outreach to encourage MBE/WBE participation. Achievement of MBE/WBE goals by contractors is strictly voluntary.

4.5 LDBE AND DBE CERTIFICATION

A firm must be certified in order to participate in the Airports Authority's DBE and LDBE programs. A firm may be certified for up to five NAICS codes at any one time. The Airports Authority will review each certification applicant's qualifications and grant or deny certification based on its own findings. The Airports Authority also requires LDBE firms to apply for recertification at intervals specified by the Airports Authority. Once a firm is certified as a DBE, it remains certified unless it is decertified by the Airports Authority, or by the Virginia Unified Certification Program (Virginia UCP). The Airports Authority may decertify a firm at any time if it determines that the firm no longer meets the Airports Authority's eligibility requirements for certification.

DBE Certifications in the Commonwealth of Virginia are handled by the Virginia UCP. A firm interested in Airports Authority DBE contract opportunities will apply for DBE certification by applying either to the Airports Authority or to the Virginia Department of Minority Business Enterprise. Once certified by the Virginia UCP, a firm's DBE certification will be accepted by all recipients of U.S. Department of Transportation grant funds within Virginia. Information on the Virginia UCP can be obtained from the Equal Opportunity Programs Department (see Appendix B, Points of Contact). DBE Certifications granted by other DBE certifying agencies in the region may be given reciprocity by the Airports

Authority under agreements between the Airports Authority and those certifying entities.

The Virginia UCP requires firms to be certified prior to the due date for solicitation offers. Firms that are certified as DBE after the solicitation offer due date cannot be counted toward the DBE goal for that solicitation.

Certification applications and information on the DBE or LDBE programs can be obtained by contacting the Equal Opportunity Programs Department.

4.6 DETERMINATION OF LDBE/DBE POTENTIAL

The Airports Authority's Equal Opportunity Programs Department reviews the scope of work/technical specifications of upcoming contract solicitations to identify the potential to have the work performed by LDBE/DBE, firms. This is done by examining the types of work or products involved and, for construction contracts, the approximate dollar distribution by discipline, as well as any recommendations from the requestor. The LDBE/DBE resources shall be identified to determine the appropriate DBE or LDBE participation goals or requirements.

If there are a minimum of three to five viable LDBE firms that are technically and financially capable of performing the contract's requirements the Airports Authority may, in its sole discretion, choose to set aside the contract opportunity exclusively for LDBEs.

4.7 PROPOSING DBE AND LDBE PARTICIPATION FOR AUTHORITY CONTRACTS

Airports Authority contract solicitations will state whether there is a DBE participation goal or an LDBE participation requirement, and if so, what it is. The following applies to all offers submitted in response to an Airports Authority solicitation that includes a DBE goal or LDBE requirement.

- (1) In order to conform to any Airports Authority solicitation in which there is a DBE goal or LDBE requirement, the offeror must either commit to the DBE goal or LDBE requirement in its offer, or submit with its offer a request for a good faith efforts waiver of the goal or requirement. Offers that do not conform to these requirements will not be considered. Unless otherwise specified in the solicitation, an offeror will be deemed to have committed itself to achieving the DBE goal or LDBE requirement by signing its offer and not submitting a waiver request.
- (2) All other matters relating to the DBE or LDBE participation proposed by an offeror will be treated as matters relating to the offeror's responsibility, which

- may be dealt with by the Airports Authority through communications with the offeror prior to contract award. Unless the Airports Authority declares otherwise, such communications with offerors do not constitute "negotiations" or "discussions" as these terms are used herein and do not require communication with other offerors.
- (3) Specific details regarding the types of DBE/LDBE participation permitted, the manner in which participation will be counted toward the DBE goal or LDBE requirement, the documents and other information that must be submitted relating to the proposed DBE/LDBE participation, and other DBE/LDBE participation conditions will be set forth in the contract solicitation.

4.8 GOOD FAITH EFFORTS WAIVERS

If an offeror is unable to meet all or any part of a DBE goal or LDBE requirement, it must submit a Request for Waiver of the goal or requirement with its offer. The Request for Waiver must be accompanied by documentation that clearly shows that the offeror has made a good faith effort to meet the DBE participation goal or LDBE requirement. The Request for Waiver must include a detailed report of the efforts made by the offeror to meet the DBE goal or LDBE requirement and must be sufficient to satisfy the Airports Authority that the requested waiver is justified. The Request for Waiver form included with the solicitation describes efforts that an offeror may make. That list is not intended to be exclusive or exhaustive.

Efforts that are merely pro-forma are not good faith efforts to meet the goal. Efforts to obtain DBE or LDBE participation are considered pro-forma, even if they are sincerely motivated, if given all relevant circumstances they could not reasonably be expected to produce a level of participation sufficient to meet the DBE goal or LDBE requirement and other measures were reasonably available. For example, advertising or bulk mailings, alone or together, are considered pro forma and not good faith efforts unless followed up with telephone calls and/or correspondence consistent with normal business practice. If the DBE or LDBE expresses an interest in the opportunity or makes an offer or proposal, the offeror must demonstrate that it made a reasonable effort to pursue the expression of interest or to negotiate with the DBE or LDBE.

The Airports Authority's Equal Opportunity Programs Department will assist offerors by identifying certified LDBE and DBE firms. A copy of the Airports Authority's directory of LDBE and DBE firms can be obtained on the Airports Authority's website www.mwaa.com for information only. The Airports Authority does not warrant or guarantee the performance capability of firms listed in the directory.

4.9 PREAWARD SUBSTITUTIONS

Upon a finding by the Airports Authority that the offeror acted in good faith in attempting to meet the DBE goal or LDBE requirement, the offeror may: (i) be permitted by the Airports Authority to substitute DBE or LDBE subcontractors for one or more subcontractors named in its offer; (ii) obtain one or more DBE or LDBE subcontractors to perform the work originally designated for a DBE or LDBE joint venture partner; or (iii) be permitted to achieve the DBE goal or LDBE requirement through alternative means that are satisfactory to the Airports Authority. The circumstances in which this may be allowed include but are not limited to a DBE's or LDBE's:

- (1) Failure to qualify for DBE or LDBE certification if the firm was proposed in good faith as an LDBE or DBE by the offeror
- (2) Cessation of business for causes beyond the control of the offeror
- (3) Bankruptcy or insolvency
- (4) Inability to furnish any required performance or payment bonds
- (5) Inability to obtain, or loss of, a license necessary to the performance of work by the DBE or LDBE
- (6) Failure or refusal to execute an agreement with the offeror, but only where the Airports Authority's Contracting Officer can determine with reasonable certainty the terms of the agreement and the DBE's or LDBE's failure to execute the agreement has not been caused by changes that the offeror has made to the agreement
- (7) Failure to comply with the terms and conditions of its agreement with the offeror
- (8) Voluntary decision not to participate on the project
- (9) Inability to perform a commercially useful function, or to perform work of the nature and scope claimed for it.

4.10 POST-AWARD COMPLIANCE WITH DBE GOAL AND LDBE REQUIREMENTS

The Airports Authority will conduct post-award compliance reviews to ensure that the DBEs or LDBEs the contractor proposed to use are in fact performing the work promised in the offer and that the DBE or LDBE is being paid the amount shown on the documents provided to the Airports Authority by the offeror prior to the Airports Authority's award of the contract to the offeror. The specific manner in which the contractor must demonstrate its compliance with the DBE and LDBE participation provisions will be set forth in the contract.

The contractor may be found to be in non-compliance with its DBE or LDBE commitment to the Airports Authority if it fails to meet the commitments it made in its offer. The following are examples of non-compliance:

- (1) The terms of a subcontract with a DBE or LDBE do not agree with the documents provided to the Airports Authority prior to award.
- (2) A firm other than the DBE or LDBE listed in the documents provided to the Airports Authority prior to award is performing the subcontract work, unless a substitution was granted by the Airports Authority.
- (3) The contractor is purchasing supplies or materials when the contractor represented to the Airports Authority that a DBE or LDBE would be purchasing the supplies.
- (4) The contractor requires the DBE or LDBE to perform additional or different work than shown in the documents provided to the Airports Authority prior to award without additional compensation and without informing the Airports Authority.
- (5) The contractor is paying the DBE or LDBE less than was agreed and shown in the documents provided to the Airports Authority prior to award without cause.
- (6) The contractor is not paying the DBE or LDBE in accordance with the payment provisions of their agreement.
- (7) The contractor fails to submit the required postaward documentation of DBE or LDBE participation.
- (8) The DBE or LDBE enters into agreements with other firms for supplies or to perform the contract work without the Airports Authority's approval.
- (9) The DBE or LDBE is not performing a commercially useful function.
- (10) The DBE or LDBE is no longer eligible to be certified as a DBE or LDBE, except that growth in the DBE or LDBE's business that causes it to exceed the applicable size standard during the term of its contract will not be a basis for finding the contractor in non-compliance with its DBE or LDBE commitment.

If the contractor is found to be in noncompliance, the Airports Authority may impose appropriate sanctions, such as withholding payments or terminating the contract in accordance with the contract's Default provision. If necessary, the Airports Authority may debar the firm under the provisions of Chapter 9.

In unusual situations, the Airports Authority may permit the contractor to make post-award DBE or LDBE substitutions consistent with the principles stated in Paragraphs 4.9(1) - 4.9(9) for pre-award substitutions.

Contracting Manual	Fourth Edition
This Page Intentionally Left Blank	
Page 46	

5 CONTRACT ADMINISTRATION

Chapter 5 describes various aspects of contract administration including the pre-performance conference for the successful offeror, the role of the Contracting Officer's Technical Representative, contract modifications, payments, different termination and closeout procedures including the contractor's release of claims.

5.1 PRE-PERFORMANCE CONFERENCE

Pre-performance Conferences, referred to as pre-construction conferences for construction contracts, may be convened prior to the start of construction projects and as determined to be necessary by the Contracting Officer for other types of contracts. The agenda includes:

- (1) Introductions of key personnel from both parties,
- (2) Insurance discussion including insurance responsibilities of the contractor and any insurance program provided by the Airports Authority,
- (3) COTR designation letter and responsibilities,
- (4) Safety and security presentation,
- (5) Schedule of deliverables,
- (6) Invoicing procedures including the fact that the Airports Authority recommends that payments be made via electronic transfer of funds (such requests must be submitted to the Contracting Officer for review and forwarding to Accounts Payable),
- (7) LDBE/DBE presentation, if applicable to the particular solicitation and if desired by Equal Opportunity Programs Department,
- (8) Publicity releases (which must be approved by the Contracting Officer prior to release to the media), and
- (9) Contractual and field procedures and restrictions.

NOTE: The LDBE program does not apply to solicitations funded by the FTA.

5.2 AWARD AND NOTICE-TO-PROCEED (NTP)

Unless otherwise authorized by the President and Chief Executive Officer, staff shall not authorize contractors to commence performance under a contract before the effective date of contract award (i.e., the date on which the contract is executed by the contractor and the Contracting Officer). In the event performance is authorized to commence prior to award, the Contracting Officer shall ratify such performance at the time the contract is awarded.

For construction and other contracts that use an NTP procedure, Contracting Officers shall ensure that contractors are aware that they must not commence contract performance until such time as they receive notice-to-proceed (NTP). In some circumstances, the NTP may be issued concurrently with contract award; however, the Contracting Officer must ensure that all necessary prerequisites for commencement of performance (such as enrollment in any insurance program provided by the Airports Authority) are in place.

5.3 CORRECTION OF MISTAKES AFTER AWARD

5.3.1 Correction by Modification

When a mistake in a contractor's offer is not discovered until after the award, the mistake may be corrected by contract modification if correcting the mistake would be favorable to the Airports Authority without changing the essential requirements of the specifications.

5.3.2 Other Possible Actions

In addition to the situation contemplated in Paragraph 5.3.1 above, if a mistake in a contractor's offer is discovered after award, the Airports Authority may:

- (1) Rescind the contract.
- (2) Reform the contract to delete the items involved in the mistake or to increase the price and the contract price as corrected does not exceed that of the next lowest acceptable offer in response to the solicitation.
- (3) Make no change to the contract if the evidence does not warrant a determination under Paragraph 5.3.2, above.

5.3.3 Clear and Convincing Evidence

The actions authorized by Paragraphs 5.3.1 and 5.3.2 above may be made <u>only</u> on the basis of clear and convincing evidence that a mistake in offer was made <u>and</u> it must be clear that the mistake was mutual or, if unilaterally made by the contractor, the mistake was so apparent that the Contracting Officer should be charged with notice of the probability of mistake.

NOTE: For solicitations funded by the FTA, see Paragraph 10.7.25.

5.4 CHANGE ORDERS/CONTRACT MODIFICATIONS

A change in the work (whether goods, services or construction) of a contract, along with any resulting change in the price or other terms of the contract, may be authorized by the Contracting Officer only after reviewing the circumstances giving rise to the change in work and determining that it falls within the general scope of the contract. A change in work that falls outside the general scope of the contract shall be treated as a new procurement.

The Procurement and Contracts Department shall establish procedures for the issuance of change orders and contract modifications. Those procedures should identify the factors that a Contracting Officer should consider when deciding whether a proposed change in the work to be performed under a contract falls with the general scope of the contract. Those factors shall include: (i) whether the function or nature of the change in work is so different than the function or nature of the work described in the solicitation seeking bids or proposals for the contract that the change in work would not then reasonably have been foreseen by potential bidders or offerors; (ii) whether the increase in contract price resulting from the change in work is so substantial that the change in work would not reasonably have been foreseen by potential bidders or offerors at the time of the solicitation; (iii) whether the extension of the period of contract performance resulting from the change in work is so substantial that the change in work would not reasonably have been foreseen by potential bidders or offerors at the time of the solicitation; and (iv) whether the change in work, had it been expressly included in the original solicitation, would have increased the number of bidders or offerors competing for the contract and, thereby, increased competition for the contract is a meaningful way.

Any change in work authorized by the Contracting Officer requires a modification of the contract which may be preceded by issuance of a change order. A change in work shall not be effective until a change order or contract modification has been approved and signed by the Contracting Officer, and it has been determined that budgeted funds for the change are available.

5.4.1 Types of Modifications

Regardless of their source, all contract modifications must be in writing and be issued by the Contracting Officer as one of the following:

- (1) An administrative change (unilateral).
- (2) A change order (unilateral).
- (3) A supplemental agreement (bilateral).

Unilateral modifications require only the Contracting Officer's signature but supplemental agreements must be executed by both parties to the contract.

5.4.1.1 Administrative Changes

Administrative changes, such as a change in the contractor's address, should be reflected in a formal contract modification even though the rights and obligations of the parties may not be affected.

5.4.1.2 Unilateral Change Order/Notice

Contracts issued by the Airports Authority contain a provision entitled "Changes." The language of the provision varies depending upon the type of contract; in essence the Airports Authority has a unilateral right to direct changes within the scope of the contract. Although the Airports Authority prefers to "forward price" changes to a contract so that costs are known and agreed to prior to commencing work, sometimes that is not practicable particularly in construction contracts when time is of the essence. It may be necessary for the Contracting Officer to issue a signed Change Notice requiring the contractor to commence specified work on a time and materials basis, keep separate records of the costs associated with the changed work, and to submit within thirty (30) days a proposal requesting an equitable adjustment to the contract. Unilateral modifications can also be used by the Contracting Officer to issue decisions in disputes and terminations, and to exercise contract options.

5.4.1.3 <u>Bilateral Supplemental Agreements</u>

A contract modification (Supplemental Agreement) is negotiated and incorporated in the contract to adjust the cost, performance time and scope of work or other contract provisions as a result of work directed under a unilateral Change Notice/Order. Supplemental Agreements must not delete any mandatory provisions (for example, those required for federally funded contracts) nor can the Contracting Officer consent to a waiver of any of the substantive rights of the Airports Authority without consideration.

The Contracting Officer, when analyzing the contractor's proposal, should determine whether an audit would be appropriate in determining the validity of the cost and pricing data submitted. Negotiation of adjustments can be complicated when a change results in both deletions from and additions to the work. In the event agreement is not reached, the Contracting Officer may issue a unilateral change subject to the Disputes provision. However, it is preferable to achieve a bilateral adjustment.

5.4.1.4 <u>Impact of Modifications on DBE/LDBE</u>

When modifications increase or decrease the total dollar value of the contract, the contractor shall make best efforts under the circumstances to maintain the DBE or LDBE percentage participation, if applicable, on the contract. The contractor must submit revised documentation acceptable to the Airports Authority, which reflects changes in the DBE or LDBE participation associated with the modifications to the contract.

NOTE: LDBE provisions do not apply to solicitations funded by the FTA.

5.4.2 Preference for Bilateral Contract Modifications

Notwithstanding the contractual right to make unilateral changes within the meaning of the Changes provision, contract modifications other than the exercise of priced options and terminations, should be issued as bilateral supplemental agreements. However, a unilateral change would be appropriate in cases of emergency or where delay in issuing the change would seriously affect the project and possibly result in increased costs or unacceptable schedule changes. The impact of the change on price and performance schedules should be negotiated and issued as a firm-fixed price or as a not-to-exceed bilateral agreement.

5.4.3 Reopening a Closed Contract

It may occasionally be in the Airports Authority's best interests to execute a Supplemental Agreement for additional work to be performed under a closed contract if such work falls within the specific scope of the contract. As an example, if a contractor performs \$100,000 worth of pipe installation and two months after the contract was properly completed and closed, it is discovered that an additional \$8,000 of pipe was needed to fully utilize the system, then a Supplemental Agreement may be executed for this additional work. There may be time and cost efficiencies involved in (1) preparing a Requisition with attached statement of work to simply add this relatively small increment of work that is within the scope of the closed contract, (2) securing a price proposal from the contractor, (3) negotiating a price and performance period, and (4) executing a Supplemental Agreement with the contractor to reopen the contract with all of its terms and conditions for the purpose of accomplishing the added work.

Several conditions must be satisfied for this reopening procedure to be used. The work being added must be within the scope rather than a new procurement as described in Paragraph 5.4. If beyond the scope of the contract, the work must be handled as a new procurement. The contractor should be contacted early in the process to determine its willingness to reopen the old contract and to do the additional work (assuming an acceptable price and performance period can be negotiated). The quality of work done by the contractor on the old contract must be found to be acceptable. The timing of the

reopening must be within one year of the close-out date, the cost of work being added must not exceed \$500,000, and it may not be more than 20 percent of the closed-out In reopening any contract, the contract amount. Contracting Officer shall ensure that the Airports Authority's interests are protected; for example, if it is a construction contract, Insurance Program coverage must be reinstated and bonds must be provided. Any time this authorization to reopen a contract is used, a justification shall be prepared for the contract file and be signed by the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department. Adequate funds must be made available on an approved Requisition provided by the requestor. The Contracting Officer must consider insurance and bonding requirements for the newly added work.

The Contracting Officer must get another Contractor's Release Form (Appendix H) from the contractor upon completion of the added work.

NOTE: For solicitations funded by the FTA, see Paragraph 10.7.24 of this Manual for additional guidance on special requirements and restrictions.

5.5 PAYMENT CONSIDERATIONS

The Airports Authority makes progress payments, when provided for by the contract, in return for demonstrated progress toward contract completion. Contracting Officers, COTRs, and financial personnel ensure payments legitimately due to contractors are made promptly.

NOTE: For solicitations funded by the FTA, see Paragraph 10.7.26 of this Manual for additional guidance on special requirements and restrictions.

5.5.1 Electronic Transfer of Funds

The Airports Authority recommends that payment be made by electronic transfer of funds (ETF) directly to the contractor's financial institution. In order to encourage contractor participation in the ETF program, this subject shall be covered early in the contract period such as during pre-performance conferences. The use of ETF benefits both the contractor and the Airports Authority; it is efficient and effective.

Contractor requests to initiate such service, including bank name, address, ABA number, bank account number, Federal Tax ID Number, whether or not this is a "1099 Contractor," an email address to which notification of payment will be sent, contact person, and telephone number, shall be submitted in duplicate with separate letters to both Accounts Payable and to the Contracting Officer. After ensuring that the correspondence is signed by the contractor's signatory of the contract, the Contracting Officer shall approve the request and send it to Accounts Payable. Any subsequent changes to the ETF

shall follow the same procedure. In addition to the EFT information, contractors are required to submit an IRS Form W-9 to Accounts Payable.

5.5.2 Timeliness of Payments

The Airports Authority's best efforts will be directed toward making payment not later than the 30th day after receipt by Accounts Payable of an acceptable invoice except as follows:

- (1) In those limited circumstances when a specific payment date is provided for in the contract, payment will be made as close as possible to, but not later than, that date;
- (2) If a time discount is available, payment may be made prior to a certain date in order to take advantage of the discount:
- (3) A final payment shall not be made until the contractor furnishes a Contractor's release. A copy of the release shall be furnished to Accounts Payable;
- (4) When the contract provides for withholding retainage from progress payments or liquidated damages and the circumstances are such that withholding is appropriate. The Contracting Officer shall enforce such provisions and maintain a record of amounts withheld, including the basis for withholding;
- (5) When elements of the amount invoiced by the contractor are not acceptable because they are vague or incomplete, because of poor workmanship, or because of lack of progress;
- (6) When the contractor has been overpaid or otherwise owes the Airports Authority money as a result of the contractor's actions or inactions under the contract;
- (7) When it is appropriate to apply a significant setoff or a recoupment. A setoff is a deduction from payments due the contractor under one contract for sums due the Airports Authority under one or more other contracts. Recoupment is a deduction of sums due the Airports Authority (damages for delay or defective performance, warranty costs, repair costs, and the like) from the payment due; and
- (8) As a result of judicial action or applicable law.

Prior to taking action under (7) or (8) above, Contracting Officers will coordinate with the Office of General Counsel.

Nonpayment may be damaging to a contractor's business and may jeopardize performance. Therefore, the Contracting Officer must carefully consider the reasons for withholding or refusing payment, and should process complaints regarding payment expeditiously. If time permits and it is appropriate to do so, the Contracting Officer will notify the contractor and

make a reasonable effort to reach a resolution prior to withholding.

5.5.3 Prepayments

Although the general rule is that no contract payments can be made until the service or material has been received by the Airports Authority, there are exceptions such as payment schedules tied to specific dates, or partial prepayments required for certain material purchases. In any prepayment situation, the Contracting Officer shall ensure that good business judgment is used including providing for security of the prepayment. For example it may require provisions for the Airports Authority to gain title upon delivery of any material purchased or that a separate bond is furnished to protect the Airports Authority's interest. Instances of advance/prepayments will be documented as part of the contract file.

NOTE: For solicitations funded by the FTA, see Paragraph 10.7.27 of this Manual for additional guidance on special requirements and restrictions.

5.6 SUBCONTRACTOR NON-PAYMENT

The Airports Authority has an interest in prompt payment of subcontractors from the standpoint of fairness and encouragement of their good performance. The Airports Authority also has an interest in ensuring that its policies support the development and viability of small businesses, including minority business enterprises and woman business enterprises.

Subcontractors have no privity of contract with the Airports Authority, and the Airports Authority does not become involved with business relationships between primes and their subcontractors. For example, non-payment of a subcontractor may relate to untimely or poor quality performance by the subcontractor. The Airports Authority is not able to adjudicate blame or responsibility in such a situation. Generally speaking, the Airports Authority does not know the terms of payment that have been agreed to between the prime and subcontractor. Sometimes subcontractors believe they are entitled to progress payments when their contract specifies only one payment upon completion.

The payment situation between the prime and subcontractor may relate to a prior obligation that in no way involved the Airports Authority.

Primes are completely responsible for the quality of performance by their subcontractors. One of the strongest management tools available to a prime is control of payments to subcontractors.

On the other hand, tight control of payments to subcontractors can negatively affect the subcontractor cash flow with potentially serious ramifications.

If either the prime or subcontractor is a DBE or LDBE, the Equal Opportunity Programs Department is available to facilitate resolution of subcontractor non-payment issues/concerns, perhaps even before complaints are made.

Failure to pay a subcontractor according to contractual agreement between the prime and the subcontractor or within a reasonable time frame can also result in an Equal Opportunity Programs Department recommendation that the Contracting Officer take action based on the prime's LDBE/DBE participation commitments.

NOTE: For solicitations funded by the FTA, see Paragraph 10.7.28 of this Manual for additional guidance on special requirements and restrictions.

5.7 SUSPENSION OF WORK

Occasionally, situations occur during contract performance that cause the Airports Authority to order a suspension of work for a reasonable period of time for its convenience.

A suspension of work shall be issued when it is advisable pending a decision by the Airports Authority and a supplemental agreement providing for the suspension is not feasible. Issuance of a suspension of work must be approved by the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department and it shall not be used in place of a termination notice after a decision to terminate has been made.

5.8 CONTRACTOR PERFORMANCE

The COTR, is delegated the responsibility for monitoring the contractor's progress and keeping the Contracting Officer (CO) informed of any problems. See Appendix G for duties and responsibilities of the COTR.

5.8.1 Documentation of Performance Critically Important

The COTR must document incidents of poor performance and create a record that will support formal actions to enforce contract terms and conditions.

COTRs shall arrange meetings with the contractor, publish minutes, and build a record. The records must be detailed and reflect ongoing communications with the contractor, both verbal and written. Any recommendation that the COTR may make to the CO for issuance of a cure notice must be supported by documentation of the situation. A recommendation by the COTR to send a cure notice must be given serious consideration since it could be the precursor to a show cause letter followed by contract termination.

5.8.2 Contractor Performance Evaluation Reports

Performance evaluations should be conducted for selected contracts during the period of performance in order to provide useful feedback to contractors on their performance and to provide them the opportunity to correct problems before contract completion. The COTR will be responsible for preparing the actual reports on the frequency established by the Contracting Officer (generally every six months). The format of the report will be tailored, as appropriate, to accommodate the nature of the contract. This is an important part of the COTR's responsibility and it must be done in a timely and impartial manner. The COTR shall certify that, to the best of his or her knowledge, the facts and statements included in the report are accurate and represent his/her assessment of the contractor's performance during the rating period. The report will be endorsed by the COTR's supervisor and sent to the contractor for comment and return to the Airports Authority. If the contractor's response contradicts the COTR's report, an effort should be made to reconcile the differences.

After the report is returned to the Airports Authority, it will be entered into an electronic database. It will then be available for future use in the Airports Authority's contractor selection process and for other reasonable and lawful uses.

5.8.3 Contractor Delinquencies

When a delivery date is missed, the contractor is in default unless the delay is excusable under some term of the contract. Delays should be acted upon promptly. The Airports Authority may have the right to terminate the contract and re-procure it against the contractor's account. This right will continue between the time a delinquency occurs and the time a firm decision is made concerning the action, if any, to be taken.

5.8.4 Cure Notice

The purpose of a cure notice is to inform a contractor that its performance is deficient and that it has a specified period to cure the contract performance. Contracting Officers, generally based on a recommendation by the COTR, who believe that contractor is failing to perform according to contract terms and conditions, shall notify the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department and the Office of General Counsel prior to sending a cure notice to the contractor and bonding company.

5.8.5 Show Cause Notice

If the contractor fails to cure the deficiencies within the time allowed in the cure notice, the Contracting Officer, with approval of the Manager, Procurement and Contracts

Department, and after coordination with the Office of General Counsel, will send a show cause notice to the contractor and the bonding company. The letter, which in some instances may not have been preceded by a cure notice, will inform the contractor that contract termination will result unless the contractor submits good and substantial evidence why it should not be terminated.

5.9 TERMINATION FOR DEFAULT (T FOR D)

Under this termination provision, the Airports Authority may terminate a contract for default whenever the contractor fails to perform according to contract terms. Contracting Officers shall consider the following factors in determining whether to terminate a contract for default:

- (1) The provisions of the contract.
- (2) The specific failure of the contractor and reasons, if any, stated by the contractor for such failure.
- (3) The period of time that would be required for the Airports Authority or another contractor to complete the work, as compared to the time required for completion by the delinquent contractor.
- (4) The effect of termination for default on the ability of the contractor to liquidate guaranteed loans, progress payments, or advance payments.
- (5) Any other pertinent facts and circumstances.

Contracting Officers who determine that the contractor's failure to perform arises from causes that are excusable under the terms of the contract shall not terminate the contract for default but may consider a termination for convenience under Paragraph 5.10. The decision to terminate for convenience should not be made without giving full consideration to the termination costs that may be incurred.

NOTE: For solicitations funded by the FTA, see Paragraph 10.7.29 of this Manual for additional guidance on special requirements and restrictions.

5.9.1 Termination for Default Notice

Failure to respond to the show cause notice or to adequately prove the default was excusable will be grounds for issuing a notice of termination for default. Any proposed notice of termination for default, accompanied by the contract file, shall be forwarded through the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department, to the Office of General Counsel for review as to the legal sufficiency of the proposed default termination action. The notice shall:

(1) Set forth the contract number, date, and the title and contract provision number of the default provision;

- (2) Describe the act or omissions, and the extent of the resultant delay, constituting the default;
- (3) State that the contractor's right to proceed further with performance of the contract (or of a specified portion of the contract) is terminated;
- (4) State that the Airports Authority may cause the contract to be completed and that the contractor will be held liable for any increased cost;
- (5) State that the Airports Authority reserves all rights and remedies provided by law or under the contract, in addition to charging increased costs; and
- (6) State that the notice constitutes a decision that the contractor is in default, as specified, and that the Contracting Officer has determined that the default is not excusable.

The termination notice shall be provided to the contractor, and a copy shall be furnished to the contractor's surety. If determined to be in the Airports Authority's best interests, the surety should be requested to advise if it desires to enter into an arrangement for completion of the work. In addition, Accounts Payable shall be notified to withhold further payments under the terminated contract pending further advice. Promptly after issuance of the termination notice, the Procurement and Contracts Department, in coordination with the COTR, shall determine the manner in which the work is to be completed.

5.9.2 Re-procurement of Goods or Services

Where the goods or services are still required after termination, re-procurement of the goods or services that are the same as, or similar to, those called for in the contract shall be made against the contractor's account as soon as practicable after termination. Such re-procurement shall be at as reasonable a price as practicable considering the quality required and the time within which the goods or services are required. The contract for the re-procurement may be made for a quantity in excess of the undelivered quantity called for in the contract when needed, however excess cost may be charged against the defaulting contractor for no more than the undelivered quantity under the terminated contract (including variations in quantity).

If the re-procurement is effected at a price in excess of the price of the goods terminated, the Contracting Officer shall make a written demand on the contractor for the total amount of such excess giving consideration to increases or decreases in other ascertainable costs such as transportation, discounts, etc., and shall take such other action as required for collecting claims in favor of the Airports Authority.

5.9.3 Other Damages

If a contract is terminated for default or if a course of action in lieu of termination for default is followed, the Contracting Officer shall take appropriate action for ascertaining and collecting any liquidated damages that the Airports Authority may be entitled to under the contract, pursuant to the contract provisions for liquidated damages. Such damages are in addition to any excess cost of re-procurement. If the Airports Authority has suffered any other ascertainable damages as a result of the contractor's default, the Contracting Officer shall take appropriate action to assert the Airports Authority's claim for such damage.

5.9.4 Memorandum of the Termination Action

In all cases where a contract is terminated for default, the Contracting Officer shall prepare a memorandum for the contract file explaining the reasons for the action taken.

5.10 TERMINATION FOR CONVENIENCE (T FOR C)

Prior to issuing a notice of termination for convenience, the Contracting Officer shall ensure that the contract file contains adequate documentation justifying the termination, including coordination with the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department, and the Office of General Counsel.

The T for C notice shall clearly state the effective date of the termination, whether or not all work is to be stopped, and the specific work to be terminated if the termination is partial. The notice may also include special instructions about the continuation of certain work, disposition of inventory, or other matters. For example, production of a main equipment item may be completely terminated; however, the Airports Authority may want to order spare parts and other supply support items for delivered equipment.

5.10.1 T for C Contracting Officer's Responsibilities

Contracting Officers shall confer with the contractor and develop a specific plan for effecting the termination settlement. The discussion should cover all topics related to the principles, policies, and procedures governing the settlement including but not limited to the extent of the termination; the status of plans, drawings, and other data; the status of the continuing work; the contractor's responsibility for termination of subcontracts; the transfer of title to the Airports Authority of materials, data, drawings, and specifications; and the schedule for the contractor's submission of settlement cost proposals, inventory schedules, and accounting data. A detailed account of the discussion shall be made a part of the contract file.

5.10.2 T for C Contractor's Responsibilities

The notice of termination and the termination provision define the contractor's obligations. Upon receiving the notice, the contractor must stop work under the contract, as directed. Any work beyond that authorized by the notice of termination is at the contractor's own risk.

The contractor's obligations also require termination of all unperformed or partially performed subcontracts, purchase orders, and blanket purchase orders relating to the terminated portion of the prime contract, and to settle all outstanding liabilities and claims arising from such termination.

If directed by the Contracting Officer, the contractor must assign to the Airports Authority all rights to material, data, plans, specifications, etc., associated with the terminated portion of the contract. The contractor and any subcontractors must protect and preserve any property related to the contract in which the Airports Authority may acquire a right or interest. The contractor must also deliver (to the extent directed to do so) any completed and partially completed materials produced or acquired in connection with the terminated work. Contractors must deliver any completed or partially completed plans or drawings that would have been required had the contract been completed. Transfer of title accompanies such As directed by the Contracting Officer, contractors must use their best efforts to sell any undelivered property. They must also complete any portion of the contract not terminated.

Finally, contractors must promptly submit their claim for fair compensation for the terminated work.

There are several practical business problems to be considered in connection with complex terminations. For one, there is the period of time the contractor needs to stop work and terminate contracts. This will vary with the nature and complexity of the terminated work and the volume of other work at the time of termination. Contractors probably will not want to completely stop work on contracts and orders that relate to both terminated and continued work. As a result, contractors may have to screen subcontracts, purchase orders, blanket purchase orders, bills of material, and continuing work requirements before they can issue termination notices. Therefore, it may be impossible to discontinue certain costs and expenses at once. Nevertheless, it is usually true that continuation of the work beyond the time specified in the notice of termination is done at contractors' own risk and on their own account. In settling terminations, contractors' actions must be reviewed to determine whether they acted prudently and reasonably under all the circumstances.

5.11 TERMINATION SETTLEMENT

After issuing a notice of termination, either for default or convenience, the Airports Authority has an obligation to make a fair and prompt settlement with the contractor. Settlements of terminated contracts take the form of negotiated agreements between the parties or unilateral determinations by the Contracting Officer.

5.11.1 Principles of Compensation

5.11.1.1 Profit Factors

In a termination settlement, a contractor will be allowed profit only on mobilization costs and work done for the terminated part of the contract. Anticipatory profits (the expected profit on that terminated part of the contract for which no preparations were made and no work done) are not allowed. Nor may profits be based on post termination and settlement expenses. These include expenses incurred in protecting termination inventory and in the settlement of subcontracts.

Usually a settlement can be reached by comparing the work done on the terminated part of the contract to the amount of work contemplated by the entire contract. The comparison should be expressed as a percentage; the percentage should then be applied to the amount of profit contemplated when the contract was written. Costs incurred are not by themselves a suitable guide as they often do not accurately reflect the amount or difficulty of the work already performed by the contractor.

5.11.1.2 Adjustment for Loss

No profit should be allowed if it appears that the contractor would have suffered a loss not resulting from the Airports Authority's action (e.g., delays, informal changes, etc.) on the entire contract. Instead, the settlement figure should be adjusted to reflect the indicated rate of loss.

5.11.2 Termination Settlement Reviews

All proposed termination settlement agreements shall be reviewed by the Office of General Counsel prior to submission to the contractor for signature.

5.12 CONTRACT CLOSEOUT

Closing out a contract ensures that the contractor has complied with all the contract requirements and that, in turn, the Airports Authority has fulfilled its obligations. Contract closeout is the culmination of a series of monitoring actions throughout the life of the contract. Contracting Officers shall confirm with the Risk Management Department that no outstanding insurance claims exist prior to closing the contract. A copy of the Contractor's Release form (Appendix H) shall be furnished to Accounts Payable for its records.

5.12.1 Closeout Modification

Contracting Officers shall issue a closeout modification when the final price is different from the current contract amount, when necessary to establish final quantities for unit priced items, and for other appropriate reasons.

5.12.2 Time Goal for Closeout

Contracts should be closed out as rapidly as practicable. The Contracting Officer has a responsibility to the contractor to see that retainage is released and payment of any monies due is made promptly.

5.12.3 Exceptions to Full Release of Claims

A contract may be completed except for a minor point for which pending litigation, arbitration, or other reason requires an extended period of time to resolve. In such cases, regular closeout procedures would hold the entire contract open for an extended period of time. However, with Office of General Counsel concurrence, the Contracting Officer may prepare and have the contractor sign a release of claims, except for the point in question, reserving both parties' rights in the future settlement of the point in question. Upon receipt of such release, the Contracting Officer may authorize final payment in total, or may reserve enough funds to cover the point in question, subject to the approval of the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department.

6 CONCESSIONS CONTRACTS

Chapter 6 describes procedures used to acquire and administer concessions contracts. This chapter is intended to be self-contained, except in those instances where specific reference is made to information outside of Chapter 6. Included in this chapter is the solicitation, evaluation, and award process for concession contracts. The chapter also describes the notification and debriefing of unsuccessful offerors. In addition, it covers various aspects of the administration of concession contracts.

Concessions are businesses that sell goods and services on Reagan National Airport, Dulles International Airport, or the Dulles Toll Road to the traveling public. No concession may be operated on the Airports or the Dulles Toll Road without having been granted the right to do so by the Airports Authority. The definition of concessions does not include air carriers, or businesses that provide goods or services to air carriers or airport tenants, such as in-flight caterers, fuel providers, and other similar businesses. Concessions covered by this chapter do include advertising aimed at travelers. To engage in a concession, concessionaires must have permission from the Airports Authority in the form of a contract or permit. The Airports Authority may contract directly with individual concessionaires or it may contract with one or more "Prime Concessionaires" that will have the responsibility for selecting and contracting with individual concessionaires to operate at the Airports. The Airports Authority will select individual concessionaires and Prime Concessionaires using the procedures set forth in this chapter. The procedures to be followed by the Prime Concessionaire in selecting and contracting with their concessionaires will be established by the Prime Concessionaire with the Airports Authority's approval and will vary from the procedures established in this chapter. In addition, some concession contracts, such as those for operation of the public parking concession, are structured as management contracts, in which a contractor manages the concession for the Airports Authority, is reimbursed by the Airports Authority for approved expenses, and is paid a management fee by the Airports Authority.

In exchange for the privilege of doing business on Airports Authority property, concession contractors pay fees or other forms of compensation to the Airports Authority. The nature of the fees varies depending upon the type of concession. In some cases, the contractor pays a set fee each month. In other cases, the contractor pays the greater of a minimum annual guarantee or a percentage of its gross receipts.

Concessions are competitively solicited using Request for Proposals (RFP) or Invitation for Bids (IFB) procedures as set forth below. The RFP process considers not only the amount of revenue that offerors propose to pay to the Airports Authority but also non-financial aspects of their proposals, such as operational and management aspects of the proposed

operation, customer service commitments, etc. Under the IFB process, contracts are awarded based upon the revenue to be paid to the Airports Authority.

In many Airports Authority concession agreements, the concessionaire is leased or assigned space for its exclusive use in the conduct of its business. In all instances, unless otherwise specified in the contract, space arrangements in Airports Authority concession contracts are to be treated as leases regardless of whether a separate rental is specified for the space.

NOTE: The provisions of this Chapter 6 are not applicable to FTA funded solicitations.

6.1 CONTRACTING AUTHORITY

6.1.1 Contracting Officers

Only persons with formally delegated written authority to enter into and administer contracts and other contractual instruments such as modifications, task orders, and leases on behalf of the Airports Authority may serve as Contracting Officer. In the Directive referenced in 1.5.1, the Concession and Property Development Manager has been delegated the authority to enter into and administer concession and other revenue-producing contracts regardless of dollar amount, with certain exceptions. In the Directive, the Airport Manager for each Airport has also been delegated the authority to enter into and administer certain concession contracts.

Documentation of all contracting authority re-delegations shall be maintained by the staff members making such redelegations, and shall include the name of the person receiving the re-delegation, the date of the re-delegation, the duration of the re-delegation, and any limits of the redelegation. A copy of each re-delegation shall be sent to the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department, and that department shall keep a centralized record of all delegations of contracting authority.

Any re-delegations of contracting authority by a staff member cannot exceed the limits of such staff member's delegated authority.

All persons delegated contracting authority and all Contracting Officers' Technical Representatives (COTR)

Page 55

¹ Such activities are still subject to approval and terms and conditions established by the Airports Authority pursuant to Section 6.1 of the Metropolitan Washington Airports Authority Regulations, as amended from time to time.

shall receive initial and recurring formal procurement training.

6.1.2 Vice President Approvals

In this Chapter 6, certain contracting officer actions must be approved by the Vice President for Business Administration or the Vice President and Airport Manager for each airport, as appropriate.

6.1.3 Contracting Process Oversight

The Procurement and Contracts Department coordinator is responsible for oversight of the concession contract solicitation process to ensure that it conforms to the Airports Authority's contracting policies and procedures. The coordinator shall review the advertisement and solicitation document to ensure consistency with contracting standards, shall be the point-of-contact for questions from prospective offerors, and shall oversee the receipt, review, and evaluation of offers. The coordinator will be involved in debriefings and protests.

6.1.4 Board Approval

In its delegations of authority, the Board has reserved approval authority for concession contracts or leases that will result in annual revenue to the Airports Authority of \$3,000,000 or more, or as further reserved by the Board. Board approval is also required to award concession contracts with other than full and open competition.

The Board has authorized the CEO to grant an extension of up to twelve months of any concession contract necessary to maintain services and revenue during periods when timely award of a new contract cannot be made before the expiration of the current one, provided that the Business Administration Committee is notified of the need to grant such extensions at the earliest possible occasion before they are granted. Any time this authorization to extend a contract is to be used, a memorandum from the Vice President and Airport Manager or the Vice President for Business Administration shall be sent to the CEO with appropriate justification for the extension. If approved, this memorandum shall be placed in the contract file.

6.1.5 Full and Open Competition

The Airports Authority is committed to "obtain to the maximum extent practicable, full and open competition" for its contracting opportunities. Concession contracts to be awarded directly by the Airports Authority with other than full and open competition must be approved by the Board prior to award.

The Airports Authority's commitment to obtaining full and open competition includes publication and adherence to the detailed contracting procedures in this Manual, which are designed to enable those interested in contracting

opportunities to become familiar with the procedures that the Airports Authority follows. Special conditions may make it necessary to make material changes to the procedures in this Manual on a case-by-case basis and as authorized by the Board. In the event such changes are made, they will be identified as such in the solicitation, which should be read with care prior to submission of a proposal, quotation or bid. Non-material changes to the Manual's procedures, provided they are not inconsistent with the achievement of full and open competition, may be made with the approval of the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department.

6.1.6 Full and Open Competition With Exclusions - Airport Concessions Disadvantaged Business Enterprises – 100% Set Aside

While not typical for concession contracts, the Airports Authority may set aside concession contracts, when appropriate, for competition only among ACDBE firms. While competition for such contracts is limited to ACDBE firms, all ACDBE firms able to perform the scope of work may compete for them.

Before the Airports Authority determines that it is appropriate to set aside a concession for 100% ACDBE participation, there shall be a minimum of three to five ACDBE firms qualified to compete for a concession opportunity. The justification for limiting competition to ACDBE firms must explain the analysis used to support the limitation.

6.1.7 Other than Full and Open Competition

Prior to award, all concession contracts awarded through other than full and open competition must be supported by written justification documents and must be approved by the Board. The justification to be submitted by the COTR to the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department, must include, at a minimum: a description of the concession; a description (including estimated value) of the goods, supplies or services needed to fulfill the Airports Authority's requirements; a demonstration that the proposed contractor's unique qualifications or the nature of the acquisition requires the use of other than full and open competition procedures; a description of the efforts used to ensure that bids or proposals were solicited from as many sources as possible or practicable; a determination by the Contracting Officer that the amount to be paid to the Airports Authority, or, in the case of a management contract, the cost to be paid by the Airports Authority, will be fair and reasonable; any other facts supporting the use of other than full and open competition; a listing of sources, if any, that expressed interest in the acquisition; a statement of the actions, if any, that the

Airports Authority can take to avoid other than full and open competition in subsequent acquisitions; and a certification by the Contracting Officer that the justification is accurate and complete to the best of his/her knowledge and belief. Justifications must be made publicly available by posting them on the Airports Authority website within fourteen (14) days after the contract award and must remain available for a minimum of thirty (30) days.

6.1.8 Standards of Conduct

The Airports Authority expects all employees to act in the best interests of the Airports Authority at all times and to not knowingly engage in conduct that is illegal, dishonest, or brings discredit upon the Airports Authority, or participate in any Airports Authority matter as to which the employee has a conflict of interests. In particular, employees who obligate the Airports Authority to spend money, approve payments, and make decisions affecting disbursements have a special duty to make their recommendations and decisions without prejudice, seeking to obtain the maximum value for the Airports Authority.

6.1.9 Codes of Ethics

The Airports Authority's Code of Ethics for Employees and Code of Ethics for Members of the Board of Directors, as they may be amended from time to time, which are available on the Airports Authority's website, www.mwaa.com, incorporated into this Manual as if they were expressly set forth. In general, these Codes prohibit the solicitation of Gifts and restrict the acceptance of Gifts;² prohibit employees and members of the Board from using their position for the financial gain of acquaintances or relatives or their own gain; define Substantial Financial Interests and restrict employees and members of the Board from participating in any transaction or matter as to which they have a conflict of interests; and define certain restrictions (including restrictions related to Airports Authority contracting activities) that are applicable to employees following the termination of employment with the Airports Authority and to Board members following the expiration of their term.

Employees and members of the Board who violate these Codes are subject to sanctions, as set forth in the applicable Code.

6.1.10 Contractor Certifications and Disclosures; Employment of Former Authority Employees

All offerors for Airports Authority contracts shall be required to submit representations and certifications, on a form provided by the Airports Authority, with the offer that states that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, and with the exception of any information listed in the certificate, they have no information concerning any conduct by an Airports Authority employee or a member of the Board undertaken in connection with or related in any manner to the procurement that is or may be in violation of either of the Codes of Ethics. The Airports Authority will evaluate the information provided by the offeror and, based on the information, may cancel the solicitation or take any other action it determines to be in the best interests of the Airports Authority, such as the disqualification of the offeror. If it is subsequently determined that an offeror to which a contract has been awarded submitted a certification with false or erroneous information or falsely or negligently certified that it had no information concerning actual or possible violations of the Codes, its contract may be cancelled or rescinded and it may be required to repay the Airports Authority all amounts paid under the contract.

Contractors are advised that the Code of Ethics for Employees imposes certain restrictions on the activities in which Contracting Officers and COTRs may engage following their employment with the Airports Authority, and contractors should consult the Code before engaging such employees after their departure from the Airports Authority.

6.1.11 Prohibited Conduct

Airports Authority business shall be conducted in a manner above reproach and with complete impartiality and preferential treatment for none. The following conduct is strictly prohibited:

- (1) The offer or the provision of anything of value, by an offeror or contractor, to an Airports Authority employee or a member of the Board with the intent to influence an action or decision to be made by the employee or member, or with the intent to compensate or recognize the employee or member for an action or decision that the employee or member has made. (Gifts to employees and Board members are substantially restricted by the Codes of Ethics; persons seeking to contract with, or under contract with, the Airports Authority should consult the Codes for details.)
- (2) The disclosure by an Airports Authority employee, Board member or offeror, other than to persons authorized by this Manual to receive such

² Capitalized terms in this paragraph are defined in the Airports Authority's *Code of Ethics for Employees* and/or *Code of Ethical Responsibilities for Members of the Board of Directors*.

information, of bid or proposal information or source selection information prior to contract award, except in accordance with this Manual and the Airports Authority's Freedom of Information Policy.

- (3) Use of procurement information by an Airports Authority employee or Board member for personal gain, including negotiation for future employment outside of the Airports Authority.
- (4) Acceptance of contractor kickbacks, subcontractor kickbacks, bribes, gratuities and other similar monetary payments.
- (5) Participation in a particular matter by those acquisition personnel having a conflict of interest regarding the matter

All acquisition and contracting personnel having decision making or contract administration duties shall receive, as part of their annual ethics training, supplemental procurement integrity training.

Any violations of this chapter may be subject to both supervisory discipline and referral to the Airports Authority Ethics Officer for investigation.

6.2 SOLICITATION PROCESS

This section describes the types of solicitations utilized by the Airports Authority for concession procurements and the methods used to evaluate contractors' proposals, and also provides guidance on how concession contract solicitations are prepared, advertised, and distributed. The solicitation phase includes the activities that take place between the time the Airports Authority determines that it will issue a solicitation for a concession and the time a contract is awarded. This phase may include soliciting proposals, qualifications, quotations, or financial offers from responsible sources; evaluating the responses to the solicitation; securing the necessary approvals; and execution of the contract with the selected offeror. Most Airports Authority concession solicitations are issued in the form of a Request for Proposals; however, Invitations for Bids (IFB) may be issued for some concessions, such as the airport rental car concessions. This section discusses the difference between RFPs and IFBs.

6.2.1 Solicitation Types - Competitive Proposals

6.2.1.1 When Request for Proposals (RFP) procedures are used

RFP procedures are used when:

(1) There is a potential need to enter into negotiations after receipt of offers, or to request best and final offers prior to contract award;

- (2) There may be criteria other than, or in addition to, financial offer that are important when choosing an offeror for award:
- (3) There are potentially significant qualitative differences among contractors and their proposals;
- (4) There are two or more qualified sources;
- (5) Lead times are adequate.

6.2.1.2 RFP Content

<u>In general, an RFP</u> consists of the following: 1) a description of the concession opportunity and requirements, an overview of the contract terms and conditions associated with the opportunity, proposal requirements, premises drawings, exhibits that provide further information concerning the opportunity, and the evaluation criteria; 2) the draft of the contract the Airports Authority expects to award to the successful offeror, including the Airports Authority's Standard Concession Contract Provisions if applicable; 3) a financial offer schedule; 4) representations and certifications form; and 5) any additional forms that need to be completed by the offeror and returned with its proposal.

6.2.2 Solicitation Types –Advertised Sealed Bids (IFB)

The advertised sealed bid or Invitation for Bids (IFB) procedures may be used when-

- (1) There is no anticipated need to enter negotiations.
- (2) Price is the only evaluation criterion.
- (3) Products or performance are expected to be relatively uniform.
- (4) There are many qualified sources.
- (5) Lead times are adequate.
- (6) Clear, detailed specifications or requirements are available.

6.2.2.1 Basis for Solicitation of Bids

Bids for concessions are solicited on the basis of an Invitation for Bids document that contains an accurate description of the concession that allows bidders to compete on a common basis without restricting competition. Specifications will not be adopted so as to favor one contractor over another.

6.2.2.2 Preparation of Invitation for Bids

An IFB requires that careful attention be given to its preparation because it is difficult to change the contract terms after bids are opened. For example, deficiencies in the description of the Airports Authority's requirements for the concession operations should be corrected prior to bid opening in order to avoid the costly and time-consuming process of readvertising. Careful preparation of the IFB is the key to preventing many of the problems that are encountered in advertised sealed bid procurements. In general, the IFB will include the same items described in Paragraph 6.2.1.2 for RFP content.

6.2.2.3 Opening of Bids/Pre-Award

Unlike the RFP process, when using an IFB, the Airports Authority will publicly open the bids. The Contracting Officer will verify the time from the Procurement and Contracts Department date/time clock. When the time for opening has arrived, the Contracting Officer personally and publicly opens all bids received prior to that time and reads them aloud to all bidders present. The following information will be read aloud: (1) bidder's name; and (2) the financial offer. The Contracting Officer shall prepare an Abstract of Offers that includes verification of bid bond receipt and acknowledgment of receipt of amendments. Neither responsiveness nor responsibility determinations are made at the public bid opening.

6.2.2.4 IFB Determination of Responsiveness

After the bid opening, the Contracting Officer is required to evaluate the apparent successful bid to verify that it is responsive to the solicitation. The general rule is that deviations that go to the substance of the bid may not be waived or corrected after opening unless the deviation is only a minor irregularity or informality. A deviation goes to the substance of the bid when it alters the financial offer, quantity, quality or delivery of the concession services offered. If the defects amount to only a minor informality or irregularity, then the Contracting Officer may allow the bidder the opportunity to cure or merely waive the informality or irregularity where it is to the advantage of the Airports Authority to do so. A minor irregularity is one that is merely a matter of form or is some immaterial variation from the exact requirements of the IFB, having no effect or merely a trivial or negligible effect on financial offer, quality, quantity or delivery of the concession services being procured, and the correction or waiver of that would not affect the relative standing of, or be otherwise prejudicial to other bidders. Prejudice will not be found from the mere fact that correction or waiver will allow the offeror to remain in the competition. Examples of minor informalities or irregularities that may be cured include the failure of the bidder to return the requested number of copies of the signed bid, or a bidder's failure to furnish a statement concerning its organization.

In contrast to the above examples wherein the irregularity could be waived, any bid that fails to conform to the essential requirements of the IFB must be rejected. Likewise, any bid that does not conform to the contract requirements shall be rejected. Substitution or addition of the bidder's own contractual terms, taking exception to any of the terms and conditions, failure to submit a valid and acceptable bid bond if required in the IFB, failure to sign the bid, or failure to acknowledge receipt of an amendment (see Paragraph 2.2.6 for additional information about acknowledgements), may make a bid non-responsive.

Although performance guarantees are not submitted with the contractor's bid, when they are received from the apparent successful bidder, they shall be verified as acceptable in form and substance by the Contracting Officer. Any problem must be immediately resolved or the bid will be rejected.

6.2.3 Types of Solicitations - Sole Source Negotiation

This is a concession procurement method that is other than full and open competition. It occurs when there is only one responsible or one practicable source for the concession and there is no other source that will satisfy the Airports Authority's requirements.

The following are examples of situations in which the Airports Authority may use this sole source negotiation method to procure a concession directly from a sole source:

- (1) <u>Unique or Innovative Concepts</u>. The source of the supplies or services demonstrates a unique or innovative concept or capability not available from another source. Unique or innovative concept means a new, novel or changed concept, approach or method that is the product of original thinking, the details of which are kept confidential or are patented or copyrighted, and the concept, approach or method is available to the Airports Authority only from one source and has not in the past been available to the Airports Authority from another source.
- (2) <u>Patents or Restricted Data Rights</u>. The existence of patents or restrictions arising from intellectual property or other proprietary rights preclude competition and make supplies or services available only from a single source.

Sole source concession contracts, because they involve other than full and open competition, must be approved by the Board prior to award. If a sole source is contemplated, a sole source justification must be submitted by the Contracting Officer to the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department. The justification must include the information required by Paragraph 6.1.7. Advertising and

market research are effective methods of locating new sources and creating a competitive environment. Contracting Officers shall advertise sole source requirements and maximize their market research efforts to find alternative sources.

Sole source justifications must be signed and approved by the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department, with a copy maintained in the contract file. In entering into a sole source contract for a concession opportunity, it is the Contracting Officer's responsibility to negotiate a contract that is in the best interests of the Airports Authority. The Contracting Officer should carefully research the concession opportunity and determine what is a fair and reasonable financial offer. This can be done by (1) comparing financial offers for previous concession contracts for the same or similar concession, both with the Airports Authority and with other airports; or (2) by performing an analysis of financial offer data submitted by the offeror.

For sole source negotiation procurements in excess of \$200,000, notice will be published on the Airport's Authority's website, no less than fifteen (15) days prior to contract award, and will remain for a total of thirty (30) days, along with information describing the procurement, including the justification, stating that the Airports Authority has determined that only one source of the item is practicably available, identifying that sole source, stating the date on which the contract will be awarded, and stating that any responsible source may submit a statement of capabilities, along with a proposal or quote, no later than the close of business on the business day immediately prior to the date of contract award.

Negotiations can be conducted on adding terms and conditions favorable to the Airports Authority and deleting or changing terms that are one-sided in favor of the contractor. It is important to be well prepared and to know the marketplace.

6.2.4 Types of Solicitations – Combined/Modified Solicitations

It is the Airports Authority's intent that the solicitation methods described in this chapter are used in the manner in which they are described herein. However, if there is a particular situation wherein none of the solicitation processes described herein reasonably satisfies the need, then with the approval of the Procurement and Contracts Department Manager and in coordination with the Office of General Counsel, necessary adaptations may be made for an individual case. In such an instance, both the solicitation announcement and the solicitation itself must describe the variance from the standard process as described in this Manual.

6.2.5 Preparation of Solicitations and Draft Contracts

6.2.5.1 Contract Term

The length of the contract term for concession contracts will be appropriate for the type of concession. The concession contract may include a base contract term and one or more option periods to be exercised at the Airports Authority's sole discretion.

6.2.5.2 Performance Guarantees

Each concession contract will, unless otherwise approved by the Contracting Officer, require the contractor to guarantee its performance of the contract. This performance guarantee may be provided in the form of a bond, letter of credit, cash, or other form permitted by the contract. Unless otherwise approved by the Vice President and Airport Manager or the Vice President for Business Administration, the amount of the performance guarantee will be fifty percent (50%) of the minimum annual guarantee or previous year's total payment to the Airports Authority, whichever is greater.

6.2.5.3 Solicitation Response Time

The response time is the period of time between the date of issuance of a solicitation and the date set for receipt of proposals. The Airports Authority will consider factors such as the following in determining the response time to be provided:

- (1) Urgency of the Airports Authority's need for the services;
- (2) Complexity of the solicitation;
- (3) Estimated cost of preparing the proposals or offer;
- (4) Extent of subcontracting anticipated;
- (5) Geographic distribution of potential offerors;
- (6) Normal time for mail transmission of both solicitations and submittals; and
- (7) Other related factors, such as avoiding having the due date fall on a Monday or the day following a holiday.

6.2.5.4 <u>Pre-Proposal Conference / Site Visit</u>

When appropriate and based on the type of concession solicitation, the Airports Authority may establish a date and time for a pre-proposal conference and site visit. This normally will occur at the airport(s) where the concession will be located, soon after the solicitation is issued. This provides an opportunity for the Airports Authority to

emphasize and clarify critical aspects of the solicitation, eliminate ambiguities or misunderstandings, answer prospective offerors' questions, allow the prospective offerors to become familiar with the concession site, and permit prospective offerors to ask questions about the solicitation terms and conditions or suggest how it might be changed. When deemed necessary and appropriate, the Airports Authority may record pre-proposal proceedings.

(1) Additional Site Visits

Requests by late entrants into the competition or by a firm unable to attend a scheduled site visit (perhaps an out-of-state firm) shall be accommodated, when practicable.

(2) Mandatory Pre-Proposal Conferences and Site Visits
Mandatory visits (i.e., where attendance at a site visit or
pre-proposal conference is mandatory in order to submit
a proposal) shall be limited to special situations
approved by the Manager, Procurement and Contracts
Department. When mandatory attendance is stipulated,
only proposals from those attending firms shall be
considered for award unless waived by the Vice
President and Airport Manager or the Vice President for
Business Administration.

6.2.5.5 Evaluation Criteria – General

Each concession RFP shall clearly state the evaluation criteria the Airports Authority will use in awarding the contract. These criteria will be listed in descending order of relative importance, with each criterion having the same or less weight than the one preceding it. The specific value or weight of each criterion need not be published in the RFP.

Each separate evaluation criterion shall be worded in such a way that the criterion should encompass the necessary and relevant elements which must then be evaluated collectively to determine the score for the criterion. If necessary, the description of a criterion may require several sentences, but the scoring must be done only on a collective basis; there shall be no breakdown of scoring for the various elements of a criterion.

The use of sub-criteria to further breakdown a criterion is not recommended unless its use has been approved by the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department. If sub-criteria are authorized, they shall be given equal weight with respect to each other unless the RFP states that certain sub-criteria will be given greater weight than other sub-criteria.

Financial offer evaluations for multi-year contracts may include net present value (NPV) analysis if deemed appropriate by the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department. In that case, the RFP evaluation criteria shall state that financial offers will be subjected to NPV analysis and shall include the discount rate to be used as well as a description of the net present value analysis methodology.

Any changes to the published evaluation criteria or the published weighting shall be made prior to submission of proposals and shall be issued in an amendment to the solicitation. Prior to the opening of proposals, the Contracting Officer and the EC shall prepare the specific value or weight to be given each evaluation criterion consistent with the published criteria.

Only the evaluation criteria listed in the RFP and the preassigned weights shall be used by the EC.

6.2.5.6 <u>Evaluation Criteria - Financial Offer Only</u>

In most cases, concession proposals will be evaluated using both technical criteria and financial offer criteria. When the concessionaire selection is to be based solely upon a financial offer, the Airports Authority will issue an IFB.

6.2.5.7 <u>Evaluation Criteria - Both Financial Offer</u> and Technical Criteria

If technical criteria and financial offer criteria are to be used to determine which is the best proposal, the criteria shall be reviewed for reasonableness by the Contracting Officer who shall ensure that the criteria are appropriate and that they will help the Airports Authority determine which is the best proposal; criteria must not be chosen to benefit one firm over other competitors.

Examples of technical criteria that may be appropriate include: i) experience and qualifications of the offeror; ii) experience and qualifications of the offeror's manager and key personnel; iii) business plan and understanding of the business opportunity and the Airports Authority's needs; and iv) pro forma and financial statements.

6.2.5.8 ACDBE Participation

It is the Airports Authority's goal to ensure that ACDBE firms have a significant and continuing opportunity to compete for Airports Authority business. Contracting Officers shall focus on whether the solicitation is structured to facilitate achievement of the ACDBE goals that were arrived at through the process described in Paragraph 4.2.

6.2.5.9 Insurance

The contractor shall ensure that the concession contract includes the specific coverage required by the Risk Management Department. The contractor must provide such coverage during the contract period from an insurance company possessing a rating from the A.M. Best Company that meets the current standards established by the Risk Management Department. The Airports Authority shall be named as an additional insured on every policy, except Workers' Compensation and Professional

Liability, unless otherwise established by the Risk Management Department. The contractor shall advise the Airports Authority of any cancellation, non-renewal, or material change in any policy within five (5) business days of notification to contractor of such action.

Contractors are required to submit certificates of insurance to the Contracting Officer, who shall forward them to the Risk Management Department for review and approval.

6.2.5.10 Options

Generally, the Airports Authority requires that financial offers be provided by the offerors for all option periods and that the options be included in the total evaluated financial offer for each offeror. Alternatively, for concession contracts in which the concession fee is established as the greater of a minimum annual guarantee or the percentage of gross receipts established by the contract, the minimum annual guarantee for the option years can be established by a formula (e.g., the minimum annual guarantee will be 80% of the prior year's concession fee).

Nothing herein implies that the Airports Authority is obligated to exercise any or all of the options during the term of the contract.

6.2.6 Advertisement of Concession Opportunities

Except in unusual circumstances, airport concession opportunities will be publicized so as to reasonably ensure that interested qualified persons can respond to the opportunity.

Concession opportunities will be posted on the Airports Authority's website (www.mwaa.com). The Airports Authority also provides periodic e-mail notification of business opportunities to interested firms that have registered on-line (www.mwaa.com) for "PROJECT eLERT" to be sent directly to their e-mail address. In addition, a notice of the concession opportunity may be placed in a newspaper of general circulation in the Washington, D.C. metropolitan area and in trade publications. The Contracting Officer will also maintain a mailing list of firms interested in particular concession opportunities so that these firms can be contacted directly when the solicitation becomes available. Except in unusual situations, this mailing list shall be used only as a supplement to public advertisement of the solicitation. See also Paragraph 6.2.3 for advertisement of proposed sole source concession opportunities.

The Airports Authority maintains an "open door" policy with the business community.

6.2.7 Solicitation Distribution

Solicitations will be available for downloading directly from the Airports Authority's website (www.mwaa.com).

Solicitation amendments will be posted on the Airports Authority's website and will be distributed electronically to firms that are registered holders of the initial solicitation.

6.2.8 Prospective Offeror Lists

A list of prospective offerors for each solicitation is provided on the Airports Authority's website (www.mwaa.com). The list is provided for information purposes only with the understanding that the Airports Authority does not endorse any of the firms listed. The list includes firms to whom solicitations have been furnished in hard copy by the Airports Authority in addition to firms who have registered on-line as having downloaded the solicitation. It is important for firms interested in a particular solicitation to be included on the list because it is used to distribute amendments that may be issued to the solicitation. Failure to receive and acknowledge receipt of an amendment may result in an offer being found in non-conformance.

6.2.9 Amendments

Between the time a solicitation is issued and the offers are due, the solicitation terms may be changed. Such changes can affect the solicitation requirements, draft contract or other aspects of the solicitation. Changes may correct or clarify ambiguities, errors, or omissions from the solicitation. Amendments are distributed to all firms on the list of prospective offerors known to have received the initial solicitation documents. The effect of the amendment on the closing date will be considered to ensure that offerors will have enough time to revise their submittals before the closing date — if not, a new closing date will be included in the amendment. Receipt of amendments must be acknowledged by the closing date and time for submission of offers.

Failure to acknowledge receipt of an amendment may result in a proposal being found to be in non-conformance, (see paragraph 6.2.20). Because distribution of amendments will be made to all firms on the Prospective Offeror's List, potential offerors should refer to Paragraph 6.2.8 for more information.

6.2.10 Public Release of Information

The Airports Authority's Freedom of Information Policy, adopted by the Board, governs the release of Airports Authority records. Under the Freedom of Information Policy, Airports Authority records containing confidential business information of the Airports Authority are exempt from release. Records containing confidential business information of parties other than the Airports Authority, which may include records created by or relating to offerors and contractors, are also exempt from release. In addition, records that are considered privileged pre-

decisional documents are exempt from release. These exemptions, when applied to records prepared during, in conjunction with, or as a result of, an Airports Authority procurement, are intended to protect the integrity of the procurement process and to preserve the confidentiality of certain information submitted during the process by offerors and contractors.

The following provisions govern the release of records (including releases pursuant to requests under the Freedom of Information Policy) that have been prepared during, in conjunction with, or as a result of an Airports Authority procurement.

- (1) Proposals or bids submitted by offerors may be withheld from release at any time, except that, after contract award, portions of the winning proposal or bid that have been incorporated into the contract and that do not contain confidential business information of the contractor, will be released.
- Price or financial offers and price schedules submitted by offerors, and abstracts of offers created by the Airports Authority, may be withheld from release at any time, except that, following the date of contract award, or the date a written notice of intent to award is sent to unsuccessful offerors, whichever occurs first, abstracts with the names of unsuccessful offerors redacted and with total price offers (other than unit prices) shown on such documents will be released. If the solicitation sought prices for multiple contract years, the total price offer for each contract year will be released after the date of contract award, or the date a written notice of intent to award is sent to unsuccessful offerors. whichever occurs first. With respect to solicitations conducted under Invitation for Bids procedures, bids, price schedules, and abstracts of offers containing information read aloud at bid opening pursuant to Paragraph 2.8.3 will be released after bid opening.
- (3) The names, notes, and score sheets of individual EC members may be withheld from release.
- (4) Compilations of the scoring and scoring rationales of an EC may be withheld from release, except that a committee's final scoring summary, including its scores for each offeror under each evaluation criterion and its total score for each offeror, as well as the committee's rationales for such scoring will be released after the date of contract award, or the date a written notice of intent to award is sent to unsuccessful offerors, whichever occurs first, but with the names and other identifiers of EC members and unsuccessful offerors redacted.
- (5) Recommendation or information papers provided to the Board or Board Committees may be withheld from release, except that the following information in such papers will be released after the date of contract award,

or the date a written notice of intent to award is sent to unsuccessful offerors, whichever occurs first: number of proposals or bids, identity of the winning offeror(s); description of the evaluation process; number of offerors on the short list (if any); final evaluation scores for each offeror (both by criterion and overall total), except that the identities of the unsuccessful offerors may be withheld from release; rationales for the final evaluation scores, except to the extent they contain proposal information that an offeror has claimed to be confidential or proprietary business information; and the total dollar amount of each offeror's financial offer.

- (6) Offerors receiving notice of intent to award to another offeror will be provided the same information that would be released to members of the public under this Paragraph 6.2.10 and the Freedom of Information Policy, except that the evaluation scores assigned to the proposal of the offeror that is seeking the information will not be redacted.
- (7) During the term of a contract, amounts the Airports Authority has paid pursuant to the contract will be released.
- (8) Requests for information not addressed in this Paragraph 6.2.10 that are contained in records prepared during, in conjunction with, or as a result of an Airports Authority procurement will be considered in accordance with the Freedom of Information Policy.

6.2.11 Timely Submission of Proposals

The solicitation will prescribe the manner in which offerors are to prepare and submit their proposals. Offerors are responsible for proposal preparation and timely submission. If a proposal, or response to a BAFO, is received after the time set for opening, it is considered late and shall not be considered by the Contracting Officer, unless it arrives before the award is made and one of the following conditions exists:

- (1) It was sent by registered or certified mail not later than the fifth calendar day prior to the date specified for the receipt of proposals;
- (2) It was sent by overnight express delivery service in time to have arrived prior to the date and time specified for receipt of proposals;
- (3) It was sent by mail or by overnight express delivery service (or fax if authorized) and it is determined that the late receipt was due solely to mishandling by the Airports Authority after receipt;

- (4) It was received on the day proposals were due but after the appointed time, but proposals were not yet opened and the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department determines that it is needed to promote adequate competition, that no impropriety occurred, and that acceptance of the proposal could not reasonably be prejudicial to the process;
- (5) It is the only proposal received; or
- (6) Other circumstances exist which justify a decision by the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department, to include the proposal with those being evaluated for possible contract award.

The only acceptable evidence to establish date of mailing of a late proposal is the U.S. Postal Service postmark on the wrapper or on the original receipt from the U.S. Postal Service or positive proof of when it was turned over to an overnight express mail service. If the postmarks are not legible, the proposal is deemed to have been mailed late if it arrives late.

The Procurement and Contracts Department date/time clock in the Plans Room shall be maintained to reflect the correct date and time for proposal receipt purposes. Proposals shall be stamped-in and initialed by the person accepting them upon receipt. The date and time printed by the time clock shall determine the official time of receipt. Proposals received prior to the time of opening shall be kept unopened in a secure place.

Proposals that are determined unacceptable because they are late will be returned unopened to the offeror. These rules concerning timeliness of receipt of proposals are established to protect the integrity of the competitive system.

6.2.12 Electronically Transmitted Proposals

Electronic transmission such as facsimile (fax), e-mail, or telegram is not acceptable for proposals or bids or modifications thereof unless specifically authorized in the solicitation. The use of such transmissions can result in prices being exposed prior to the deadline set for receipt. However, the Contracting Officer may determine that receipt of such transmittals is appropriate and in the best interest of the Airports Authority and document the contract file accordingly. The time of receipt of a fax shall be that printed on the fax by the Procurement and Contracts Department fax machine.

6.2.13 Alternate or Qualified Offers

An alternate offer is submitted in knowing variance from the solicitation requirements and must be clearly distinguished as an alternate by the offeror. Alternate offers can result in substantial benefits to the Airports Authority, not only in monetary terms, but in operational efficiencies. Such an offer which deviates from the solicitation's requirements shall not

be considered if it interferes with the competitive process. However, if in the best interests of the Airports Authority and with prior coordination by the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department, and Office of General Counsel, it may be possible to accept an alternate, or to reject all offers and re-solicit based upon revised solicitation requirements. Offerors are permitted to submit more than one offer as long as they clearly mark the primary offer that is to be evaluated and identify the alternate offers.

6.2.14 Qualified proposals

Qualified proposals are those responses to an RFP in which the offeror has inserted language that places limits or exceptions concerning its offer. These qualifications may be acceptable if they are considered to be in the best interests of the Airports Authority, unless the Contracting Officer determines that the nature of the qualification is such that the offer is essentially in non-conformance with the RFP. Qualified bids are not allowed for an IFB because they would not be responsive.

6.2.15 Revisions / Withdrawals of Proposals

Offerors may revise their proposals in writing provided the original proposal was timely and further provided that the revision is received by the time set for receipt of proposals. If the revision, including a revision submitted as a response to a BAFO, is received after the deadline, it will be accepted only in accordance with rules established for the acceptance of late offers; however, a late revision of an otherwise successful proposal may be accepted if it makes the terms of the proposal more favorable to the Airports Authority. Proposals may be withdrawn at any time prior to award; provided, however, if an offeror withdraws its proposal after being identified as the apparent successful offeror, it will forfeit its proposal guarantee.

6.2.16 Right to Cancel a Solicitation

A Contracting Officer may cancel a solicitation or otherwise reject all offers at any time prior to award. This should only occur when such action is clearly in the Airports Authority's best interest. Some of the circumstances that may justify the rejection of all offers are (1) inadequate or ambiguous requirements; (2) requirements need to be significantly revised; (3) the concession opportunity being procured is no longer needed or desired; (4) offers received indicate that the needs of the Airports Authority can be satisfied by other means; (5) all otherwise acceptable offers received are at unreasonably low financial offers; or (6) the offers were not independently arrived at in open competition, were collusive, or were submitted in bad faith. The reason for the determination to cancel the solicitation shall be documented and made a part of the file.

6.2.17 Single Response to a Solicitation

Even though multiple sources exist and are solicited through full and open competition, there are occasions when only one response is received for a solicitation. This shall not be treated as a sole source. However, in such cases, the Contracting Officer will investigate to determine why other offerors did not respond and make a determination whether to award or to reject the proposal and re-solicit. The Contracting Officer may negotiate with the single offeror with the written approval of the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department. Prior to award, the Contracting Officer shall make a written determination that the contract terms are fair and reasonable.

6.2.18 Opening Proposals

Public openings of proposals submitted in response to RFPs are not required. After the closing date and time for receipt of proposals, the Contracting Officer, or his/her representative, shall open the proposals in the presence of the Procurement and Contracts Department coordinator. The Contracting Officer, or his/her representative, and the Procurement and Contracts Department coordinator shall initial each proposal.

6.2.19 Clarifications

Clarifications may be requested from an offeror for the purpose of eliminating minor irregularities, informalities, or apparent clerical mistakes in the proposal. Such clarifications are related to a conformity determination as discussed in Paragraph 6.2.20. Clarifications may also be requested during the proposal evaluation process. Clarification is achieved by explanation or substantiation, either in response (written or oral) to the Contracting Officer's or EC's inquiry. Uncertainties as to the financial offer or technical aspects of proposals may be resolved through clarification. Unlike discussion, clarification does not give the offeror the opportunity to revise or modify its proposal, except for correction of apparent clerical mistakes or eliminating minor irregularities. Clarifications need not be requested from all offerors.

6.2.20 Review of Proposals – Conformity Determination

The conformity determination begins after opening of the proposals and it continues until the contract is awarded. The general rule is that substantial deviations from the solicitation requirements cannot be waived or corrected after opening. A substantial deviation is one that goes to the substance of the proposal when it materially alters the financial offer, quantity, quality, delivery or performance. If the defect amounts to only a minor informality or irregularity, then the Contracting Officer may request clarification as described in Paragraph 6.2.19.

The conformity determination shall include verifying the proposal's compliance with the following requirements:

- (1) Proposal submitted to the Procurement and Contracts Department by the deadline date and time. See paragraph 6.2.11 for treatment of late proposals.
- (2) Submitted a hand-signed proposal form.
- (3) Proposal includes no material conditions, limitations or other qualifying statements unless allowed by the solicitation.
- Acknowledge receipt of all amendments. The acknowledgement may take several forms. The preferred method is for the amendment to be listed by number and date on the Solicitation, Offer and Award form. Alternatively, the amendment form itself may be signed and returned with the Proposal submittal or on an earlier date to the Procurement and Contracts Department. There may also be a constructive acknowledgement of an amendment determined by the Contracting Officer from the circumstances surrounding the submittal of the proposal, e.g. submittal of a proposal with a form that was distributed with an amendment. Contracting Officer must be able to conclude from the circumstances that the offeror has bound itself to the terms of the amendment. In addition, failure to acknowledge that involves only a matter of form or has either no effect or merely a negligible effect on financial offer, quantity, quality, delivery or performance of the proposed concession will not be considered non-conformance.
- (5) Submitted its commitment to achieving the ACDBE participation goal or a Request for Good Faith Efforts waiver of the ACDBE participation goal, as required by the solicitation.

Any proposals determined by the Contracting Officer to be in material non-conformance with the solicitation must be eliminated from the competition and a certified letter with specific comments concerning the reason for non-conformance should be sent to the offeror within five (5) business days from the date eliminated from competition.

6.3 PROPOSAL EVALUATION

6.3.1 Composition of Evaluation Committee

The Vice President for Business Administration or the appropriate Vice President and Airport Manager is responsible for establishing an EC when required to evaluate concession RFP proposals. The size and composition of the EC shall be tailored to each individual concession procurement action. The EC should have a

minimum of three voting members with a broad base of experience. For larger or complex concession procurements, non-voting representation from the Office of General Counsel and Equal Opportunity Programs Department may be included. The EC should include members from outside the Airports Authority office that is conducting the procurement. In addition, consultant contractors and other professionals may be requested to provide individuals to serve as EC members.

In order to ensure independent evaluations, no two voting EC members should work for the same first-level supervisor, nor should a supervisor and a subordinate serve as EC members. All EC members shall be unbiased and be capable of objectively assessing the merits of the various proposals. All members of the EC shall each have one vote. The Chair of the EC may request other personnel to attend meetings in an advisory capacity.

6.3.2 Evaluation Process

- (1) The Contracting Officer furnishes the Chair of the EC copies of the proposals (the Contracting Officer retains the originals) for distribution to EC members. The Chair distributes the proposals along with the evaluation criteria and assigned points.
- (2) The EC Chair shall establish a schedule for review and evaluation of proposals. It is important that all voting members attend meetings in which there is discussion of the proposals. Voting members who are unable to attend a meeting must first obtain the EC Chair's approval.
- (3) Adjectival descriptions shall be developed and used for the scoring range for each evaluation criterion. For example, if the range for a criterion has 100 points available, a score of 90 to 100 points could be labeled "Outstanding" and the range of 80 to 89 could be labeled "Very Good," etc.
- (4) Financial Offer information included with the concession proposals shall be provided to the EC with the proposals unless otherwise directed by the Contracting Officer.
- (5) EC members shall evaluate each proposal against the evaluation criteria. The Chair of the EC and the Contracting Officer shall assure that scoring approaches used are consistent for all proposals. Although scoring is a matter of subjectivity, the EC member's judgment must be based on fact as presented in the proposal. In addition, consideration will be given to any presentations made by the offerors to the EC as well as site visits and references. An offeror shall not be penalized due to lack of experience with the Airports Authority itself, but may be judged, among other considerations, on the relevancy of its experience and expertise wherever it occurred. Likewise, an offeror shall not be given an unfair advantage or disadvantage

of points simply because of a previous contract relationship with the Airports Authority. However, the relevancy of such experience and its quality in terms of the RFP's scope of work may be judged.

- (6) Prior to the start of evaluation, the Contracting Officer shall ensure that the EC members have a common understanding of how the proposals are to be evaluated and scored. Only the evaluation criteria shown in the solicitation shall be used for the evaluation. Also, the relative order of importance of the evaluation criteria cannot be changed from that in the solicitation.
- Working alone, the EC Members review the proposals, make notes concerning the strengths and weaknesses of each proposal with respect to each evaluation criterion, and assign tentative scores in as impartial and objective a manner as possible to each criterion. EC Members should carefully document any areas of noncompliance with the specific requirements stated in the RFP. After each member has completed evaluation of all proposals, the EC will hold an organized discussion of the strengths and weaknesses of each proposal in terms of the evaluation criteria. In the event of vague or conflicting language in a proposal, an evaluator may request the Contracting Officer to secure clarification from the offeror (see Paragraph 6.2.19). Minor technicalities pertaining to noncompliance may be waived.
- When the financial offer is a factor, the following (8) approach will be used by the Contracting Officer for assigning points to the financial offer criterion unless a different methodology is approved by the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department. The highest financial offer proposal that conforms to the solicitation is awarded the maximum number of points for price. All other conforming proposals are prorated based upon the ratio of the highest financial offer to each of the lower financial offers. For example, financial offers of \$100 and \$90 are received and the maximum score available for the highest financial offer is 60 points. The \$100 offer will receive the full 60 points, while the points for the other offer are calculated as follows:

$$\frac{100}{60} = \frac{90}{x}$$

100x = 5400

x = 54 points for the \$90 offer.

(9) If NPV Analysis (Paragraph 6.2.5.5) is applicable for a solicitation, the NPV prices should be used for the calculations described in Paragraph 6.3.2).

- (10) References are checked by the Chair of the EC, Contracting Officer, or other individuals as designated by the Chair. The individual who makes the checks then reports the results to the EC members. On-site inspections of offerors' facilities are permissible for the purpose of verifying information presented in proposals.
- (11) Those proposals determined to be in material noncompliance with the requirements of the RFP may be eliminated from further consideration. When appropriate, the Contracting Officer will make a determination of non-conformance (Paragraph 6.2.20) or determine that the offeror is not responsible (Paragraph 6.3.8).
- (12) If determined by the Chair of the EC and the Contracting Officer to be in the best interests of the Airports Authority, the EC may establish a short-list or competitive range of offerors based upon its initial evaluation of the proposals and at subsequent points during the evaluation process.
- (13) The EC may conduct oral interviews with offerors within the short list or competitive range, for the purpose of collecting additional information, enhancing Airports Authority understanding of proposals, and obtaining minor clarification of proposals. EC members may adjust their evaluation scores to reflect information obtained at the oral interview, provided the information is appropriately considered under the evaluation criteria stated in the RFP. If an offeror provides information during the oral presentation that the Airports Authority intends to include in the final contract, such information must be provided to the Airports Authority in writing.

Discussions, as explained in Paragraph 6.3.5, may be held with offerors on the short list or within the competitive range, in addition to or in lieu of oral interviews.

6.3.3 Correction of Mistakes Prior To Award

If a successful offeror requests permission to correct a mistake in its proposal, the Contracting Officer shall request evidence from the offeror to show both the existence of the mistake and what the offeror actually intended. The offeror should submit its original work sheets, drafts, and other material used in preparing the proposal, or other evidence that could serve to establish the mistake, the manner in which the mistake occurred, and the proposal actually intended. The Contracting Officer shall evaluate the evidence submitted, and if it is found to be clear and convincing, and with approval of the Vice President and Airport Manager or the Vice President for Business Administration, the correction may be permitted. If a correction is permitted, the proposal will then be evaluated or reevaluated after the correction is made. If the request for correction is rejected, the offeror will be informed that it may withdraw its proposal from consideration; provided, however,

the offeror forfeit its proposal guarantee or bid bond if the offeror has been identified as the successful offeror and is so notified. Mistakes that are discovered or reported after contract award are covered in Paragraph 6.5.3.

6.3.4 Competitive Range/Short List

The Contracting Officer shall determine, based on the results of the evaluation, which proposals are in the competitive range for the purpose of conducting written or oral discussions (negotiations). A competitive range or short list may be established at any point during the evaluation process. The RFP will state whether the competitive range will be determined based on the evaluation criteria including the financial offer, or based on the evaluation criteria excluding the financial offer. The most highly rated proposals will be included in the competitive range. Pre-set thresholds will not be used for determination of competitive range.

During discussions, if it is determined that a proposal is no longer one of the mostly highly rated proposals, it is by definition no longer in the competitive range and will no longer be considered for selection.

A competitive range of a single firm is possible if only one offeror is qualified or if one offeror is clearly more highly qualified than the others under consideration. A determination that there is a competitive range of only one firm must be approved by the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department before further actions, such as oral interviews, discussions, or award of the contract, are taken by the Contracting Officer.

If a competitive range of firms is developed during the contract evaluation process, the firms that are not included in the competitive range will be notified and given the opportunity for a debriefing. Offeror requests for debriefing must be submitted in writing to the Contracting Officer within fifteen (15) days after the firm was advised it was unsuccessful. If the request is made prior to award and the offeror desires the debriefing to be prior to award, the Airports Authority may accommodate that request, but may proceed to award the contract prior to debriefing if the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department, determines it is in the best interests of the Airports Authority to do so.

6.3.5 Discussions with Offerors

An offeror may be selected and award made with or without discussions, depending on the circumstances of the procurement such as the complexity of the requirement, the extent of competition, and the quality of the proposals received. Discussion in this context means negotiating with the offerors. Any communication between the Airports Authority and an offeror other than communications conducted for the purpose of clarification

(Paragraph 6.2.19 or correction of mistakes (Paragraph 6.3.3) will be considered discussion.

6.3.5.1 Award May be Made Without Discussions

Award may be made without discussion or contact with any offerors. Therefore, initial offers should represent the most favorable terms offerors can submit to the Airports Authority

Award may be made without discussion of proposals whenever the existence of adequate competition makes it clear that acceptance of the most favorable proposal will result in a reasonable business deal and is in the best interests of the Airports Authority.

Whenever there is uncertainty as to material aspects, financial or non-financial, of the most favorable proposal, award shall not be made without discussions, unless the uncertainty is minor and can be resolved by clarification. Clarifications (see Paragraph 6.2.19) or correction of mistakes (see Paragraph 6.3.3) are not considered discussions and may be sought by the Contracting Officer at any time prior to award.

If the proposal most advantageous to the Airports Authority involves a significant departure from the solicitation requirements, all offerors must be given an opportunity to submit new or revised proposals on a comparable basis, but only if that can be done without disclosing confidential information.

6.3.5.2 Award with Discussions

Written or oral discussions (also referred to as negotiations) may be held with offerors to enable the Airports Authority to gain a better understanding of the proposal, to resolve uncertainties in proposals, and to give them an opportunity to revise their proposals. The Contracting Officer is not required to discuss every area where the proposal could be improved, however. The scope and extent of discussions are a matter of Contracting Officer judgment.

Discussions may cover all areas of the proposal, including financial offer. If the EC does not have access to the financial offer, the Contracting Officer, instead of the EC, may conduct discussions concerning the financial offer. In situations where the EC or Contracting Officer believes that financial offers are too low or high, that should be pointed out during discussions prior to requesting Best and Final Offers. Care will be taken to assure that information contained in one offeror's proposal is not divulged to a competing offeror.

If a determination is made that it is necessary to hold discussions with one offeror, discussions will be held with all offerors in the competitive range. If there is only one offeror in the competitive range (see Paragraph 6.3.4), then discussions may be held with only the one firm.

Revisions to offers as a result of discussions are requested by issuing a request for Best and Final Offers per Paragraph 6.3.6.

6.3.6 Best and Final Offers

The Contracting Officer will determine if it is appropriate to call for best and final offers. This decision shall be based upon the discussions, if any, that took place and a judgment made by the Contracting Officer of the impact of the discussion on the offeror's proposals. Also, if the contract or statement of work requirements need to be clarified or changed, that should be done along with a call for best and final offers. If best and final offers are desired. the Contracting Officer will issue to all offerors still on the short list, if any, a request for best and final offers. The request for best and final offers shall include (1) notice that discussions are concluded; (2) notice that this is the opportunity to submit a best and final offer; (3) a cutoff date and time that allows a reasonable opportunity for submission of written best and final offers; and (4) notice that if best and final offer is submitted, it must be received by the date and time specified and is subject to the Late Submissions, Modifications, and Withdrawals provisions of the solicitation. Offerors are not required to submit best and final offers.

After receipt of best and final offers, the Contracting Officer may reopen discussions only if it is clearly in the Airports Authority's best interest to do so (e.g. information available is inadequate to reasonably justify offeror selection and award based on the best and final offers received.) If discussions are reopened, the Contracting Officer may issue an additional request for best and final offers if appropriate.

6.3.7 Final Evaluation and Recommendation

At the conclusion of the EC's evaluation, which shall include the evaluation of any site visits, oral interviews or presentations, discussions and BAFOs, the EC voting members shall finalize their evaluation of the individual offerors. The Chair of the EC shall compile the EC's score or other forms of evaluation and determine the ranking of offerors based upon the EC's evaluation. This shall be provided to the Contracting Officer, who shall add the financial offer score if this was not part of the evaluation committee's evaluation and determine the ranking of the proposals. The EC then will determine the apparent successful offeror and make a recommendation of award to the Contracting Officer.

6.3.8 Determination of Responsibility

Contracts are awarded only to responsible contractors. To qualify for award, a prospective contractor must affirmatively demonstrate that it meets general standards

of responsibility. The prospective contractor may also be required to show the responsibility of its proposed subcontractors. For joint ventures, each party to the venture must demonstrate its responsibility. To be determined responsible, a prospective contractor must —

- (1) Be a regular supplier of the concession services sought in the solicitation.
- (2) Have the ability to comply with the required performance schedule, taking into account other business commitments.
- (3) Have a satisfactory record of performance.
- (4) Have a sound record of integrity and business ethics.
- (5) Have the necessary organization, experience, skills and financial resources to fulfill the terms of the contract.

6.3.8.1 Commitment to ACDBE participation

An offeror's commitment to the ACDBE participation goal and submission of the good faith efforts waiver form with the proposal are issues of conformity as discussed in Paragraph 6.2.20. All other matters relating to ACDBE participation proposed by an offeror will be treated as relating to the offeror's responsibility.

6.3.8.2 Special Standards of Responsibility

Special standards of responsibility may be used when the nature of the concession is such that contractors must have unusual expertise, specialized facilities, or other special qualifications to assure satisfactory contract performance. The special responsibility standards will be set forth in the solicitation and must apply to all offerors.

6.3.8.3 <u>Licensing Requirements</u>

Contractors are responsible to comply with all applicable licensing requirements for themselves and their subcontractors.

6.3.8.4 <u>Subcontractor Responsibility</u>

Prospective contractors must determine the responsibility of their prospective subcontractors. However, because matters of subcontractor responsibility may affect the determination of the prime contractor's responsibility, a prospective contractor may be required to provide written evidence of a proposed subcontractor's responsibility.

6.3.8.5 Sources for Determining Responsibility

The Contracting Officer can use a variety of sources to collect "responsibility" information: the prospective contractor, previous clients, sources within the Airports Authority, the GSA "Lists of Parties Excluded from Federal Procurement or

Non-procurement Programs" (formerly referred to as debarred or suspended contractors), Dunn and Bradstreet and other rating services, personal knowledge, and by doing a pre-award survey.

If available information does not provide an adequate basis for determining the responsibility or non-responsibility of a prospective contractor, the Contracting Officer may perform a pre-award survey, obtaining the assistance and participation of specialists as needed. The Contracting Officer may discuss pre-award survey information with the prospective contractor being surveyed. The extent of the survey must be consistent with the value and complexity of the concession; it may include examination of financial statements and records and on-site inspections of offices and other concession locations.

6.3.8.6 <u>Responsibility Findings</u>

Contracting Officers must document in the contract file their responsibility findings.

Communication with a prospective offeror for the purpose of obtaining or clarifying information needed to determine responsibility is not considered "discussion" and does not require that discussions be held with all those on the short list

A letter of notification with specific reasons for a finding that the prospective contractor is not responsible will be sent by certified mail within five (5) business days to any offeror found to be non-responsible. The notification letter will be coordinated with the Office of General Counsel. The Offeror has the right to respond if desired.

6.3.9 Pre-Award Conference

Pre-award conferences are an effective management tool for complex concession contracts or for contracts where there are outstanding issues which need to be discussed and/or resolved prior to contract award. The Contracting Officer, in coordination with the COTR, will determine whether to hold such a conference, identify who should attend, set the agenda and make the necessary arrangements.

6.4 CONTRACT AWARD

The Contracting Officer will ensure that all significant contracting actions are taken before award. This shall include securing required Board approval (see Paragraph 6.1.4); Office of General Counsel coordination, when appropriate; verifying that bonds or guarantees and insurance are in place; and that the award does not exceed the authority in the Contracting Officer's appointment letter.

Unless otherwise authorized by the President and Chief Executive Officer, staff shall not authorize contractors to commence performance before the contract is awarded, i.e., the date the contract is executed by both the contractor and the Contracting Officer. In the event performance to commence prior to award has been authorized, the Contracting Officer shall ratify such performance at the time the contract is awarded.

6.4.1 Apparent Successful Offeror

After the apparent successful offeror is identified by the Contracting Officer and after any ACDBE or legal issues are resolved, the Contracting Officer shall forward the contract to the apparent successful offeror for its signature and request a performance guarantee and certificate of insurance, if applicable. The contractor shall sign the contract and return the guarantee and insurance certificate, if applicable, and any other documents requested, to the Contracting Officer. When the performance guarantee, insurance certificate, signed contract, and any other required documents are received and the offeror has been deemed responsible, the Contracting Officer will execute the contract. The contract is considered to have been "awarded" when it is executed by both the successful offeror and the Contracting Officer.

To be effective, the award must be properly executed by both the successful offeror and the Airports Authority and furnished to the successful offeror within the acceptance period. If the award cannot be made within the stated contract acceptance period, the Contracting Officer must request an extension of the acceptance period from the apparent successful offeror.

Contracting Officers must ensure that all arrangements, understandings and agreements they have reached verbally with the contractor are in writing and made a part of the contract, either in its main body or as an attachment. All or part of the Contractor's proposal may be included as an attachment to the contract. If the contractor's proposal documents have been marked confidential, the file should be clearly marked to ensure that this portion of the contract is not released to the public.

After the contract is awarded, it will be forwarded to the Vice President and Airport Manager or the Vice President for Business Administration for contract administration.

6.4.2 Multiple Awards and Split Awards

If permitted by the solicitation and it is in the Airports Authority's best interests to do so, the Airports Authority may award the concession contract to multiple offerors.

6.4.3 Use of Contractor's Standard Contract Form

The use of a contractor's standard contract form should be avoided. Airports Authority documents are preferred.

6.5 POST-CONTRACT AWARD

6.5.1 Notifying and Debriefing Unsuccessful Offerors

The Contracting Officer will notify offerors promptly when their proposals are excluded from the competitive range or otherwise eliminated from the competition. Prompt notification of the name and address of the firm selected for award and the total financial offer will be made to offerors whose proposals were in the competitive range but not selected for award.

A debriefing affords an opportunity for an unsuccessful offeror to be informed regarding the basis for final selection and contract award as it specifically relates to the offer submitted by the unsuccessful firm. The nature of the concession solicitation process is such that debriefing requests will generally involve solicitations that contained evaluation criteria in addition to financial offer. Where financial offer was the only factor, a debriefing will not normally be conducted.

A firm may desire to learn as much information as possible concerning how its offer was evaluated by the Airports Authority so that it can reevaluate and perhaps change its future approach to the information requested by the solicitation, strategy for developing its financial offer, or other aspects of future offers. The following paragraphs reflect some basic principles that apply to Airports Authority notifications and debriefings.

Offeror requests for debriefing must be submitted in writing to the Contracting Officer within fifteen (15) days after the firm was advised in writing by the Contracting Officer that it was were unsuccessful. If the request is made prior to award and the offeror desires the debriefing to be prior to award, the Airports Authority will endeavor to accommodate the request, but may proceed to award the contract prior to the debriefing if the Vice President and Airport Manager or the Vice President for Business Administration determines it is in the best interests of the Airports Authority to do so.

The Contracting Officer has primary responsibility for responding to debriefing requests; staff assistance will be requested as needed. In conducting a debriefing, the Contracting Officer will concentrate on information that can be of benefit to the firm without revealing any sensitive or proprietary data regarding the competition. Paragraph 6.2.10 of this Manual relating to release of information will apply. Airports Authority debriefings are

structured to protect the integrity of information submitted by all competitors. Concentration will be on the firm being debriefed, its submittal, and when appropriate, a general description of the basis for the Airports Authority's selection decision. The debriefing will address the strengths and weaknesses of the firm as related to the evaluation criteria in the solicitation.

6.5.2 Pre-Performance Conference

Pre-performance conferences may be convened prior to the start of concession operations or concession build-out preparations as determined to be necessary by the Contracting Officer. The agenda for such conferences may include:

- (1) Introductions of key personnel from both parties,
- (2) COTR designation letter and responsibilities,
- (3) Safety and security presentation,
- (4) Schedule for commencement of concession build-out (if any) and operations,
- (5) Payment procedures,
- (6) ACDBE presentation, if desired by Equal Opportunity Programs Department,
- (7) Publicity releases must be approved by the Contracting Officer prior to release to the media, and
- (8) Build-out procedures and restrictions, if appropriate, including inspection procedures, insurance issues, etc.

6.5.3 Correction of Mistakes after Award

6.5.3.1 Correction by Modification

When a mistake in a contractor's offer is not discovered until after the award, the mistake may be corrected by contract modification if correcting the mistake would be favorable to the Airports Authority without changing the essential requirements of the contract.

6.5.3.2 Other possible actions

In addition to the situation contemplated in Paragraph 6.5.3.1 above, if a mistake in a contractor's offer is discovered after award, the Airports Authority may:

- (1) Rescind the contract.
- (2) Reform the contract to delete the items involved in the mistake or to decrease the financial offer if the financial offer as corrected will not be lower than that of the next highest acceptable offer in response to the solicitation.

(3) Make no change to the contract if the evidence does not warrant a determination under Paragraph 6.5.3.1 or 6.5.3.2 (1) or (2).

6.5.3.3 <u>Clear and Convincing Evidence</u>

The actions authorized by Paragraphs 6.5.3.1 and 6.5.3.2 above may be made <u>only</u> on the basis of clear and convincing evidence that a mistake in the offer was made <u>and</u> that the mistake was mutual or, if unilaterally made by the contractor, it was so apparent that the Contracting Officer should be charged with notice of the probability of mistake.

6.6 TWO-PHASE CONCESSION SOLICITATION

Two-phase competitive proposals may be used when deemed appropriate. Phase 1 consists of a Request for Qualifications Information (RFQI) which provides a description of the Airports Authority's requirements and the evaluation criteria on which the qualifications submittals will be evaluated. Phase 2 requests financial offers and, in some cases, additional information about the offeror's plans for the concession operation.

6.6.1 Phase 1

Phase 1 consists of a Request for Qualifications Information which requests all potential sources to submit qualification statements. The RFQI shall also describe the Airports Authority's requirements in general terms and identify the evaluation criteria that will be used. Any mandatory qualification information to be submitted and any optional information desired will be identified.

The solicitation shall explain the two-phase procedure and emphasize that the response to Phase 1 is not to include a proposed financial offer. Alternatively, it may require that financial offers be submitted in separate sealed envelopes as part of Phase 1. In this case, only those offerors who submit acceptable qualifications would have their pricing envelopes opened in Phase 2 and the remainder would be returned unopened to the offerors.

6.6.2 Phase 2

At the conclusion of Phase 1, if pricing has not previously been presented, the Contracting Officer will prepare a Request for Proposals (RFP) which includes a pricing schedule and references the Phase 1 request by title and number. The RFP will call for financial offers, and when appropriate, more detailed submissions concerning the offeror's proposal for the concession. If additional information concerning the offeror's proposal for the concession is required, the RFP will include evaluation criteria. The procedures in this chapter governing receipt, evaluation and handling of proposals and award of the

contract shall apply to proposals submitted in response to a Phase 2 RFP.

6.7 CONTRACT ADMINISTRATION

After the contract is awarded, it will be administered by the Contracting Officer or by the Contracting Officer's Technical Representative. No changes to the contract terms and conditions should be made without the written consent of the Contracting Officer.

6.7.1 Contract Modifications

Ideally, an awarded contract is complete and comprehensive. Its terms are adequate to define and specify the obligations and rights of the parties. Modifications of the contract are not contemplated at the time that it is signed. As a practical matter, however, few contracts are completed without some modification.

Modifications originate primarily from three sources:

- (1) Airports Authority-initiated changes
- (2) Contractor-requested changes.
- (3) Changes that result from actions of Airports Authority personnel who lack contractual authorization (constructive changes).

6.7.1.1 Modifications Within Scope vs. New RFP

A change in the work (whether goods, services or construction) of a contract, along with any resulting change in the price or other terms of the contract, may be authorized by the Contracting Officer only after reviewing the circumstances giving rise to the change in work and determining that it falls within the general scope of the contract. A change in work that falls outside the general scope of the contract shall be treated as a new procurement.

The Procurement and Contracts Department shall establish procedures for the issuance of change orders and contract modifications. Those procedures should identify the factors that a Contracting Officer should consider when deciding whether a proposed change in the work to be performed under a contract falls within the general scope of the contract. Those factors shall include: (i) whether the function or nature of the change in work is so different than the function or nature of the work described in the solicitation seeking bids or proposals for the contract that the change in work would not then reasonably have been foreseen by potential bidders or offerors; (ii) whether the increase in contract price resulting from the change in work is so substantial that the change in work would not reasonably have been foreseen by potential bidders or offerors at the time of the solicitation; (iii) whether the extension of the period of contract performance resulting from the change in work is so substantial that the change in

work would not reasonably have been foreseen by potential bidders or offerors at the time of the solicitation; and (iv) whether the change in work, had it been expressly included in the original solicitation, would have increased the number of bidders or offerors competing for the contract and, thereby, increased competition for the contract in a meaningful way.

Any change in work authorized by the Contracting Officer requires a modification of the contract which may be preceded by issuance of a change order. A change in work shall not be effective until a change order or contract modification has been approved and signed by the Contracting Officer, and it has been determined that budgeted funds for the change are available.

6.7.1.2 <u>Negotiation of Contract Modifications</u>

Modifications of concession contracts, consistent with Paragraph 6.7.1.1, are reached by mutual consent through negotiation. They must include the elements of a legal contract. Furthermore, no contract provision that is required by law can be deleted or modified, nor can the Contracting Officer consent to a waiver of any of the substantive rights of the Airports Authority without consideration. Subject to these limitations, however, many changes can be made to an existing contract if both parties agree. For instance, consistent with Paragraph 6.7.1.1, the financial offer can be adjusted, the contract term can be changed and the premises can be altered.

6.7.1.3 Constructive Changes

Although all contract changes should be negotiated in advance and put in writing by the Contracting Officer, sometimes Airports Authority employees may take certain actions, verbal or otherwise, which may change the contract. Such changes are called "constructive changes." A constructive change occurs when the contractor acts in good faith in response to a directive from a Contracting Officer's Technical Representative (COTR) or other Airports Authority employee with apparent authority to issue the directive and when the contractor actions are clearly beneficial to the Airports Authority. case, the Contracting Officer may recognize the benefit to the Airports Authority and issue a contract modification ratifying the "constructive change." However, the Contracting Officer has no obligation to do so.

6.7.2 Extension of Contracts

It may be in the Airports Authority's best interest to continue a contract beyond its defined completion date or expiration. The Board has authorized the President and Chief Executive Officer (CEO) to grant an extension of up to twelve months of any concession contract necessary to maintain services and revenue during periods when timely award of a new contract cannot be made before the

expiration of the current one, provided that the Business Administration Committee is notified of the need to grant such extensions at the earliest possible occasion before they are granted. Any time this authorization to extend a contract is to be used, a memorandum from the Vice President and Airport Manager or the Vice President for Business Administration shall be sent to the President and CEO with appropriate justification for the extension. If approved, this memorandum shall be placed in the contract file.

Sole source extensions beyond 12 months shall be treated as a new sole source contract, and Board approval of the extension is required. Extension requests must be initiated by the Vice President and Airport Manager or the Vice President for Business Administration, must state the reasons for the request, be sent to the Chief Operating Officer and Chief Executive Officer, and be accompanied by a concurrence or non-concurrence by the Vice President for Business Administration.

6.7.3 Termination and Temporary Suspension of Concession Operations.

The Airports Authority may order a contractor to cease operations temporarily or permanently for reasons such as the closure or substantial restriction of airport operations by the federal government, airport safety or security issues, an order issued by a court of competent jurisdiction, or other extraordinary situations where such action is necessary. If a termination or temporary suspension occurs, the contractor may be granted an equitable adjustment recognizing the contractor's expenses associated with the termination or suspension. Equitable adjustments shall not include amounts for anticipatory profit.

The Airports Authority may include contract provisions that establish the circumstances under which suspension or termination may occur, the rights of the contractor and the Airports Authority in the event of such suspension or termination, and the manner of calculating an equitable adjustment for the contractor. The presence of such provisions in the contract is not a prerequisite to the Airports Authority's exercise of its rights under this clause

6.7.4 Contractor Performance

Contracting Officers, assisted by the Contracting Officer's Technical Representative, if any, are responsible for monitoring the contractor's performance and compliance with the terms of the contract.

6.7.4.1 <u>Documentation of Performance Critically Important</u>

The Contracting Officer and the Contracting Officer's Technical Representative must document incidents of poor

performance and create a record that will support formal actions to enforce contract terms and conditions.

Contracting Officers or COTRs shall arrange meetings with the contractor, publish minutes, and build a record. The records must be detailed and reflect ongoing communications with the contractor, both verbal and written. Any recommendation that the COTR may make to the CO for issuance of a cure notice must be supported by documentation of the situation. A recommendation by the COTR to send a cure notice must be given serious consideration by the CO since it could be the precursor to a show cause letter followed by contract termination.

6.7.4.2 <u>Contractor Performance Evaluation</u> Reports

Performance evaluations should be conducted for selected contracts during the period of performance in order to provide useful feedback to contractors on their performance and to provide them the opportunity to correct problems before contract completion. Unless the CO directs otherwise, the COTR will be responsible for preparing the actual reports on the frequency established by the Contracting Officer (generally every six months). The format of the report form will be tailored, as appropriate, to accommodate the nature of the contract. This is an important part of the CO's responsibility, and the report must be done in a timely and impartial manner. The preparer of the report shall certify that, to the best of his/her knowledge the facts and statements therein are accurate and that they represent the preparer's assessment of the contractor's performance during the rating period. The report will be sent to the contractor for comment and return to the Airports Authority. If the contractor's response contradicts the report, an effort should be made to reconcile the differences.

After the report is returned to the Airports Authority, it will be entered into an electronic database and will be available for future use in the Airports Authority's contractor selection process or for other reasonable and lawful use by the Airports Authority.

6.7.4.3 Cure Notice

The purpose of a cure notice is to inform a contractor that its performance is deficient and the contractor has a specified period to cure the contract performance. Contracting Officers, generally based on a recommendation by the COTR, who believe that contractor is failing to perform according to contract terms and conditions, shall notify the Vice President and Airport Manager or the Vice President for Business Administration and the Office of General Counsel prior to sending a cure notice to the contractor and company supplying the performance guarantee.

6.7.4.4 Show Cause Notice

If the contractor fails to cure the deficiencies within the time allowed in the cure notice, the Contracting Officer, with approval of the Vice President and Airport Manager or the Vice President for Business Administration, and after coordination with the Office of General Counsel, will send a show cause notice to the contractor and, if applicable, the company furnishing the performance guarantee. The letter, which in some instances may not have been preceded by a cure notice, will inform the contractor that contract termination will result unless the contractor submits good and substantial evidence why the contract should not be terminated.

6.7.5 ACDBE Compliance

Contracting Officers are responsible for monitoring the contractor's ACDBE compliance by requesting evidence of ACDBE participation as specified by the contract. Assistance to the Contracting Officer will be provided by the Equal Opportunity Programs Department.

6.7.6 Termination for Default

The contract's default provision establishes the reasons and procedure under which the Airports Authority may terminate a concession contract for default. If there is a performance bond associated with the contract, a copy of the default notice will be furnished to the contractor's surety.

If a contract is terminated for default or if a course of action in lieu of termination for default is followed, the Contracting Officer shall take appropriate action for ascertaining and collecting any liquidated damages that the Airports Authority may be entitled to under the contract, pursuant to the contract provisions for liquidated damages. If the Airports Authority has suffered any other ascertainable damages as a result of the contractor's default, the Contracting Officer, on the basis of legal advice from the Office of Counsel, shall take appropriate action to assert the Airports Authority's claim for such damage.

In all cases where a contract is terminated for default, the Contracting Officer shall prepare a memorandum for the contract file explaining fully the reasons for the action taken.

6.7.7 Contract Expiration

Prior to the end of the contract, the Contracting Officer shall ensure that the contractor has complied with all contract requirements and that the Airports Authority has met its obligations. The Contracting Officer should coordinate with appropriate Airports Authority offices, such as Audit, Risk Management, Equal Opportunity Programs, etc., to determine whether there are any outstanding issues. Outstanding issues should be resolved prior to the end of the contract, if possible. The Contracting Officer shall also ensure that the contractor

understands its obligations with respect to any transition to a new concession contractor.

Prior to the end of the contract and immediately after the contractor vacates the premises, the Contracting Officer shall inspect the premises and any other assigned facilities or space to determine their condition. If title to facilities, improvements or equipment will be transferred by the contractor to the Airports Authority or to a successor contractor at the end of the contract, the Contracting Officer shall obtain appropriate documentation showing the transfer of title.

6.7.8 Disputes

Disputes between the contractor and the Airports Authority that arise during contract performance shall be handled in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 8, which are incorporated herein by reference.

6.8 REVIEW OF CONCESSION CONTRACT ACTIONS

All concession solicitations and contracts, and amendments thereto shall be reviewed by the Office of the General Counsel and the Office of Audit.

Contract modifications, protests, default situations, terminations, suspected fraud or criminal violations, and disputes shall be submitted for legal review. Letters informing offerors that their proposals were eliminated from competition or that their proposals were found not in conformance with the solicitation requirements or that the offeror was found not responsible also require legal review.

6.9 AUDIT AND INSPECTION OF RECORDS

Each concession contract shall include a provision requiring the contractor to maintain certain records and permitting the Airports Authority to audit and inspect these records at any time during the term of the contract and for three years after the expiration or termination of the contract. At a minimum, the audit and inspection of records provision shall require the following:

(1) The contractor shall maintain records and the Contracting Officer, or his/her designee, shall have access to and the right to examine at reasonable times any pertinent books, documents, papers and records of the contractor involving the formation of the contract, transactions related to the contract, and operation of the concession, for the purpose of inspection, audit, examination, transcription and the making of excerpts.

- (2) The contractor shall include a provision in all of its subcontracts and joint venture agreements entered into pursuant to the contract to the effect that the Contracting Officer, or his/her designee, shall have similar access to and the right to examine at reasonable times any pertinent books, documents, papers and records of the subcontractors or joint venture partners involving all aspects of the concession contract, including formation, and all aspects of the concession operations.
- (3) The Contracting Officer, or his/her designee, shall have the broad rights of audit and inspection including, but not limited to, the right to examine books, records, documents and other evidence and accounting procedures and practices, sufficient to reflect properly all aspects of the concession, including, but not limited to, gross receipts and, if the contract is for the management of a concession, all direct and indirect costs of whatever nature that have been incurred in the performance of the contract. Failure to maintain such records shall be a bar to any claim, legal or equitable, by the contractor against the Airports Authority.
- (4) The contractor shall maintain records required by this provision throughout the term of this contract and for three years after termination or expiration of the contract. The Airports Authority's rights of access, examination, audit and inspection under this provision shall continue throughout the term of the contract and for three years after the termination or expiration of the contract.
- (5) The Airports Authority's right of examination shall include inspection at all reasonable times of the premises assigned to the contractor.
- (6) The Airports Authority's rights under this provision shall be in addition to any other audit and inspection rights under the contract.

6.10 MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Some of the Airports Authority's concession contracts, such as the contracts for the operation of the airport public parking lots and the operation of the taxicab dispatch system, take the form of management contracts. This generic category of contracts provides for the contractor to manage a revenue-producing operation for the Airports Authority. The Airports Authority pays the contractor for allowable actual costs incurred by the contractor plus a fee (the contractor's profit).

Costs incurred by concession management contractors are normally reimbursed only if they have been included in an annual budget approved by the Contracting Officer or the Contracting Officer's Technical Representative. Costs not included in the budget, or which exceed the approved budget, will not be reimbursed unless approved by the Contracting Officer.

As a general matter, the fee (profit) to be paid to the contractor shall be fixed for each year. In order to provide for less costly or more efficient or higher quality management, the Airports Authority may include a bonus or incentive payment provision in the contract. The bonus or incentive amount will be paid to the contractor only if it achieves certain objectives described in the contract.

6.11 PROTESTS; SUSPENSION AND DEBARMENT

The provisions of Chapter 7, Protests, and Chapter 9, Suspension and Debarment, apply to Airports Authority concessions contracts and are incorporated by reference.

Contracting Manual	Fourth Edition
This Page Intentionally Left Blank	
Page 76	

7 PROTESTS

The procedures for protesting a solicitation, the rejection of a bid or proposal, or the award of a contract are presented in this chapter.

7.1 FORMAT

Protests must be typewritten and hand delivered or mailed to the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department. If a protest is not hand delivered, it must be sent by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, or by a nationally recognized delivery service which provides tracking records of the date sent and the date received. Protests sent by facsimile machine will not be considered to meet the applicable deadline.

7.2 SCHEDULE FOR PROTESTS

Regardless of which office within the Airports Authority issued the solicitation, all protests shall be submitted to the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department (see Appendix B for address), in accordance with Paragraph 7.1 and this paragraph.

If a potential offeror believes it has grounds to protest any terms or conditions contained in or omitted from a solicitation issued by the Airports Authority or an amendment to a solicitation, the potential offeror may file a protest with the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department. The protest must be received by the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department, by the <u>earlier</u> of the following two dates: (1) the fourteenth (14th) day after the issuance date of the solicitation or the date of the solicitation amendment containing the terms or conditions that are the subject of the protest, or (2) the due date set out in the solicitation for submission of bids or proposals.

If an unsuccessful offeror believes it has grounds to protest the rejection of its bid or proposal, or the award of a contract (other than grounds relating to the terms or conditions contained in or omitted from a solicitation or solicitation amendment), the offeror may file a protest with the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department. The protest must be received by the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department, no later than the seventh (7th) day after the date of the Airports Authority's letter notifying the offeror that its bid or proposal was rejected or unsuccessful.

The Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department, will attempt to respond to a protest within seven (7) days from receipt of the protest. If the Manager determines additional time will be required to respond to the protest, the Manager will, within this seven-day period, notify the protestor of the date by which a response will be made.

7.3 REVIEW

If a protestor is not satisfied with the response of the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department, the protestor may ask the CEO to review the matter. This request must be received by the CEO (see Appendix B for address) no later than the seventh (7th) day after the protestor's receipt of the response of the Manager. If a protestor is not satisfied with the decision of the CEO and the contract is or was subject to the approval of the Board, then the protestor may request that the protest be reviewed by the Board. Such a request must be filed with the Secretary and must be received by the Secretary (see Appendix B for address) no later than the seventh (7th) day following the protestor's receipt of the CEO's decision. The decision of the Board is final. For contracts not subject to the approval of the Board, the decision of the CEO is final.

7.4 AWARD OF CONTRACT AND NOTICE TO PROCEED

If a contract has not been awarded at the time a protest is timely filed with the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department, the contract may not be awarded while the protest is pending within the Airports Authority unless the CEO determines that the award of the contract and issuance of a notice to proceed is in the Airports Authority's best interests.

7.5 PROTEST PROCEDURE FOR TWO-STEP DESIGN-BUILD PROCUREMENT PROCESS

The two-step design-build procurement process described in Paragraph 2.7.5 is a custom-designed solicitation and the protest procedures for such process shall be specifically described within the solicitation documents for each step of the process. Guidance for the development of such protest procedures shall be derived from the principles set forth in this Chapter 7.

7.6 SOLICITATIONS FUNDED BY THE FTA

For solicitations funded by the FTA, see Paragraph 10.7.35 of this Manual for additional guidance on special requirements and restrictions.

Contracting Manual	Fourth Edition
This Page Intentionally Left Blank	
Daga 79	

8 DISPUTES

Chapter 8 describes the general procedures for the handling of contract disputes.

8.1 DISPUTES - GENERAL

The following provisions contain the Airports Authority's general procedures for the handling of contract disputes. Other dispute resolution procedures may be appropriate for certain Airports Authority contracts and may be used if approved by the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department, and coordinated with the Office of General Counsel.

It is the Airports Authority's policy to encourage resolution of disputes by mutual agreement between the Contracting Officer and the contractor. Consistent with this intent, the Airports Authority requires, as a condition precedent to the initiation of litigation, the exhaustion of the administrative dispute procedure contained in the contract. If the dispute is not resolved by the administrative disputes procedure, the contractor may proceed to court litigation in accordance with the agreements contained in the contract.

NOTE: For solicitations funded by the FTA, see Paragraph 10.7.32 of this Manual for additional guidance on special requirements and restrictions.

8.2 WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL

The following waiver of jury trial provision shall be included in each Airports Authority contract:

Waiver of Jury Trial:

To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Contractor and the Airports Authority hereby waive their respective rights to a trial by jury in any action presenting one or more claims arising under, arising out of, or related to the Contract, including as the Contract may be amended or modified. The Contractor and the Airports Authority also hereby waive their respective rights to a trial by jury in any action presenting one or more non-contractual claims arising out of or relating to actions of the Contractor taken pursuant to or in its performance of the Contract.

8.3 DISPUTES PROVISION

A disputes provision shall be included in each Airports Authority contract. The text of the disputes provision shall be determined by the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department.

The disputes provision is to apply to all disputes except those alleging a material breach of contract.

The disputes provision shall set forth the procedure for disputes under remedy-granting contract provisions and non-material contract breaches. The provision must provide for the exhaustion of the disputes procedure as a condition precedent to the initiation of litigation.

The following language is mandatory in order to implement the disputes procedure:

Performance Pending Dispute

The Contractor shall proceed diligently with performance of the Contract's requirements, including the disputed portions, pending resolution of any dispute.

8.3.1 Steps of Administrative Disputes Procedure

The disputes provision shall address the claim submission requirements, such as notice, the time for presenting, certification, and documentation. The following claim submission contract language should be considered by Contracting Officers for incorporation in a comprehensive disputes provision:

Claim Submission

The Contractor shall submit a written claim signed and certified as true and accurate by a duly authorized officer of the Contractor. The claim at a minimum shall include: a) the basis of liability; b) a narrative that fully explains the basis for liability; c) the basis of a request for additional compensation, time extension or other relief; d) a statement that the claim is made in good faith, that the supporting facts and data are current, accurate and complete as of the date of certification, and that the amount of additional compensation, time of performance, or other relief requested reasonably and accurately reflects the added cost, added time of performance, or other damage the Contractor reasonably believes it has incurred; and e) a copy of or a specific reference to all actual cost accounting records, actual schedule data, as-built data, or other data and records that relate to any aspect of the claim.

Prohibited Claim Formats

Monetary claims based on anticipatory profits are prohibited. Monetary claim requests based on a total cost approach are prohibited. Time extension requests or claims on a total time approach are prohibited.

8.3.2 Claims Review and Disposition

The comprehensive disputes provision shall also include a procedure for claims review and disposition. The following topics shall be addressed in the procedure: Contracting Officer Discussions, Information Exchange and Audit Access, Alternative Disputes Resolution Procedures and the issuance and finality of a Contracting Officer's Decision. The general nature of these topics is addressed below:

8.3.2.1 Contracting Officer Discussions

Discussions between the Contracting Officer and the contractor concerning the claim presented shall occur within a reasonable period of time after submission of the claim and receipt by the Contracting Officer of sufficient information, including information resulting from an audit, if deemed necessary. Discussions shall be conducted in good faith for the resolution of the dispute, including the exchange of relevant information. If requested by the Contracting Officer, the COTR shall provide the Contracting Officer with a written response to the claim that references the applicable provisions of the statement of work or contract requirements and may include a specific request that the COTR obtain additional information or audit access, or both. The contractor shall provide such additional information or audit access. disputes provision shall provide that the contractor is to furnish the information and audit access and failure to provide such information or access shall be a bar to the claim.

8.3.2.2 <u>Alternative Disputes Resolution (ADR)</u>

The Contracting Officer should consider the inclusion of a contract provision that requires the exhaustion of an ADR procedure prior to litigation. One form of ADR that should be considered is non-binding evaluative mediation. contract provision shall, at a minimum, include terms that provide: for the time and place of mediation; that the mediation is conducted pursuant to the contract; the selection of the neutral mediator; that all statements made during the course of the mediation are confidential, are privileged settlement discussions, are not party admissions and are made without prejudice to any party's legal position; that materials prepared for the mediation are not subject to disclosure in any other judicial or administrative proceeding; for informal discovery in the form of production or inspection of certain categories of documents; and that the costs of the mediator and any incidental costs associated with holding the mediation shall be split evenly between the contractor and the Airports Authority.

8.3.2.3 Impasse and Litigation

If discussions with the Contracting Officer or, if required, an ADR procedure do not result in an agreement, an impasse can be declared.

Upon the declaration of an impasse, the Contractor shall request a written final decision by the Contracting Officer. The Contracting Officer shall issue a final decision within sixty (60) days from receipt of the request and adequate documentation unless the dispute is determined to be complex in nature. The final decision of the Contracting Officer shall be final and conclusive unless within thirty (30) days from receipt of the Contracting Officer's final decision, the contractor mails or otherwise furnishes a written notice of appeal to the Manager of Procurement and Contracts Department.

8.3.2.4 Litigation

Following completion of the administrative disputes procedure, the dispute may be resolved by litigation without a jury before a court of competent jurisdiction within the Commonwealth of Virginia.

8.4 REMEDIES FOR INAPPROPRIATE CLAIMS

The contract shall contain remedies for the Airports Authority for reckless or frivolous claims and false, misleading, or material misrepresentations relating to claims. The following contract provisions shall be included:

Remedies for Reckless or Frivolous Claims

In the event that the Contractor makes a claim against the Airports Authority and the claim, as certified by an officer of the Contractor, is 1) found by a court to be based on any reckless statement contained in the certification of the claim or 2) is found by a court to be of frivolous nature or materially overstated in amount, then the Contractor shall be liable to the Airports Authority and shall pay to it a percentage of costs it incurred in investigating, analyzing, negotiating, mediating and litigating (including attorneys' fees) the frivolous or The percentage of costs overstated claim. referenced shall be equal to the percentage of the Contractor's total claim which is determined through litigation to be the result of a reckless statement or frivolous claim. "Frivolous" shall mean having no basis in law or in fact. This remedy is a contractual remedy and does not otherwise affect the other rights of the Airports Authority in law or in equity.

Remedies for False or Misleading Statements or Material Misrepresentation

Any claim by the Contractor that is based on false or misleading statements or material misrepresentations shall entitle the Airports Authority to a full recovery of all costs it incurred in investigating, analyzing, negotiating, mediating and litigating (including attorneys' fees) the claim. This remedy is a contractual remedy and does not otherwise affect the

other rights of the Airports Authority in law or in equity.

Contracting Manual	Fourth Edition
This Page Intentionally Left Blank	
Page 92	

9 SUSPENSION AND DEBARMENT

Chapter 9 presents the procedures through which a contractor may be suspended or debarred from doing business with the Airports Authority. It includes a non-exclusive list of possible causes for suspension or debarment, the procedures that the Airports Authority will follow when determining whether to suspend or debar a contractor, the procedures by which a contractor may seek review of an Airports Authority determination to suspend or debar it, and the consequences of suspension or debarment.

9.1 POLICY

The Airports Authority shall only solicit offers from, award contracts to, and consent to subcontract with responsible contractors (see Paragraphs 2.4.6 and 6.3.8). To effectuate this policy, the Airports Authority may suspend or debar a contractor from entering into new contracts or subcontracts in accordance with the procedures in this Chapter.

9.2 NATURE OF SUSPENSION AND DEBARMENT

The purpose of suspension and debarment is to protect the integrity of the Airports Authority's contracting process. The Airports Authority seeks to do business only with contractors who can be trusted business partners. Suspension and debarment are not imposed as punishment, although each may bear heavy direct and collateral consequences. The nature of suspension and debarment is to make ineligible for contracting opportunities those contractors that (i) lack business integrity or honesty; (ii) lack the responsibility to satisfactorily perform contract work; or (iii) evidence any other cause of such serious and compelling nature as to affect the present responsibility of the contractor.

9.3 DEFINITIONS

- (1) Affiliate. A business, organization, person, or individual connected to another by the fact that one controls or has the power to control the other or by the fact that a third party controls or has the power to control both. In addition, the Airports Authority has the discretion to determine whether an entity is an affiliate by considering such factors as common ownership, common management, shared or overlapping facilities, equipment, and/or employees, identity of interests among family members and/or that the business entity is managed or organized by owners, operators, management, and/or immediate family of an entity that previously contracted with the Airports Authority.
- (2) Airports Authority Debarment Judge (ADJ). An individual selected by the Airports Authority's General Counsel from an impartial source, meaning current or former employees of the suspension and debarment organizations of federal, state and/or local governments or public entities, the American Arbitration Association, the Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service, former

- federal or state judges or other similar individuals, to serve on one or more suspension or debarment matters and/or for a fixed period of time to handle suspension and debarment matters.
- (3) *Contractor*. For the purposes of Chapter 9, an individual, company or other legal entity that directly or indirectly (e.g., through an affiliate) submits a bid or offer or is awarded a contract or subcontract to supply goods or services, to perform construction or to perform a concession for the Airports Authority. See also Appendix A-2.
- (4) *Debarment*. An exclusion from contracting and subcontracting with the Airports Authority for a specified period of time.
- (5) Suspension. An exclusion from contracting or subcontracting with the Airports Authority for a reasonable period of time prior to the initiation and during the pendency of the debarment process.

9.4 DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY TO MAKE SUSPENSION OR DEBARMENT DETERMINATIONS

The Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer ("Executive Vice President") has the authority to determine whether to suspend any contractor pending completion of debarment proceedings. The Executive Vice President also has the authority to determine whether to debar any contractor for the causes set forth in paragraphs 9.5.1(1)-(5). An Airports Authority Debarment Judge ("ADJ") has the authority to determine whether to debar any contractor for the causes set forth in paragraphs 9.5.1(6)-(9) or for an affiliation or connection as provided in paragraph 9.5.2.

9.5 DEBARMENT

The Airports Authority may debar a contractor for any of the causes listed in paragraph 9.5.1. The existence of any of the causes for debarment does not necessarily require that a contractor be debarred. The decision to debar is within the discretion of the Airports Authority. The Airports Authority may, but is not required to, take into account what mitigating factors it deems relevant.

9.5.1 Causes for Debarment

The Airports Authority may debar a contractor for a period of up to five (5) years for any of the reasons listed below.

- conviction of a criminal offense or a civil judgment for commission of a fraud, finding of embezzlement, theft, forgery, bribery, falsification or destruction of records, making false statement, tax evasion or receiving stolen property;
- (2) conviction of a criminal offense incidental to obtaining or attempting to obtain contracts or subcontracts or in the performance of a contract or subcontract;
- (3) conviction of a criminal offense under a Federal antitrust statute arising out of the submission of bids or proposals;
- (4) inclusion on the General Services Administration "Excluded Parties List System" ("EPLS");
- (5) debarment or suspension by any state or local government entity;
- (6) commission of an unfair trade practice including, but not limited to, obtaining or using confidential or proprietary information of a competitor or the Airports Authority to obtain an Airports Authority contract or subcontract;
- (7) commission of any other offense indicating a lack of business integrity or honesty, including, but not limited to, offering bribes or kickbacks to Airports Authority employees or Board Members to obtain business, making knowingly false representations or certifications to the Airports Authority, or engaging in any conduct that led to or induced an Airports Authority employee or Board Member to violate the Airports Authority's Codes of Ethics;
- (8) serious violation(s) of the terms of an Airports Authority contract or subcontract; such as violating any contract provisions relating to the Airports Authority's Codes of Ethics, willful failure to perform in accordance with specifications or time limits provided in the contract; willful failure to pay monies owed under an Airports Authority concessions contract; a record of failure to perform or of unsatisfactory performance in accordance with the terms of one or more Airports Authority contracts or subcontracts; including any applicable DBE and LDBE provisions, or
- (9) any other cause that, in the discretion of the Airports Authority, is of a serious and compelling nature.

9.5.2 Debarment of Contractor Affiliated or Connected with Another

If an individual or contractor commits an impropriety that is cause for debarment, that impropriety may be imputed to any other contractor connected to or affiliated with the individual or contractor that committed the impropriety. Likewise, when a firm is involved in criminal, fraudulent or other improper conduct, any person who participated in, or any person affiliated with or connected to the firm who knew of or had reason to know of the impropriety, may be debarred.

9.5.3 Procedures for Debarment Determinations

Upon receiving information that there may be cause for debarment of a contractor, the Executive Vice President may initiate debarment proceedings by providing to the contractor a written Notice of Proposed Debarment ("NPD"), sent to the contractor's last known address by certified mail. The NPD will state that (i) debarment is being considered; (ii) the reasons for the proposed debarment; (iii) the anticipated period of debarment; and (iv) the proposed effective date. The NPD will also advise the contractor that it may, within fifteen (15) days of the date of the NPD, submit, in writing, to the addressee set forth in the NPD, any information in opposition to the proposed debarment ("Opposition").

- (1) If the contractor does not submit an Opposition within the time allowed, the debarment will become final with no further review by the Airports Authority.
- (2) If the contractor does submit an Opposition within the time allowed, debarment proceedings will continue in accordance with paragraphs 9.5.3.1 or 9.5.3.2, as appropriate.

9.5.3.1 <u>Debarment Proceedings Before the Executive Vice President</u>

If the reason(s) for the debarment is based exclusively on paragraphs 9.5.1(1)-(5), the Executive Vice President will determine whether to debar the contractor. The Executive Vice President will attempt to notify the contractor within seven (7) days of receipt of the Opposition of when the Executive Vice President anticipates making a determination and will endeavor in all cases to make a determination promptly. However, the Executive Vice President has discretion to request and consider additional information from the contractor, or other sources, prior to notifying the contractor of when a determination will be made and/or prior to making a determination.

- (1) If the Executive Vice President determines not to debar the contractor, he/she shall provide a written determination to the contractor stating that the contractor shall not be debarred.
- (2) If the Executive Vice President decides to debar the contractor, he/she shall prepare and provide to the contractor via certified mail a written Determination to Debar ("DTD") stating that (i) the contractor has been debarred as of the date of the determination; (ii) the period of debarment; (iii) the reasons for the debarment; and (iv) the facts found by the Executive Vice President. The DTD will also advise the contractor that it may, but is not required to, appeal the decision to the CEO by submitting a written notice of appeal within fifteen (15) days of the date of the DTD.
- (3) If the contractor does not submit a notice of appeal within the fifteen (15) day period set forth above, the debarment is final.

9.5.3.2 <u>Debarment Proceedings Before the Airports</u> Authority Debarment Judge

When the reason(s) for debarment is based in whole or in part on paragraphs 9.5.1(6)-(9), or when the proposed debarment is based in whole or in part upon an affiliation or connection as set forth in paragraph 9.5.2, the Executive Vice President will provide the NPD and Opposition to the Office of General Counsel. The Executive Vice President and the General Counsel shall decide whether the debarment should proceed. If the determination is made to proceed, the Office of General Counsel shall provide the NPD and Opposition to an ADJ who will determine whether to debar the contractor.

- (1) The ADJ shall develop procedures for the submission of written evidence, for a hearing before the ADJ with witnesses on the record, or for other procedures as appropriate under the circumstances. These procedures will be communicated in writing via certified mail to the contractor. Under these procedures, the cause(s) for debarment must be established by the Airports Authority by a preponderance of the evidence.
- (2) Following these procedures, the ADJ shall provide a written decision ("ADJD") to the contractor stating either that the ADJ has determined not to debar or that (i) the contractor has been debarred as of the date of the ADJD, (ii) the period of debarment, (iii) the reasons for the debarment, and (iv) the facts found by the ADJ. The ADJD will also advise the contractor that it may, but is not required to, appeal the decision to the CEO of the Airports Authority by submitting a written notice of appeal within fifteen (15) days of the date of the ADJD.
- (3) If the contractor does not submit a notice of appeal within the fifteen (15) day period set forth above, the debarment is final.

9.5.4 Airports Authority Review of a Debarment Determination

If the contractor submits a notice of appeal of a DTD or ADJD, the CEO shall, within fifteen (15) days of receipt of the notice, send to the contractor by certified mail a written Notice of Appeal Procedures stating that the contractor may, within fifteen (15) days of the date of this notice, submit in writing, any information in opposition to the DTD or ADJD.

- If the contractor does not submit such information within the time allowed, the debarment will become final with no further review.
- (2) If the contractor does submit such information within the time allowed, the CEO shall review the record of the Airports Authority debarment proceedings, may request additional information from the contractor and/or other sources, and shall make a final debarment determination regarding debarment including the duration thereof. The CEO shall issue his decision within 30 days of the receipt of the contractor's information.

9.6 SUSPENSION

The Executive Vice President may, in the interest of the Airports Authority, immediately suspend a contractor upon receiving information that there may be cause for debarment of a contractor for any of the causes listed in paragraph 9.5.1 and/or 9.5.2. The suspension will generally continue until the completion of debarment proceedings, unless the Executive Vice President determines that a lesser period is appropriate in the circumstances.

The existence of a cause for debarment does not necessarily require that the contractor be suspended. The Airports Authority will consider the seriousness of the contractor's acts or omissions and may, but is not required to, consider mitigating factors.

9.6.1 Procedures for Suspension

The Executive Vice President may suspend a contractor prior to providing notice of suspension to the contractor. The Executive Vice President, however, will as soon as practicable notify a contractor of the suspension by providing written notice to the last known address of the contractor by certified mail no later than ten (10) days after the effective date of the suspension and will state that (i) the contractor has been suspended; (ii) the reasons for the suspension; (iii) the effective date of the suspension; and (iv) that the suspension shall remain in effect until the completion of debarment proceedings, which are to be initiated as soon as practicable after the suspension begins, unless the Executive Vice President determines that a

lesser period of suspension is appropriate in the circumstances. The notice of suspension will also advise the contractor that it may, within fifteen (15) days of the notice, submit, in writing, any information in opposition to the suspension.

The Executive Vice President will consider the information submitted by the contractor and decide, in his/her discretion, whether to revoke the suspension or to continue the suspension pending completion of the debarment proceedings. The Executive Vice President will provide written notice to the contractor of the determination.

9.7 CONSEQUENCES OF DEBARMENT OR SUSPENSION

Contractors that have been suspended or debarred by the Airports Authority are excluded from receiving Airports Authority contracts or subcontracts. Airports Authority contracting officers will not solicit proposals or quotations from, award contracts to, or, when a contract provides for such consent, consent to subcontracts with such contractors, unless the Executive Vice President has approved the action as in the best interests of the Airports Authority.

9.8 LISTS OF PARTIES DEBARRED OR SUSPENDED

The Airports Authority will maintain a list of contractors suspended or debarred and the current period of suspension or debarment.

10 FEDERAL TRANSIT ADMINISTRATION (FTA) REQUIREMENTS

Chapter 10 presents the policies and procedures applicable to Airports Authority procurements funded, in whole or in part, with Federal assistance provided by the FTA. Many of these policies and procedures are based upon procurement requirements established by the FTA or other Federal agencies, which are largely found in FTA Circular 4220.1F.

The FTA is one of ten modal administrations within the U.S. Department of Transportation (DOT) and provides grants and other types of financial assistance to public transportation agencies throughout the United States.

The FTA provides financial assistance to develop new public transportation systems and to improve, maintain, and operate existing systems. The FTA oversees thousands of federally-assisted projects to hundreds of state and local public transportation providers, primarily through its ten regional offices. Each recipient of FTA assistance is responsible for managing its programs and projects in compliance with applicable Federal requirements, including those applicable to procurements. The FTA is responsible for ensuring that recipients use that assistance prudently and in compliance with those requirements. While some of the requirements imposed on recipients in the area of procurements come from FTA's enabling legislation, other requirements come from government-wide Federal grant requirements that seek to ensure fair and economical procurements when Federal assistance is expended. (FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. I, paras. 1 and 4)

The Airports Authority is receiving FTA financial assistance for the Dulles Corridor Metrorail Project (Project). Chapter 10, therefore, is applicable to all procurements undertaken by the Airports Authority in connection with the Project and funded, in whole or in part, with FTA assistance.

The Airports Authority procurement requirements in Chapters 1 through 5 and Chapters 7 through 9 of this Manual apply to procurements conducted under this Chapter 10, except to the extent they conflict with requirements in this chapter, are expressly modified, replaced or superseded by provisions in this chapter, or are prohibited by FTA's requirements.

10.1 DEFINITIONS

The following terms shall be defined as stated for the purposes of Chapter 10. To the extent the definition of any term in this section conflicts with the term's definition elsewhere in this Manual, the definition in this section shall, for purposes of Chapter 10, control.

10.1.1 Advance Payments

Advance payments are payments made to a contractor before the contractor incurs contract costs. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. IV, para. 2.b(5)(b)]

10.1.2 Best Practices Procurement Manual (BPPM)

The FTA's "Best Practices Procurement Manual" or "BPPM" provides suggested procedures, methods, and examples to advise a recipient how it might conduct its third party procurements in compliance with Federal laws and regulations and FTA Circular 4220.1F guidance. Although the BPPM can be a good resource for use in conducting FTA assisted procurements, it is not the source of any FTA or Federal requirements and, as such, is not binding on FTA recipients. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. I, para. 6.g]

10.1.3 Best Value

Best Value, as defined by the FTA, describes a competitive proposals procurement process in which the Airports Authority reserves the right to select the most advantageous offer by evaluating and comparing factors in addition to cost or price (e.g., qualifications of the offeror and its proposed personnel, and technical designs and approaches), such that the Airports Authority may acquire technical superiority even if it must pay a premium price. A "premium" is the difference between the price of the lowest priced proposal and the one that the Airports Authority believes offers the best value. Best Value also means the expected outcome of an acquisition that, in the Airports Authority's estimation, provides the greatest overall benefit in response to its material requirements. To achieve best value in the context of acquisitions for public transportation purposes, the evaluation factors for a specific procurement are to reflect the subject matter and the elements that are most important to the Airports Authority. While FTA does not mandate any specific evaluation factors, the Airports Authority will disclose those factors in its solicitation. Evaluation factors may include, but are not limited to, qualifications of the offeror and its proposed personnel, technical design, technical approach, length of delivery schedules, past performance, and management plan. This definition does not limit or dictate the qualitative measures that the Airports Authority may employ in a Best Value competitive proposals procurement, except that they must support the purposes of the Federal public transportation program. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. I, para. 5.b]

10.1.4 Cardinal Change

Cardinal Change means a major deviation from the original purpose of the work covered by a contract or the intended method of achievement, or a revision of contract work so

extensive, significant, or cumulative that, in effect, the contractor is required to perform very different work from that described in the original contract. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. I, para. 5.c]

10.1.5 Common Grant Rule

Common Grant Rule refers to the U.S. DOT regulations, "Uniform Administrative Requirements for Grants and Cooperative Agreements to State and Local Governments," in 49 CFR Part 18, which apply to Federal grants and cooperative agreements made by the DOT to governmental recipients of Federal assistance. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. I, para. 5.e(1)]

10.1.6 FTA

FTA means the FTA. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. I, para. 5.m]

10.1.7 Federally Required Clauses

Solely because of the receipt of Federal funds by the Airports Authority, certain clauses containing Federal requirements are required to be included in Third Party Contracts (see Appendix J for Model Federal Clauses). The Airports Authority will include appropriate clauses in each Third Party Contract stating the contractor's responsibility under Federal law, regulation, or directive, including any necessary provisions requiring the contractor to extend applicable Federal requirements to its subcontractors to the lowest tier necessary.

Many of the required clauses come directly from various sections of the Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) which are published by various executive departments of the Federal government. The most common clauses come from various parts of Title 49 of the CFR, published by the Department of Transportation. Requirements of the Department of Labor (such as Davis-Bacon Act clauses) originate as specific language in Title 29 of the CFR. Where clauses are not mandated by an executive department, they are frequently modeled after clauses in the Federal Acquisition Regulations (FAR) which are applicable to those executive departments. [BPPM, Section 8.1.1]

10.1.8 Full and Open Competition

Full and Open Competition means that all responsible sources are permitted to compete. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. I, para. 5.n]

10.1.9 Local Government

Local Government means a county, municipality, city, town, township, local public authority (including any public and Indian housing agency under the United States Housing Act of 1937) school district, special district, intrastate district, council of governments (whether or not incorporated as a

nonprofit corporation under state law), any other regional or interstate government entity, or any agency or instrumentality of a local government. This term does not include a local public institution of higher education. The Airports Authority is considered the recipient of FTA grants for the Dulles Corridor Rail Project. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. I, para. 5.s]

10.1.10 Master Agreement

Master Agreement means the FTA document incorporated by reference and made part of FTA's standard grant agreements and cooperative agreements that contains the standard terms and conditions governing the administration of a project supported with Federal assistance awarded by the FTA. The Airports Authority has executed an FTA Master Agreement in connection with the first phase of the Dulles Corridor Metrorail Project. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. I, para. 5.t]

10.1.11 Progress Payments

Progress Payments are payments for contract work that has not been completed. [FTA C 4220.1 F, Ch. IV, para. 2.b(5)(c)]

10.1.12 Recipient

Recipient means the public or private entity to which FTA awards Federal assistance through a grant, cooperative agreement, or other agreement. The Recipient is the entire legal entity even if only a particular component of the entity is designated in the document through which the FTA has awarded Federal assistance. The term includes "grantee," which is a "recipient" of Federal grant assistance. The Airports Authority is a Recipient by virtue of the FTA financial assistance it has received for the first phase of the Dulles Corridor Metrorail Project.

Recipient also includes any entity to which the Airports Authority has given, by grant or similar means, a portion of its FTA financial assistance. The Airports Authority is responsible for assuring that each such subrecipient complies with the applicable requirements and standards of FTA Circular 4220.1F (see Paragraph 10.2.1), and is aware of the Federal statutory and regulatory requirements that apply to its actions as a subrecipient.

Neither a party which contracts with the Airports Authority, nor an entity which contracts with that party is a Recipient for purposes of this Chapter or Circular 4220.1F. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. I, para. 5.z]

10.1.13 Revenue Contract

Revenue Contract means a contract in which the Airports Authority or a subrecipient provides access to the Dulles Corridor Metrorail Project or other public transportation assets constructed with FTA financial assistance for the primary purpose of either producing revenues in connection with a public transportation related activity, or creating business opportunities involving the use of FTA assisted property. Airports Authority revenue contracts (known as Concession Contracts) are addressed in Chapter 6 of this Manual. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. I, para. 5.aa]

10.1.14 State or Local Government Purchasing Schedule or Purchasing Contract

State or Local Government Purchasing Schedule or Purchasing Contract means an arrangement that a State or Local Government has established with multiple vendors in which those vendors agree to provide essentially an option to the State or Local Government, and its subordinate government entities and others it might include in its programs, to acquire specific property or services in the future at established prices. These arrangements are somewhat similar to the GSA's Cooperative Purchasing Program available for Federal Government use. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. I, para. 5.cc]

10.1.15 Third Party Contract

Third Party Contract refers to a contract between the Airports Authority and a vendor or contractor which is financed, in whole or in part, with Federal assistance awarded by the FTA, including procurements by purchase order or purchase by credit card; it does not include any subcontract between that vendor or contractor and another party. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. I, para. 5.dd]

10.2 APPLICABILITY OF FEDERAL, STATE AND LOCAL PROCUREMENT LAWS, REGULATIONS AND GUIDANCE DOCUMENTS

10.2.1 FTA Circular 4220.1F

This Chapter 10 is based in substantial part on FTA Circular 4220.1F. This Circular provides suggested procedures, methods, and examples to advise Recipients and their subrecipients in complying with Federal laws and regulations that affect their FTA- assisted procurements. The FTA considers this Circular, in its entirety, to be a guidance document. While this guidance itself does not have the force and effect of Federal law or regulation, it does contain information about Federal laws and regulations which are mandatory when applicable.

As guidance, the Circular attempts to describe how a Recipient or subrecipient of FTA assistance can comply with those Federal laws and regulations that affect procurements. In some cases, the Circular describes the single method by which a Recipient or subrecipient can comply with a specific

Federal statutory or regulatory mandatory requirement. In other cases, the Circular provides more flexibility. As guidance, this Circular also expresses FTA's preferences about how the procurements it supports should be undertaken. The Master Agreement reflects the agreement between the FTA and the Recipient that the Circular will apply to its Third Party Contracts. As a guidance document, the Circular does not waive any requirements of the Federal statutes or regulations it states and describes except as permitted by their terms.

Because the Circular is guidance, the FTA is willing to consider methods of compliance with Federal laws and regulations other than those described in the Circular. Prior to undertaking an alternative method of complying with any applicable Federal statute or regulation other than those described in the BPPM, the Airports Authority will, when feasible, contact the FTA before employing that method to ensure that the FTA agrees with the alternative proposed. While FTA's prior concurrence is not required, FTA reserves the right to decline to financially participate in the costs of Third Party Contracts that fail to comply with applicable Federal laws and regulations, or the terms of the Recipient's underlying grant or cooperative agreement. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. II, para. 1]

10.2.2 Scope of Circular 4220.1F

The Circular applies to Third Party Contracts and subcontracts issued by Recipients, and therefore by the Airports Authority, where FTA funding is involved. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. II, para. 2.a(1)(b)]

Airports Authority contractors and subcontractors are not considered Recipients or subrecipients of FTA funding under the Circular. Consequently, Airports Authority contractors and subcontractors are not directly covered by the Circular, or by the Common Grant Rule, or the FTA's "Best Practices Procurement Manual" (BPPM) in awarding However, each Airports Authority their subcontracts. contractor is required to comply with the terms and requirements of its contract with the Airports Authority, including the requirement to extend the applicable Federal Required Clauses to its subcontractors and to require each of those subcontractors to do the same to the lowest tier of subcontracts. For that reason, the Circular, the Common Grant Rule, and the BPPM provide useful information to a third party contractor and third party subcontractor about the constraints applicable to a Recipient when entering into a Third Party Contract. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. II, para. 2.a(5)]

10.2.3 Federal Laws and Regulations

In addition to Circular 4220.1F, this Chapter 10 is based on Federal laws and regulations including, but not limited to, Federal transit laws at 49 U.S.C. Chapter 53, FTA regulations, and other Federal laws and regulations that contain requirements applicable to Recipients, and therefore

the Airports Authority, and its FTA assisted procurements. These include the following Federal regulations. [FTA C 4220.1 F, Ch. II. Para. 3]

10.2.3.1 Common Grant Rule

The Common Grant Rule contains the most comprehensive Federal requirements applicable to Recipients, including the Airports Authority. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. II, para. 3.a(1)]

10.2.3.2 <u>Federal Acquisition Regulation (FAR)</u>

The FAR, 48 CFR Chapter 1, does not apply to Recipients, and therefore to the Airports Authority, or its Federally assisted procurements, absent Federal laws or regulations to the contrary. However, audits of Architectural and Engineering (A&E) services listed in 49 U.S.C. Section 5325, which are provided to Recipients, must be carried out under FAR Part 31 cost principles. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. II, para. 3.b]

10.2.3.3 Other Federal Requirements

Other Federal transit laws and implementing regulations not addressed in the Common Grant Rule, contain requirements that apply to Recipients, and therefore to the Airports Authority, as do other Federal cross cutting statutes and regulations that affect what a Recipient may acquire.

Citations to most of these Federal requirements are included in the latest edition of the Master Agreement, typically issued at the beginning of each Federal fiscal year, which includes comprehensive information about Federal laws and regulations that may apply to an FTA assisted project. Airports Authority Contracting Officers in FTA assisted procurements will review the Master Agreement when making procurement decisions. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. II, para. 3.c]

10.2.4 State and Local Laws and Regulations

The Airports Authority, as authorized by the Interstate Compact between the Commonwealth of Virginia and the District of Columbia creating the Airports Authority, has established its own procurement procedures, which are set out in this Manual. Procurement laws and regulations of the Commonwealth of Virginia and the District of Columbia are inapplicable to the Airports Authority. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. II, para. 4]

10.3 AIRPORTS AUTHORITY RESPONSIBILITIES

The following procurement-related responsibilities arise from the Common Grant Rule and other applicable Federal laws and regulations.

10.3.1 Written Standards of Conduct

The Airports Authority expects all employees and members of the Board to act in the best interests of the Airports Authority at all times and to not engage in conduct that is illegal, dishonest, or brings discredit upon the Airports Authority, or participate in any Airports Authority matter as to which the employee has a conflict of interests. In particular, employees who obligate the Airports Authority to spend money, approve payments, and make decisions affecting disbursements have a special duty to make their recommendations and decisions without prejudice, seeking to obtain the maximum value for the Airports Authority.

The Airports Authority's *Code of Ethics for Employees* and *Code of Ethics for Members of the Board of Directors*, as they may be amended from time to time, are available on the Airports Authority's website, www.mwaa.com, and are hereby incorporated into this Chapter 10 as if they were expressly set forth. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. III, para. 1]

10.3.2 Third Party Contracting Capacity

As part of its obligation to maintain adequate technical capacity to carry out its FTA-assisted projects and comply with the Common Grant Rule, the Airports Authority's third party contracting capability is to be adequate to undertake its procurements effectively and efficiently in compliance with applicable Federal, State, and local requirements. The Airports Authority also is to maintain a contract administration system to ensure that it and its third party contractors comply with the terms, conditions, and specifications of their contracts or purchase orders and applicable Federal, state and local requirements. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. II, para. 3]

10.4 WRITTEN PROCUREMENT PROCEDURES

The Airports Authority is to maintain written procurement procedures as a condition of its self-certification that its procurement system complies with FTA requirements and that it has the technical capacity to comply with Federal procurement requirements. These procedures are set out below in Paragraphs 10.4.1 through 10.4.11, and elsewhere in Chapter 10, as supplemented by applicable provisions in Chapters 1 through 5 and 7 through 9 of this Manual. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. III, para. 3.a]

10.4.1 Specifications

Clear Descriptions. A clear and accurate description of the technical requirements for the material, product, or service to be procured will be provided.

Nonrestrictive Specifications. In competitive procurements, the description will not contain features that unduly restrict competition and will not be exclusionary or discriminatory.

Quality Requirements. A description may include a statement of the qualitative nature of the material, product, or service to be procured and when necessary, describe minimum essential characteristics and standards to which the property or services must conform if it is to satisfy its intended use.

Preference for Performance Specifications. As provided in the Common Grant Rule, detailed product specifications will be avoided if at all possible and, whenever practicable, performance specifications will be utilized.

Brand Name or Equal. When it is impractical or uneconomical to write a clear and accurate description of the technical requirements of the material, product, or services to be acquired, a "brand name or equal" description may be used to define the performance or other salient characteristics of the property or services sought. The specific features or salient characteristics of the named brand which must be met by offerors of "an equal" proposal will be clearly stated. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. III, para. 3.a(1)]

10.4.2 Necessity

The Contracting Officer will ensure that the office requesting a procurement justifies its purchasing requirements in order to avoid the purchase of material, property, and services the office does not need (including duplicative items and quantities or options it does not intend to use or whose use is unlikely). In reviewing a given justification, the Contracting Officer will consider whether the office's requirements reflect a reasonable expectation of requirements at the time a contract will be entered.

- Unnecessary Reserves. The Contracting Officer will ensure that the Airports Authority limits its acquisition of material, product, and services to the amount it needs to support the Dulles Corridor Metrorail Project or other FTA-assisted project.
- (2) Acquisition for Assignment Purposes. The Airports Authority will contract only for its current and reasonably expected needs and may not add quantities or options to its contracts solely to permit assignment to another party at a later date.

[FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. III, para. 3.a(2) and Ch. VI, para. 2.a(2)]

10.4.3 Lease Versus Purchase

To obtain the best value, the Contracting Officer will review lease versus purchase alternatives for acquiring property and, if necessary, should obtain an analysis to determine the more economical alternative. The Airports Authority may use FTA capital assistance to finance the costs of leasing eligible property if leasing is more cost effective than full ownership. Before the Airports Authority leases an asset, it

will, as required by FTA regulations ("Capital Leases," 49 CFR Part 639, Subpart C), undertake a written comparison of the cost of leasing the asset and the cost of purchasing or constructing the asset and will ensure that the comparison utilizes costs that are reasonable, based on realistic current market conditions and on the expected useful service life of the asset. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. III, para. 3.a(3) and Ch. IV, para. 1.e]

10.4.4 Metric Usage

The Airports Authority will accept material, products, and services with dimensions expressed in metric measurements, to the extent practicable and feasible. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. III, para. 3.a(4)]

10.4.5 Environmental and Energy Efficiency Preferences

The Airports Authority will comply with applicable Federal environmental requirements and implement them as necessary through Third Party Contracts. The Contracting Officer will include the applicable contract provisions in Appendix J to facilitate compliance with environmental mitigation measures it has agreed to implement. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. III, para. 3.a(5)]

10.4.6 Procurement Methods

In undertaking procurements that are subject to this Chapter 10, the Airports Authority will utilize the following procurement methods.

10.4.6.1 <u>Micro-Purchases</u>

Micro-purchases are purchases of \$3,000 or less. The Airports Authority may acquire property and services valued at \$3,000 or less without obtaining competitive quotations. These purchases are exempt from FTA's Buy America requirements. Davis-Bacon prevailing wage requirements, however, apply to construction contracts exceeding \$2,000, even when using micro-purchase procurement procedures. The Contracting Officer will distribute micro-purchases equitably among qualified suppliers and will not divide or reduce the size of a procurement merely to come within the micro-purchase limit. The only documentation required for a micro-purchase is the determination that the price is fair and reasonable and the description of how that determination was made. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. VI, para. 3.a]

10.4.6.2 <u>Small Purchases</u>

Small purchases are purchases valued at more than the micro-purchase threshold but less than the Federal simplified acquisition threshold (as of July 2011, \$100,000). The Airports Authority will use relatively simple and informal procedures to make small purchases, but these procedures will require the Contracting Officer to obtain price or rate

quotations from an adequate number of qualified sources and provide documentation that the price is fair and reasonable. The Contracting Officer may not divide or reduce the size of the procurement to avoid the additional procurement requirements applicable to larger acquisitions. The Airports Authority small-purchase procedures are set out in the Airport Purchasing Policies and Procedures Manual referenced in Paragraph 2.12 of this Manual. Small purchases are exempt from FTA's Buy America requirements. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. VI, para. 3.b]

10.4.6.3 <u>Sealed Bids (Formal Advertising: Invitation</u> for Bids

A preference is stated in the Common Grant Rule for the sealed bids procurement method for acquiring property, construction, and other services. Procurement using sealed bids will be used when all of the following circumstances are present:

- (1) A complete, adequate, precise, and realistic specification or purchase description is available for the procurement.
- (2) Two or more responsible bidders are willing and able to compete effectively for the business.
- (3) The procurement generally lends itself to a firm fixed price contract.
- (4) The risk of unsuccessful contract performance is minimal and successful execution of the project is not highly dependent upon the successful bidder's quality of proposed personnel, past performance, management plan, or technical approaches.
- (5) The successful bidder can be selected on the basis of price and the price-related factors listed in the solicitation, which may include transportation costs, life cycle costs, and discounts expected to be taken. (When this procurement method is utilized, apart from responsibility determinations, contractor selection may not be determined on the basis of other factors whose costs cannot be measured at the time of award.)
- (6) Discussions with one or more bidders after bids have been submitted are expected to be unnecessary as award of the contract will be made based on price and price-related factors alone. (When this procurement method is utilized, a pre-bid conference with prospective bidders before bids have been received may be used.)

The procurement procedures applicable to sealed bids procurements in Chapter 2 of this Manual will apply to sealed bids procurements under this Chapter 10, and those procedures will be supplemented by the following provisions; provided, that, to the extent there is a conflict

between any of the following provisions and the procedures in Chapter 2, the following provisions will control:

- (1) The invitation for bids will be publicly advertised.
- (2) Bids will be solicited from an adequate number of known suppliers.
- (3) The invitation for bids, including any specifications and pertinent attachments, will describe the property or services sought in sufficient detail that a prospective bidder will be able to submit a proper bid.
- (4) Bidders will be allowed sufficient time to prepare bids before the date of bid opening.
- (5) All bids will be publicly opened at the time and place prescribed in the invitation for bids.
- (6) A firm fixed price contract will be awarded in writing to the lowest responsive and responsible bidder, but a fixed price incentive contract or inclusion of an economic price adjustment provision may sometimes be appropriate. When specified in the bidding documents, factors such as transportation costs and life cycle costs may affect the determination of the lowest bid. Payment discounts will be used to determine the low bid only when prior experience indicates that such discounts are typically taken.
- (7) Any or all bids may be rejected if there is a sound, documented business reason.

[FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. VI, para. 3.c]

10.4.6.4 <u>Competitive Proposals (Request for</u> Proposals: Negotiated Procurements)

The Common Grant Rule allows the use of competitive proposals when the nature of the procurement does not lend itself to sealed bidding and the procuring entity expects that more than one source will be willing and able to submit an offer or proposal. Generally, the Airports Authority will utilize this procurement method when any of the following circumstances are present:

- (1) Type of Specifications. The material, products, or services to be acquired are described in a performance or functional specification or, if described in detailed technical specifications, other circumstances such as the need for discussions or the importance of basing contract award on factors other than price alone are present.
- (2) Uncertain Number of Sources. Uncertainty exists about whether more than one bid will be submitted in response to an invitation for bids and the Airports Authority lacks the ability under this Manual to

negotiate the contract price were it to receive only a single bid.

- Price Alone Not Determinative. Due to the nature of the procurement, contract award need not be based exclusively on price or price-related factors. In different types of competitive proposal procurements, the relative importance of cost or price may vary. When the Airports Authority's material requirements are clearly definable and the risk of unsuccessful contract performance is minimal, cost or price may play a dominant role in source selection. However, the definitive the requirements, the more less development work required, or the greater the performance risk, the more technical and past performance considerations may play a dominant role in source selection and supersede low price.
- (4) Discussions Expected. Separate discussions with individual offeror(s) are expected to be necessary after proposals have been submitted.

The procurement procedures applicable to competitive proposal procurements in Chapter 2 of this Manual will apply to competitive proposal procurements under this Chapter 10, and those procedures in Chapter 2 will be supplemented by the following provisions; provided, that, in the event there is a conflict between any of the following provisions and the procedures in Chapter 2, the following provisions will control:

- (1) Publicity. The request for proposals will be publicly advertised.
- (2) Evaluation Factors. All evaluation factors and their relative importance will be specified in the solicitation, and numerical or percentage ratings or weights may but need not be disclosed.
- (3) Adequate Sources. Proposals will be solicited from an adequate number of qualified sources.
- (4) Evaluation Method. A specific method will be established and used to conduct evaluations of the technical proposals and, when applicable, of the qualifications of the offerors and their proposed personnel, and to determine the most qualified offeror.
- (5) Price and Other Factors. An award will be made to the responsible offeror whose proposal is most advantageous to the Airports Authority's program with price and other factors considered.
- (6) Best Value. An award may be made to the offeror whose proposal provides the greatest value to the Airports Authority. (See definition of Best Value.) In this case, the solicitation must inform potential offerors that the award will be made on a "Best Value" basis and identify the evaluation factors that

will form the basis for award. The evaluation factors for a specific procurement will reflect the subject matter and the elements of the procurement that are most important to the Airports Authority. Those evaluation factors may include, but are not limited to, technical design, technical approach, length of delivery schedules, quality of proposed personnel, past performance, and management plan. The determination of which proposal represents the "Best Value" will be based on an analysis of the tradeoff of qualitative technical factors and price or cost factors.

[FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. VI, para. 3.d]

10.4.6.5 Two-Step Procurement Procedures

The FTA guidelines provide for the use of a two-step procurement procedure in connection with the sealed bids and competitive proposals procurement methods, the construction component of the design-bid-build procurement method (see Paragraph 10.4.6.7. below) and the design-build procurement method when construction costs are predominant (see Paragraph 10.4.6.8. below), provided the opportunity for Full and Open Competition is retained.

The Airports Authority has authority to use the two-step procurement processes identified in Paragraph 2.7.5 of this Manual, "Design-Build Contracts," and Paragraph 2.8.5, "Two-Step Advertised Sealed Bids." These processes are compliant with the FTA Guidelines on two-step procurement procedures. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. VI, para. 3.e]

10.4.6.6 <u>Architectural and Engineering (A & E)</u> <u>Services</u>

Federal law requires Recipients to use qualifications-based procurement procedures contained in the "Brooks Act" to acquire architectural and engineering (A & E) services and, addition, program management, construction management, preliminary engineering, design, architectural, engineering, surveying, mapping and related services, as well as feasibility studies. It is the nature of the work to be performed and its relationship to construction, not the nature of the prospective contractor, that determines whether qualifications-based procurement procedures are to be used. Services that are directly in support of, directly connected to, directly related to, or lead directly to the construction, alteration or repair of real property are to be acquired through qualifications-based procedures; all other services are not to be acquired through such procedures.

Qualifications-Based Procurement Procedures Required and Prohibited. The Airports Authority will use qualifications-based procurement procedures when acquiring not only A&E services, but also other services that are directly in support of, directly connected or related to, or lead directly to construction, alteration, or repair of real property. Unless the FTA determines otherwise in writing, the Airports

Authority will not use qualifications-based procurement procedures to acquire any other types of services and will not utilize any contractor for such other types of services who has been selected through qualifications-based procurement procedures. Whether or not qualificationsbased procurement procedures will, or will not, be used in the acquisition of services on, or related to, a construction project depends on the actual services to be performed and their connection with the project. For example, the design or fabrication of message signs, signals, movable barriers, and similar property that will become off-the-shelf items or will be fabricated and delivered as final end products for installation in a construction project are not services for which qualifications-based procurement procedures may be used. Nor are services involving the actual construction of, alteration or repair of real property.

Qualifications-Based Procurement Procedures. The qualifications-based procurement procedures set out in Paragraph 2.6 of this Manual will apply to the procurement of services under this Paragraph 10.4.6.6, and those procedures will be supplemented by the following provisions; provided, that, in the event there is a conflict between any of the following provisions and a provision in Paragraphs 2.6, the following provisions will control:

- (1) Only an offeror's qualifications to provide the services will be evaluated to determine the basis of ranking firms for taking the next step of price negotiations.
- (2) Price will be excluded as an evaluation factor.
- (3) Negotiations regarding price will first be conducted with the most qualified offeror. Only after failing to agree on a fair and reasonable price with that offeror may negotiations be conducted with the next most qualified offeror. Once negotiations are terminated with a firm, they cannot be re-opened with that firm.
- (4) Serial Price Negotiations. If necessary, negotiations with successive offerors in descending order may be conducted until contract award can be made to the offeror whose price the recipient believes is fair and reasonable.

Audits and Indirect Costs. The following Federal requirements apply to any Third Party Contract that is subject to this Paragraph 10.4.6.6:

- (1) The contract or subcontract must be performed and audited in compliance with cost principles in FAR Part 31.
- (2) The Airports Authority and the contractor, its subcontractors and subrecipients, if any, will accept FAR indirect cost rates for one-year applicable accounting periods established by a cognizant Federal

or State government agency, if those rates are not currently under dispute.

- (3) After a firm's indirect cost rates established as described in subparagraph (2) above are accepted, those rates will apply for purposes of contract estimation, negotiation, administration, reporting, and payments.
- (4) Before requesting or using cost or rate data described in subparagraph (2) above, the Airports Authority will notify the affected firm. Those data are to be kept confidential, and are not to be provided, by the group of agencies that share cost data, except by written permission of the audited firm. Moreover, if prohibited by law, the data may not be disclosed under any circumstances. Before requesting or using such data, the Airports Authority will notify the affected firm. It will also obtain the firm's permission before it provides the data in response to a valid request under the Airports Authority's Freedom of Information (FOI) Policy. The confidentiality requirements of 49 U.S.C. 5325(b)(3)(D) cannot be waived, even if they conflict with State law or regulations.

[FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. VI, para. 3.f]

10.4.6.7 Design-Bid-Build

The design-bid-build procurement method requires separate contracts for design services and for construction. Under this procurement method:

- (1) For design services, the Airports Authority will use qualifications-based procurement procedures, as provided in Paragraph 10.4.6.6.
- (2) For construction, the Airports Authority will not use qualifications-based procurement procedures and instead will generally use competitive procedures which include the sealed bid or competitive proposal procurement methods set out above in Paragraphs 10.4.6.3 and 10.4.6.4, respectively, as well as the two-step procurement method set out in Paragraph 10.4.6.5.

[FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. VI, para. 3.g]

10.4.6.8 Design-Build

The design-build procurement method consists of contracting for design services and construction simultaneously with contract award to a single contractor (e.g., a corporation, limited liability company, consortium, or joint venture) that will be responsible both for the project's design and for its construction. In utilizing this procurement method in connection with projects to which this Chapter 10 applies, the Airports Authority will comply with the following requirements.

First, the Airports Authority will separate the various contract activities to be undertaken and classify them as design or construction, and then calculate the estimated total costs of the activities placed in each of the two categories.

Second, the Airports Authority will compare the estimated costs in each category.

- (1) If construction costs are predominant, unless FTA determines otherwise in writing, the Airports Authority will not use the qualifications-based procurement method to acquire any of the contract activities in the design category (e.g., architectural engineering, program management, construction management, preliminary engineering or design, architectural and engineering services) but will use a procurement method that is applicable to construction (see, e.g., Paragraph 10.4.6.7.(2)) for the acquisition of all design and construction contract activities.
- (2) In the less usual circumstance where the cost of contract activities in the design category are predominant, the Airports Authority will use the qualifications-based procurement method in Paragraph 10.4.6.6 for the acquisition of all design and construction contract activities.

Paragraph 2.7.5 of this Manual provides for the use of a two-step design-build procurement method. The procurement procedures applicable to this procurement method in Paragraphs 2.7.5 and 2.2.11 will apply to design-build procurements under this Chapter 10. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. VI, para. 3.h]

10.4.6.9 Other Than Full and Open Competition

Normally, the Airports Authority will provide for Full and Open Competition when engaging in procurements to which this Chapter 10 applies. However, under certain circumstances, the Airports Authority may conduct such procurements without providing for such competition.

When Appropriate. The Airports Authority may procure with Other Than Full and Open Competition when a procurement is inappropriate for the use of small purchases, sealed bid, or competitive proposal procurement methods, and at least one of the following circumstances is present:

(1) Competition Adequate. Upon receiving a single bid or proposal in response to a solicitation, the Contracting Officer will determine whether competition was adequate. This will include a review of the specifications for undue restrictiveness and might include a survey of potential sources that chose not to submit a bid or proposal. The Contracting Officer will also review the specifications for changes that may be made to encourage submission of more bids or proposals. If the Contracting Officer determines that

the specifications are not unduly restrictive and changes cannot be made to encourage greater competition, the Contracting Officer may determine the competition adequate, in which case a contract may be awarded to the firm submitting the single bid or proposal. Also in this case, a cost analysis will be performed in lieu of a price analysis.

The FTA regulations acknowledge that competition is adequate when the reasons for few responses are caused by conditions beyond the Recipient's control. If the competition can be determined adequate, FTA's competition requirements will be fulfilled. At the same time, the FTA regulations recognize that competition may be inadequate due to conditions within the Recipient's control, such as when specifications are unduly restrictive.

(2) Sole Source. When the Airports Authority requires supplies or services that are available from only one responsible source, and no other supplies or services will satisfy its requirements, the Contracting Officer may make a sole source award. This may also occur when the Airports Authority needs to make a change to an existing contract that is beyond the scope of the contract in order to obtain supplies or services that are available only from that contractor.

In applying this paragraph (2), supplies or services will be considered to be available only from one source if any of the following conditions is present:

- (a) Unique or Innovative Concept. The source of the supplies or services demonstrates a unique or innovative concept or capability not available from another source. Unique or innovative concept means a new, novel, or changed concept, approach, or method that is the product of original thinking, the details of which are kept confidential or are patented or copyrighted, and the concept, approach or method is available to the Airports Authority only from one source and has not in the past been available to the Airports Authority from another source.
- (b) Patents or Restricted Data Rights. Patent, intellectual property or data rights restrictions preclude competition.
- (c) In the case of a follow-on contract for the continued development or production of highly specialized equipment or major components thereof, it is likely that an award to another source would result in substantial duplication of costs that are not expected to be recovered through competition, or in unacceptable delays in fulfilling the Airports Authority's needs.

- (3) Unusual and Compelling Urgency. The Airports Authority may limit the number of sources from which it solicits bids or proposals (i) when it has such an unusual and urgent need for the supplies or services in that it would be seriously injured unless it limited the solicitation or (ii) when a public exigency or emergency exists that will not permit the delay in obtaining the supplies or services that will result from a fully competitive solicitation.
- (4) Authorized by FTA. The Common Grant Rule provides Federal agencies authority to permit Recipients to use other than full and open competition procurements. Under this authority, the FTA has authorized Recipients, including the Airports Authority, to use other than full and open competitive procurements in the following circumstances:
 - (a) To comply with Department of Transportation (DOT) appropriations laws which include specific statutory requirements, with the result that only a single contractor can perform certain project work.
 - (b) To maintain the availability of a facility, producer, manufacturer, or other supplier to provide supplies or services in the event of a national emergency or to achieve industrial mobilization.
 - (c) To acquire the services of an expert or neutral person for any current or anticipated protest, dispute, claim, or litigation.
 - (d) When competition is precluded by the terms of an international agreement or a treaty between the United States and a foreign government or international organization, or is prohibited by the written directions of a foreign government reimbursing the Airports Authority for the cost of the acquisition of the supplies or services for that government.
 - (e) When the disclosure of the Airports Authority's needs would compromise national security.
 - (f) When the Airports Authority determines that Full and Open Competition in connection with a particular procurement is not in the public interest.

When Prohibited. Other than full and open competition is not justified based on:

- (1) The Airports Authority's lack of advance planning; or
- (2) Limited Availability of Federal Assistance. Concerns about the amount of Federal assistance available to

support the procurement (e.g., expiration of Federal assistance previously available for award).

Procurement Procedures. When other than full and open competition is available, the Airports Authority will:

- (1) Solicit offers from as many potential sources as is practicable under the circumstances.
- (2) If the Contracting Officer decides to solicit an offer from only one source, the decision will be adequately justified in writing.
- (3) The Contracting Officer will prepare or obtain a cost analysis verifying the cost data proposed by the source and the projections of the data, and evaluating the source's costs and profits.
- (4) The Contracting Officer will submit the proposed procurement to FTA for pre-award review if FTA so requests.

[FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. VI, para. 3.i]

10.4.7 Adequate Third Party Contract Provisions

The Common Grant Rule requires that all Third Party Contracts include provisions adequate to form a sound and complete agreement. Compliance with Federal laws and regulations necessarily requires the addition of many other provisions to ensure compliance with those laws and regulations. Specific Federal contract provisions, directed at those laws and regulations, are required for each contract, as well as a provision requiring that the contractor extend the requirements of those laws and regulations to its subcontractors to the extent required. A matrix of clauses required in FTA-assisted Third Party Contracts is set out in Appendix I. Contracting Officers will use the matrix to identify required clauses and use the suggested or mandatory clause language in Appendix J. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. III, para. 3.b]

10.4.8 Sources

The Airports Authority is authorized to use many sources from which to acquire property and services whose procurement is subject to this Chapter 10 as described below:

10.4.8.1 Force Account

"Force account" means the Airports Authority's own labor forces and equipment. The use of force account labor is a project management function, rather than a procurement and contract administration function. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. V, para. 1]

10.4.8.2 Shared Use

The Common Grant Rule encourages Recipients and subrecipients to enter into agreements for shared use of property and services. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. V, para. 2]

10.4.8.3 Joint Procurements

The FTA uses the term "joint procurement" to mean a method of contracting in which two or more purchasers agree from the outset to use a single solicitation document and enter into a single contract with a vendor for delivery of property or services in a fixed quantity, even if expressed as a total minimum and total maximum. The FTA encourages Recipients to procure property and services jointly with other Recipients or others to obtain better pricing through larger purchases. When obtaining goods or services in this manner, the Airports Authority will ensure compliance with all applicable FTA and Federal requirements and include all required clauses and certifications in the joint solicitation and contract documents. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. V, para. 3]

10.4.8.4 State or Local Government

Purchasing Schedules or Purchasing Contracts. The FTA encourages Recipients to use State and Local Governmental Purchasing Schedules and Purchasing Contracts (defined in Paragraph 10.1.14) for procurements of property or services. When obtaining property or services in this manner, the Airports Authority will ensure that all Federal requirements, required clauses, and certifications (including FTA's Buy America requirements) are properly followed and included, whether in the master intergovernmental contract or in the Airports Authority's purchase documents. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. V, para. 4]

10.4.8.5 Federal Excess and Surplus Property

The Common Grant Rule encourages Recipients to use Federal excess and surplus property managed by the General Services Administration when feasible and economical rather than procuring new property. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. V, para. 5]

10.4.8.6 <u>Federal Supply Schedules</u>

Recipients must be specifically authorized by Federal law before they may use a General Services Administration Federal Supply Schedule. Federal laws authorize state and Local Governments, including the Airports Authority, to use Federal Supply Schedules to acquire information technology (IT) and to purchase products and services to facilitate recovery from a major disaster. When using GSA schedules to acquire property or services in this manner, the Airports Authority will ensure that all Federal requirements, required clauses, and certifications (including FTA's Buy America requirements) are properly followed and included, whether in the master intergovernmental contract or in the Airports

Authority's purchase documents. When using GSA schedules to acquire property or services, the Contracting Officer will seek offers from at least three sources, will consider whether the GSA price is reasonable and may seek a lower price than that published on the GSA schedules. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. V, para. 6]

10.4.8.7 <u>Existing Contracts</u>

For purposes of this section, an "existing contract" means a contract that, when formed, was intended to be limited to the original parties thereto.

Permissible Actions. The Airports Authority may use existing contract rights held by another Recipient, and may assign excess contract rights in its own contracts to another Recipient in the following circumstances:

- (1) Exercise of Options Held by Other Recipients. The Airports Authority may use contract options held by another Recipient with the following limitations:
 - (a) Consistency with the Underlying Contract. The Contracting Officer will ensure that the terms and conditions of the option it seeks to exercise are substantially similar to the terms and conditions of the option as stated in the original contract at the time it was awarded.
 - (b) Price. The Contracting Officer will not use an option held by another Recipient unless it has been determined, by price analysis, that the option price is more advantageous than prices available in the market, or that the option, when exercised, is more advantageous than procuring on the open market.
- (2) Exercise of Options Held by Airports Authority:
 - (a) Treated as Sole Source Procurements in Certain Circumstances.

When an Airports Authority contract has one or more options and those options were not evaluated as part of the original contract award, exercising those options after contract award will result in a sole source award.

Similarly, exercising an option after the Contracting Officer has negotiated a lower or higher price for the option period or quantity will also result in a sole source award unless that price can be reasonably determined from the terms of the original contract, or results from Federal actions that can be reliably measured, such as changes in Federal prevailing labor rates.

(b) Price. The Contracting Officer will not use an option held by the Airports Authority unless it has been determined, by price analysis, that the option price is more advantageous than prices available in the market, or that the option, when exercised, is more advantageous than procuring on the open market.

- (3) Assignment of Contract Rights (Piggybacking).
 - Assignment by Airports Authority. The Airports Authority is expected to limit its procurements to the amount of property and services required to meet its reasonably expected needs without adding excess capacity simply for the purpose of assigning contract rights to others at a later date. Thus, the Contracting Officer will document the contract file justifying the quantities procured, and when property or services are solicited, competed, and awarded through the use of an indefinite-deliveryindefinite-quantity (IDIQ) contract, solicitation and the contract will contain both a minimum and maximum quantity that represent the Airports Authority's reasonably foreseeable needs.

However, when the Airports Authority finds that it has inadvertently acquired contract rights in excess of its needs, it may assign those contract rights to other Recipients if the original contract contains an assignability provision that permits the assignment of all or a portion of the specified deliverables under the terms originally advertised, competed, evaluated, and awarded, or contains other appropriate assignment provisions.

- Assignment to Airports Authority. Although FTA does not encourage the practice, the Airports Authority may acquire contract rights through assignment by another Recipient. For this to occur, the Contracting Officer will (i) determine that the contract price remains fair and reasonable and the contract provisions are adequate for compliance with all Federal requirements (ii) ensure the contractor's compliance with FTA's Buy America requirements and execution of Buy America certifications, and (iii) ensure that the quantities acquired to date under the contract, together with the quantities sought by the Airports Authority do not exceed the quantities of the original contract.
- (c) Alternatives to Assignment of Contract Rights.
 The Airports Authority recognizes that since assignments limit its choices to specific

property and services acquired to meet another Recipient's particular needs, it may more desirable to use intergovernmental procurements or joint procurements to obtain better pricing.

Impermissible Actions. The following actions are not permitted in conjunction with contracts to which this Chapter 10 applies:

- (1) Improper Contract Expansion. The Airports Authority may not improperly expand a contract. This occurs when a contract includes a larger scope, greater quantities, or options beyond the Airports Authority's reasonably anticipated needs. It also occurs when a contract includes excess capacity which has been added primarily to permit assignment of the excess rights to another entity. The Airports Authority may not enter into a contract for quantities that it does not itself need.
- (2) Cardinal Changes. The Airports Authority may not make any cardinal changes to a contract.

[FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. V, para. 7]

10.4.8.8 The Open Market

The Airports Authority will acquire most of the property and services it needs through procurements in the open market. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. V, para. 8]

10.4.9 Resolution of Third Party Contract Issues

10.4.9.1 Protests

The protest procedures in Chapter 7 of this Manual will govern procurement protests to which this Chapter 10 applies and are supplemented by the following provisions.

The Airports Authority's Role and Responsibilities. The Airports Authority will provide the following information to the FTA in the event of a protest:

- (1) Timely Notification. The Airports Authority will notify the FTA when it receives a protest and will keep the FTA informed about the status of all filed protests. The following information will be provided to the FTA Regional Administrator:
 - (a) A list of filed protests in procurements that:
 - Have a value exceeding \$100,000, or
 - Involve a controversial matter, irrespective of amount, or
 - Involve a highly publicized matter, irrespective of amount.

- (b) The following information about each protest:
 - A brief description of the protest,
 - The basis of disagreement, and
 - If open, how far the protest has proceeded or, if resolved, the agreement or decision reached, and
 - Whether an appeal has been taken or is likely to be taken.
- (c) The Airports Authority will provide this information in its quarterly Milestone Progress Reports, and at its next Project Management Oversight reviews, if any and generally will keep the FTA project manager informed about protests.
- (d) The Airports Authority will also provide notice of any decision to deny a protest.
- (2) Additional Information. The Airports Authority will disclose information about any protest that is requested by FTA to and will provide any documentation requested.

FTA Role and Responsibilities. The FTA has developed an appeals process for reviewing a Recipient's decision in procurement protests.

- (1) Only an "interested party" qualifies for FTA review of its appeal. An "interested party" is a party that is an actual or prospective bidder or offeror whose direct economic interest would be affected by the award or failure to award the Third Party Contract at issue. A subcontractor does not qualify as an "interested party."
- (2) The protester must exhaust its administrative remedies by pursuing the protest procedures in Chapter 7 of this Manual to completion before appealing an Airports Authority decision to the FTA.
- (3) The protester must deliver its appeal to the FTA Regional Administrator within five (5) working days of the date on when the protester has received actual or constructive notice of the Airports Authority's final decision in its protest or must identify other grounds for appeal, such as the Airports Authority's failure to comply with its protest procedures or its refusal to review the protest.
- (4) The FTA will limit its review of protest appeals to:
 - (a) Whether the Airports Authority has failed to comply with its protest procedures or has refused to review the protest when presented with an opportunity to do so; and

(b) At the discretion of the FTA, whether the Airports Authority, in the course of the procurement, has violated a Federal law or regulation.

[FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. VII, para. 1]

10.4.9.2 Changes and Modifications

The Contracting Officer is responsible for issuing, evaluating and making necessary decisions involving changes to Airports Authority contracts, and for preparing and executing change orders or modifications issued in accordance with the Changes Provision in Airports Authority contracts. The Contracting Officer is also responsible for evaluating and making the necessary decisions involving any claim of a constructive change.

The Contracting Officer must have written cost justifications supporting any change order and have the proposed change approved before it is issued. To be eligible for FTA assistance, the cost of the change, modification, change order, or constructive change must be allowable, allocable, within the scope of its grant or cooperative agreement, and reasonable for the completion of project scope. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. VII, para. 2]

10.4.9.3 Disputes

The Airports Authority Role and Responsibilities. The Airports Authority is responsible for evaluating and resolving Third Party Contract disputes. The disputes procedures in Chapter 8 of this Manual will apply to disputes arising under contracts awarded pursuant to this Chapter 10. In order for payments made to a third party contractor to settle a dispute to be eligible for Federal assistance, the Airports Authority will take the following actions:

- (1) Notify FTA about Disputes. The Airports Authority will notify the FTA when it receives a Third Party Contract dispute, and keep the FTA informed about the status of the dispute. The following information will be provided:
 - (a) A list of actual and potential disputes involving Third Party Contracts that:
 - Have a value exceeding \$100,000,
 - Involve a controversial matter, irrespective of amount, or
 - Involve a highly publicized matter, irrespective of amount.
 - (b) The following information about each dispute:
 - A brief description of the dispute,
 - The basis of disagreement, and

- If open, how far the dispute has proceeded or, if resolved, the agreement or decision reached.
- (c) The Airports Authority will provide this information in quarterly Milestone Progress Reports, and at its Project Management Oversight reviews, if any.
- (d) The Airports Authority will also endeavor to keep its FTA project manager informed about disputes with which it is involved.
- (2) Documentation of Disputes. The Contracting Officer will include adequate documentation in the project files of the facts, events, negotiations, applicable laws related to a dispute, as well as a legal evaluation of the likelihood of success in any potential litigation involving the dispute, as may be needed to justify FTA's concurrence in any compromise or settlement of the dispute, should FTA concurrence become necessary.
- (3) Audit. Since an audit may help the Airports Authority demonstrate that the costs incurred in settling a dispute are necessary, reasonable, adequately documented, and appropriate for FTA support, it will consider conducting or obtaining an audit before settling large contract disputes. Any such audit will be conducted in accordance with "Generally Accepted Auditing Standards" as defined by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

FTA Role and Responsibilities. In light of its financial interest in the settlement of disputes involving Third Party Contracts, the FTA retains the following rights:

- (1) The FTA may review the reasonableness of a negotiated settlement to determine the extent of its participation in the costs of the settlement.
- (2) The FTA may review the Airports Authority's files and history pertaining to the dispute or experience under a particular grant or cooperative agreement.

If the Airports Authority has already disbursed Federal funds to settle a contract dispute which is determined to be ineligible for FTA assistance, the Airports Authority will return those funds to the FTA, unless the FTA determines otherwise. The FTA reserves the right to defer financial participation in settlement costs until it receives an adequate audit. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. VII, para. 3]

10.4.9.4 Claims and Litigation

The Airports Authority Role and Responsibilities. The Airports Authority will evaluate and attempt to reach a reasonable resolution of claims and litigation arising from a contractor's violation, default, or breach of a Third Party

Contract. The Airports Authority will also evaluate and attempt to reach a reasonable resolution of claims a contractor may present against it and related litigation. The Airports Authority will use the procedures in Chapter 8 of this Manual in addressing claims and litigation arising from Third Party Contracts awarded pursuant to this Chapter 10, and, in addition, will take the following actions.

- (1) The Airports Authority will provide the following information to the FTA in connection with claims and litigation:
 - (a) A list of claims and litigation involving Third-Party Contracts and Potential Third-Party Contracts that:
 - Have a value exceeding \$100,000,
 - Involve a controversial matter, irrespective of amount, or
 - Involve a highly publicized matter, irrespective of amount.
 - (b) The following information about each claim or lawsuit:
 - A brief description of the claim or lawsuit,
 - The basis of disagreement,
 - If open, how far the claim or litigation has proceeded or, if resolved, the decision or agreement reached, and whether an appeal has been or is likely to be taken.
 - (c) The Airports Authority will provide this information in its quarterly Milestone Progress Reports, and at its Project Management Oversight reviews, if any, and will also keep its FTA project manager informed about claims and lawsuits with which it is involved.
- (2) In resolving Third Party Contract claims, the Airports Authority will take reasonable measures to pursue its rights and remedies available under the contract and law, including settlement, particularly if failure to do so would jeopardize the Federal interest in the project or cause the Airports Authority to seek additional Federal assistance.

FTA Role and Responsibilities. In light of its financial interest in claims and litigation involving Third-Party Contracts, the FTA retains the following rights:

(1) The FTA retains a right to a share of any net proceeds recovered by the Airports Authority through the settlement or other resolution of a claim or lawsuit in proportion to the amount the FTA has committed to the project, unless the FTA permits other uses of the proceeds.

(2) Where the Airports Authority has recovered liquidated damages under a liquidated damages contract provision, the FTA retains the right to have the Airports Authority credit the recovered damages to the Federally-assisted project, unless the FTA permits other uses of the damages.

[FTA C 420.1F, Ch. VII, para. 4]

10.4.9.5 <u>FTA Participation in Settlements,</u> Arbitration Awards, and Court Awards

The Airports Authority's Role and Responsibilities:

- (1) The FTA recognizes that a settlement of Third Party Contract claims may require the Airports Authority to relinquish its rights to amounts it would otherwise be due under the contract, including amounts for liquidated damages and other matters, were it to prevail on all matters at issue. Nonetheless, the FTA expects the Airports Authority to enter into a settlement only if it can demonstrate the terms of the settlement to be reasonable.
- (2) To justify the FTA's participation in settlements, arbitration awards, or court awards, the Airports Authority's records must be sufficient to demonstrate that it has taken reasonable and prudent measures to prevent or offset the actions or circumstances that had resulted in the underlying dispute, claim, or litigation.
- (3) The Airports Authority will secure FTA's review and written concurrence of any proposed settlement, or of any arbitration or court award before using Federal assistance to support the costs of the settlement or award, if one of the following circumstances is present:
 - (a) When the settlement or award exceeds \$100,000.
 - (b) When the approved project lacks sufficient funds to cover the settlement costs.
 - (c) When a special Federal interest or Federal concern is declared due to program management concerns, possible mismanagement, impropriety, waste, or fraud.

FTA Role and Responsibilities:

- (1) The FTA reserves the right to review the Airports Authority's supporting documentation of the settlement or award.
- (2) If FTA assistance is available, the FTA may provide a prorated share of any eligible costs that result from the settlement or award so long as the underlying dispute or claim was not caused by the Airports Authority's

- mismanagement and is attributable to the contractor, and the costs are otherwise properly incurred.
- (3) Costs incurred in connection with the settlement or award that are the result of the Airports Authority's negligence or error are usually ineligible for FTA participation. The FTA reserves the right to determine the extent to which FTA assistance may be used for any such settlement or award.

[FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. VII, para. 5]

10.4.10 Determining the Airports Authority's Needs

In undertaking procurements under this Chapter 10, the Airports Authority will document that the procurement addresses only its minimum needs. The documentation containing the basis or justification for determining the type and amount of property and services to be acquired through a procurement will address the following requirements and other matters.

10.4.10.1 Eligibility

The Airports Authority will only acquire property and services that are eligible for acquisition under the Federal law authorizing the applicable FTA assistance award and any related regulations. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. IV, para. 1.a]

10.4.10.2 Necessity

The Airports Authority will contract only for its current and reasonably expected needs and will not add quantities or options to Third Party Contracts to permit assignment to another party at a later date. If the Airports Authority's needs later change due to changed circumstances or honest mistakes, it may assign its unneeded contract authority to another entity that would like to acquire the property or services. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. IV, para. 1,b]

10.4.10.3 Procurement Size

The Contracting Officer will consider whether to consolidate or break out elements of the procurement to obtain a more economical purchase.

(1) Joint Procurements. It may be economically advantageous for the Airports Authority to enter into a joint procurement with others that have similar needs. Participation in a joint procurement, however, does not relieve the Airports Authority from the requirements and responsibilities it would have were it procuring the property or services itself, and does not diminish its responsibility for the actions of other participants because the primary administrative responsibility for a particular action resides in an

entity other than in itself. [FTA C 4220.1 F, Ch. IV, para. 1.c(1)]

- (2) Smaller Procurements. In some circumstances, breaking out procurements may provide greater opportunities for Disadvantaged Business Enterprises (DBEs), small and minority firms, and women's business enterprises to participate. Absent efforts to foster greater opportunities for DBE, small and minority firms, and women's business enterprises, the Contracting Officer will not split a larger procurement merely to gain the advantages of small purchase procedures available under Paragraph 10.4.6.2. [FTA C 4220.1 F, Ch. IV, para. 1.c(2)]
- (3) Options. Contracts may include options to ensure the future availability of property or services, so long as the requesting office is able to justify them as needed for its project purposes. An option is a unilateral right in a contract by which, for a specified time, the Airports Authority may acquire additional equipment, supplies, or other property, or services than procured for the contract term. An option may also extend the term of the contract. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. IV, para. 1. d]
- (4) Lease Versus Purchase. The Airports Authority will lease, rather than acquire, property only if leasing is more cost effective than full ownership. Before the Airports Authority may lease an asset, the Contracting Officer will make a written comparison of the cost of leasing the asset compared with the cost of purchasing or constructing the asset. Costs used in the comparison will be reasonable and based on realistic current market conditions, and the expected useful service life of the asset. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. IV, para. 1.e]
- (5) Specifications. The Contracting Officer will ensure that the requesting offices prepare specifications that describe their needs and are not exclusionary, discriminatory, unreasonably restrictive, or otherwise in violation of Federal laws or regulations. In general, the specifications will clearly describe the property or services to be procured and state how the proposals will be evaluated. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. IV, para. 1.f]

10.5 FEDERAL REQUIREMENTS THAT MAY AFFECT THE AIRPORTS AUTHORITY'S ACQUISITIONS

In order for the Airports Authority to use FTA assistance to support the acquisitions of property or services to which this Chapter 10 applies, it must comply with a variety of Federal requirements, arising under Federal laws and regulations, that apply to such acquisitions. These requirements, and the Airports Authority's compliance with them, are addressed in this Paragraph 10.5.

10.5.1 Contractor Qualifications

The following requirements will be addressed by the Contracting Officer when making the contractor selections.

10.5.1.1 Responsibility Requirements

The Airports Authority will only award contracts to responsible contractors. Responsible contractors are those capable of successfully performing under the terms and conditions of the proposed contract. Before selecting a contractor for a contract, the Contracting Officer will consider such matters as contractor integrity, compliance with public policy, record of past performance, and financial and technical resources. Before selecting a contractor to perform design or construction work on a fixed guideway project, the Contractor Officer will consider the contractor's past performance information reported in FTA's required Contractor Performance Assessment Reports. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. IV, para. 2.a(1)]

10.5.1.2 <u>Debarment and Suspension</u>

- (1) The Contracting Officer will ensure that the Federal Debarment and Suspension clause (See Appendix J, Clause 9) is included in any contracts of \$25,000 or more. When such a contract is involved, all potential contractors will be required to submit a Debarment and Suspension Certification as part of their bid/proposal packages, and, if selected, to ensure that this same requirement is placed in all of their lower tier contracts.
- (2) The Contracting Officer also will check the General Services Administration Excluded Parties List System before awarding contracts of \$25,000 or more. A screen print of the webpage will be included in the contract file.
- (3) The Contracting Officer may treat any potential contractor or subcontractor listed on a centralized State government debarment and suspension list as non-responsible and ineligible for contract award.

[FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. IV, para. 2.a(2)]

10.5.1.3 Conflict of Interest

The Contracting Officer will consider any conflict of interest issues a potential contractor might have, including lack of impartiality, impaired objectivity, or unfair competitive advantage. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. IV, para. 2.a(3)]

10.5.1.4 Lobbying Certification and Disclosure

The Contracting Officer will include a Federal lobbying clause in any contract exceeding \$100,000 (See Appendix J, Clause 12). [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. IV, para. 2.a(4)]

10.5.1.5 Federal Civil Rights Laws and Regulations

The Contracting Officer will include the Federal Civil Rights clause (see Appendix J, Clause 6) in each contract exceeding \$10,000. The Federal Civil Rights requirements include, but are not limited to, Federal requirements relating to equal employment opportunity requirements, nondiscrimination on the basis of sex, nondiscrimination on the basis of age, and Federal protections for individual with disabilities. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. IV, para. 2.a(5)]

10.5.1.6 Socio-Economic Development

The following provisions arise from Federal laws and regulations that require competitive opportunities to be made available for contractors that qualify as a Disadvantaged Business Enterprise, minority-owned firm, women's business enterprise, or small business.

- (1) Disadvantaged Business Enterprises (DBE). Federal law requires the FTA to make available at least 10 percent of its funding for contracts with small business concerns owned and controlled by socially and economically disadvantaged people. Recipients like the Airports Authority assist the FTA in meeting this national goal. Whenever, by virtue of a grant or other form of Federal assistance, the Airports Authority is required to have a DBE program, that program will address Third Party Contracts which will be funded in part by the Federal assistance and, in addition, where appropriate, will establish a DBE goal related to such Third Party Contracts. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. IV, para. 2.a(6)(a)]
- Small and Minority Firms and Women's Business (2) Enterprises. In order to ensure that it uses small and minority firms and women's business enterprises in Third Party Contracts to the fullest extent practicable, the Airports Authority will make information available to potentially qualified firms about procurement opportunities, will include these firms on solicitation lists, and will request their participation when they are potential sources. In addition, in order to make procurement opportunities available to these firms, the Airports Authority will divide total procurement requirements into smaller tasks or quantities when economically and operationally feasible. The Contracting Officer will require third party contractors to ensure that the preceding provisions are placed in all lower tier contracts. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. IV, para. 2.a(6)(b)]

10.5.1.7 <u>Sensitive Security Information</u>

The Contracting Officer will ensure that each third party contractor protects, and takes measures to ensure that its subcontractors at each tier protect, "sensitive security information" made available during the administration of the contract or subcontract. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. IV, para. 2.a(7)]

10.5.1.8 Seat Belt Use

The Contracting Officer will encourage each third party contractor to adopt and promote on-the-job seat belt use policies and programs for its employees and other personnel that operate company owned or rented or personally operated vehicles, and will require the contractor to ensure that this provision is included in all lower tier contracts. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. IV, para. 2.a(8)]

10.5.2 Administrative Restrictions on the Acquisition of Property and Services

10.5.2.1 Legal Eligibility

Before proceeding with the acquisition of any property or services, the Contracting Officer will determine that the property or services are eligible for support under the Federal law applicable to the Federal assistance to be used. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. IV, para. 2.b(1)]

10.5.2.2 Scope of the Project

Before proceeding with the acquisition of any property or services, the Contracting Officer will determine that the property or services are eligible for support under the specific grant which is providing the Federal assistance to be used. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. IV, para. 2.b(2)]

10.5.2.3 <u>Period of Performance (Contract Term)</u>

The Contracting Officer will use sound business judgment and be judicious in establishing and extending a contract's period of performance or term. A contract's period of performance will be reasonable. Generally, the period will not exceed the time necessary to accomplish the purpose of the contract, although other factors, including competition, pricing, fairness and public perception, will be considered in setting the period. The Contracting Officer will document the rationale for determining the performance period for each contract. While the Airports Authority has no plans to acquire rolling stock, it should be noted that FTA restricts any contract for rolling stock and replacement parts with a period of performance not to exceed five years, inclusive of options.

When considering an extension to a contract term, the Contracting Officer will determine whether it represents a permissible contract change or an impermissible Cardinal Change. Any extension that represents a Cardinal Change will not be approved. [FTA C 4220.1 F, Ch. IV, para. 2.b(3)]

10.5.2.4 Federal Cost Principles

Under the Common Grant Rule, Third Party Contract costs are to conform to applicable Federal cost principles to be eligible for Federal assistance. The Contracting Officer will ensure that costs incurred under Third Party Contracts awarded conform to applicable Federal cost principles and, in addition, are necessary and reasonable, are allocable to the underlying Federally-assisted project, and are either authorized or not prohibited by Federal law or regulation. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. IV, para. 2.b(4)]

10.5.2.5 Payment Provisions

The Airports Authority may use its own funds to finance its Third Party Contracts. However, where the Airports Authority intends to make contract payments with FTA assistance, to make payments with its own funds but be reimbursed with FTA assistance, or to make payments with dedicated local share funds, it will structure its payment provisions according to the following.

- (1) The Airports Authority may not use FTA assistance to finance or reimburse contract costs or use dedicated local share funds for contract costs unless the FTA has (i) awarded a grant or other form of Federal assistance to the Airports Authority for or in connection with the underlying project, (ii) given the Airports Authority pre-award authority for the underlying project through a *Federal Register* notice, (iii) issued a letter of no prejudice for the underlying project, or (iv) approved specific contract costs in advance of their being incurred. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. IV, para. 2.b(5)(a)]
- (2) Advance Payments. The following provisions apply to Advance Payments (as defined in Paragraph 10.1.1):
 - (a) Generally, the Airports Authority will not make Advance Payments (as defined in Paragraph 10.1.1) to a contractor since these payments are usually not eligible for Federal assistance.
 - (b) The FTA occasionally makes exceptions to its Advance Payment prohibitions when a Recipient can provide sound business reasons for making such payments and has obtained the FTA's advance written concurrence. When the FTA has approved the Airports Authority's use of Advance Payments and unless the FTA has otherwise instructed, the Contracting Officer will ensure that the contract has adequate provisions for security for those payments, usually in the form of a bond, letter of credit or corporate guaranty.
 - (c) The FTA also recognizes that Advance Payments are typically required for such things

as public utility connections and services, rent, tuition, insurance premiums, subscriptions to publications, software licenses, construction mobilization costs, transportation, hotel reservations, and conference and convention registrations. Accordingly, in contracts for the acquisition of such items, the Contracting Officer may provide for the making of Advance Payments; provided, that, when the total of such payments is expected to exceed \$100,000, the Contracting Officer will seek FTA concurrence of the payments.

[FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. IV, para. 2.b(5)(b)]

- (3) Progress Payments. The Contracting Officer may provide for the making of Progress Payments (as defined in Paragraph 10.1.10), provided adequate security is obtained for those payments and sufficient written documentation is provided to substantiate the work for which the payments are made.
 - Adequate Security for Progress Payments. Adequate security for Progress Payments may include taking title or obtaining a letter of credit or taking equivalent measures to protect the Airports Authority's financial interest in the Progress Payment. Adequate security should reflect the practical realities of different procurement scenarios factual and circumstances. The FTA acknowledges the practical reality that taking title to work in progress may not be desirable in some circumstances. In determining the nature and extent of security, the Contracting Officer will consider the costs associated with providing the security and the impact of those costs on the contract price, as well as the consequences of incomplete performance.
 - (b) Adequate Documentation. The Contracting Officer will endeavor to ensure that documentation is prepared to demonstrate completion of the amount of work for which progress payments are made.
 - (c) Percentage of Completion Method. In accordance with the Common Grant Rule, Progress Payments for construction contracts will be made on the percentage of completion method described in the rule. Progress Payments for other contracts will not be based on this percentage method.

[FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. IV, para. 2.b(5)(c)]

10.5.2.6 <u>Protections Against Performance</u> Difficulties

The Airports Authority will include in contracts awarded under this Chapter 10 provisions that are designed to reduce potential problems that may occur during contract performance, including the provisions described below.

- (1) Changes. The Contracting Officer will include changes and changed conditions provisions or clauses in most contracts, except for routine supply contracts. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. IV, para. 2.b(6)(a)]
- (2) Remedies. The Contracting Officer will include the following provisions, as applicable:
 - Liquidated Damages. Provisions for liquidated damages will be included when the Airports Authority reasonably expects to suffer damages if contract completion is delayed, and the extent or amount of such damages are uncertain and would be difficult or impossible to determine. The rates or standards to be used in calculating the amount of liquidated damages are to reasonably reflect the Airports Authority's damages should the contract completion be delayed, and are to be specified in the solicitation and contract. The calculation of liquidated damages is often established at a specific rate per day for each day beyond the contract's completion or delivery date or performance period. The Contracting Officer will include in the procurement file a record of the calculation and rationale for the daily rate or other amount of damages established. Any liquidated damages recovered will be credited to the underlying project account unless the FTA permits otherwise.
 - (b) Violation or Breach. Contracts exceeding \$100,000 will include administrative, contractual, or legal remedies for violations or breaches of the contract by the contractor.
 - (c) Suspension of Work. When specifically required by the FTA, provisions pertaining to suspension of work will be included.
 - (d) Termination. Termination for cause and termination for convenience provisions will be included in contracts exceeding \$10,000.

[FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. IV, para. 2.b(6)(b)]

10.5.3 Socio-Economic Requirements for the Acquisition of Property and Services

10.5.3.1 <u>Labor</u>

The following Federal labor protection laws and regulations may affect the types of property and services that may be acquired with FTA assistance:

- (1) Wage and Hour Requirements. The Airports Authority will include provisions in contracts exceeding \$100,000 that require the contractor, except where permitted by law, to compute the wages of every worker based on a standard workweek of forty (40) hours and that provide that work in excess of the standard workweek is permitted only if the worker is compensated, at a rate of not less than one and one-half times the worker's basic rate of pay, for all hours worked in excess of forty (40) hours in the workweek. In addition, the Airports Authority will include provisions in construction contracts exceeding \$2,000 that require the contractor to comply with the prevailing wage requirements of the Davis-Bacon Act.
- (2) Fair Labor Standards. The Airports Authority will include a provision in all contracts stating that the Fair Labor Standards Act, 29 U.S.C. Sections 201 *et seq.*, applies to employees performing work involving commerce.

[FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. IV, para. 2.c(1)]

10.5.3.2 Civil Rights

The Airports Authority will include the Federal civil rights provision (see Appendix J, Clause 6) in all contracts exceeding \$10,000. [FTA 4220.1F, Ch. IV, para. 2.c(2)]

10.5.3.3 Environmental Protections

- (1) Environmental Mitigation. The Contracting Officer will include the Federal environmental contract provision, (see Appendix J) in all contracts. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. IV, para. 2.c(3)(a)]
- (2) National Environmental Policy Act. Certain acquisitions and the timing of certain acquisitions can adversely affect the environmental review process required for a project constituting a major Federal action. The Airports Authority will not enter a contract or other binding arrangement for the acquisition of property that may or would affect environmental impact determinations with respect to the underlying project, or otherwise interfere with any required environmental impact reviews, until applicable environmental impact determinations have been made. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. IV, para. 2.c(3)(b)]

- (3) EPA Violating Facilities. In accordance with the Common Grant Rule, the Airports Authority will not enter any contract that provides for, or allows at any tier exceeding \$100,000, the use of any facility included in the Environmental Protection Agency "List of Violating Facilities." [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. IV, paras. 2.c(3)(d) and 2.c(3)(e)
- (4) Clean Air. The Contracting Officer will include a provision in all contracts exceeding \$100,000 that requires the contractor to comply with all applicable standards, orders, or regulations issued under the Clean Air Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. Section 7414, et. Seq., as amended, and to ensure that this same requirement is in subcontracts exceeding \$100,000 at all tiers. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. IV, para. 2.c(3)(d)]
- (5) Clean Water. The Contracting Officer will include a provision in all contracts exceeding \$100,000, that requires the contractor to comply with all applicable standards, orders, or regulations issued under the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. Section 1251, *et. seq.*, as amended, and to ensure that this same requirement is in subcontracts exceeding \$100,000 at all tiers. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. IV, para. 2.c(3)(e)]
- (6) Recycled Products. In the acquisition of property and services of \$10,000 or more, the Airports Authority will provide a competitive preference, in accordance with the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976, to products and services that conserve natural resources, protect the environment, and are energy efficient. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. IV, para. 2.c(3)(f)]

10.5.3.4 Energy Conservation

The Airports Authority will include the Federal energy conservation provision (see Appendix J, Clause 26) in all contracts. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. IV, para. 2.c(4)]

10.5.3.5 <u>Preference for U.S. Property—Buy</u> America

The FTA's "Buy America" regulations apply to procurements in excess of \$100,000 that involve the purchase of iron, steel, manufactured goods, or rolling stock to be delivered to the Airports Authority for incorporation into an FTA-assisted project. Property that the contractor acquires to fabricate a deliverable for the Airports Authority, such as tools, machinery, facilities or other assets, are not subject to FTA's Buy America requirements unless the Airports Authority intends to take possession of those assets upon completion of the project. The Contracting Officer will include the appropriate Buy America provision (see Appendix J, Clause 10) in all appropriate contracts. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. IV, para. 2.c(5)]

10.5.3.6 <u>Shipments of Property—U.S. Flag</u> Requirements

- (1) Shipments by Ocean Vessel. With few exceptions, Federal regulations require that U.S. Flag vessels be used to transport at least fifty (50) percent of any Federally assisted property. The Contacting Officer will include the Federal Cargo Preference provision (See Appendix J, Clause 15) in all contracts where the transportation of goods will be by ocean freight. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. IV, para. 2.c(6)(a)]
- (2) Shipments by Air Carrier. The Fly America Act requires certain air shipments to be made on U.S. flag carriers unless U.S. flag carriers are not reasonably available. The Contacting Officer will include the Federal Fly America provision (see Appendix J, Clause 16) in all contracts where transportation of goods will be by air freight. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. IV, para. 2.c(6)(b)]

10.5.3.7 <u>Project Travel—Use of U.S. Flag Air Carriers</u>

The Fly America Act requires that air travel needed for people participating in a Federally assisted project to be by U.S. flag carrier, unless U.S. flag carriers are not reasonably available. The Contacting Officer will include the Federal Fly America provision (see Appendix J, Clause 16) in all contracts where air travel is involved. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. IV, para. 2.c(7)]

10.5.4 Technical Restrictions on the Acquisition of Property and Services

10.5.4.1 <u>Intelligent Transportation Systems</u>

Procurements of intelligent transportation system (ITS) property and services are to comply with the National ITS Architecture and Standards. The Contracting Officer will ensure the Federal ITS provision (see Appendix J, Clause 28) is included in all contracts involving ITS. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. IV, para. 2.d(1)]

10.5.4.2 Metric Measurements

The Airports Authority will accept property and services with dimensions expressed in metric measurements, to the extent practicable and feasible. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. IV, para. 2.d(2)]

10.5.4.3 Use of \$1 Coins

When procuring FTA assisted property that requires the use of coins or currency in public transportation service or supporting service, the Contracting Officer will ensure that the property is fully capable of accepting and dispensing \$1 coins. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. IV, para. 2.d(3)]

10.5.5 Rolling Stock – Special Requirements

The Airports Authority does not procure rolling stock, which includes buses and railcars, in procurements subject to this Chapter 10. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. IV, para. 2.e]

10.5.6 Public Transportation Services – Special Requirements

Federal requirements applicable to the acquisition of property and services to be used in the delivery of public transportation services are inapplicable to the Airports Authority since it does not deliver such services. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. IV, para. 2.f]

10.5.7 Construction – Special Requirements

10.5.7.1 <u>Bonding</u>

Under the Common Grant Rule bonds are to be obtained for construction contracts exceeding the Federal simplified acquisition threshold (as of July 2011, \$100,000) unless the FTA determines that other arrangements adequately protect the Federal interest. The following provisions are based upon FTA's bonding requirements and policies and apply to construction procurements in excess of \$100,000:

- (1) Bid Guarantee. The Contracting Officer will require each bidder to provide a bid guarantee equivalent to five percent (5%) of its bid price. The "bid guarantee" must consist of a firm commitment, such as a bid bond, certified check, or other negotiable instrument accompanying a bid, that ensures that the bidder will honor its bid upon acceptance.
- (2) Performance Bond. The Contracting Officer will require the selected third party contractor to obtain a performance bond for 100 percent (100%) of the contract price unless a lower bond is approved by the FTA (see paragraph (5) below). The performance bond shall ensure completion of the contractor's obligations under the Third Party Contract.
- (3) Payment Bond. The Contracting Officer will require the third party contractor to obtain a standard payment bond for 100 percent (100%) of the contract price, except when the Contracting Officer determines that the Airports Authority's interest will be adequately protected by a bond sized as provided in subparagraphs (a) through (c). The payment bond shall ensure that the contractor will pay all people supplying labor and material under the Third Party Contract as required by law.

- (a) A bond between 100 percent (100%) and fifty percent (50%) of the contract price may be required if the contract price is \$1 million or less,
- (b) A bond between 100 percent (100%) and forty percent (40%) of the contract price may be required if the contract price is more than \$1 million but not more than \$5 million, or
- (c) A bond between 100 percent (100%) of the contract price and \$2.5 million if the contract price is \$5 million or more.
- (4) Acceptable Sureties. The Contracting Officer will require the contractor to obtain construction bonds from companies holding certificates of authority as acceptable sureties under U.S. Department of the Treasury regulations, "Surety Companies Doing Business with the United States," 31 CFR Part 223.
- Reduced Bonding. FTA's BPPM (Section 8) (5) recognizes that on certain types of projects, such as design-build and large capital projects (in excess of \$200 million), it may be appropriate for the Recipient to seek a waiver from the standard bonding requirements set forth in paragraphs (1) through (3) above. FTA will approve bonds that are lower than the amounts set forth above if it determines that the lower bonds will adequately protect the Federal interest. In the event the Airports Authority wishes to less stringent performance bonding requirements for a specific class of projects or for a particular project, it will submit its request and rationale to the FTA Regional Administrator, and will establish lower performance bond requirements only as approved by the FTA.
- (6) Higher Bonding. If the Airports Authority's wishes to impose bonding requirements that exceed those described above in this section, it will submit a specific request and rationale to the FTA Regional Administrator, and will not impose those higher requirements without FTA approval.

[FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. IV, para. 2.i(1)]

10.5.7.2 <u>Seismic Safety</u>

The Airports Authority will include the Federal seismic safety provision (see Appendix J, Clause 20) in contracts for the construction of new buildings or additions to existing buildings. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. IV, para. 2.i(2)]

10.5.7.3 Value Engineering

The Contracting Officer will include value engineering provisions in contracts for construction projects whenever value engineering is a pre-requisite for an award of Federal

assistance. In other cases, the Contracting Officer will determine whether the inclusion of such provisions in construction contracts would advance the Federal interest. (Note: The FTA generally does not approve a New Starts grant application for final design funding or enter a full funding grant agreement until value engineering is complete. Also, the FTA considers that some contractual arrangements (e.g., design-build contracts) inherently include value engineering and, for those contracts, does not require the value engineering provision). [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. IV, para. 2.i(3)]

10.5.7.4 Equal Employment Opportunity

The Contracting Officer will include in all construction contracts exceeding \$10,000 provisions (see Appendix J, Clause 6) requiring compliance with U.S. Department of Labor regulations for equal employment opportunity. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. IV, para. 2.i(4)]

10.5.7.5 <u>Prevailing Wages</u>

The Contracting Officer will include in construction contracts exceeding \$2,000 a provision (see Appendix J, Clause 17) requiring compliance with the prevailing wage requirements of the Davis-Bacon Act and the flow down of these requirements into contracts at all tiers. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. IV, para. 2.i(5)]

10.5.7.6 Anti-Kickback

The Contracting Officer will include a provision (see Appendix J, Clause 17) for compliance with the Copeland "Anti-Kickback" Act, as amended, in construction and repair contracts exceeding \$2,000. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. IV, para. 2.i(6)]

10.5.7.7 <u>Construction Safety</u>

The Contracting Officer will include in construction contracts exceeding \$100,000 a provision (see Appendix J, Clause 18) to ensure safety at construction sites so that no laborer or mechanic shall be required to work in surroundings or under working conditions that are unsanitary, hazardous, or dangerous, as prohibited by the safety requirements of Section 107 of the Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. IV, para. 2.i(7)]

10.5.7.8 <u>Labor Neutrality</u>

The Contracting Officer may include in construction contracts a provision requiring the use of a project labor agreement (PLA). In determining whether to include such a provision, the Contracting Officer will consider, among other things, the factors identified in the FAR, at 48 C.F.R. § 22.503, promulgated in response to Executive Order 13502 (February 6, 2009). Nothing in this section should be

construed as limiting the ability of the Airports Authority to enter into a PLA in connection with a substantial construction project. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. IV, para. 2.i(8)]

10.5.7.9 <u>Preference for U.S. Property—Buy</u> <u>America</u>

The Contracting Officer will include a Buy America provision (see Appendix J, Clause 10) in construction contract exceeding \$100,000. See Paragraph 10.5.3.5, [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. IV, para. 2.i(9)]

10.5.7.10 Accessibility

The Contracting Officer will include, in all construction contracts for facilities to be used in public transportation, a provision (see Appendix J, Clause 29) requiring those facilities to be accessible to individuals with disabilities and the elderly, as required by Federal law. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. IV, para. 2.i(10)] [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. IV, para. 2.h]

10.5.8 Research, Development, Demonstration, Deployment, and Special Studies – Special Requirements

The Airports Authority does not procure research, development, demonstration, deployment or special studies. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. IV, para. 2.j]

10.5.9 Audit Services

The following provisions apply to the Airports Authority's acquisition of audit services under this Chapter 10.

10.5.9.1 Single Audit Act

Each year in which it spends \$500,000 or more in Federal funds, the Airports Authority will obtain an audit as required by the Single Audit Act of 1984, as amended, 31 U.S.C. § 7501 *et seq.*, and will ensure compliance with OMB Circular A-133, "Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations," as revised.

- (1) Organizational Conflicts of Interest. The auditor selected will be independent of the Airports Authority.
- (2) Eligibility of Costs. The Airports Authority is authorized to charge the costs for audits required by the Single Audit Act to its Federally-assisted projects as direct or indirect costs as permitted by applicable Federal Cost Principles. On the other hand, it is not authorized to finance audit costs with Federal assistance when the audit covers a year in which the Airports Authority has expended less than \$500,000 in Federal funds.

10.5.9.2 Other Project Audits

Before procuring audit services for a specific contract or project, the Contracting Officer will consider the following:

- (1) Organizational Conflict of Interests. In general, the auditor selected to perform the audit should be independent of the contractor to be audited.
- (2) Verification of Indirect Costs. Federal verification of a contractor's indirect cost rates, such as provisional overhead (burden) and General & Administrative (G&A) rates, may be required. To the extent possible, relevant information available through undisputed audits of the contractor by other recipients should be used.
- (3) Duplication of Services. To prevent duplication and ensure the eligibility of particular audit services for Federal financial participation, the Airports Authority will contact the FTA before awarding a contract for such services. Pre-award discussions with the FTA are particularly important in connection with the audit of A&E services since Federal law at 49 U.S.C. Section 5325(b)(3), requires that the cost principles in FAR Part 31 be used to audit A&E contracts and, in addition, that indirect cost rates established under FAR cost principles be utilized by A&E contractors and subcontractors.
- (4) Obtaining Indirect Cost Rates. The Airports Authority and third party contractors may obtain indirect cost rates through negotiations with OMB.
- (5) Eligibility of Costs. Costs of audits required by the Single Audit Act are eligible for Federal financial participation as a direct or indirect charge, as permitted by applicable Federal cost principles. (Note: The FTA reserves the right to disallow payments for duplicative audit costs or charges.)

[FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. IV, para. 2.k]

10.5.10 Record Keeping

Under the Common Grant Rule, the Airports Authority is generally required to prepare and maintain adequate and readily accessible performance, financial and other records relating to any project financed with FTA financial assistance, and to preserve these records for three years after final project payments are made and all other project matters are closed. In addition, the Airports Authority is to provide access to these records to the FTA, other DOT officials and the Comptroller General.

As part of this general obligation, the Airports Authority will prepare and maintain, and make available to the FTA, written records detailing the history of each Federally-

assisted project procurement and containing the following information prepared by the Contracting Officer responsible for the procurement.

- Procurement Method. The Contracting Officer will provide the reasons for selecting the method of procurement used, including a sole source justification for any acquisition that does not qualify as competitive;
- (2) Contract Type. The Contracting Officer will provide the reasons for selecting the contract type it used (fixed price, cost reimbursement, etc.);
- (3) Contractor Selection. The Contracting Officer will provide the reasons for selecting or rejecting a contractor and also a written responsibility determination for the successful contractor;
- (4) Cost or Price. The Contracting Officer will provide an evaluation of and the justification for the awarded contract cost or price;
- (5) Reasonable Documentation. The Contracting Officer will have discretion to determine the extent of documentation. However, the extent of documentation is to be reasonable and should be commensurate with the size and complexity of the procurement itself. Thus, procurements that are substantial may require extensive documentation [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. III, para. 3.d(1)]; and
- (6) Access to Records. The Contracting Officer will include in all contracts a provision (see Appendix J, Clause 3) requiring the contractor to grant to the Airports Authority, FTA and DOT officials, the Comptroller General, and any of their representatives, the right to access, examine and inspect all records, documents, and papers, including contracts, related to any FTA project financed with Federal assistance.

[FTA C 4220.1 F, Ch. III, para. 3.d(2)]

10.6 PROCEDURAL GUIDANCE FOR OPEN MARKET PROCUREMENTS

10.6.1 Competition Required

The FTA requires the Airports Authority to adopt procurement procedures, for use in acquisitions that are subject to this Chapter 10, which provide for Full and Open Competition, except as otherwise permitted. Accordingly, the Airports Authority will procure property and services, and award Third-Party Contracts, on the basis of the following.

(1) Solicitation by the Airports Authority. The Airports Authority's solicitation and procurement methods are

- described above in Paragraph 10.4.6. Acquisitions made using these methods will fulfill the FTA requirements for Full and Open Competition. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. VI, para. 1.a]
- (2) Unsolicited Proposals. The Airports Authority may enter into contracts based on an unsolicited proposal. Receipt of an unsolicited proposal will not, by itself, justify contract award without providing for Full and Open Competition. Unless the unsolicited proposal offers a proprietary concept that is essential to contract performance, the Airports Authority will seek competition. To satisfy the requirement for Full and Open Competition, the Contracting Officer will take the following actions before entering into a contract resulting from an unsolicited proposal.
 - (a) Receipt. Publicize its receipt of the unsolicited proposal,
 - (b) Adequate Description. Publicize an adequate description of the property or services offered in the unsolicited proposal without improperly disclosing proprietary information or disclosing the originality of thought or innovativeness of the offered property or services,
 - (c) Interest in the Property or Services. Publicize the Airports Authority's interest in acquiring the property or services described in the unsolicited proposal,
 - (d) Adequate Opportunity to Compete. Provide an adequate opportunity for interested parties to comment or submit competing proposals, and
 - (e) Contract Award Based on Proposals Received. Publicize its intention to award a contract based on the unsolicited proposal or another proposal submitted in response to the publication.
 - (f) Sole Source Award. If it is impossible to describe the property or services offered without revealing proprietary information or disclosing the originality of thought or innovativeness of the offered property or services, the Airports Authority may make a sole source award to the offeror of the unsolicited proposal. Such a sole source award may not be based solely on the unique capability of the offeror to provide the specific offered property or services.

[FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. VI, para. 1.b]

(3) Prequalification. Prequalification lists are most commonly used in procurements of property involving lengthy evaluations needed to determine whether the property satisfies the Recipient's standards. The

Airports Authority may prequalify people, firms, and property for procurement purposes if:

- (a) Lists. The Contracting Officer ensures that any prequalification list that is used is current.
- (b) Sources. The Contracting Officer ensures that the prequalification list includes enough qualified sources to provide Full and Open Competition.
- (c) Qualification Periods. The Contracting Officer permits potential bidders or offerors to qualify for the prequalification list during a solicitation period (from the issuance of the solicitation to its closing date). The Contracting Officer is not required to hold a particular solicitation open to accommodate a potential supplier that submits property for approval before or during that solicitation. Nor must the Airports Authority expedite or shorten prequalification evaluations of bidders, offerors, or property presented for review during the solicitation period.

[FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. VI, para. 1.c]

10.6.2 Solicitation Requirements and Restrictions

The Contracting Officer will ensure that each solicitation under this Chapter 10 provides the following information:

10.6.2.1 Description of the Property or Services

The solicitation and the contract awarded will include a clear and accurate description of the Airports Authority's technical requirements for the property or services to be acquired in a manner that provides for Full and Open Competition.

- (1) What to Include. The description may include a statement of the qualitative nature of the property or services to be acquired. When possible, the Airports Authority will describe its requirements in terms of functions to be performed or level of performance to be achieved, including the range of acceptable characteristics or minimum acceptable standards, rather than detailed product specifications. (Note: The FTA prefers performance or functional specifications, but does not prohibit the use of detailed technical specifications when appropriate.)
- (2) Quantities Limited to Actual Needs. The property and services to be acquired will be limited to the quantity of property and the extent of services the Airports Authority actually needs at the time of acquisition. The Airports Authority will not add quantities or

- options to contracts solely to allow it to assign these quantities or options at a later date.
- (3) Brand Name or Equal. When it is impractical or uneconomical to provide a clear and accurate description of the technical requirements of the property to be acquired, a "brand name or equal" description may be used to define the performance, in which case the salient characteristics that the "equal" property must possess will be identified.
- (4) Prohibitions. The Airports Authority will not use solicitation requirements that contain specifications or other features that unduly restrict competition or that are exclusionary or discriminatory. The following provisions describe certain solicitation features and other circumstances that are to be avoided.
 - (a) Excessive Qualifications. Imposing unreasonable business requirements for bidders or offerors.
 - (b) Unnecessary Experience. Imposing unnecessary experience requirements for bidders and offerors.
 - (c) Improper Prequalification. Using prequalification procedures that conflict with the procedures described in Paragraph 10.4.1(c) of this Manual.
 - (d) Retainer Contracts. Making a noncompetitive award to any person or firm on a retainer contract if that award is not for the property or services specified for delivery under the contract.
 - Excessive Bonding. In some circumstances, imposing high bonding requirements may increase the cost of the contract and thereby restrict competition, particularly on large capital projects (in excess of \$200 million), on designbuild projects and for disadvantaged business (Note: To encourage greater enterprises. contractor participation, the FTA does not require the imposition of bonding requirements on contractors other than construction bonding. Where bonding requirements for a contract result in "excessive bonding," under the Common Grant Rule, and as a result are deemed to be restrictive of competition, the FTA will not provide Federal assistance for that procurement.)
 - (f) Brand Name Only. Specifying only a "brand name" product without allowing offers of "an equal" product, or allowing "an equal" product without listing the salient characteristics that the

- "equal" product must meet to be acceptable for award.
- (g) In-State or Local Geographic Restrictions. Specifying in-State or local geographical preferences, or evaluating bids or proposals in light of in-State or local geographic preferences, even if those preferences are imposed by State or local laws or regulations. Exceptions include the following:
 - Architectural Engineering (A&E) Services. Geographic location may be a selection criterion if an appropriate number of qualified firms are eligible to compete for the contract in view of the nature and size of the project.
 - Licensing. A Commonwealth of Virginia license may be a procurement requirement provided the requirements does not conflict with Federal law.
 - Major Disaster or Emergency Relief. Federal assistance awarded under the Stafford Act, 42 U.S.C.Section 5150, to support contracts and agreements for debris clearance, distribution of supplies, reconstruction, and other major disaster or emergency assistance activities permits a preference, to the extent feasible and practicable, for organizations, firms, and individuals residing or doing business primarily in the area affected by a major disaster or emergency.
- (h) Organizational Conflict of Interests. Engaging in practices that result in an organizational conflict of interests is prohibited:
 - Occurrence. An organizational conflict of interest occurs when any of the following circumstances arise:
 - <u>1</u> Lack of Impartiality or Impaired Objectivity. A potential contractor is unable, or potentially unable, to provide impartial and objective assistance or advice to the Airports Authority due to other activities, relationships, contracts, or circumstances.
 - <u>2</u> Unequal Access to Information. A potential contractor has an unfair competitive advantage through obtaining access to nonpublic information during the performance of an earlier contract.
 - <u>3</u> Biased Ground Rules. During the conduct of an earlier procurement, a potential

contractor has established the ground rules for a future procurement by developing specifications, evaluation factors, or similar documents.

- Remedies. The Contracting Officer will analyze each planned acquisition in order to identify and evaluate potential organizational conflicts of interest as early in the acquisition process as possible, and will avoid, neutralize, or mitigate such conflicts as early as possible.
- (i) Restraint of Trade. Supporting or acquiescing in noncompetitive pricing practices between firms or between affiliated companies (e.g., the submissions of identical bid prices for the same products by the same group of firms, or an unnatural pattern of awards that have the cumulative effect of apportioning work among a fixed group of bidders or offerors).
- (j) Arbitrary Action. Taking any arbitrary action in the procurement process.

[FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. VI, para. 2.a]

10.6.2.2 Evaluation Factors

The solicitation will identify all factors to be used in evaluating bids or proposals. [FTA C 4220.1 F, Ch. VI, para. 2.b

10.6.2.3 Contract Type Specified

Solicitations will state the type of contract that will be awarded. Permissible types of contracts are described below.

- (1) Typical Contract Types. Contract types may include the following:
 - (a) Firm Fixed Price. A firm fixed price contract contains a price that remains fixed irrespective of the contractor's cost experience in performing the contract. A firm fixed price contract may include an economic price adjustment provision, incentives and/or allowances.
 - (b) Cost Reimbursement. A cost-reimbursement contract provides for payment of the contractor's allowable incurred costs, to the extent prescribed in the contract. Allowable costs may include incentives if the Airports Authority believes they can prove helpful. Cost-reimbursement contracts are to be used only when uncertainties involved in contract performance do not permit costs to be estimated

with sufficient accuracy to use any type of fixed price contract.

- (2) Prohibited or Restricted Contract Types. The following contract types are restricted or prohibited:
 - (a) Cost Plus a Percentage of Cost—Prohibited. The Airports Authority will not use the "cost plus a percentage of cost" or "cost plus a percentage of construction cost" type of contract.
 - (b) Time and Materials—Restricted. The Airports Authority will use a "time and materials" type of contract only (i) after determining that no other contract type is suitable, and (ii) the contract specifies a ceiling price that, while not a firm fixed price, is a price the contractor may not exceed except at its own risk. (See Appendix K.1 for sample Time and Materials Report.)

[FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. VI, para. 2c]

10.6.2.4 Other Federal Requirements Affecting the Property or Services to be Acquired

Solicitations, as well as awarded contracts, will identify those Federal requirements that will affect contract scope and performance. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. VI, para. 2.d]

10.6.2.5 Other Federal Requirements Affecting the Bidder or Offeror and the Contractor

Solicitations, as well as awarded contracts, under this Chapter 10, will identify all Federal requirements that a bidder or offeror must fulfill before and during contract performance. (See Paragraph 10.5.) [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. VI, para. 2.e]

10.6.2.6 Award to Other Than the Low Bidder

When the Airports Authority intends to reserve its right to award to other than the low bidder or offeror, the solicitation will expressly state that intent and the reserved right. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. VI, para. 2.f]

10.6.2.7 Rejection of All Bids or Offers

The Airports Authority has the right to reject any or all bids or proposals submitted in response to an invitation for bids or request for proposals if there is a sound, documented business reason. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. VI, paras. 2g and 8.c]

10.6.3 Cost and Price Analysis

The Contracting Officer will perform a cost or price analysis in connection with each procurement action, including contract modifications. The method and degree of this analysis will depend on the facts and circumstances surrounding the procurement. However, in procurement, as a starting point, an independent cost estimate (ICE) will be made before receiving bids or proposals. The ICE must be in writing and a copy must be placed in the procurement file. See Appendix K.2 for sample ICE form (Note: The FTA identifies a number of benefits associated with ICEs. Establishing a cost estimate using a method independent of the prospective bidders or offerors and in advance of their submissions ensures a clear basis for the Contracting Officer's determination that the benefits of the procurement warrant its cost. An ICE prepared when a project is first undertaken can alert all involved that the project had grown beyond the scope originally intended. An ICE also can provide essential information for procurement planning and for determining which procurement procedures apply to the project (e.g., if the cost estimate exceeds \$100,000, many additional procurement and Federal requirements are triggered). Further, an ICE can be helpful in analyzing the submitted cost or price. The estimate alone may, if prepared with sufficient detail and reliability, be sufficient to determine whether the submitted cost or price is reasonable, and will at least supplement other data used in the cost or price analysis. [BPPM Ch. 2, para. 2.3.2]) [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. VI, para. 6]

10.6.3.1 Cost Analysis

The Contracting Officer will perform a cost analysis whenever a price analysis will not provide sufficient information or otherwise be sufficient to determine the reasonableness of the contract cost. A cost analysis must be performed in the following cases: (i) when the offeror or offerors submit elements (e.g., labor hours, overhead, materials, and so forth) of the estimated cost (such as in professional consulting and A&E contracts); (ii) when price competition is inadequate; and (iii) when only a sole source is available, including contract modifications and change orders. A cost analysis will not be performed when the reasonableness of the proposed contract price can be determined based on catalog or market prices of commercial products sold in substantial quantities to the general public or based on prices set by law or regulation.

In performing cost analyses, the Contracting Officer will be guided by the following:

- (1) Federal Cost Principles. Federal cost principles contain many requirements about the allowability and allocability of costs.
- (2) Indirect Cost Rates. For contracts other than A&E contracts, if the contractor does not have an approved government indirect cost rate agreement, the contract's dollar value will determine how an indirect cost rate is verified as follows:

- (a) Contracts of \$5 Million or Less. Indirect cost rates may be based on the audit recommendations of the contractor's certified public accountant, on indirect cost information in the contractor's annual statement to its shareholders, or owners, or on the contractor's rates that have been accepted by other governmental agencies within the prior six months.
- (b) Contracts Exceeding \$5 Million. Indirect cost rates must have been verified by the Defense Contract Audit Agency, another Federal cognizant audit agency, or an accounting firm approved by the Federal Government to perform audits for the Federal Government.
- (3) Profit. The Contracting Officer will negotiate profit as a separate element of the cost for each contract in which there has been no price competition, and in all acquisitions in which a cost analysis is performed. To establish a fair and reasonable profit, the Contracting Officer will consider the complexity of the work to be performed, the risk undertaken by the contractor, the contractor's investment, the amount of subcontracting, the quality of the contractor's record of past performance, and industry profit rates in the surrounding geographical area for similar work.

A sample Cost Analysis is attached as Appendix K.3.

[FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. VI, para. 6.a]

10.6.3.2 Price Analysis

When the Contracting Officer determines that competition has been adequate, he or she will perform a price analysis, rather than a cost analysis, to determine the reasonableness of the proposed contract price. The price analysis for micropurchases and small purchases may be limited. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. Vi, para. 6.b]

10.6.3.3 Guidance on Cost and Price Analysis

As recognized by the FTA, a Contracting Officer may have difficulty obtaining the information necessary to conduct a proper cost or price analysis and, in that situation, will need the kind of flexibility that is provided to Federal contracting officers when performing the cost or price analysis. When this is the case, the Contracting Officer may use the following resources as guidance in preparing the cost or price analysis:

- (1) FTA's "Best Practices Procurement Manual," Chapter 5.
- (2) The National Transit Institute Course, "Cost or Price Analysis and Risk Assessment,"

- (3) Pricing Guide for FTA Grantees, FTA Web Site: http://www.fta.dot.gov/documents/Helpline_Price_Guide.doc.,
- (4) FAR Part 31, Contract Cost Principles and Procedures, and
- (5) Defense Contract Audit Agency Audit Manual. *See*, the DCAA Web site: http://www.dcaa.mil/.

(Note: Some provisions of FAR Part 31 and the Defense Contract Audit Agency Audit Manual may be inapplicable to the Airports Authority because they are based on provisions of Federal law that do not apply to the Airports Authority.)

A sample Price Analysis is attached as Appendix K.4.

[FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. VI, para. 6.c]

10.6.4 Evaluations

General. When evaluating bids or proposals submitted, the Airports Authority will consider all evaluation factors specified in the solicitation documents, and will evaluate the bids or proposals only on those evaluation factors. The Contracting Officer may not modify the evaluation factors after bids or proposals have been submitted without reopening the solicitation.

Options. In awarding the contract that will include options, the following standards apply:

- (1) Evaluation Required. In general, the Contracting Officer will evaluate bids or proposals for any option quantities or periods contained in a solicitation if the Airports Authority may exercise those options after the contract is awarded.
- (2) Evaluation Not Required. The Contracting Officer need not evaluate bids or offers for any option quantities or periods when the Contracting Officer determines that such evaluation would not be in the best interests of the Airports Authority (e.g., when it is reasonably certain that funds will not be available to permit an exercise of the option).

Evaluators. In addition to evaluators with experience in technical or public policy matters related to the procurement, other evaluators may also include auditors and financial experts when the Contracting Officer determines their participation would be necessary or helpful. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. VI, para. 7]

10.6.5 Contract Award

The following provisions apply to contract awards.

10.6.5.1 <u>Award to Other Than the Lowest Bidder or Offeror.</u>

The Airports Authority may award a contract to other than the lowest bidder if the award furthers an objective consistent with the purposes of 49 U.S.C. Chapter 53, including improved long-term operating efficiency and lower long-term costs. The Airports Authority may also award a contract to other than the offeror whose proposal has the lowest price or cost when this is stated in the evaluation factors of the solicitation. In both cases the Contracting Officer will include a statement in the solicitation document reserving the right to award the contract to other than the low bidder or offeror. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. VI, para. 8.a]

10.6.5.2 <u>Award Only to a Responsible Bidder or</u> Offeror

The Contracting Officer will only award a contract to a "responsible" contractor possessing the ability, willingness, and integrity to perform successfully under the terms and conditions of the contract. Responsibility is a procurement issue that is determined by the Contracting Officer after receiving bids or proposals and before making the contract award. A written determination of responsibility shall be completed, using the form found in Appendix E, and shall be placed in the procurement file. To designate a prospective contractor "responsible," the Contracting Officer, at a minimum, will determine that the contractor, in addition to being otherwise qualified and eligible to receive the contract award under applicable laws and regulations, satisfies the following:

- (1) Integrity and Ethics. Has a satisfactory record of integrity and business ethics;
- (2) Debarment and Suspension. Is neither debarred nor suspended from Federal programs;
- (3) Affirmative Action and DBE. Is in compliance with the Airports Authority's and the FTA's affirmative action and Disadvantaged Business Enterprise requirements;
- (4) Public Policy. Is in compliance with the public policies of the Federal Government;
- (5) Administrative and Technical Capacity. Has the necessary organization, experience, accounting, and operational controls, and technical skills, or the ability to obtain them;
- (6) Licensing and Taxes. Is in compliance with applicable licensing and tax laws and regulations;
- (7) Financial Resources. Has, or can obtain, sufficient financial resources to perform the contract;

- (8) Production Capability. Has, or can obtain, the necessary production, construction, and technical equipment and facilities;
- (9) Timeliness. Is able to comply with the required delivery or performance schedule, taking into consideration all existing commercial and governmental business commitments; and
- (10) Performance Record. Is able to provide a:
 - (a) Current Performance. Satisfactory current performance record; and
 - (b) Past Performance. Satisfactory past performance record in view of its record of long-time performance or the record of performance of a predecessor entity, including:
 - Sufficient Resources. Key personnel with adequate experience, a parent firm with adequate resources and experience, and key subcontractors with adequate experience and past performance;
 - Adequate Past Experience. Past experience in carrying out similar work with particular attention to management approach, staffing, timeliness, technical success, budgetary controls, and other specialized considerations as described in the solicitation document; and
 - Any Past Deficiencies as Basis for Non-Responsible Determination. A prospective contractor that is or recently has been seriously deficient in past contract performance will be presumed to be nonresponsible, unless the Contracting Officer determines that the circumstances causing the deficiency were properly beyond the contractor's control, or that the contractor has taken appropriate corrective action. Past failure to apply sufficient tenacity, perseverance, and effort to perform acceptably is strong evidence of nonresponsibility. Also, failure to meet the quality requirements of a contract is a significant factor to be considered in determining past performance. When determining whether a prospective contractor is non-responsible based on deficient past contract performance, the Contracting Officer will consider the number of the contractor's contracts involved and the extent of the deficient performance in each contract.
 - Fixed Guideway Projects. Before entering into a full funding contract for the

construction of a fixed guideway project, the Airports Authority will consider the prospective contractor's past performance, if any, in estimating costs and ridership as reported in the Contractor Performance Assessment Reports.

The preceding conditions are not intended to limit the ability of the Airports Authority to shortlist offerors under the two-step design-build procurement procedures set forth in Paragraph 10.4.6.5. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. VI, para. 8.b]

10.6.5.3 <u>Pre-Negotiation Memorandum</u>

Pre-negotiation Memorandum. The Contracting Officer will prepare some form of pre-negotiation document for all negotiations or discussions with offerors participating in a competitive proposals procurement. The extent of detail and the content of this memorandum will depend on the magnitude and complexity of the negotiations or discussions. The pre-negotiation memorandum will be prepared with an eye toward achieving the following benefits:

- (1) It will facilitate effective cost and/or price analysis.
- (2) It will enhance negotiations with the offeror by revealing those areas where the costs or price needs to be questioned and discussed with the offeror.
- (3) It will document the file with an explanation of the basis for the contract price, and it will be used to provide a history of the procurement (see Appendix K.5 for sample form).
- (4) It will afford the Contracting Officer a method of management review and approval of the Airports Authority's strategy for the negotiations.

[BPPM, Ch. 5, para. 5.2]

10.6.5.4 Extent and Limits of Contract Award

The selection of a contractor to perform certain work on a project does not, by itself, constitute a sole source selection of the contractor's wholly owned affiliates to perform other work in connection with the project. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. VI, para. 8.d]

10.7 CONFLICTING PROVISIONS

10.7.1 Introduction

Certain provisions in earlier chapters of this Manual are in conflict with FTA contracting requirements and, therefore, are inapplicable to the acquisitions and procurements to which this Chapter 10 applies. This section identifies in brackets the sections of the Manual that contain these conflicting provisions and indicates the nature of the

conflict. In procuring property and services under Chapter 10, the Airports Authority will not rely on or otherwise utilize these conflicting provisions. To the extent the identified sections contain conflicting provisions, the sections are inapplicable to acquisitions or procurements governed by this chapter.

10.7.2 Full and Open Competition [1.1]

The FTA requirement for Full and Open Competition applies to all procurements. However, smaller procurements, which are less than the Federal simplified acquisition threshold (currently \$100,000), may be treated as small purchases using relatively simple and in formal small purchase procedures. Procurements over \$100,000 must use formal procurement procedures allowing for Full and Open Competition to the maximum extent possible. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. VI, para. 3.b]

10.7.3 Full and Open Competition with Exclusions [1.2]

Each procurement that seeks to limit competition must stand on its own merits. The opportunity to participate in solicitations should be made available to all responsible firms. However, in certain circumstances, the provisions in this Chapter 10 allow for other than full and open competition and these provisions may be applicable to some of the procurements covered in Paragraphs 1.2, 1.3 and 1.4. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. VI, para. 3.i]

10.7.3.1 <u>LDBE – 100% Set Aside [1.2.1]</u>

The LDBE program is an Airports Authority program and its provisions do not apply to FTA funded solicitations.

10.7.3.2 <u>Airport Security Controlled Distribution</u> RFP [1.2.2]

It is the FTA's position that Full and Open Competition means that all responsible sources are permitted to compete, although the FTA does allow the Airports Authority to prequalify people, firms and property (including for airport security services) if several conditions are met. See Paragraph 10.6.1(3). [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. VI, para. 1.c]

10.7.4 Government Purchasing Agreements [1.3.1]

The FTA encourages use of state and local intergovernmental agreements for procurements of property or services. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. V, para. 4]

Federal laws restrict buying from Federal Supply Schedules to acquiring information technology (IT) and to purchasing products and services to facilitate recovery from a major disaster. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. V, para. 6.b]

When obtaining property or services using government purchasing agreements, the Airports Authority will ensure all Federal requirements, required clauses, and certifications (including Buy America) are properly followed and included, whether in the master intergovernmental contract or in the Airports Authority's purchase documents. When buying from these schedules, the Airports Authority will obtain a Buy America certification before entering into the purchase order. If the product to be purchased is not Buy America compliant, the Airports Authority will obtain a waiver from the FTA before proceeding. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. V, paras. 4.b and 5.c]

10.7.5 Other Than Full and Open Competition [1.4]

10.7.5.1 Utility Services and Supply [1.4.1(3)(d)]

In the past many utility services were available only from a single source supplier. However, with deregulation some of these services may be available from multiple suppliers. Electrical distribution may still be controlled by a single source supplier whereas the electricity itself may be available from multiple suppliers. Use of the provisions in this Chapter 10 for other than full and open competition may be applicable to some utility services and supply procurements. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. VI, para. 3.i]

10.7.5.2 Airline Tenant Procured Projects [1.4.1(2)]

The FTA requires that when a Recipient uses another entity (government or private) to procure goods or services for the Recipient, FTA procurement requirements, including required clauses, must be passed through to and applied by that procuring entity.

10.7.5.3 <u>Proprietary Equipment/Software</u> [1.4.1(3)(d)]

Proprietary equipment and software may be procured using sole source procedures, if the procurement qualifies. See the sole source requirements in Paragraph 10.4.6.9(2). [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. VI, para. 3.i(1)(b)]

10.7.6 Advertisement of Contracting Opportunities [1.8]

The FTA requires that solicitations over \$100,000 be conducted using formal procurement methods (sealed bids or competitive proposals). Both of these methods require that the solicitations be publicly advertised. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. III, paras. 3.c(2)(a) and 3.d(2)(a)]

10.7.7 Single Response to a Solicitation [2.2.5]

In order to determine fair and reasonable pricing when a single response is received from a solicitation, the FTA

requires that a cost analysis be performed to determine the reasonableness of the proposed contract price, unless the reasonableness of the proposed price can be determined based on a catalog or market price of a commercial product sold in substantial quantities to the general public or based on prices set by law or regulation. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. VI, para. 6.a]

10.7.8 Evaluation Criteria – Price Only [2.2.8]

The FTA expects that contracts awarded based on price and price-related factors only will be solicited using the sealed bids procurement method unless discussions will be held with offerors. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch.VI, para. 3.c(1)(d)]

10.7.9 Evaluation Criteria – Both Price and Technical [2.2.9]

See Paragraph 10.4.6.5, Two Step Procurement Procedures.

10.7.10 Evaluation Criteria – Technical Only [2.2.10]

For FTA-funded procurements, this section may apply only to Architect-Engineer Services, as defined by the Brooks Act. The grantee must select the best-qualified proposal and cost is not a factor. [FTA 4220.1F, Ch. IV, para. 2.h; see also Paragraph 10.4.6.6]. This method cannot be used for financial, audit, or legislative professional services, as stated in Paragraph 2.2.10.

The FTA expects that contracts resulting from the competitive proposal procurement method will be awarded to the responsible offeror whose proposal is most advantageous to the Airports Authority's program with price and other factors considered, and that price will be one or more of the evaluation criteria. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. VI, para. 3.d(2)(e)]

10.7.11 Determination of Responsibility [2.4.6]

Prior to awarding any third party contract funded by the FTA, the Airports Authority shall first determine that the selected contractor is capable of successfully performing under the terms and conditions of the proposed contract. The Airports Authority is required to consider such matters as contractor integrity, compliance with public policy, record of past performance, and financial and technical resources, including information reported in FTA's required Contractor Performance Assessment Reports. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. IV, para. 2a(1)]

10.7.12 Construction Contracting Approach [2.7.1]

The FTA, relying on the Common Grant Rule, states a preference for the sealed bids procurement method when acquiring construction services, unlike the Airports Authority which states a preference for the competitive proposal procurement method. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. VI, para. 2.c(1)]

10.7.13 Design-Build Contracts [2.7.5]

For FTA-assisted design-build solicitations, because both design and construction are included in a single procurement, the FTA expects the procurement method appropriate for the services having the greatest cost to be used, even though other necessary services would not typically be procured by that method, and it defines the process to be used in determining the method to be used. (See Paragraph 10.4.6.8.) [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. VI, para. 3.h(1)]

10.7.14 Limited Competition Proposals [2.9]

The FTA requires that Recipients normally provide for Full and Open Competition when soliciting sealed bids or competitive proposals. However, under certain circumstances, Recipients may conduct procurements with Other Than Full and Open Competition. (See Paragraph 10.4.6.9.) [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. VI, para. 3.i]

10.7.15 Sole Source Negotiation [2.9.3]

The FTA requires that Recipients provide for Full and Open Competition when soliciting sealed bids or competitive proposals. However, under certain circumstances, Recipients may conduct procurements with other than full and open competition. (See Paragraph 10.4.6.9.) [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. VI, para. 3.i]

10.7.16 RFQ/Purchase Orders [2.10]

For procurements under the Federal simplified acquisition threshold (currently \$100,000), see Paragraph 10.4.6.2. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. VI, para. 3.b]

For procurements \$100,000 and over, see Paragraph 10.4.6.3. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. VI, para. 3.c]

10.7.17 Purchase Order/Blanket Purchase Order [2.10.1]

Blanket purchase orders may be used for FTA funded purchases of \$3,000 and under (micro-purchases) when a determination is made that the purchase price is fair and reasonable and the basis for that determination is documented. Purchases over \$2,000 for construction must

comply with Davis-Bacon prevailing wage requirements. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch VI, para. 3.a]

10.7.18 Contract Types and Procedures [Chapter 3]

The Common Grant Rule expressly prohibits the use of the "cost plus a percentage of cost" and "cost plus a percentage of construction cost" contract types. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. VI, para. 2.c(2)(a)]

10.7.19 Cost Plus a Percentage of Cost Contract [Chapter 3]

The FTA specifically prohibits the "cost plus percentage of cost" contract type. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. VI, para. 2c(2)(a)]

10.7.20 Fixed-Unit-Price Contracts [3.2]

The FTA considers this type of contract to be an indefinite-delivery-indefinite-quantity contract (See Paragraph 10.7.23.) The FTA expects Recipients to limit their procurements to the amount of property and services required to meet their reasonably expected needs, and to be able to justify the quantities they procure. Having written statements of anticipated material requirements in the contract files may prove helpful in providing this justification. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. V, para. 7.a(2)]

10.7.21 Purchase of Goods Under Indefinite Delivery Contracts [3.9]

The FTA expects that if supplies or services are solicited, competed, and awarded through the use of an indefinite-delivery-indefinite-quantity contract, the solicitation and the contract award will contain both a minimum and maximum quantity that represent the Airports Authority's reasonably foreseeable needs. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. V, para. 7.a(2)]

10.7.22 Litigation Bonds [3.11.9]

Although not specifically addressed in its bonding requirements for construction contracts, the FTA may construe a litigation bond as "excessive bonding" and restrictive of competition. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. IV, para. 2.i(1)(f)]

10.7.23 Options May Extend or Change Performance [3.11.23]

The FTA requirements provide that, if a contract has one or more options and those options were not evaluated as part of the original contract award, a Recipient's exercise of the options after contract award will result in a sole source award. The requirements further provide that, in order to be evaluated, the options must be priced in the original contract.

The exercise of an option after a Recipient has negotiated a lower or higher price for the option quantities will also result in a sole source award unless that price can be reasonably determined from the terms of the original contract, or the price results from Federal actions that can be reliably measured. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. V, para. 7.a(1)(c)]

10.7.24 Reopening a Closed Contract [5.4.3]

Contract closeout is addressed in the Common Grant Rule, 49 CFR Part 18.50 and in the Best Practices Procurement Manual. Although the reopening of closed contracts is not specifically addressed in any applicable law or regulation, the FTA does not recommend that Recipients reopen a closed contract for which there has been Federal assistance.

10.7.25 Correction of Mistakes Alter Award [5.3]

The FTA has established requirements and restrictions for contract changes; these provisions affect the correction of mistakes after award. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. V, para. 7; and Ch. VII, para. 2]

10.7.26 Payment Considerations [5.5]

The FTA allows Recipients to use FTA assistance to support progress payments, provided Recipients obtain adequate security for those payments and have sufficient written documentation to substantiate the work for which payments are requested. (Examples of such security are provided in Paragraph 10.5.2.5(3).) [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. IV, para. 2.b(5)(c)]

10.7.27 Prepayments [5.5.3]

The FTA term for "prepayments" is "advance payments." Requirements applicable to the making of such payments are set out in Paragraph 10.5.2.5(2). [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. IV, para. 2.b(5)(b)]

10.7.28 Subcontractor Non-Payment [5.6]

While there is no privity of contract between the Recipients and any subcontractor, Federal regulations (see 49 CFR Part 26.29, Participation by Disadvantaged Business Enterprises in Department of Transportation Financial Assistance Programs) contain the following requirements relating to the payment and non-payment of subcontractors:

(1) "You must establish, as part of your DBE program, a contract clause to require prime contractors to pay subcontractors for satisfactory performance of their contracts no later than 30 days from receipt of each payment you make to the prime contractor."

- (2) "You must ensure prompt and full payment of retainage from the prime contractor to the subcontractor within 30 days after the subcontractor's work is satisfactorily completed. You must use one of the following methods to comply with this requirement:
 - (a) "You may decline to hold retainage from prime contractors and prohibit prime contractors from holding retainage from subcontractors."
 - (b) "You may decline to hold retainage from prime contractors and require a contract clause obligating prime contractors to make prompt and full payment of any retainage kept by the prime contractor to the subcontractor within 30 days after the subcontractor's work is satisfactorily completed."
 - (c) "You may hold retainage from prime contractors and provide for prompt and regular incremental acceptances of portions of the prime contract, pay retainage to prime contractors based on these acceptances, and require a contract clause obligating the prime contractor to pay all retainage owed to the subcontractor for satisfactory completion of the accepted work within 30 days after your payment to the prime contractor."

These requirements apply to all contractors and subcontractors, both DBE and non-DBE.

10.7.29 Termination for Default [5.9]

The FTA requires that all contracts exceeding \$10,000 contain both a termination for cause and a termination for convenience provision. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. IV, para. 2.b(6)(b)4]

10.7.30 Concession Contracts [Chapter 6]

For the avoidance of doubt, the Airports Authority concession contracts described in Chapter 6 are not deemed to be "Revenue Contracts" under this Chapter 10. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. II, para. 2.b(4)]

10.7.31 Protests [7.3]

The FTA has developed an appeals process for reviewing the Airports Authority's decision in procurement protests.

Only an "interested party" qualifies for FTA review of its appeal.

The protester must exhaust its administrative remedies by pursuing the protest procedures in Chapter 7 of this Manual before appealing a protest decision to the FTA.

The protester must deliver its appeal, in writing, to the FTA Regional Administrator within five (5) working days of the date on when the protester has received actual or constructive notice of the final decision in its protest or has identified other grounds for appeal, such as the Airports Authority's failure to comply with its protest procedures or its refusal to review the protest.

The FTA will limit its review of protest appeals to:

- (1) Whether the Airports Authority has failed to comply with its protest procedures or its refusal to review the protest.
- (2) At the discretion of the FTA, whether the Airports Authority, in the course of the procurement, has violated a Federal law or regulation.

The FTA requires Recipients to notify it when they receive a protest in a procurement financed with Federal assistance and to keep the FTA informed about the status of the protest. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. VII, para. 1.a(2)(a)]

10.7.32 Disputes [8.1]

The FTA requires Recipients to notify it of their contract disputes and to keep it informed about the status of the disputes. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. VII, para. 3.a(1)]

10.7.33 FTA Contract Prohibitions

The FTA prohibits a number of solicitation features, as provided below (see also Paragraph 10.6.2.1(4)). To the extent such features are permitted by other provisions of this Manual, those other provisions are inapplicable to procurements that are subject to Chapter 10. [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. VI, para. 2.a(4)]

10.7.33.1 Excessive Qualifications

See Paragraph 10.6.2.1(4)(a). [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. VI, para. 2.a(4)(a)]

10.7.33.2 <u>Unnecessary Experience</u>

See Paragraph 10.6.2.1(4)(b). [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. VI, para. 2.a(4)(b)]

10.7.33.3 Improper Qualification

See Paragraph 10.6.2.1(4)(c). [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. VI, para. 2.a(4)(c)]

10.7.33.4 Retainer Contracts

See Paragraph 10.6.2.1(4)(d). [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. VI, para. 2.a(4)(d)]

10.7.33.5 Excessive Bonding

See Paragraph 10.6.2.1(4)(e). [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. VI, para. 2.a(4)(e)]

10.7.33.6 Brand Name Only

See Paragraph 10.6.2.1(4)(f). [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. VI, para. 2.a(4)(f)]

10.7.33.7 <u>In-State or Geographical Restrictions</u>

See Paragraph 10.6.2.1(4)(g). [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. VI, para. 2.a(4)(g)]

10.7.33.8 Organizational Conflict of Interest

See Paragraph 10.6.2.1(4)(h). [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. VI, para. 2.a(4)(h)]

10.7.33.9 Restraint of Trade

See Paragraph 10.6.2.1(4)(i). [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. VI, para. 2.a(4)(i)]

10.7.33.10 Arbitrary Action

See Paragraph 10.6.2.1(4)(j). [FTA C 4220.1F, Ch. VI, para. 2.a(4)(j)]

APPENDIX A <u>AIRPORTS AUTHORITY DEFINITIONS</u>

Authority Debarment Judge Decision (ADJD) -- Decision made by the Authority Debarment Judge whether or not to debar a contractor.

Airport Improvement Program (AIP) -- A Federal Aviation Administration program established pursuant to 49 U.S.C. 47101 et seq. which provides federal grant funding for selected Airport improvements.

Airports Authority Debarment Judge (ADJ) -- An individual selected by the Airports Authority's General Counsel from an impartial source, meaning current or former employees of the suspension and debarment organizations of federal, state and/or local governments or public entities, the American Arbitration Association, the Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service, former federal or state judges or other similar individuals, to serve on one or more suspension or debarment matters and/or for a fixed period of time to handle suspension and debarment matters.

Amendment -- Document that is issued to change a solicitation.

Airports Authority -- Metropolitan Washington Airports Authority.

Best and Final Offer (BAFO) -- An opportunity which may be extended to offerors within the competitive range to submit a revised offer.

Bid -- An offer of specific goods or services at a specified price, for a specified period of time; generally relates to competitively bid contracts which are awarded based on price. A bid is a binding offer to perform.

Bidder -- Person or firm that submits a bid in response to an Invitation for Bids (IFB). Note, the term "offeror," when used without the term "bidder" and when the context warrants, includes both bidders submitting responses to IFBs and offerors submitting responses to RFPs.

Blanket Purchase Order (BPO) -- An order between the Airports Authority and an external source that allows the Airports Authority to order future goods or services on a repetitive basis, and to be billed for the goods or services received on an as ordered basis.

Call Order Contract -- Type of indefinite delivery contract that because of its low cost and non-complex nature, can be afforded cost-efficient expedited handling.

Capital Construction Program (CCP) -- The Airports Authority's major construction program involving capital improvements at both Airports.

Capitalized Item -- Items that have an acquisition cost of \$10,000 or more, recorded individually in the property record and in the appropriate General Ledger account so that their value may be depreciated separately. Examples are general/special purpose vehicles, photo copiers, radio equipment, computer equipment, snowplows, runway friction testing equipment, and leased equipment (more than 30 day period).

Certificate of Appointment -- The document that authorizes an individual to execute and administer, on behalf of the Airports Authority, contracts and other contractual instruments such as modifications, change orders, task orders, delivery orders, purchase orders, and blanket purchase orders, subject to any limitations set forth in the certificate.

Certification -- The process by which a business enterprise is determined to be an eligible Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) under 49 CFR Part 23 and Part 26, as amended or a Local Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (LDBE) under the Airports Authority's LDBE Program.

Claim -- A written demand or assertion by one of the contracting parties seeking, as a matter of right, the payment of money, the adjustment or interpretation of contract terms, or other relief arising under or relating to the contract. An invoice or other request for payment that is not in dispute when submitted is not a claim although it may be converted into one if the amount is disputed or it is not acted upon in a reasonable time.

Competitive Range -- After submittal and evaluation of proposals, the Competitive Range is comprised of those offerors that submitted the most highly rated proposals have a reasonable chance to be awarded the contract.

Conforming Offer -- An offer that complies in all material respects with the Airports Authority's solicitation. See Paragraph 2.2.6 for additional information.

Construction -- Construction, demolition, alteration, or repair of buildings, structures, or other real property. For purposes of this definition, the terms "buildings, structures, or other real property" include but are not limited to improvements of all types, such as bridges, plants, streets, tunnels, sewers, power lines, pumping stations, airport facilities, terminals, and breakwaters. Construction excludes the manufacture, production, furnishing, alteration, repair, or assembling of personal property.

Contract -- A mutually binding legal agreement between the Airports Authority and an external source to obtain goods, construction or services under specified terms and conditions. A purchase order or a blanket purchase order when accepted by a vendor, is a type of contract.

Contracting Officer (CO) -- An individual who has been issued a Certification of Appointment with formally delegated written authorization to commit the Airports Authority by entering into contracts and other contractual instruments such as modifications, task orders, delivery orders, purchase orders, and blanket purchase orders.

Contracting Officer's Technical Representative (COTR)

-- An individual possessing technical expertise with respect to the contractual work being performed who has been delegated the responsibility for monitoring contractor performance and supporting the Contracting Officer.

Contractor -- An individual or company that has a contract with the Airports Authority to provide goods, construction, or services; synonymous with supplier and vendor.

Day -- Refers to a calendar day unless otherwise stated.

Debarment -- An exclusion from contracting and subcontracting with the Airports Authority for a specified period of time.

Determination to Debar (DTD) -- Formal notification that a contractor has been debarred as of the date of the determination.

Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) -- A small business concern that is at least 51 percent owned and controlled by one or more socially and economically-disadvantaged individuals, or, in the case of any publicly-owned business, at least 51 percent of the stock of which is owned by one or more socially and economically-disadvantaged individuals. In addition, a DBE firm's management and daily business operations must be controlled by one or more of the socially and economically-disadvantaged individuals who own it and who are citizens or lawful permanent residents of the United States. See Paragraph 4.2 for a more complete definition.

Dispute -- A dispute exists between the contracting parties when they have been unsuccessful in resolving a claim submitted by one party.

Evaluation Committee (EC) -- Committee established when required to evaluate technical evaluation criteria.

Free On Board (FOB) -- This term is used in conjunction with a physical point to determine the point at which title for goods passes to the buyer.

Free On Board At Origin (FOB Origin) -- The vendor places the goods on the conveyance by which they are to be transported and the title passes to the Airports Authority when the goods are loaded.

Free On Board At Destination (FOB Destination) -- The vendor is responsible for delivery of the goods to the specified delivery destination. Title passes to the Airports

Authority when the goods arrive at that location (e.g., the warehouse receiving dock).

Invitation for Bids (IFB) -- The solicitation document used to solicit advertised sealed bids for goods, construction, or services.

Local Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (LDBE) -- A business that is independently owned and operated; not dominant in its field of operation; is a small business under the Airports Authority's small business standards; and physically located within a 100 mile radius of the District of Columbia's zero mile marker. See Paragraph 4.3 for a more complete definition.

Materials Management Division -- The office at each Airport, which reports to the Airport Administrative Department, and is authorized and responsible for purchasing services and property subject to an overall limit currently set at \$50,000 or less. That limit is subject to change and there are exceptions to the limits as described in Paragraph 1.6.2.

May -- Denotes the permissive. However, the words "no person may..." mean that no person is authorized or permitted to do the act described.

Modification -- Any written change to a contract.

Negotiated Contract -- A contract awarded as a result of evaluation or negotiation after receipt of proposals, or as a result of the receipt of best and final offers.

Non-Capitalized Assets -- Items which have an acquisition cost of \$2,500 or more but less than \$10,000, and are recorded individually in the property record for property management and control purposes only. Examples are special purpose/systems furniture, medical/dental equipment, household furniture/appliances, special purpose vehicles, marine equipment, shop equipment/tools, equipment, emergency commissary/kitchen readiness landscaping/lawn equipment, training equipment, equipment, and leased equipment (more than 30-day period).

Non-Conformance -- Exists when a proposal includes a substantial deviation from the solicitation that goes to the substance of the offer and causes it to not comply with the requirements of the solicitation relating to price, quantity, quality, delivery or performance.

Notice of Pending Debarment (NPD) -- Notification to a contractor that debarment is being considered.

Offer -- A response to a solicitation that, if accepted, would bind the offeror to perform the resultant contract. This is a generic term that includes proposals that are submitted in response to an RFP and bids that are submitted in response to an IFB.

Offeror – A person or firm that submits an offer in response to a solicitation. When used together with the term "bidder," the term "offeror" generally refers to a person or firm responding to a Request for Proposals.

Operation and Maintenance (O & M) -- A contract for O & M services obligates the contractor to operate and maintain the system in accordance with the contract statement of work.

Procurement System -- The established policies, procedures, and personnel that are used to conduct procurement activities for the Airports Authority.

Proposal -- An offer of specific goods or services at a specified price, for a specified period of time; generally relates to competitive proposal process by which contracts are awarded based upon an evaluation of the proposal against stated evaluation criteria. A proposal is a binding offer to perform.

Protest -- A protest is a written objection by an interested party to a solicitation or to a proposed award or actual award of a contract.

Purchase Order (PO) -- An Airports Authority contractual instrument with specified terms and conditions to purchase goods and services issued to the supplier or vendor upon receipt of quotations of price and delivery schedule.

Purchasing Agent -- An individual who has been issued a Certificate of Appointment which limits the authority delegated to a specified dollar level.

Quotation (Quote) -- A vendor's written or verbal statement of a specific price for goods or services, contingent upon conditions as stated.

Real Property Items -- Items which will be installed into and become part of a real property facility such as venetian blinds, lighting fixtures or a sink.

Requisition -- A funding and authorization document used to request an acquisition of specified goods, construction or services..

Request for Proposals (RFP) -- A solicitation document used in negotiated procurements seeking proposals that conform with the solicitation from responsible offerors.

Request for Qualifications Information (RFQI) -- A document or other inquiry soliciting technical or professional qualifications from Architectural/ Engineering firms or prospective Concessionaires, design-build firms, or other consultants as allowed by this Manual.

Request for Quotations (RFQ) -- A document or other inquiry soliciting price and/or delivery information for goods and services.

Requestor -- An individual, office or subdivision within the Airports Authority who requests the acquisition of goods, construction, or services by completing a Requisition.

Responsible Offeror -- Any offeror who has the capability in all respects to perform fully the contract requirements and the moral and business integrity and reliability that will assure good faith performance.

Scope of Work -- See Statement of Work.

Service Contract -- A contractual document that directly engages the time and effort of a vendor whose primary purpose is to perform an identifiable task rather than to furnish an end item of supply. Airport Purchasing Offices shall use purchase orders or BPOs as the contractual instrument to contract for specific services within their purchasing authority. A service contract or other contractual instrument can cover services performed by either professional or nonprofessional personnel whether on an individual or organizational basis. Some of the areas in which service contracts are found include the following:

- (1) Maintenance, overhaul, repair, servicing, rehabilitation, salvage, modernization, or modification of goods, systems, or equipment;
- (2) Routine recurring maintenance of real property;
- (3) Housekeeping, janitorial and base services;
- (4) Consulting services;
- (5) Engineering and technical services;
- (6) Operation of Airports Authority owned equipment, facilities, and systems;
- (7) Communications services; and
- (8) Transportation and related services.

Set-Aside -- When acquisitions are reserved for award to a predefined group or category of suppliers or other contractors.

Shall -- Denotes the mandatory.

Solicitation -- An Invitation for Bids, Request for Proposals, Request for Quotations, or Request for Qualifications Information.

Specification -- A description of the technical requirements for goods or services.

Statement of Work (SOW) -- Also referred to as Scope of Work. This is a description of the construction, goods, or services being procured.

Supplier -- An individual or company that sells goods or services; synonymous with vendor and contractor.

Suspension -- An exclusion from contracting or subcontracting with the Airports Authority for a reasonable period of time prior to the initiation and during the pendency of the debarment process.

Task Contract -- An indefinite delivery contract providing an in-place contractual arrangement with one or many competitively selected contractors that is or are ready, willing and able to undertake a number of jobs, or individual tasks, of the nature described in the contract's statement of work.

Task Order -- The means used to define and authorize jobs or tasks to be performed by a contractor under a Task Contact.

Unified Certification Program (UCP) -- Once certified by the Virginia UCP, a firm's DBE certification will be accepted by all recipients of U.S. Department of Transportation grant funds within Virginia.

Vendor -- An individual or company that sells goods or services; synonymous with supplier and contractor.

Will -- Denotes an action that is to occur in the future.

APPENDIX B POINTS OF CONTACT

B.1 PROCUREMENT AND CONTRACTS DEPARTMENT (MA-29)

Procures goods, services, and construction that involve a total commitment currently set at over \$50,000 for goods and services and for all construction contracts.

Metropolitan Washington Airports Authority Procurement and Contracts Department (MA-29) 1 Aviation Circle Washington, DC 20001-6000 Phone (703) 417-8660

B.2 MATERIALS MANAGEMENT DIVISIONS

The Materials Management Divisions at Ronald Reagan Washington National and Washington Dulles International Airports procure goods and services that involve a total commitment currently set at \$50,000 or less.

B.2.1 Metropolitan Washington Airports Authority
 Materials Management Division (MA-133)
 Ronald Reagan Washington National Airport
 Washington, DC 20001-4901
 Phone (703) 417-8026

B.2.2 Metropolitan Washington Airports Authority
 Materials Management Division (MA-238)
 Washington Dulles International Airport
 P.O. Box 17045
 Washington, DC 20041-0001
 Phone (703) 572-2920

B.3 CONCESSIONS AND PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT (MA-430)

Enters into concession contracts for the provision of goods and services to airport users except as noted in B.4 below.

Metropolitan Washington Airports Authority Concessions and Property Development Department (MA-430) 1 Aviation Circle Washington, DC 20001-6000 Phone (703) 417-8755

B.4 AIRPORT ADMINISTRATION DEPARTMENTS

Enters into concession contracts for ground transportation, rental car, fixed base operation, and parking at the respective airports.

B.4.1 Metropolitan Washington Airports Authority
 Airport Administration Department (MA-130)
 Ronald Reagan Washington National Airport
 Washington, DC 20001-4901
 Phone (703) 417-8022

B.4.2 Metropolitan Washington Airports Authority
 Airport Administration Department (MA-230)
 Washington Dulles International Airport
 P.O. Box 17045
 Washington, DC 20041-0001
 Phone (703) 572-2905

B.5 EQUAL OPPORTUNITY PROGRAMS DEPARTMENT (MA-410)

Manages the Airports Authority's Disadvantaged Business Enterprise and Local Disadvantaged Business Enterprise Programs.

Metropolitan Washington Airports Authority Equal Opportunity Programs Department (MA-410) 1 Aviation Circle Washington, DC 20001-6000 Phone (703) 417-8625

B.6 SUBMITTALS OF CONTRACT PROTESTS AND DISPUTES

For submission of all initial contract protests and all requests for dispute resolution.

Metropolitan Washington Airports Authority Procurement and Contracts Department (MA-29) 1 Aviation Circle Washington, DC 20001-6000

B.7 OFFICES RESPONSIBLE FOR PROTEST REVIEWS

In specific instances when protest reviews may be requested from the President and Chief Executive Officer or the Board of Directors.

B.7.1 For the President and Chief Executive Officer -

Metropolitan Washington Airports Authority Office of the Chief Executive Officer 1 Aviation Circle Washington, DC 20001-6000

B.7.2 For the Board of Directors -

Metropolitan Washington Airports Authority Vice President and Secretary, Board of Directors 1 Aviation Circle Washington, DC 20001-6000

APPENDIX C REQUISITION PROCESS

C.1 PROCUREMENT CYCLE

For planning purposes it is important to understand the stepby-step processes required of the appropriate procurement office since these processes are what determine the duration of the procurement cycle. The length of the cycle may vary dependent upon such factors as (1) complexity of proposed procurement, (2) procurement method (i.e., advertised sealed bidding or negotiated), (3) contract type (i.e., construction, architect-engineer, supply or service), and (4) number of amendments required during the solicitation phase.

Airports Authority requestors must be cognizant of the duration of the procurement cycle and allow sufficient lead time (see table below) from the date the Requisition is submitted to Procurement, to contract award. Although Contracting Officers are constantly searching for ways to streamline the procurement cycle, requestors should recognize that competing higher priority demands may impact actual lead times. The most common delays in the procurement cycle are a result of inadequate definition or subsequent changes to the specifications/description of the items being procured.

Type of Procurement	Days Lead Time
Construction	45-60
Services	45-60
A/E Services	90-120
Supplies (off-the-shelf items)	30-60
Equipment (long-lead items)	45-90

C.2 SUBMITTING REQUISITIONS

Goods, services, property and construction services are purchased in response to Requisitions generated by Airports Authority personnel to support mission requirements. After such Requisitions are properly completed and approved as set forth herein, they become the authorization for commitment of Airports Authority funds.

C.3 REQUESTOR FURNISHED INFORMATION

C.3.1 Contracting Officer's Technical Representative (COTR)

The vice president requesting a procurement action is responsible for identifying a well qualified COTR for each requested procurement action. The COTR may or may not be involved in developing the statement of work. If technical evaluation criteria are used to evaluate contractor proposals, the COTR is frequently identified as the Chair of the Evaluation Committee in accordance with Paragraph 2.3. The detailed duties and responsibilities of the COTR are

described in detail in Appendix G. In short, during the term of the contract, the COTR will be responsible for ensuring that the contractor performs in accordance with the Airports Authority's contract; also see Paragraphs 5.8.1 and 5.8.2. The COTR will be required to track progress to facilitate processing of contractor invoices and to communicate instances of unacceptable work.

C.3.2 Price Estimate

The requestor is responsible for establishing a budgetary price estimate or a detailed price estimate for the Requisition. This estimate should be based on experience or by contractor inquiry as necessary. Requestors needing assistance in establishing an estimated price may contact the Procurement and Contracts Department or refer to contractors/vendors (see Paragraph 3.11.11). Construction contract estimates generally are prepared by the design A/E. Formal price estimates are "Confidential" for Airports Authority use only. The price estimate may be revised during the negotiations, as necessary, to reflect any changes or clarifications of the scope of work to be performed by the contractor.

C.3.3 Evaluation Criteria

The requestor should consider whether to recommend use of evaluation criteria (as mentioned in Paragraph C.3.1) in addition to price. Any such criteria, listed in order of declining importance, should be submitted with the Requisition so that they may be considered by the Contracting Officer for inclusion in the RFP (see Paragraph 2.2.2). If no additional criteria are submitted, and the Contracting Officer agrees that none are needed, the RFP will be structured so that price is the only evaluation factor.

C.3.4 LDBE Participation

Requestors should also recommend LDBE set-aside participation requirements. If the Requisition is silent on this matter, the Equal Opportunity Programs Department will make specific recommendations.

NOTE: LDBE requirements do not apply to solicitations funded by the FTA.

C.3.5 Full Description

The requestor must obtain all information required to fully describe the goods or specific services to be acquired. This important requirement is further expanded upon in Paragraph C.5, "Specification Guidelines."

C.4 COMPETITION GUIDELINES

The Airports Authority's policy is to achieve, to the maximum extent practicable, full and open competition.

The competition guidelines reflected below are based on total estimated dollar commitment of each procurement action.

C.4.1 \$250 and Less

Items in this category may be purchased using Imprest Fund procedures. Excluded from this category even though they may cost \$250 or less are those items purchased under blanket purchase orders, and personal property items.

C.4.2 \$251 Through \$2,500

Purchasing actions in this category may be effected without competitive quotes as long as the Contracting Officer considers the telephone (voice or fax) solicited price to be reasonable. Published price lists are used as a point of reference and price comparability for goods and services not previously purchased. The Abstract of Offers form is used to document the analysis. Since there may be no competition in this category, care must be taken to ensure that the Airports Authority is getting a fair discount when possible.

These purchases should be distributed equitably among qualified suppliers. If practical, a telephone (voice or fax) quote should be obtained from other than the previous supplier before a repeat order is placed. Items for which there is a recurring need should be considered candidates for a BPO.

C.4.3 \$2,501 Through \$10,000

A minimum of three sources, if available, should be solicited to promote competition and ensure that the purchase is advantageous to the Airports Authority, price and other criteria considered. When there are a large number of sources available, Contracting Officers generally should not solicit more than ten (10) vendors. This should be more than sufficient to achieve competition. The Contracting Officer should ensure that other vendors on the source list have an equitable opportunity to receive subsequent solicitations.

Quotations may be solicited by telephone. All prospective vendors must be given similar detailed information concerning the product or service being purchased. If the required information is too complex to be transmitted by phone, a written RFQ should be used. Quotes may be submitted by telephone (voice or fax). However, if necessary, written (hand signed) responses may be required.

An analysis of quotes received will be accomplished and documented on the Abstract of Offers form and a purchase

order awarded to the supplier offering the pricing, acceptable delivery, and other commercial terms and conditions most favorable to the Airports Authority. If award is made to other than the lowest priced quote, the reason for the decision will be documented on the Abstract of Offers form. Items for which there is a recurring need should be considered candidates for a BPO.

C.4.4 \$10,001 Through \$25,000

Written Requests for Quotation (RFQ) should be sent to a minimum of three qualified vendors, if available. When there are a large number of sources available, Contracting Officers generally should not solicit more than ten (10) vendors, which should be more than sufficient to achieve competition. The Contracting Officer should ensure that other vendors on the source list have an equitable opportunity to receive subsequent solicitations.

Quotations are generally submitted by mail or are hand delivered. However, when time is of the essence, fax transmission is acceptable and should be so indicated in the RFQ. The quotations received will be evaluated and documented on the Abstract of Offers form. A purchase order will be placed with the supplier offering the pricing, acceptable delivery, and other commercial terms and conditions most favorable to the Airports Authority. If award is made to other than the lowest priced quote, the reason for the decision will be documented on the Abstract of Offers form.

As a general rule, vendors will be solicited using RFQ or RFP procedures. However, there may be some instances when it is desirable to use a more restrictive, formally advertised, sealed bid procedure.

C.4.5 \$25,001 Through \$200,000

Procurements in this category are included on the Airports Authority's website. LDBE participation may be achieved by a 100% set-aside or by establishing subcontracting requirements, which are incorporated into the contracts, along with voluntary goals for minority business enterprise/women-owned business enterprise participation.

NOTE: LDBE requirements do not apply to solicitations funded by the FTA.

C.4.6 In Excess of \$200,000

Full and open competition is required for contracts in this category, except in the limited instances where other than full and open competition is permitted (see Paragraph 1.4) and has been specifically approved by the Board of Directors.

If applicable to the solicitation, LDBE participation may be achieved by a 100% set-aside or by establishing

subcontracting requirements, which are incorporated into the contracts, along with voluntary goals for minority business enterprise/women-owned business enterprise participation. Special emphasis will be placed on including small local contractors, minority and women-owned businesses on solicitations.

Special source selection procedures in Paragraph 2.6 apply for architect/engineer firms.

Contracting Officers should consider Metropolitan Washington Council of Governments (COG), state and county agencies as potential sources (see Paragraph 1.3.1).

To ensure broad coverage of firms that have indicated their interest in contracting opportunities with the Airports Authority, solicitations are announced through the Airports Authority's "PROJECT eLERT" e-mail notification system and listed on the www.mwaa.com Internet website.

C.5 SPECIFICATION GUIDELINES

The importance of ensuring the adequacy of the description of the goods or specific services being purchased cannot be overemphasized. The objective is to describe and purchase, at a fair and reasonable price, a product or service that fully satisfies the Airports Authority's requirement. Specifications/Statements of Work should be prepared in a manner that encourages competition. The following paragraphs describe types of specifications:

C.5.1 Generic Description

A generic description is desirable because it encourages full and open competition.

C.5.2 Brand Name or Equal

When it is determined to be impractical or undesirable to develop a generic specification, one or more brand names (three names should be specified, if possible) may be used to convey the general style, type, character and quality of the article desired. Unless otherwise provided in the solicitation, the naming of certain brands, makes or manufacturers does not restrict vendors to these specific brands or manufacturers named. To the extent practicable, the characteristics of the item being requested that are the most important to the Airports Authority (salient characteristics) should be identified. Any article which the Airports Authority, at its sole discretion, determines to be the equal of those specified, considering quality, workmanship, economy of operation and suitability for the purpose intended, may be accepted. The solicitation should enable an offeror desiring advanced approval to furnish a specific "or equal" to submit a request two weeks prior to the due date of the proposal. The Contracting Officer is ultimately responsible for determining what is "equal" although full technical input should be sought as needed. A justification should be signed by the requestor's Department Manager and be approved by the Manager, Procurement and Contracts Department, with a copy maintained in the contract file.

C.5.3 Specified Choice Make/Model

Requestors and contracting personnel must recognize the possible disadvantages of specifying brand name or equal. The problem of determining what constitutes an "equal" can be both difficult and time consuming, particularly when it is recognized that an item may be an "equal" for one application but not be acceptable for another specific application. If the requestor has been able to identify the characteristics of the item being requested that are most important to the Airports Authority (i.e., the "salient" characteristics), then the determination of "equal" should be simplified. However, in some cases, it may be impracticable or simply not cost effective, because of the nature or cost of the item involved, to develop a comprehensive description of the pertinent salient characteristics. In such instances, the requestor may decide that it is more beneficial to the Airports Authority to specify two, three or more specific makes and models that the vendor must choose among. However, this is not a recommended process because it limits the competition to those specified choices and, because it does not permit full and open competition, it requires Board of Directors' approval if the acquisition cost is over \$200,000 in accordance with Paragraph 1.1. Competition is limited because it eliminates consideration of an unlisted "or equal" which a vendor might otherwise have suggested. The determination for the use of a "Specified Choice of Make and Model" specification should be made in advance and in writing. A justification should be signed by the requestor's Department Manager and be approved by the Procurement and Contracts Department Manager with a copy maintained in the contract file. In addition, a justification for Board approval is required if the contract is over \$200,000. During the solicitation process, efforts should be made to obtain competition between dealers who carry any of the specified makes and models.

C.5.4 Proprietary Description

See Paragraph 1.4.1(3)(c) for a description of the conditions under which a proprietary specification can be used for a procurement action over \$200,000.

C.6 REQUISITION APPROVAL REQUIREMENTS

The level of approvals required for Requisitions within each office is at the discretion of the Vice President for that office. Additional approvals are required for the following categories:

Contracting Manual Fourth Edition

Computers and Related Equipment and Services

Requisitions above \$2,500 for computers and related equipment and services require additional approval of the Information Systems Department. Approval is not required for consumable supplies.

Trade-In of Equipment

Requisitions for procurement actions which involve trade-in of any capitalized equipment, i.e. acquisition cost \$10,000 or above, require approval of the Manager of Administrative Support Services Department.

C.7 REQUISITION FUNDING CONSIDERATIONS

Because most contractual actions have a direct impact on Airports Authority funds, close coordination and cooperation between financial and procurement managers and staff is essential. The following ground rules have been established to ensure that adequate fiscal controls are in place while still enabling procurement to respond in a timely manner to user demands.

The amount included on a Requisition is an estimate of the cost of accomplishing the items described on the document. Initial contract awards may be made for amounts higher than the estimate, as long as the award amount complies with the following:

Estimated amount shown on Requisition	Percentage of initial \$
up to \$5,000	25 percent not to exceed \$1,000
\$5,001 - \$25,000	20 percent not to exceed \$3,750
\$25,001 - \$100,000	15 percent not to exceed \$10,000
\$100,001 and over	10 percent not to exceed \$100,000

Before Contracting Officers make any contract award that exceeds the Requisition amount, they will first verify with the requestor who initiated the Requisition that: (1) it is his/her desire to have the contract executed at the increased amount and (2) that there is sufficient budgetary funding to cover what will become the initial contract value.

Beyond these thresholds, an additional or adjusted Requisition is required to show separate approval for the increased contract value prior to award.

APPENDIX D PROCUREMENT JUSTIFICATION FORM & INSTRUCTIONS

Metropolitan Washington Airports Authority

PROCUREMENT JUSTIFICATION

REQUISITION ATTACHMENT - ALL BLOCKS MUST BE FULLY COMPLETED

1A. REQUESTOR NAME, PHONE NUMBER AND ROUTING SYMBOL	L	1B. REQUESTOR'S SIGNATURE	1C. DATE
2. NAME OF PROJECT / GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF COMMODITIE	S (Include Suggested Fir	rm's Name if Applicable)	
	-c (c.aac caggeetea :	c realise is repriesable,	
3. ITEM(S) PROPOSED REQUIRING EXCEPTION TO FULL AND OPE	EN COMPETITION		
· ,			
4. CONTRACTING MANUAL PARAGRAPH WHICH PERMITS LESS 1	THAN FULL AND OPEN CO	DMPETITION (Specify Paragraph Number and Title)	
5. DETAILED JUSTIFICATION FOR OTHER THAN FULL AND OPEN	COMPETITION		
3. DETAILED 303 TIFICATION FOR OTHER THAN FOLL AND OPEN	COMPETITION		
6. EXPLAIN WHY REQUIREMENT(S) CANNOT BE CHANGED TO PE	RMIT GREATER COMPET	TITION	
(6) 51 5 61 7 61 7 61 7 61 7 61 7 61 7 61 7			
7. PRICE VALIDATION			
Estimated Price: \$			
		- 4511 1	
		n (If Unknown, attach pricing info.)	
	etitor's Prices shed Price List	☐ Previous Contract: ☐ Other:	
<u> </u>		 -	
8A. DEPARTMENT MANAGER SIGNATURE	8B. DATE	VITY APPROVALS 9A. VICE PRESIDENT SIGNATURE	9B. DATE
	-3		12. 27.12
	PROCUREMEN	T APPROVALS	
10A. CONTRACTING OFFICER SIGNATURE	10B. DATE	11A. PROCUREMENT & CONTRACTS MANAGER SIGNATURE	11B. DATE
			1

INSTRUCTIONS FOR PROCUREMENT JUSTIFICATION FORM

"Other Than Full and Open Competition" Procurements

Justifications using this form are required for all "other than full and open competition" procurements (see Paragraph 1.4.2 of the Contracting Manual), including sole-source procurements, which have an estimated cost equal to or less than \$200,000. When the cost of an "other than full and open competition" procurement is estimated to exceed \$200,000, the requestor must prepare a paper to the Board of Directors that recommends the Board's approval of the procurement in addition to the Procurement Justification form.

"Full and Open Competition" Procurements

Justifications using this form are also required for two types of "full and open competition" procurements, regardless of their estimated cost: "full and open competition with exclusions" (see Paragraph 1.2 of the Contracting Manual) and "full and open competition using contracts procured by other governmental units" (see Paragraph 1.3 of the Contracting Manual).

Instructions for completing the Procurement Justification form are as follows:

Block 1 – Requestor Information

- Provide the Requestor's name, phone number and routing symbol.
- The Requestor is typically the COTR for the requirement.
- The Requestor must sign and date the Procurement Justification.

Block 2 - Name of Project / General Description of Commodities

- Provide the project's title and a brief description of the requirement.
- If justifying a Sole Source Procurement, provide the suggested firm's name.

Block 3 - Item(s) Proposed Requiring Exception to Full and Open Competition

• Provide a detailed description of the items requiring other than full and open competition.

Block 4 - Contracting Manual Paragraph Which Permits Less Than Full and Open Competition

- Specify Paragraph Number and Title
- Types of procurements are explained in Paragraphs 1.2 to 1.4 of the Contracting Manual
- Sole Source procurements are explained in Paragraph 1.4.1 of the Contracting Manual
- Proprietary equipment and software are considered Sole Source Procurements under Paragraph 1.4.1(3)(c) of the Contracting Manual

Block 5 - Detailed Justification for Other Than Full and Open Competition

- Explain in detail why the requirement cannot be procured through Full and Open Competition. Refer to the attached additional information if justifying a Sole Source requirement.
- Full and Open Competition with Exclusions, Section 1.2
 - Under Full and Open Competition with Exclusions there are two subcategories, each of which will require different information in the justification:
 - 1. 100% LDBE When appropriate, competition may be limited by using a set-aside for only certified LDBE firms, or in multiple award situations, one or more of the contracts awarded may be set aside for certified LDBE firms. The Procurement Justification form is not required for this type of limitation to Full and Open Competition. The Equal Opportunity Programs Department will document the rationale that supports limiting competition on that solicitation to only LDBE firms.
 - 2. **Airport Security** Solicitation distribution should be controlled for security of Airport premises or information technology.

Governmental Contracts and Supplies, Section 1.3

The justification for Government Purchasing Agreements should describe the reason it is beneficial to use an existing contract that was competed by another governmental entity, as well as a pricing analysis which shows that making use of the rider contract is beneficial to the Airports Authority.

Other than Full and Open Competition, Section 1.4

Under Other than Full and Open Competition there are three subcategories, each of which will require different information in the justification:

- 1. **Urgent Requirement** The Urgent subcategory applies when the reason for using limited competition is because serious detrimental consequences will result if Full and Open Competition is used. <u>For Urgent requirements</u>, the justification should specifically address why the urgency exists and the serious detrimental consequences that must be avoided.
- 2. **Airline Improvements to Airport Facilities** The justification for an airline-procured project should cite the applicable joint use and lease agreement and describe why it was in the Airports Authority's best interest to have the airline contract for the work.

3. Sole Source

- a. Unique or Innovative Concepts The justification should describe the aspect of the concept which makes it unique and only available from a single provider and why it is in the best interests of the Airports Authority to make this procurement.
- b. Patents or Restricted Data Rights The justification should describe the nature of the patent or restriction which limits the requirement to a single provider and why it is in the best interests of the Airports Authority to make this procurement.
- c. Proprietary Equipment and Software The justification for proprietary equipment or software should describe both the proprietary nature of procurement as well as what consideration was given to replacing the existing proprietary equipment and why it is in the best interests of the Airports Authority to make this proprietary procurement.
- d. Utility Services and Supplies The justification for utility services should describe the nature of the utility that limits the Airports Authority to a single provider.

Block 6 - Explain Why Requirement(s) Cannot be Changed to Permit Greater Competition

• Explain in detail why the requirement cannot be changed to allow for Full and Open Competition.

Block 7 - Price Validation

- Provide all of the following:
 - 1. Estimated price for the items covered under the Procurement Justification
 - 2. Confirm that the estimated price is fair and reasonable by validating it against published prices, prior contracts or other source

Blocks 8 and 9 – Requesting Activity Approvals

 All Procurement Justifications must be approved by the manager of the requesting Department and by the corresponding Vice President

Blocks 10 and 11 - Procurement Approvals

• The Contracting Officer and Procurement and Contracts Department Manager must approve all Procurement Justifications regardless of the amount of the justification

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION FOR SOLE SOURCE JUSTIFICATIONS

- A. Sole source justification <u>must not</u> contain self-serving or "canned" statements. They must set forth concise facts about the following:
 - 1. What are the procurement's minimum requirements? Material evidence should be presented verifying these minimum requirements.
 - 2. What unique capabilities does the proposed contractor possess which makes it the only company capable of meeting these minimum requirements?
 - 3. Was a market search or other type of solicitation conducted? Material evidence should be presented verifying that such a search was conducted and that the proposed contractor was the only company meeting the procurement's minimum requirements.
 - 4. Was the item or service previously procured? If yes, was it from the same contractor? If this is a continuation of a previous effort by the same contractor, demonstrate why no other sources of supply are available.
 - 5. Is there a technical data package, specification, engineering description, statement of work, or purchase description available which is sufficient for competitive procurement? If not, is one being developed? If not, why? How much lead-time would be required to develop it? Has any cost-benefit analysis been conducted to determine whether it is advantageous to the Airports Authority to buy or develop such information? If not, what evidence is available to demonstrate why this analysis is not needed?
 - 6. Can individual components of the procurement be competitively procured? If so, what steps have been taken to do this?
 - 7. Does the procurement result from an unsolicited proposal? If so, who first described the problem addressed by the unsolicited proposal? Demonstrate why the proposed contractor is the only one capable of performing the service or providing the item.
 - 8. What material evidence exists that the Airports Authority would be injured if the noncompetitive procurement is not made? This includes estimates of additional costs incurred and criticality of schedules (including when the procurement need was first identified, reasonableness of delivery schedules, etc.)
 - 9. What steps are being taken to foster competition in subsequent procurements of this product or service?
 - 10. A concluding statement that the proposed sole source provider is the only known source that can satisfy the Airports Authority's requirement. Statements such as "No other sources are considered qualified" or "the XYZ Company is considered best qualified" shall not be considered a basis for sole source justification.
- B. With the proper justification, sole source acquisitions may be approved under the following circumstances:
 - 1. <u>Unique Product or Service</u> Only one company (or individual) can provide the sought after item(s)/service(s). This condition is based on the fact that a company has a unique product/service, which alone will satisfy the Airports Authority's minimum needs. However, unique does not mean desirable or nice-to-have. It means the only one that exists. This must be supported by facts, as well as the inviolate need for that item.
 - 2. Reprocurement Data A suitable data package or adequate specifications/purchase descriptions for competition are not available and cannot reasonably be acquired. If this can be demonstrated, there is no need for a search for other sources. However, efforts to obtain a suitable data package or to draft adequate specifications/purchase descriptions for future competition shall be described.

- C. Sole Source Acquisitions are generally <u>not</u> proper in the following circumstances:
 - 1. Administrative Delay Time alone is an invalid reason for noncompetitive acquisitions if the Airports Authority unreasonably delays the acquisition action, or was aware of the requirement early enough to obtain competition reasonably. However, if program approvals or funding are withheld from the requiring agency until a point in time too late for competitive acquisition, the time factor can be a justifiable basis for sole source. However, this must be stated clearly in the justification, with the specific facts set forth. In this regard, it is emphasized that, in many cases, requirements can be solicited for and negotiated prior to actual receipt of funds; therefore, a statement that funds were not available may not be valid in such cases. Consult with Contracting, Legal, and Controller personnel if funds are going to be delayed.
 - 2. <u>Superior Product</u> This is extremely difficult to justify. Both the superiority of the product and the need for the superior product must be shown unequivocally before this can be a valid basis for sole source.
 - 3. <u>Lower Price</u> The lowest price can be established <u>only</u> through competitive acquisition. Notwithstanding published prices or verbally promised prices, any offeror has the prerogative to sell its products at less than advertised or promised prices.

APPENDIX E DETERMINATION OF RESPONSIBILITY FORM

Metropolitan Washington Airports Authority

DETERMINATION OF PROSPECTIVE CONTRACTOR RESPONSIBILITY

NAME AND ADDRESS OF PROSPECTIVE CONTRACTOR		RFP NUMB	ER					
		DESCRIPTI	ON OF COMMODITY	OR SERVICE				
BUSINESS CLASSIFICATION (Check all that apply)								
DBE [] LDBE [] MBE []	WBE [1						
REMARKS		•						
	LEGEND: TY	PE OF EVALU	JATION					
Type A - On-Site Visit. This constitutes an inspe								
Type B – Desk-Type Evaluation. This may consist			-	contractor, Dun	ın & Bradstreet	reports,		
National Credit Offices report, Debarred	-		-					
Type C – Personal Knowledge. When Contractin him/her to make a determination regard	g Officer has suf	ficient persor	nal knowledge o	f a company's	capabilities whi	ch enables		
- Innivited to make a determination regard	mig responsibilit	y .						
Instructions: Check type of evaluation and rate each be supported, if necessary, by attached documentation		l be checked fo	or those factors n	not applicable. 1	ype A or B evalu	ations shall		
be supported, if necessary, by attached documentation					RATING			
FACTOR	l l	EVALUATION	T					
TACTOR	Type A (A)	Type B (B)	Type C (C)	Satisfactory (D)	Unsatisfactory (E)	N/A (F)		
Management Personnel	()	()	(-)	. ,	()	()		
Technical Capability								
Production Capability								
Physical Plant								
Facilities & Equipment								
Performance Record on Prior & Current Contracts								
Quality Assurance Program & Procedures								
Safety Program								
Security Program								
Financial Capability								
Purchasing System								
Equal Opportunity Program								
DBE/LDBE/MBE/WBE Subcontracting Program								
Ability to Meet Delivery or Performance Date								
7 billity to Moot Bollvery of 1 offermation Bate								
	 							
DETERMINATION OF RESPONSIBILITY (Check One)	<u> </u>							
	ed Responsibl	Α						
NAME OF CONTRACTING OFFICER		RE OF CONTRACT	TING OFFICER		DATE			
or contributing of Figure	JIGHATU	CI CONTINAC	O OF HOLK		DAIL			

APPENDIX F STANDARD FORM 330 ARCHITECT-ENGINEER QUALIFICATIONS

ARCHITECT - ENGINEER QUALIFICATIONS

PART I - CONTRACT-SPECIFIC QUALIFICATIONS								
					Α.	CONTRAC	T INFORMATION	
1. TIT	LE A	AND	LOC	CATION (City and State)				
2. PU	BLIC	NO ⁻	TICE	DATE			3. SOLICITATION OR PROJECT	NUMBER
					B. ARCHITI	ECT-ENGINI	LER POINT OF CONTACT	
4. NA	ME	AND	TIT	LE				
5. NA	ME	OF F	IRM					
6. TEI	.EPF	IONE	. NU	IMBER	7. FAX NUMBER		8. E-MAIL ADDRESS	
							SED TEAM	
$\overline{}$	(Ch	eck	·J		e this section to	r the prime	contractor and all key sub	ocontractors.)
	3 \-\.	PARTNER SUBCON-	RACTOR	9. FIRM NA	ME		10. ADDRESS	11. ROLE IN THIS CONTRACT
a.								
b.				CHECK IF BRANCH OFFI	CE			
c.				CHECK IF BRANCH OFFI				
d.				CHECK IF BRANCH OFFI				
e.				CHECK IF BRANCH OFFI				
f.								
D. 0	RG.	ANI	ZA	CHECK IF BRANCH OFFI				(Attached)

		EY PERSONNEL PROPOSED FOR lete one Section E for each key p		ACT	
12.	NAME	13. ROLE IN THIS CONTRACT		14	I. YEARS EXPERIENCE
			-	a. TOTAL	b. WITH CURRENT FIRM
15.	FIRM NAME AND LOCATION (City and State)				
10	EDUCATION (DEODEE AND ODEOMATATION)				
16.	EDUCATION (DEGREE AND SPECIALIZATION)	17. CURRENT PR	OFESSIONAL REG	ISTRATION (STATE AND DISCIPLINE)
18.	OTHER PROFESSIONAL QUALIFICATIONS (Publications, O	rganizations, Training, Awards, etc.)			
		19. RELEVANT PROJECTS	_		
	(1) TITLE AND LOCATION (City and State)				COMPLETED
			PROFESSIONAL	SERVICES	CONSTRUCTION (If applicable)
a.	(3) BRIEF DESCRIPTION (Brief scope, size, cost, etc.) AND	SPECIFIC ROLE	Check if	project per	rformed with current firm
	(1) TITLE AND LOCATION (City and State)				COMPLETED
			PROFESSIONAL	SERVICES	CONSTRUCTION (If applicable)
b.	(3) BRIEF DESCRIPTION (Brief scope, size, cost, etc.) AND) SPECIFIC ROLE	Check if	project per	formed with current firm
	(1) TITLE AND LOCATION (City and State)				COMPLETED
			PROFESSIONAL	SERVICES	CONSTRUCTION (If applicable)
c.	(3) BRIEF DESCRIPTION (Brief scope, size, cost, etc.) AND	SPECIFIC ROLE	Check if	project per	formed with current firm
	(1) TITLE AND LOCATION (City and State)			(2) YEAR	COMPLETED
			PROFESSIONAL	SERVICES	CONSTRUCTION (If applicable)
d.	(3) BRIEF DESCRIPTION (Brief scope, size, cost, etc.) AND) SPECIFIC ROLE	Check if	project per	rformed with current firm
	(1) TITLE AND LOCATION (City and State)			(2) YEAR	COMPLETED
			PROFESSIONAL		CONSTRUCTION (If applicable)
e.	(3) BRIEF DESCRIPTION (Brief scope, size, cost, etc.) AND) SPECIFIC ROLE	Check if	project per	formed with current firm

F. EXAMPLE PROJECTS WI QUALIFICA (Present as many projects as reque Complete of	20. EXAMPLE PROJECT KEY NUMBER		
21. TITLE AND LOCATION (City and State)	R COMPLETED		
		PROFESSIONAL SERVICES	CONSTRUCTION (If applicable)
	23. PROJECT OWNER'S INFORMAT	ION	
a. PROJECT OWNER	b. POINT OF CONTACT NAME	c. POINT OF (CONTACT TELEPHONE NUMBER
24. BRIEF DESCRIPTION OF PROJECT AND RELEVANCE	TO THIS CONTRACT (Include scope, size, and	cost)	

	25. FIRMS FROM SECTION C INVOLVED W		
(1) FIRM NAME	(2) FIRM LOCATION (City and State)	(3) ROLE	
(1) FIRM NAME	(2) FIRM LOCATION (City and State)	(3) ROLE	
(1) FIRM NAME	(2) FIRM LOCATION (City and State)	(3) ROLE	
(1) FIRM NAME	(2) FIRM LOCATION (City and State)	(3) ROLE	
(1) FIRM NAME	(2) FIRM LOCATION (City and State)	(3) ROLE	
(1) FIRM NAME	(2) FIRM LOCATION (City and State)	(3) ROLE	

20. EXAMPLE PROJECT KEY

	. NAMES OF KEY PERSONNEL From Section E,	27. ROLE IN THIS CONTRACT (From Section E,	(Fill	28. in "Exa tal	imple Pole. Pla	PLE PR Projects ace "X" icipatio	Key" s	section projec	below t kev n	SECTIO before umber	N F comple for	eting
٧.	Block 12)	Block 13)	1	2	3	4	5 5	6	7	8	9	10
			•			•						
		29. EXAMPL	E PRO	JECTS	KEY				1			
NO.	TITLE OF EXAMPLE	PROJECT (FROM SECTION F)	NO.		TITLE (OF EXA	MPLE	PROJE	CT (FR	OM SE	CTION	F)
1			6									
2			7									
3			8									
4			9									
5			10									

G. KEY PERSONNEL PARTICIPATION IN EXAMPLE PROJECTS

H. ADDITI	IONAL INFORMATION	
30. PROVIDE ANY ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REQUESTED BY THE AGENC	CY. ATTACH ADDITIONAL SHEETS AS NEEDED.	
	RIZED REPRESENTATIVE ag is a statement of facts.	
B1. SIGNATURE	ig to a statement of facts.	32. DATE
33 NAME AND TITLE		

ARCHITECT-ENGINEER QUALIFICATIONS							1. SOLI	CITATION NUMBER	(If any)		
	(If a firi	P n has branch offic	ART II	- G	ENERAL lete for e	QUALIF each spe	ICATIO	NS anch o	ffice seekina	work.	.)
2a. FIRM (OF	R BRANCH OFFIC		, , ,	,,,, <u>,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,</u>					R ESTABLISHED		DUNS NUMBER
2b. STREET									5. OWN	NFRSHI	P
								a. TYPE		12.1011	
2c. CITY					2d. STA	TE 2e. ZIP	CODE	b. SMA	LL BUSINESS STATI	JS	
6a. POINT O	F CONTACT NAM	ME AND TITLE									
								7. NAM	E OF FIRM (If block	2a is a b	ranch office)
6b. TELEPHO	ONE NUMBER		6c. E-MA	IL AD	DRESS						
		8a. FORMER FIRM	NAME/S	\ /If s	anyl.			8h V	R. ESTABLISHED	80 1	DUNS NUMBER
		Od. FORWIER FIRIVI	INAIVIE(3) (11 a	1119)			OD. 1	n. ESTABLISHED	OC. 1	JONS NOWBER
	9. EM	IPLOYEES BY DISCIPI	INE			AN			FIRM'S EXPERI REVENUE FOR		
a. Function Code	k	o. Discipline	c. No		Employees (2) BRANCH	a. Profile Code		b. I	Experience		c. Revenue Index Number (see below)
											,
			-								
			+								
	Other Emplo	yees Total									
11 AN	NIIIAI AVEDA				55.01						
FOR LAST 3 YEARS (Insert revenue index number shown at right) 1. Less than \$1				s than \$10			6. 7.	\$2 million to le \$5 million to le	ess tha	n \$5 million	
a. Federal Work 3. \$250,000 to					less than	\$500,000	8.	\$10 million to	less th	an \$25 million	
b. Non-Fe	deral Work		4. 5.			less than \$ less than \$			\$25 million to \$50 million or		
c. Total V	VUIR	1	12.			REPRESEN					
a. SIGNATUF	RF		The	foreg	oing is a s	statement	of facts.		b. DA	TF	
a. GIGINATUI									D. DA		

c. NAME AND TITLE

APPENDIX G COTR LETTER AND ATTACHMENT

To:	, MA
From:	, MA-29
Subject:	Metropolitan Washington Airports Authority, Contract No, entitled
Date:	

This confirms your appointment as the Airports Authority's Contracting Officer's Technical Representative (COTR) for the subject contract. As COTR, it is essential that you monitor the contractor's performance closely during the entire contract period. Your COTR duties and responsibilities, which may not be redelegated, are listed in Enclosure 1. Please familiarize yourself with your responsibilities as they relate to our overall administration of the contract.

Although technically not part of administering this contract, if you are contacted by any unsuccessful offeror who competed for this contract, please do not discuss the evaluation/selection process with them but refer them to the Contracting Officer.

As Contracting Officer, I will be pleased to assist you on any questions you may have concerning your COTR duties or interpretation of the contract terms and conditions.

As COTR, you are the key individual who must monitor the contractor's performance of technical requirements on the Airports Authority's behalf. Specifically, I look to you to verify the contractor's progress and to ensure that he/she is performing the work in compliance with the contract schedule, technical specifications, and the scope of work. You will be the Airports Authority contact for normal day-to-day communications with the contractor. Coordination with the Contracting Officer is important so that I can support you effectively and administer the contract in accordance with Airports Authority standards. To this end, please:

- a. submit one copy of each item of incoming correspondence and a list of any enclosures to the Contracting Officer,
- b. coordinate with the Contracting Officer any correspondence originating with you, if its importance contractually warrants, prior to dispatch. Where you consider such coordination is unnecessary, provide the Contracting Officer an information copy.

COTR Designation

Page 2

As a general rule, any correspondence involving schedule, performance, or cost

should be coordinated prior to dispatch; and

c. provide the Contracting Officer with information copies of any memoranda for the

record that you prepare relative to the contract.

In order to ensure that the Airports Authority's contractual authority is properly exercised, there are certain actions that may be taken only by the Contracting Officer, after such actions have received approval in accordance with established procedures. These are:

a. the issuance of any orders to the contractor regarding contractual matters, such as

changes in price, delivery, specifications, or other contractual terms;

b. direction to start, stop, or suspend work, except as specifically provided for by the

terms and conditions of the contract;

c. modification of the contract requirements in any respect;

d. modification of the stated terms of contract in any manner, such as changes in

price, delivery, work statement, or specifications; and

e. approval of any action that will result in an additional cost to the Airports

Authority.

In the event the above actions are necessary, you should initiate the required contract change request, if applicable, in accordance with existing procedures.

Please contact me if there are any aspects of your COTR duties that are unclear.

·	
Enclosure	
cc:	
bcc: 29(grid),	
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	_:04/01/2013

METROPOLITAN WASHINGTON AIRPORTS AUTHORITY RESPONSIBILITIES/DUTIES OF CONTRACTING OFFICER'S TECHNICAL REPRESENTATIVE (COTR)

- 1. Thoroughly familiarize yourself with the terms and conditions of the contract.
- 2. Keep the Contracting Officer fully informed of any technical or contractual difficulties encountered, progress of work, and potential problem areas.
- 3. Furnish information to the contractor as may be required by the contract.
- 4. Recommend changes in the contract, in writing, to the Contracting Officer with supporting justification for the proposed action. In the event the contractor proposes a change, obtain a statement from him/her to that effect, together with your recommendation and justification, and forward same to the Contracting Officer.
- 5. Furnish a detailed estimate of the cost of any proposed increase, decrease, or deviation in the work or services of the contract and applicable funding document.
- 6. Ensure that changes in the work or services and/or delivery schedule are coordinated and approved by the Contracting Officer before the contractor is advised to proceed.
- 7. Initiate through appropriate channels requests for shipment of Owner furnished property. Recommend to the Contracting Officer disposition of nonexpendable property items in excess to the contract.
- 8. Advise the Contracting Officer promptly on receipt and acceptance of items delivered by the contractor under the terms and conditions of the contract.
- 9. Provide the Contracting Officer timely recommendations and comments on contract deliverables.
- 10. Be responsible for the review, account coding and certification of amounts invoiced for payment by the contractor.
- 11. Verify that every Invoice Attachment Form (Exhibit J) submitted lists all subcontractors and that it agrees with the LDBE/MBE/WBE Contract Participation Form (Exhibit D).
- 12. Where Owner furnished property is being used, determine whether it is being properly maintained and accounted for with appropriate controls. Notify and inform the Contracting Officer of any existing discrepancies.

- 13. Any information that might adversely affect the Airports Authority's interests, such as, contractor changes in financial status, personnel or labor difficulties, overextension of facilities, change of contractor's name, etc., should be relayed to the Contracting Officer at once.
- 14. Verify, when possible, that contractor employees being charged as force account are actually working on the contract. For example, if the contractor reports that ten men are working on the contract, check to determine that they are physically present and actually performing work under the contract. This is applicable to fixed-price as well as cost-type contract.
- 15. Review and familiarize yourself with each technical document in the possession of the contractor pertaining to the contract; be prepared, along with the Contracting Officer, to give the contractor the necessary instructions for disclosure, retention, or disposition of the documents.
- 16. Observe safety, health, and security compliance practices of the contractor. Notify the Contracting Officer and PMC's Safety Administrator of the contractor's failure to comply with required safety, health and security procedures.
- 17. Enforce the requirements for participation and enrollment for the prime contractor and subcontractors of any tier in the Airports Authority's provided insurance program.
- 18. Document incidents of poor performance and create a record that will support formal actions to enforce contract terms and conditions.
- 19. Arrange meetings with the contractor, publish minutes, and build a record. The records must be detailed and reflect ongoing communications with the contractor, both verbal and written. Any recommendation to the Contracting Officer for issuance of a cure notice must be supported by documentation of the situation. A recommendation to send a cure notice must be given serious consideration since it could be the precursor to a show cause letter followed by contract termination.

APPENDIX H CONTRACTOR'S RELEASE FORM

Metropolitan Washington Airports Authority

CONTRACTOR'S RELEASE

CONTRACTOR (Name and Address)	CONTRACT NUMBER
	SUM OF
	DOLLARS
	\$
In consideration of payment of the sum stated above, the Contractor, or its a Washington Airports Authority, its officers, agents, and employees, of and from a arising from the said contract, except the following specified claims in stated susceptible of exact statement by the Contractor:	all liabilities, obligations, claims, and demands whatsoever under or
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this release has been executed this day of	
WITNESSES	CONTRACTOR
	BY
	TITLE
NOTE: In case of a corporation, witnesses are not required, but certification below must be co	
NOTE: In case of a corporation, witnesses are not required, but certification below must be co	ompleted.
NOTE: In case of a corporation, witnesses are not required, but certification below must be co	ompleted.
	ompleted.
CERTIFICA	TE second secretary of
I,, certify that I am the	mpleted. TE secretary of who signed said
I,, certify that I am the the corporation named as Contractor in the foregoing release; that	mpleted. TE secretary of who signed said of said corporation; that said release
I,, certify that I am the the corporation named as Contractor in the foregoing release; that release on behalf of the Contractor was then	mpleted. TE secretary of who signed said of said corporation; that said release
I,, certify that I am the the corporation named as Contractor in the foregoing release; that release on behalf of the Contractor was then	mpleted. TE secretary of who signed said of said corporation; that said release
I,, certify that I am the the corporation named as Contractor in the foregoing release; that release on behalf of the Contractor was then	mpleted. TE secretary of who signed said of said corporation; that said release
I,, certify that I am the the corporation named as Contractor in the foregoing release; that release on behalf of the Contractor was then	mpleted. TE secretary of who signed said of said corporation; that said release
I,, certify that I am the the corporation named as Contractor in the foregoing release; that release on behalf of the Contractor was then	mpleted. TE secretary of who signed said of said corporation; that said release
I,, certify that I am the the corporation named as Contractor in the foregoing release; that release on behalf of the Contractor was then	mpleted. TE secretary of who signed said of said corporation; that said release
I,, certify that I am the the corporation named as Contractor in the foregoing release; that release on behalf of the Contractor was then	mpleted. TE secretary of who signed said of said corporation; that said release
I,, certify that I am the the corporation named as Contractor in the foregoing release; that release on behalf of the Contractor was then	mpleted. TE secretary of who signed said of said corporation; that said release
I,, certify that I am the the corporation named as Contractor in the foregoing release; that release on behalf of the Contractor was then	mpleted. TE secretary of who signed said of said corporation; that said release

APPENDIX I APPLICABILITY OF FTA CONTRACT CLAUSES

APPLICABILITY OF THIRD PARTY CONTRACT CLAUSES

(excluding micro-purchases, except for construction contracts over \$2,000)

	TYPE OF PROCUREMENT				
CLAUSE	Professional Services/A&E	Operations/ Management	Rolling Stock Purchase	Construction	Materials & Supplies
No Federal Government Obligations to Third Parties (by Use of a Disclaimer)	All	All	All	All	All
False Statements or Claims Civil and Criminal Fraud	All	All	All	All	All
Access to Third Party Contract Records	All	All	All	All	All
Changes to Federal Requirements	All	All	All	All	All
Termination	All	All	All	All	All
Civil Rights (EEO, Title VI & ADA)	>\$10,000	>\$10,000	>\$10,000	>\$10,000	>\$10,000
Disadvantaged Business Enterprises (DBEs)	All	All	All	All	All
Incorporation of FTA Terms	All	All	All	All	All
Suspension and Debarment	>\$25,000	>\$25,000	>\$25,000	>\$25,000	>\$25,000
Buy America			>\$100,000	>\$100,000	>\$100,000
Resolution of Disputes, Breaches, or Other Litigation	>\$100,000	>\$100,000	>\$100,000	>\$100,000	>\$100,000
Lobbying	>\$100,000	>\$100,000	>\$100,000	>\$100,000	>\$100,000
Clean Air	>\$100,000	>\$100,000	>\$100,000	>\$100,000	>\$100,000
Clean Water	>\$100,000	>\$100,000	>\$100,000	>\$100,000	>\$100,000
Cargo Preference			Involves property transported by ocean vessel	Involves property transported by ocean vessel	Involves property transported by ocean vessel
Fly America	Involves foreign transport or travel by air	Involves foreign transport or travel by air	Involves foreign transport or travel by air	Involves foreign transport or travel by air	Involves foreign transport or travel by air
Davis Bacon Act				>\$2,000 (including ferry vessels)	
Contract Work Hours & Safety Standards Act		>\$100,000 (except transportation services)	>\$100,000	>\$100,000 (including ferry vessels)	
Copeland Anti-Kickback Act				>\$2,000 (including ferry vessels)	
Bonding				>\$100,000	

Contracting Manual Fourth Edition

	TYPE OF PROCUREMENT				
CLAUSE	Professional Services/A&E	Operations/ Management	Rolling Stock Purchase	Construction	Materials & Supplies
Seismic Safety	A&E for New Buildings & Additions			New Buildings & Additions	
Transit Employee Protective Arrangements		Transit Operations			
Charter Service Operations		All			
School Bus Operations		All			
Drug Use and Testing		Transit Operations			
Alcohol Misuse and Testing		Transit Operations			
Patent Rights	Research & Development				
Rights in Data and Copyright Requirements	Research & Development				
Energy Conservation	All	All	All	All	All
Recycled Products		Contracts for items designated by EPA, when procuring \$10,000 or more per year		Contracts for items designated by EPA, when procuring \$10,000 or more per year	Contracts for items designated by EPA, when procuring \$10,000 or more per year
Conformance with ITS National Architecture	ITS Projects	ITS Projects	ITS Projects	ITS Projects	ITS Projects
ADA Access	Architectural & Engineering	All	All	All	All
Notification of Federal Participation for States	Limited to States	Limited to States	Limited to States	Limited to States	Limited to States

APPENDIX J MODEL FEDERAL CLAUSES (AS OF MARCH 1, 2013)

J.1 NO FEDERAL GOVERNMENT OBLIGATIONS TO THIRD PARTIES

Applicability: Applicable to all contracts.

Flow Down: Not required by statute or regulation for either primary contractors or subcontractors, this concept should flow down to all levels to clarify, to all parties to the contract, that the Federal Government does not have contractual liability to third parties, absent specific written consent.

Suggested Language:

The Airports Authority and Contractor acknowledge and agree that, notwithstanding any concurrence by the Federal Government in or approval of the Solicitation or award of the underlying Contract, absent the express written consent by the Federal Government, the Federal Government is not a party to this Contract and shall not be subject to any obligations or liabilities to the Airports Authority, Contractor, or any other party (whether or not a party to that Contract) pertaining to any matter resulting from the underlying Contract.

The Contractor agrees to include the above clause in each subcontract financed in whole or in part with Federal assistance provided by FTA. It is further agreed that the clause shall not be modified, except to identify the Subcontractor who will be subject to its provisions.

J.2 FALSE STATEMENTS OR CLAIMS, CIVIL AND CRIMINAL FRAUD

Applicability: Applicable to all contracts.

Flow Down: These requirements flow down to contractors and subcontractors who make, present, or submit covered claims and statements.

Suggested Language:

The Contractor acknowledges that the provisions of the Program Fraud Civil Remedies Act of 1986, as amended, 31 USC §§ 3801 *et seq.* and U.S. DOT regulations, "Program Fraud Civil Remedies," 49 CFR Part 31, apply to its actions pertaining to this Project. Upon execution of the underlying Contract, the Contractor certifies or affirms the truthfulness and accuracy of any statement it has made, it makes, it may make, or causes to be made, pertaining to the underlying Contract or the FTA assisted project for which this Contract Work is being performed. In addition to other penalties that may be applicable, the Contractor further acknowledges that if it makes, or causes to be made, a false, fictitious, or fraudulent claim, statement, submission, or certification, the Federal Government reserves the right to impose the penalties of the Program Fraud Civil Remedies Act of 1986 on the Contractor to the extent the Federal Government deems appropriate.

The Contractor also acknowledges that if it makes, or causes to be made, a false, fictitious, or fraudulent claim, statement, submission, or certification to the Federal Government under a Contract connected with a project that is financed in whole or in part with Federal assistance originally awarded by FTA under the authority of 49 USC § 5307, the Government reserves the right to impose the penalties of 18 USC § 1001 and 49 USC § 5307(n)(1) on the Contractor, to the extent the Federal Government deems appropriate.

The Contractor agrees to include the above two clauses in each subcontract financed in whole or in part with Federal assistance provided by FTA. It is further agreed that the clauses shall not be modified, except to identify the Subcontractor who will be subject to the provisions.

J.3 ACCESS TO THIRD PARTY CONTRACT RECORDS

Applicability: See Appendix I.

Flow Down: The FTA does not require the inclusion of these requirements in subcontracts.

The specified language is not mandated by the statutes or regulations referenced, but the language provided paraphrases the statutory or regulatory language:

Contracting Manual Fourth Edition

The Contractor agrees to maintain all books, records, accounts and reports required under this Contract for a period of not less than three years after the date of termination or expiration of this Contract, except in the event of litigation or settlement of claims arising from the performance of this Contract, in which case Contractor agrees to maintain same until the Airports Authority, the FTA Administrator, the Comptroller General or any of their duly authorized representatives have disposed of all such litigation, appeals, claims or exceptions related thereto. Reference 49 CFR 18.39(i)(11).

The following access to records requirements apply to this Contract:

In accordance with 49 CFR 18.36(i), the Contractor agrees to provide the Airports Authority, the FTA Administrator, the Comptroller General of the United States or any of their authorized representatives access to any books, documents, papers and records of the Contractor that are directly pertinent to this Contract for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions. Contractor also agrees, pursuant to 49 CFR 633.17 to provide the FTA Administrator or his authorized representatives, including any PMO Contractor, access to Contractor's records and construction sites pertaining to a major capital project, defined at 49 USC 5302(a)1, which is receiving federal financial assistance through the programs described at 49 USC 5307, 5309 or 5311.

The Contractor agrees to permit any of the foregoing parties to reproduce by any means whatsoever or to copy excerpts and transcriptions as reasonably needed.

J.4 CHANGES TO FEDERAL REQUIREMENTS

Applicability: Applicable to all contracts.

Flow Down: The Federal Changes requirement flows down appropriately to each applicable changed requirement.

Suggested Language:

The preceding provisions include, in part, certain standard terms and conditions required by the Department of Transportation, whether or not expressly set forth in the preceding Contract provisions. All contractual provisions required by DOT, as set forth in FTA Circular 4220.1F or its successors are hereby incorporated by reference. Anything to the contrary herein notwithstanding, all FTA mandated terms shall be deemed to control in the event of a conflict with other provisions contained in this agreement. The Contractor shall not perform any act, fail to perform any act or refuse to comply with any Airports Authority requests that would cause the Airports Authority to be in violation of the FTA terms and conditions.

The Contractor shall at all times comply with all applicable FTA regulations, policies, procedures and directives, including without limitation those listed directly or by reference in the Master Agreement between the Airports Authority and the FTA, as they may be amended or promulgated from time to time during the term of this Contract. Contractor's failure to so comply shall constitute a material breach of this Contract.

J.5 TERMINATION

Applicability: All contracts (with the exception of contracts with nonprofit organizations and institutions of higher education,) in excess of \$10,000 shall contain suitable provisions for termination by the grantee including the manner by which it will be effected and the basis for settlement. (For contracts with nonprofit organizations and institutions of higher education the threshold is \$100,000.) In addition, such contracts shall describe conditions under which the contract may be terminated for default as well as conditions where the contract may be terminated because of circumstances beyond the control of the contractor.

Flow Down: The termination requirements flow down to all contracts in excess of \$10,000, with the exception of contracts with nonprofit organizations and institutions of higher learning.

Suggested Language:

a. Termination for Convenience (General Provision) The Airports Authority may terminate this contract, in whole or in part, at any time by written notice to the Contractor when it is in the Government's best interest. The Contractor shall be paid its costs, including contract close-out costs, and profit on work performed up to the time of termination. The Contractor shall promptly submit its termination claim to the Airports Authority. If the Contractor has any property in its possession belonging to the Airports Authority, the Contractor will account for the same, and dispose of it in the manner the Airports Authority directs.

- b. Termination for Default [Breach or Cause] (General Provision) If the Contractor does not deliver material in accordance with the contract delivery schedule, or, if the contract is for services, the Contractor fails to perform in the manner called for in the contract, or if the Contractor fails to comply with any other provisions of the contract, the Airports Authority may terminate this contract for default. Termination shall be effected by serving a notice of termination on the contractor setting forth the manner in which the Contractor is in default. The Contractor will only be paid the contract price for material delivered and accepted, or services performed in accordance with the manner of performance set forth in the contract. If it is later determined by the Airports Authority that the Contractor had an excusable reason for not performing, such as a strike, fire, or flood, events which are not the fault of or are beyond the control of the Contractor, the Airports Authority, after setting up a new delivery of performance schedule, may allow the Contractor to continue work, or treat the termination as a termination for convenience.
- c. Opportunity to Cure (General Provision) The Airports Authority in its sole discretion may, in the case of a termination for breach or default, allow the Contractor ten (10) days in which to cure the defect. In such case, the notice of termination will state the time period in which cure is permitted and other appropriate conditions. If Contractor fails to remedy to the Airports Authority's satisfaction the breach or default of any of the terms, covenants, or conditions of this Contract within ten (10) days after receipt by the Contractor of written notice from the Airports Authority setting forth the nature of said breach or default, the Airports Authority shall have the right to terminate the Contract without any further obligation to the Contractor. Any such termination for default shall not in any way operate to preclude the Airports Authority from also pursuing all available remedies against the Contractor and its sureties for said breach or default.
- **d. Waiver of Remedies for any Breach** In the event that the Airports Authority elects to waive its remedies for any breach by the Contractor of any covenant, term or condition of this Contract, such waiver by the Airports Authority shall not limit its remedies for any succeeding breach of that or of any other term, covenant, or condition of this Contract.
- **e. Termination for Convenience (Professional or Transit Service Contracts)** The Airports Authority, by written notice, may terminate this contract, in whole or in part, when it is in the Government's interest. If this contract is terminated, the Airports Authority shall be liable only for payment under the payment provisions of this contract for services rendered before the effective date of termination.
- f. Termination for Default (Material and Service) If the Contractor fails to deliver material or to perform the services within the time specified in this contract or any extension or if the Contractor fails to comply with any other provisions of this contract, the Airports Authority may terminate this contract for default. The Airports Authority shall terminate by delivering to the Contractor a Notice of Termination specifying the nature of the default. The Contractor will only be paid the contract price for material delivered and accepted, or services performed in accordance with the manner or performance set forth in this contract. If, after termination for failure to fulfill contract obligations, it is determined that the Contractor was not in default, the rights and obligations of the parties shall be the same as if the termination had been issued for the convenience of the Airports Authority.
- g. Termination for Default (Transportation Services) If the Contractor fails to pick up the commodities or to perform the services, including delivery services, within the time specified in this contract or any extension or if the Contractor fails to comply with any other provisions of this contract, the Airports Authority may terminate this contract for default. The Airports Authority shall terminate by delivering to the Contractor a Notice of Termination specifying the nature of default. The Contractor will only be paid the contract price for services performed in accordance with the manner of performance set forth in this contract. If this contract is terminated while the Contractor has possession of Airports Authority goods, the Contractor shall, upon direction of the Airports Authority, protect and preserve the goods until surrendered to the Airports Authority or its agent. The Contractor and Airports Authority shall agree on payment for the preservation and protection of goods. Failure to agree on an amount will be resolved under the Dispute clause. If, after termination for failure to fulfill contract obligations, it is determined that the Contractor was not in default, the rights and obligations of the parties shall be the same as if the termination had been issued for the convenience of the Airports Authority.
- h. Termination for Default (Construction) If the Contractor refuses or fails to prosecute the work or any separable part, with the diligence that will insure its completion within the time specified in this contract or any extension or fails to complete the work within this time, or if the Contractor fails to comply with any other provisions of this contract, the Airports Authority may terminate this contract for default. The Airports Authority shall terminate by delivering to the Contractor a Notice of Termination specifying the nature of the default. In this event, the Airports Authority may take over the work and compete it by contract or otherwise, and may take possession of and use any materials, appliances, and plant on the work site necessary for completing the work. The Contractor and its sureties shall be liable for any damage to

Contracting Manual Fourth Edition

the Airports Authority resulting from the Contractor's refusal or failure to complete the work within specified time, whether or not the Contractor's right to proceed with the work is terminated. This liability includes any increased costs incurred by the Airports Authority in completing the work. The Contractor's right to proceed shall not be terminated nor the Contractor charged with damages under this clause if:

- 1. the delay in completing the work arises from unforeseeable causes beyond the control and without the fault or negligence of the Contractor. Examples of such causes include: acts of God, acts of the Airports Authority, acts of another Contractor in the performance of a contract with the Airports Authority, epidemics, quarantine restrictions, strikes, freight embargoes; and
- 2. the contractor, within ten (10) days from the beginning of any delay, notifies the Airports Authority in writing of the causes of delay. If in the judgment of the Airports Authority, the delay is excusable, the time for completing the work will be extended. The judgment of the Airports Authority shall be final and conclusive on the parties, but subject to appeal under the Disputes clauses. If, after termination of the Contractor's right to proceed, it is determined that the Contractor was not in default, or that the delay was excusable, the rights and obligations of the parties will be the same as if the termination had been issued for the convenience of the Airports Authority.
- i. Termination for Convenience or Default (Architect and Engineering) The Airports Authority may terminate this contract in whole or in part, for the Airports Authority's convenience or because of the failure of the Contractor to fulfill the contract obligations. The Airports Authority shall terminate by delivering to the Contractor a Notice of Termination specifying the nature, extent, and effective date of the termination. Upon receipt of the notice, the Contractor shall (1) immediately discontinue all services affected (unless the notice directs otherwise), and (2) deliver to the Contracting Officer all data, drawings, specifications, reports, estimates, summaries, and other information and materials accumulated in performing this contract, whether completed or in process. If the termination is for the convenience of the Airports Authority, the Contracting Officer shall make an equitable adjustment in the contract price but shall allow no anticipated profit on unperformed services. If the termination is for failure of the Contractor to fulfill the contract obligations, the Airports Authority may complete the work by contract or otherwise and the Contractor shall be liable for any additional cost incurred by the Airports Authority. If, after termination for failure to fulfill contract obligations, it is determined that the Contractor was not in default, the rights and obligations of the parties shall be the same as if the termination had been issued for the convenience of the Airports Authority
- j. Termination for Convenience or Default (Cost-Type Contracts) The Airports Authority may terminate this contract, or any portion of it, by serving a notice or termination on the Contractor. The notice shall state whether the termination is for convenience of the Airports Authority or for the default of the Contractor. If the termination is for default, the notice shall state the manner in which the contractor has failed to perform the requirements of the contract. The Contractor shall account for any property in its possession paid for from funds received from the Airports Authority, or property supplied to the Contractor by the Airports Authority. If the termination is for default, the Airports Authority may fix the fee, if the contract provides for a fee, to be paid the contractor in proportion to the value, if any, of work performed up to the time of termination. The Contractor shall promptly submit its termination claim to the Airports Authority and the parties shall negotiate the termination settlement to be paid the Contractor. If the termination is for the convenience of the Airports Authority, the Contractor shall be paid its contract close-out costs, and a fee, if the contract provided for payment of a fee, in proportion to the work performed up to the time of termination. If, after serving a notice of termination for default, the Airports Authority determines that the Contractor has an excusable reason for not performing, such as strike, fire, flood, events which are not the fault of and are beyond the control of the contractor, the Airports Authority, after setting up a new work schedule, may allow the Contractor to continue work, or treat the termination as a termination for convenience.

J.6 CIVIL RIGHTS REQUIREMENTS

Applicability: The Civil Rights Requirements apply to all contracts.

Flow Down: The Civil Rights requirements flow down to all third party contractors and their contracts at every tier.

The following clause was predicated on language contained at 49 CFR Part 19, Appendix A, but FTA has shortened the lengthy text:

The following requirements apply to the underlying Contract:

- 1. Nondiscrimination: In accordance with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act, as amended, 42 USC § 2000d, section 303 of the Age Discrimination Act of 1975, as amended, 42 USC § 6102, section 202 of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, 42 USC § 12132, and Federal transit law at 49 USC § 5332, the Contractor agrees that it will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, color, creed, national origin, sex, age, or disability. In addition, the Contractor agrees to comply with applicable Federal implementing regulations and other implementing requirements FTA may issue.
- **2. Equal Employment Opportunity:** The following equal employment opportunity requirements apply to the underlying Contract:
 - Race, Color, Creed, National Origin, Sex: In accordance with Title VII of the Civil Rights Act, as amended, 42 USC § 2000e, and Federal transit laws at 49 USC § 5332, the Contractor agrees to comply with all applicable equal employment opportunity requirements of U.S. Department of Labor (U.S. DOL) regulations, "Office of Federal Contract Compliance Programs, Equal Employment Opportunity, Department of Labor," 41 CFR Parts 60 et seq., (which implement Executive Order No. 11246, "Equal Employment Opportunity," as amended by Executive Order No. 11375, "Amending Executive Order 11246 Relating to Equal Employment Opportunity," 42 USC § 2000e note), and with any applicable Federal statutes, executive orders, regulations, and Federal policies that may in the future affect construction activities undertaken in the course of the Project. The Contractor agrees to take affirmative action to ensure that applicants are employed, and that employees are treated during employment, without regard to their race, color, creed, national origin, sex, or age. Such action shall include, but not be limited to, the following: employment, upgrading, demotion or transfer, recruitment or recruitment advertising, layoff or termination; rates of pay or other forms of compensation; and selection for training, including apprenticeship. In addition, the Contractor agrees to comply with any implementing requirements the FTA may issue.
 - (b) Age: In accordance with section 4 of the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967, as amended, 29 USC §§ 623 and Federal transit law at 49 USC § 5332, the Contractor agrees to refrain from discrimination against present and prospective employees for reason of age. In addition, the Contractor agrees to comply with any implementing requirements the FTA may issue.
 - (c) **Disabilities:** In accordance with section 102 of the Americans with Disabilities Act, as amended, 42 USC § 12112, the Contractor agrees that it will comply with the requirements of U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, "Regulations to Implement the Equal Employment Provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act," 29 CFR Part 1630, pertaining to employment of persons with disabilities. In addition, the Contractor agrees to comply with any implementing requirements the FTA may issue.
- 3. The Contractor also agrees to include these requirements in each subcontract financed in whole or in part with Federal assistance provided by the FTA, modified only if necessary to identify the affected parties.

J.7 DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS ENTERPRISES (DBE)

Applicability: Applicable to all contracts.

Flow Down: The requirements of clause subsection b flow down to subcontracts.

Suggested Language:

Disadvantaged Business Enterprises

- a. This contract is subject to the requirements of Title 49, Code of Federal Regulations, Part 26, Participation by Disadvantaged Business Enterprises in Department of Transportation Financial Assistance Programs
- b. The Contractor shall not discriminate on the basis of race, color, national origin, or sex in the performance of this contract. The Contractor shall carry out applicable requirements of 49 CFR Part 26 in the award and administration of this DOT-assisted contract. Failure by the contractor to carry out these requirements is a material breach of this contract, which may result in the termination of this contract or such other remedy as the Airports Authority deems appropriate. Each subcontract the Contractor signs with a Subcontractor must include the assurance in this paragraph (*see* 49 CFR 26.13(b)).

Contracting Manual Fourth Edition

c. {If a separate contract goal has been established, use the following} Bidders/offerors are required to document sufficient DBE participation to meet these goals or, alternatively, document adequate good faith efforts to do so, as provided for in 49 CFR 26.53. Award of this contract is conditioned on submission of the following prior to award.

- 1. The names and addresses of DBE firms that will participate in this contract;
- 2. A description of the work each DBE will perform;
- 3. The dollar amount of the participation of each DBE firm participating;
- 4. Written documentation of the bidder/offeror's commitment to use a DBE Subcontractor whose participation it submits to meet the contract goal;
- 5. Written confirmation from the DBE that it is participating in the contract as provided in the prime Contractor's commitment; and
- 6. If the contract goal is not met, evidence of good faith efforts to do so. Offerors must present the information required above as a matter of responsiveness (see 49 CFR 26.53(3)).
- d. The Contractor is required to pay its Subcontractors performing work related to this contract for satisfactory performance of that work no later than 30 days after the Contractor's receipt of payment for that work from the Airports Authority. In addition, the Contractor is required to return any retainage payments to those Subcontractors within 30 days after the Subcontractor's work related to this contract is satisfactorily completed.
- e. The Contractor must promptly notify the Airports Authority whenever a DBE Subcontractor performing work related to this contract is terminated or fails to complete its work, and must make good faith efforts to engage another DBE Subcontractor to perform at least the same amount of work. The Contractor may not terminate any DBE Subcontractor and perform that work through its own forces or those of an affiliate without prior written consent of the Airports Authority.

J.8 INCORPORATION OF FEDERAL TRANSIT ADMINISTRATION (FTA) TERMS

Applicability: Applicable to all contracts.

Flow Down: Unlimited flow down.

Suggested Language:

The preceding provisions include, in part, certain Standard Terms and Conditions required by DOT, whether or not expressly set forth in the preceding contract provisions. All contractual provisions required by DOT, as set forth in FTA Circular 4220.1F, are hereby incorporated by reference. Anything to the contrary herein notwithstanding, all FTA mandated terms shall be deemed to control in the event of a conflict with other provisions contained in this Agreement. The Contractor shall not perform any act, fail to perform any act, or refuse to comply with any Airports Authority requests which would cause the Airports Authority to be in violation of the FTA terms and conditions.

J.9 SUSPENSION AND DEBARMENT

Applicability: Applicable to all Contracts expected to equal or exceed \$25,000 as well as any Contract or Subcontract (at any level) for Federally required auditing services.

Flow Down: Flows down to any Subcontract level expected to equal or exceed \$25,000.

Suggested Language:

This Contract is a covered transaction for purposes of 49 CFR Part 29. As such, the Contractor is required to verify that none of the Contractor, its principals, as defined at 49 CFR 29.995, or affiliates, as defined at 49 CFR 29.905, are excluded or disqualified as defined at 49 CFR 29.940 and 29.945.

The Contractor is required to comply with 49 CFR 29, Subpart C, and must include the requirement to comply with 49 CFR 29, Subpart C, in any lower-tier covered transaction it enters into.

By signing and submitting its Bid or Proposal, the Bidder or Proposer certifies as follows:

The certification in this clause is a material representation of fact relied upon by the Airports Authority. If it is later determined that the Bidder or Proposer knowingly rendered an erroneous certification, in addition to remedies available to the Airports Authority, the Federal government may pursue available remedies, including but not limited to suspension and/or debarment. The Bidder or Proposer agrees to comply with the requirements of 49 CFR 29, Subpart C, while this Bid or Proposal is valid and throughout the period of any Contract that may arise from this Bid or Proposal. The Bidder or Proposer further agrees to include a provision requiring such compliance in its lower tier covered transactions.

J.10 BUY AMERICA

Applicability: Applicable to construction contracts and acquisition of goods or rolling stock valued at more than \$100,000.

Flow Down: Buy America requirements apply to Contractors, who are responsible for ensuring that lower tier Contractors and Subcontractors are in compliance. The \$100,000 threshold applies only to the Contract. Subcontracts under that amount are subject to Buy America.

Mandatory Language:

The Contractor agrees to comply with 49 U.S.C. 5323(j) and 49 C.F.R. Part 661, which provide that Federal funds may not be obligated unless steel, iron, and manufactured products used in FTA-funded projects are produced in the United States, unless a waiver has been granted by FTA or the product is subject to a general waiver. General waivers are listed in 49 C.F.R. 661.7, and include final assembly in the United States for 15 passenger vans and 15 passenger wagons produced by Chrysler Corporation, and microcomputer equipment and software. Separate requirements for rolling stock are set out at 49 U.S.C. 5323(j)(2)(C) and 49 C.F.R. 661.11. Rolling stock must be assembled in the United States and have a 60 percent domestic content.

A bidder or offeror must submit to the Airports Authority the appropriate Buy America certification (below) with all bids or offers on FTA-funded contracts, except those subject to a general waiver. Bids or offers that are not accompanied by a completed Buy America certification must be rejected as nonresponsive. This requirement does not apply to lower tier subcontractors.

Certification requirement for procurement of steel, iron, or manufactured products.

Certificate of Compliance with 49 U.S.C. 5323(j)(1)

The bidder or offeror hereby certifies that it will meet the requirements of 49 U.S.C. 5323(j)(1) and the appl	icable regulations in	ı 49
C.F.R. Part 661.5.		

C.F.R. Part 661.5.	
Date	
Signature	-
Company Name	
Title	
Certificate of Non-Compliance with 49 U.S.C. 5323(j)(1)	
The bidder or offeror hereby certifies that it cannot comply with the requirements of 49 U.S.C. 5 it may qualify for an exception pursuant to 49 U.S.C. 5323(j)(2)(A), 5323(j)(2)(B), or 5323(j)(2)(B)	• / /
Date	
Signature	
Company Name	
Title	

Contracting Manual Fourth Edition

Certification requirement for procurement of buses, other rolling stock and associated equipment.

Certificate of Compliance with 49 U.S.C. 5323(j)(2)(C).

The bidder or offeror hereby certifies that it will comply with the requirements of 49 U.S.C. 5323(j)(2)(C) and the regulations at 49 C.F.R. Part 661.11.

Date ______

Signature _____

Company Name _____

Title _____

Certificate of Non-Compliance with 49 U.S.C. 5323(j)(2)(C)

The bidder or offeror hereby certifies that it cannot comply with the requirements of 49 U.S.C. 5323(j)(2)(C) and 49 C.F.R. 661.11, but may qualify for an exception pursuant to 49 U.S.C. 5323(j)(2)(A), 5323(j)(2)(B), or 5323(j)(2)(D), and 49 CFR 661.7.

Date ______

Signature _____

Company Name ______

J.11 RESOLUTION OF DISPUTES, BREACHES AND OTHER LITIGATION

Applicability: Applicable to contracts exceeding \$100,000.

Title

Flow Down: The Breaches and Dispute Resolutions requirements flow down to all tiers.

The FTA does not prescribe the form or content of such provisions. What provisions are developed will depend on the circumstances and the type of contract. Recipients should consult legal counsel in developing appropriate clauses. The following clauses are examples of provisions from various FTA third party contracts:

Disputes - Disputes arising in the performance of this Contract which are not resolved by agreement of the parties shall be decided in writing by the Airports Authority's Contracting Officer. This decision shall be final and conclusive unless within ten (10) days from the date of receipt of its copy, the Contractor mails or otherwise furnishes a written appeal to the Contracting Officer. In connection with any such appeal, the Contractor shall be afforded an opportunity to be heard and to offer evidence in support of its position. The decision of the Contracting Officer shall be binding upon the Contractor and the Contractor shall abide by the decision.

Performance During Dispute - Unless otherwise directed by the Airports Authority, the Contractor shall continue performance under this Contract while matters in dispute are being resolved.

Claims for Damages - Should either party to the Contract suffer injury or damage to person or property because of any act or omission of the party or of any of its employees, agents or others for whose acts it is legally liable, a claim for damages therefore shall be made in writing to such other party within a reasonable time after the first observance of such injury of damage.

Remedies - Unless this Contract provides otherwise, all claims, counterclaims, disputes and other matters in question between the Airports Authority and the Contractor arising out of or relating to this agreement or its breach will be decided by arbitration if the parties mutually agree, or in a court of competent jurisdiction.

Rights and Remedies - The duties and obligations imposed by the Contract Documents and the rights and remedies available thereunder shall be in addition to and not a limitation of any duties, obligations, rights and remedies otherwise imposed or available by law. No action or failure to act by the Airports Authority, Airports Authority representative, or Contractor shall

constitute a waiver of any right or duty afforded any of them under the Contract, nor shall any such action or failure to act constitute an approval of or acquiescence in any breach thereunder, except as may be specifically agreed in writing.

J.12 LOBBYING

Applicability: The Lobbying requirements apply to Construction/Architectural and Engineering/Acquisition of Rolling Stock/Professional Services/Operational Services/Turnkey contracts.

Flow Down: Unlimited flow down.

Mandatory Language:

Contractors who apply or bid for an award of \$100,000 or more shall file the certification required by 49 CFR part 20, "New Restrictions on Lobbying." Each tier certifies to the tier above that it will not and has not used Federal funds to pay any person or organization for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a member of Congress, officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a member of Congress in connection with obtaining any Federal contract, grant or any other award covered by 31 U.S.C. 1352. Each tier shall also disclose the name of any registrant under the Lobbying Disclosure Act of 1995 who has made lobbying contacts on its behalf with non-Federal funds with respect to that Federal contract, grant or award covered by 31 U.S.C. 1352. Such disclosures are forwarded from tier to tier up to the Airports Authority.

CERTIFICATION REGARDING LOBBYING

Certification for Contracts, Grants, Loans, and Cooperative Agreements

(To be submitted with each bid or offer exceeding \$100,000)

The undersigned Contractor certifies, to the best of his or her knowledge and belief, that:

- (1) No Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on behalf of the undersigned, to any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of an agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with the awarding of any Federal contract, the making of any Federal grant, the making of any Federal loan, the entering into of any cooperative agreement, and the extension, continuation, renewal, amendment, or modification of any Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement.
- (2) If any funds other than Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any person for making lobbying contacts to an officer or employee of any agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with this Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement, the undersigned shall complete and submit Standard Form--LLL, "Disclosure Form to Report Lobbying," in accordance with its instructions [as amended by "Government wide Guidance for New Restrictions on Lobbying," 61 Fed. Reg. 1413 (1/19/96).
- (3) The undersigned shall require that the language of this certification be included in the award documents for all subawards at all tiers (including Subcontracts, Subgrants, and Contracts under grants, loans, and cooperative agreements) and that all Subrecipients shall certify and disclose accordingly.

This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when this transaction was made or entered into. Submission of this certification is a prerequisite for making or entering into this transaction imposed by 31, U.S.C. § 1352 (as amended by the Lobbying Disclosure Act of 1995). Any person who fails to file the required certification shall be subject to a civil penalty of not less than \$10,000 and not more than \$100,000 for each such failure.

[Note: Pursuant to 31 U.S.C. § 1352(c)(1)-(2)(A), any person who makes a prohibited expenditure or fails to file or amend a required certification or disclosure form shall be subject to a civil penalty of not less than \$10,000 and not more than \$100,000 for each such expenditure or failure.]

The Contractor certifies or affirms the truthfulness and accuracy of each statement of its certification and disclosure, if any. In addition, the Contractor understands and agrees that the provisions of 31 U.S.C. A 3801, *et seq.*, apply to this certification and disclosure, if any.

Contracting Manual		Fourth Edition
	_ Signature of Contractor's Authorized Official	
	_ Name and Title of Contractor's Authorized Official	
	_ Date	

J.13 CLEAN AIR

Applicability: The Clean Air requirements apply to all contracts exceeding \$100,000, including indefinite quantities where the amount is expected to exceed \$100,000 in any year.

Flow Down: The Clean Air requirements flow down to all Subcontracts which exceed \$100,000.

Suggested Language:

The Contractor agrees to comply with all applicable standards, orders or regulations issued pursuant to the Clean Air Act, as amended, 42 USC §§ 7401 *et seq.* The Contractor agrees to report each violation to the Airports Authority and understands and agrees that the Agency will, in turn, report each violation as required to assure notification to the FTA and the appropriate EPA Regional Office.

The Contractor also agrees to include these requirements in each Subcontract exceeding \$100,000 financed in whole or in part with Federal assistance provided by the FTA.

J.14 CLEAN WATER

Applicability: The Clean Water requirements apply to each Contract and Subcontract which exceeds \$100,000.

Flow Down: The Clean Water requirements flow down to FTA Recipients and Subrecipients at every tier.

Suggested Language:

The Contractor agrees to comply with all applicable standards, orders or regulations issued pursuant to the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, as amended, 33 USC 1251 *et seq.* The Contractor agrees to report each violation to the Agency and understands and agrees that the Agency will, in turn, report each violation as required to assure notification to the FTA and the appropriate EPA Regional Office.

The Contractor also agrees to include these requirements in each subcontract exceeding \$100,000 financed in whole or in part with Federal assistance provided by the FTA.

J.15 CARGO PREFERENCE

Applicability: The Cargo Preference requirements apply to all contracts involving equipment, materials, or commodities which may be transported by ocean vessels.

Flow Down: The Cargo Preference requirements apply to all subcontracts when they may be involved with the transport of equipment, material, or commodities by ocean vessel.

Suggested Language:

The Contractor agrees to the following:

To use privately owned U.S.-flag commercial vessels to ship at least fifty (50) percent of the gross tonnage (computed separately for dry bulk carriers, dry cargo liners and tankers) involved, whenever shipping any equipment, material or commodities pursuant to the underlying Contract to the extent such vessels are available at fair and reasonable rates for U.S.-flag commercial vessels;

To furnish within twenty (20) working days following the date of loading for shipments originating within the United States or within thirty (30) working days following the date of leading for shipments originating outside the United States, a legible copy of a rated, "on-board" commercial ocean bill of lading in English for each shipment of cargo described in the preceding paragraph to

the Division of National Cargo, Office of Market Development, Maritime Administration, Washington, DC 20590 and to the Airports Authority (through the Contractor in the case of a Subcontractor's bill-of-lading.)

To include these requirements in all subcontracts issued pursuant to this contract when they may involve the transport of equipment, material or commodities by ocean vessel.

J.16 FLY AMERICA

Applicability: The Fly America requirements apply to the transportation of persons or property, by air, between a place in the U.S. and a place outside the U.S., or between places outside the U.S., when the FTA will participate in the costs of such air transportation. Transportation on a foreign air carrier is permissible when provided by a foreign air carrier under a code share agreement when the ticket identifies the U.S. air carrier's designator code and flight number. Transportation by a foreign air carrier is also permissible if there is a bilateral or multilateral air transportation agreement to which the U.S. Government and a foreign government are parties and which the Federal DOT has determined meets the requirements of the Fly America Act.

Flow Down: First tier contractors are responsible for ensuring that lower tier contractors and subcontractors are in compliance.

Suggested Language:

The Contractor agrees to comply with 49 USC 40118 (the "Fly America" Act) in accordance with the General Services Administration's regulations at 41 CFR Part 301-10, which provide that Recipients and Subrecipients of federal funds and their Contractors are required to use U.S. flag air carriers for U.S. government-financed international air travel and transportation of their personal effects or property, to the extent such service is available, unless travel by foreign air carrier is a matter of necessity, as defined by the Fly America Act. The Contractor shall submit, if a foreign air carrier was used, an appropriate certification or memorandum adequately explaining why service by a U.S. flag air carrier was not available or why it was necessary to use a foreign air carrier and shall, in any event, provide a certificate of compliance with the Fly America requirements. The Contractor agrees to include the requirements of this section in all Subcontracts that may involve international air transportation.

J.17 DAVIS-BACON AND COPELAND ANTI-KICKBACK ACTS

Applicability: The acts apply to any construction contract over \$2,000.

Flow Down: The acts flows down to all subcontracts.

Suggested Language:

(1) Minimum wages –

All laborers and mechanics employed or working upon the site of the work (or under the United States Housing Act of 1937 or under the Housing Act of 1949 in the construction or development of the project), will be paid unconditionally and not less often than once a week, and without subsequent deduction or rebate on any account (except such payroll deductions as are permitted by regulations issued by the Secretary of Labor under the Copeland Act (29 CFR part 3)), the full amount of wages and bona fide fringe benefits (or cash equivalents thereof) due at time of payment computed at rates not less than those contained in the wage determination of the Secretary of Labor which is attached hereto and made a part hereof, regardless of any contractual relationship which may be alleged to exist between the contractor and such laborers and mechanics.

Contributions made or costs reasonably anticipated for bona fide fringe benefits under section 1(b)(2) of the Davis-Bacon Act on behalf of laborers or mechanics are considered wages paid to such laborers or mechanics, subject to the provisions of paragraph (1)(iv) of this section; also, regular contributions made or costs incurred for more than a weekly period (but not less often than quarterly) under plans, funds, or programs which cover the particular weekly period, are deemed to be constructively made or incurred during such weekly period. Such laborers and mechanics shall be paid the appropriate wage rate and fringe benefits on the wage determination for the classification of work actually performed, without regard to skill, except as provided in 29 CFR Part 5.5(a)(4). Laborers or mechanics performing work in more than one classification may be compensated at the rate specified for each classification for the time actually worked therein; provided, that the employer's payroll records accurately set forth the time spent in each classification in which work is performed. The wage determination (including any additional classifications and wage rates conformed under paragraph (1)(ii) of this section) and the Davis-Bacon poster (WH-1321) shall be posted at all times by the Contractor and its

Subcontractors at the site of the work in a prominent and accessible place where it can be easily seen by the workers.

- (ii) (A) The Contracting Officer shall require that any class of laborers or mechanics, including helpers, which is not listed in the wage determination and which is to be employed under the Contract shall be classified in conformance with the wage determination. The Contracting Officer shall approve an additional classification and wage rate and fringe benefits therefore only when the following criteria have been met:
 - (1) Except with respect to helpers as defined as 29 CFR 5.2(n)(4), the work to be performed by the classification requested is not performed by a classification in the wage determination; and
 - (2) The classification is utilized in the area by the construction industry;
 - (3) The proposed wage rate, including any bona fide fringe benefits, bears a reasonable relationship to the wage rates contained in the wage determination; and
 - (4) With respect to helpers as defined in 29 CFR 5.2(n)(4), such a classification prevails in the area in which the work is performed.
 - (B) If the Contractor and the laborers and mechanics to be employed in the classification (if known), or their representatives, and the contracting officer agree on the classification and wage rate (including the amount designated for fringe benefits where appropriate), a report of the action taken shall be sent by the Contracting Officer to the Administrator of the Wage and Hour Division, Employment Standards Administration, U.S. Department of Labor, Washington, DC 20210. The Administrator, or an authorized representative, will approve, modify, or disapprove every additional classification action within 30 days of receipt and so advise the Contracting Officer or will notify the Contracting Officer within the 30-day period that additional time is necessary.
 - (C) In the event the Contractor, the laborers or mechanics to be employed in the classification or their representatives, and the Contracting Officer do not agree on the proposed classification and wage rate (including the amount designated for fringe benefits, where appropriate), the Contracting Officer shall refer the questions, including the views of all interested parties and its recommendation to the Administrator for determination. The Administrator, or an authorized representative, will issue a determination within 30 days of receipt and so advise the Contracting Officer or will notify the Contracting Officer within the 30-day period that additional time is necessary.
 - (D) The wage rate (including fringe benefits where appropriate) determined pursuant to paragraphs (a)(1)(ii) (B) or (C) of this section, shall be paid to all workers performing work in the classification under this Contract from the first day on which work is performed in the classification.
- (iii) Whenever the minimum wage rate prescribed in the contract for a class of laborers or mechanics includes a fringe benefit which is not expressed as an hourly rate, the Contractor shall either pay the benefit as stated in the wage determination or shall pay another bona fide fringe benefit or an hourly cash equivalent thereof.
- (iv) If the Contractor does not make payments to a trustee or other third person, he/she may consider as part of the wages of any laborer or mechanic the amount of any costs reasonably anticipated in providing bona fide fringe benefits under a plan or program; provided, that the Secretary of Labor has found, upon the written request of the Contractor, that the applicable standards of the Davis-Bacon Act have been met. The Secretary of Labor may require the Contractor to set aside in a separate account assets for the meeting of obligations under the plan or program.
- (v) (A) The Contracting Officer shall require that any class of laborers or mechanics which is not listed in the wage determination and which is to be employed under the contract shall be classified in conformance with the wage determination. The Contracting Officer shall approve an additional classification and wage rate and fringe benefits therefore only when the following criteria have been met:
 - (1) The work to be performed by the classification requested is not performed by a classification in the wage determination;

- (2) The classification is utilized in the area by the construction industry; and
- (3) The proposed wage rate, including any bona fide fringe benefits, bears a reasonable relationship to the wage rates contained in the wage determination.
- (B) If the contractor and the laborers and mechanics to be employed in the classification (if known), or their representatives, and the Contracting Officer agree on the classification and wage rate (including the amount designated for fringe benefits where appropriate), a report of the action taken shall be sent by the Contracting Officer to the Administrator of the Wage and Hour Division, Employment Standards Administration, Washington, DC 20210. The Administrator, or an authorized representative, will approve, modify, or disapprove every additional classification action within 30 days of receipt and so advise the Contracting Officer or will notify the Contracting Officer within the 30-day period that additional time is necessary.
- (C) In the event the Contractor, the laborers or mechanics to be employed in the classification or their representatives, and the Contracting Officer do not agree on the proposed classification and wage rate (including the amount designated for fringe benefits, where appropriate), the Contracting Officer shall refer the questions, including the views of all interested parties and its recommendation to the Administrator for determination. The Administrator, or an authorized representative, will issue a determination with 30 days of receipt and so advise the Contracting Officer or will notify the Contracting Officer within the 30-day period that additional time is necessary.
- (D) The wage rate (including fringe benefits where appropriate) determined pursuant to paragraphs (a)(1)(v) (B) or (C) of this section, shall be paid to all workers performing work in the classification under this contract from the first day on which work is performed in the classification.
- (2) Withholding The Airports Authority shall upon its own action or upon written request of an authorized representative of the Department of Labor withhold or cause to be withheld from the Contractor under this contract or any other Federal contract with the same prime Contractor, or any other federally-assisted Contract subject to Davis-Bacon prevailing wage requirements, which is held by the same prime Contractor, so much of the accrued payments or advances as may be considered necessary to pay laborers and mechanics, including apprentices, trainees, and helpers, employed by the Contractor or any Subcontractor the full amount of wages required by the contract. In the event of failure to pay any laborer or mechanic, including any apprentice, trainee, or helper, employed or working on the site of the work (or under the United States Housing Act of 1937 or under the Housing Act of 1949 in the construction or development of the project), all or part of the wages required by the contract, the Airports Authority may, after written notice to the Contractor, sponsor, applicant, or owner, take such action as may be necessary to cause the suspension of any further payment, advance, or guarantee of funds until such violations have ceased.

(3) Payrolls and basic records –

Payrolls and basic records relating thereto shall be maintained by the Contractor during the course of the work (i) and preserved for a period of three years thereafter for all laborers and mechanics working at the site of the work (or under the United States Housing Act of 1937, or under the Housing Act of 1949, in the construction or development of the project). Such records shall contain the name, address, and social security number of each such worker, his or her correct classification, hourly rates of wages paid (including rates of contributions or costs anticipated for bona fide fringe benefits or cash equivalents thereof of the types described in section 1(b)(2)(B) of the Davis-Bacon Act), daily and weekly number of hours worked, deductions made and actual wages paid. Whenever the Secretary of Labor has found under 29 CFR 5.5(a)(1)(iv) that the wages of any laborer or mechanic include the amount of any costs reasonably anticipated in providing benefits under a plan or program described in section 1(b)(2)(B) of the Davis-Bacon Act, the Contractor shall maintain records which show that the commitment to provide such benefits is enforceable, that the plan or program is financially responsible, and that the plan or program has been communicated in writing to the laborers or mechanics affected, and records which show the costs anticipated or the actual cost incurred in providing such benefits. Contractors employing apprentices or trainees under approved programs shall maintain written evidence of the registration of apprenticeship programs and certification of trainee programs, the registration of the apprentices and trainees, and the ratios and wage rates prescribed in the applicable programs.

(ii) (A) The Contractor shall submit weekly for each week in which any contract work is performed a copy of all payrolls to the Airports Authority for transmission to the Federal Transit Administration. The payrolls submitted shall set out accurately and completely all of the information required to be maintained under section 5.5(a)(3)(i) of Regulations, 29 CFR part 5. This information may be submitted in any form desired. Optional Form WH-347 is available for this purpose and may be purchased from the Superintendent of Documents (Federal Stock Number 029-005-00014-1), U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, DC 20402. The prime Contractor is responsible for the submission of copies of payrolls by all Subcontractors.

- (B) Each payroll submitted shall be accompanied by a "Statement of Compliance," signed by the Contractor or Subcontractor or his or her agent who pays or supervises the payment of the persons employed under the contract and shall certify the following:
 - (1) That the payroll for the payroll period contains the information required to be maintained under section 5.5(a)(3)(i) of Regulations, 29 CFR part 5 and that such information is correct and complete;
 - (2) That each laborer or mechanic (including each helper, apprentice, and trainee) employed on the contract during the payroll period has been paid the full weekly wages earned, without rebate, either directly or indirectly, and that no deductions have been made either directly or indirectly from the full wages earned, other than permissible deductions as set forth in Regulations, 29 CFR part 3;
 - (3) That each laborer or mechanic has been paid not less than the applicable wage rates and fringe benefits or cash equivalents for the classification of work performed, as specified in the applicable wage determination incorporated into the contract.
- (C) The weekly submission of a properly executed certification set forth on the reverse side of Optional Form WH-347 shall satisfy the requirement for submission of the "Statement of Compliance" required by paragraph (a)(3)(ii)(B) of this section.
- (D) The falsification of any of the above certifications may subject the Contractor or Subcontractor to civil or criminal prosecution under section 1001 of title 18 and section 231 of title 31 of the United States Code.
- (iii) The Contractor or Subcontractor shall make the records required under paragraph (a)(3)(i) of this section available for inspection, copying, or transcription by authorized representatives of the Federal Transit Administration or the Department of Labor, and shall permit such representatives to interview employees during working hours on the job. If the Contractor or Subcontractor fails to submit the required records or to make them available, the Federal agency may, after written notice to the Contractor, sponsor, applicant, or owner, take such action as may be necessary to cause the suspension of any further payment, advance, or guarantee of funds. Furthermore, failure to submit the required records upon request or to make such records available may be grounds for debarment action pursuant to 29 CFR 5.12.

(4) Apprentices and trainees –

(i) Apprentices - Apprentices will be permitted to work at less than the predetermined rate for the work they performed when they are employed pursuant to and individually registered in a bona fide apprenticeship program registered with the U.S. Department of Labor, Employment and Training Administration, Bureau of Apprenticeship and Training, or with a State Apprenticeship Agency recognized by the Bureau, or if a person is employed in his or her first 90 days of probationary employment as an apprentice in such an apprenticeship program, who is not individually registered in the program, but who has been certified by the Bureau of Apprenticeship and Training or a State Apprenticeship Agency (where appropriate) to be eligible for probationary employment as an apprentice. The allowable ratio of apprentices to journeymen on the job site in any craft classification shall not be greater than the ratio permitted to the Contractor as to the entire work force under the registered program. Any worker listed on a payroll at an apprentice wage rate, who is not registered or otherwise employed as stated above, shall be paid not less than the applicable wage rate on the wage determination for the classification of work actually performed. In addition, any apprentice performing work on the job site in excess of the ratio permitted under the registered program shall be paid not less than the applicable

wage rate on the wage determination for the work actually performed. Where a contractor is performing construction on a project in a locality other than that in which its program is registered, the ratios and wage rates (expressed in percentages of the journeyman's hourly rate) specified in the Contractor's or Subcontractor's registered program shall be observed. Every apprentice must be paid at not less than the rate specified in the registered program for the apprentice's level of progress, expressed as a percentage of the journeymen hourly rate specified in the applicable wage determination.

Apprentices shall be paid fringe benefits in accordance with the provisions of the apprenticeship program. If the apprenticeship program does not specify fringe benefits, apprentices must be paid the full amount of fringe benefits listed on the wage determination for the applicable classification. If the Administrator of the Wage and Hour Division of the U.S. Department of Labor determines that a different practice prevails for the applicable apprentice classification, fringes shall be paid in accordance with that determination. In the event the Bureau of Apprenticeship and Training, or a State Apprenticeship Agency recognized by the Bureau, withdraws approval of an apprenticeship program, the Contractor will no longer be permitted to utilize apprentices at less than the applicable predetermined rate for the work performed until an acceptable program is approved.

- (ii) Trainees - Except as provided in 29 CFR 5.16, trainees will not be permitted to work at less than the predetermined rate for the work performed unless they are employed pursuant to and individually registered in a program which has received prior approval, evidenced by formal certification by the U.S. Department of Labor, Employment and Training Administration. The ratio of trainees to journeymen on the job site shall not be greater than permitted under the plan approved by the Employment and Training Administration. Every trainee must be paid at not less than the rate specified in the approved program for the trainee's level of progress, expressed as a percentage of the journeyman hourly rate specified in the applicable wage determination. Trainees shall be paid fringe benefits in accordance with the provisions of the trainee program. If the trainee program does not mention fringe benefits, trainees shall be paid the full amount of fringe benefits listed on the wage determination unless the Administrator of the Wage and Hour Division determines that there is an apprenticeship program associated with the corresponding journeyman wage rate on the wage determination which provides for other than full fringe benefits for apprentices. Any employee listed on the payroll at a trainee rate who is not registered and participating in a training plan approved by the Employment and Training Administration shall be paid not less than the applicable wage rate on the wage determination for the classification of work actually performed. In addition, any trainee performing work on the job site in excess of the ratio permitted under the registered program shall be paid not less than the applicable wage rate on the wage determination for the work actually performed. In the event the Employment and Training Administration withdraws approval of a training program, the Contractor will no longer be permitted to utilize trainees at less than the applicable predetermined rate for the work performed until an acceptable program is approved.
- (iii) Equal employment opportunity The utilization of apprentices, trainees and journeymen under this part shall be in conformity with the equal employment opportunity requirements of Executive Order 11246, as amended, and 29 CFR Part 30.
- (5) **Compliance with Copeland Act requirements** The Contractor shall comply with the requirements of 29 CFR part 3, which are incorporated by reference in this contract.
- (6) **Subcontracts** The Contractor or Subcontractor shall insert in any subcontracts the clauses contained in 29 CFR 5.5(a)(1) through (10) and such other clauses as the Federal Transit Administration may by appropriate instructions require, and also a clause requiring the Subcontractors to include these clauses in any lower- tier subcontracts. The prime Contractor shall be responsible for the compliance by any Subcontractor or lower tier Subcontractor with all the contract clauses in 29 CFR 5.5.
- (7) **Contract termination: debarment** A breach of the contract clauses in 29 CFR 5.5 may be grounds for termination of the contract, and for debarment as a contractor and a subcontractor, as provided in 29 CFR 5.12.
- (8) **Compliance with Davis-Bacon and Related Act requirements** All rulings and interpretations of the Davis-Bacon and Related Acts contained in 29 CFR parts 1, 3, and 5 are herein incorporated by reference in this contract.
- (9) **Disputes concerning labor standards** Disputes arising out of the labor standards provisions of this contract shall not be subject to the general disputes clause of this contract. Such disputes shall be resolved in accordance with the procedures of the Department of Labor set forth in 29 CFR parts 5, 6, and 7. Disputes within the meaning of this clause include

disputes between the Contractor (or any of its Subcontractors) and the Airports Authority, the U.S. Department of Labor, or the employees or their representatives.

(10) Certification of eligibility –

- (i) By entering into this contract, the Contractor certifies that neither it (nor he or she) nor any person or firm who has an interest in the Contractor's firm is a person or firm ineligible to be awarded Government Contracts by virtue of section 3(a) of the Davis-Bacon Act or 29 CFR 5.12(a)(1).
- (ii) No part of this contract shall be Subcontracted to any person or firm ineligible for award of a Government Contract by virtue of section 3(a) of the Davis-Bacon Act or 29 CFR 5.12(a)(1).
- (iii) The penalty for making false statements is prescribed in the U.S. Criminal Code, 18 U.S.C. 1001.

J.18 CONTRACT WORK HOURS AND SAFETY STANDARDS ACT

Applicability: Applies to contracts exceeding \$100,000.

Flow Down: Provisions of the act flow down to Subcontracts.

Suggested Language:

- (1) **Overtime requirements** No Contractor or Subcontractor contracting for any part of the contract work which may require or involve the employment of laborers or mechanics shall require or permit any such laborer or mechanic in any workweek in which he or she is employed to work in excess of forty hours in such workweek unless such laborer or mechanic receives compensation at a rate not less than one and one-half times the basic rate of pay for all hours worked in excess of forty hours in such workweek.
- (2) Violation; liability for unpaid wages; liquidated damages In the event of any violation of the clause set forth in paragraph (1) of this section, the Contractor and any Subcontractor responsible therefore shall be liable for the unpaid wages. In addition, such Contractor and Subcontractor shall be liable to the United States for liquidated damages. Such liquidated damages shall be computed with respect to each individual laborer or mechanic, including watchmen and guards, employed in violation of the clause set forth in paragraph (1) of this section, in the sum of \$10 for each calendar day on which such individual was required or permitted to work in excess of the standard workweek of forty hours without payment of the overtime wages required by the clause set forth in paragraph (1) of this section.
- Withholding for unpaid wages and liquidated damages The Airports Authority shall upon its own action or upon written request of an authorized representative of the Department of Labor withhold or cause to be withheld, from any moneys payable on account of work performed by the Contractor or Subcontractor under any such Contract or any other Federal contract with the same prime Contractor, or any other federally-assisted Contract subject to the Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act, which is held by the same prime Contractor, such sums as may be determined to be necessary to satisfy any liabilities of such Contractor or Subcontractor for unpaid wages and liquidated damages as provided in the clause set forth in paragraph (2) of this section.
- (4) **Subcontracts** The Contractor or Subcontractor shall insert in any subcontracts the clauses set forth in paragraphs (1) through (4) of this section and also a clause requiring the Subcontractors to include these clauses in any lower tier subcontracts. The prime Contractor shall be responsible for compliance by any Subcontractor or lower tier Subcontractor with the clauses set forth in paragraphs (1) through (4) of this section.

J.19 BONDING

Applicability: For those construction or facility improvement contracts or subcontracts exceeding \$100,000, the FTA may accept the bonding policy and requirements of the Airports Authority, provided that they meet the minimum requirements for construction contracts as follows:

(a) A bid guarantee from each bidder equivalent to five (5) percent of the bid price. The "bid guarantees" shall consist of a firm commitment such as a bid bond, certified check, or other negotiable instrument accompanying a bid as assurance that the bidder will, upon acceptance of his bid, execute such contractual documents as may be required within the time specified.

- (b) A performance bond on the part of the Contractor for 100 percent of the contract price. A "performance bond" is one executed in connection with a contract to secure fulfillment of all the Contractor's obligations under such contract.
- (c) A payment bond on the part of the Contractor for 100 percent of the contract price. A "payment bond" is one executed in connection with a contract to assure payment, as required by law, of all persons supplying labor and material in the execution of the work provided for in the contract. Payment bond amounts required from Contractors are as follows:
 - (1) 50% of the Contract price if the Contract price is not more than \$1 million;
 - (2) 40% of the Contract price if the Contract price is more than \$1 million but not more than \$5 million; or
 - (3) \$2.5 million if the Contract price is more than \$5 million.
- (d) A cash deposit, certified check or other negotiable instrument may be accepted by a Recipient in lieu of performance and payment bonds, provided the Recipient has established a procedure to assure that the interest of the FTA is adequately protected. An irrevocable letter of credit would also satisfy the requirement for a bond.

Suggested Language:

Bid Bond Requirements (Construction)

(a) Bid Security

A Bid Bond must be issued by a fully qualified surety company acceptable to Recipient and listed as a company currently authorized under 31 CFR, Part 223 as possessing a Certificate of Authority as described thereunder.

(b) Rights Reserved

In submitting this bid, it is understood and agreed by Bidder that the right is reserved by the Airports Authority to reject any and all bids, or part of any bid, and it is agreed that the bid may not be withdrawn for a period of [ninety (90)] days subsequent to the opening of bids, without the written consent of the Airports Authority.

It is also understood and agreed that if the undersigned Bidder should withdraw any part or all of his/her bid within [ninety (90)] days after the bid opening without the written consent of the Airports Authority, shall refuse or be unable to enter into this contract, as provided above, or refuse or be unable to furnish adequate and acceptable Performance Bonds and Labor and Material Payments Bonds, as provided above, or refuse or be unable to furnish adequate and acceptable insurance, as provided above, he/she shall forfeit his bid security to the extent of the Airports Authority damages occasioned by such withdrawal, or refusal, or inability to enter into an agreement, or provide adequate security therefore.

It is further understood and agreed that to the extent the defaulting Bidder's Bid Bond, Certified Check, Cashier's Check, Treasurer's Check, and/or Official Bank Check (excluding any income generated thereby which has been retained by the Airports Authority as provided in [Item x "Bid Security" of the Instructions to Bidders]) shall prove inadequate to fully recompense the Airports Authority for the damages occasioned by default, then the undersigned Bidder agrees to indemnify the Airports Authority and pay over to the Airports Authority the difference between the bid security and the Airports Authority's total damages, so as to make the Airports Authority whole.

The undersigned understands that any material alteration of any of the above or any of the material contained on this form, other than that requested, will render the bid unresponsive.

Performance and Payment Bonding Requirements (Construction)

The Contractor shall be required to obtain performance and payment bonds as follows:

- (a) Performance bonds
 - 1. The penal amount of performance bonds shall be 100 percent of the original contract price, unless the Airports Authority determines that a lesser amount would be adequate for its protection..
 - 2. The Airports Authority may require additional performance bond protection when a Contract price is increased. The increase in protection shall generally equal 100 percent of the increase in Contract price. The Airports

Authority may secure additional protection by directing the Contractor to increase the penal amount of the existing bond or to obtain an additional bond.

(b) Payment bonds

- 1. The penal amount of the payment bonds shall equal:
 - (i) Fifty percent of the Contract price if the Contract price is not more than \$1 million.
 - (ii) Forty percent of the Contract price if the Contract price is more than \$1 million but not more than \$5 million; or
 - (iii) Two and one half million if the Contract price is more than \$5 million.
- 2. If the original contract price is \$5 million or less, the Airports Authority may require additional protection as required by subparagraph 1 if the contract price is increased.

Performance and Payment Bonding Requirements (Non-Construction)

When it is determined that a performance bond is required, the Contractor shall be required to obtain performance bonds as follows:

- 1. The penal amount of performance bonds shall be 100 percent of the original contract price, unless the Airports Authority determines that a lesser amount would be adequate for its protection..
- 2. The Airports Authority may require additional performance bond protection when a contract price is increased. The increase in protection shall generally equal 100 percent of the increase in contract price. The Airports Authority may secure additional protection by directing the Contractor to increase the penal amount of the existing bond or to obtain an additional bond.

A payment bond is required only when a performance bond is required, and if the use of a payment bond is in the Airports Authority interest. When it is determined that a payment bond is required, the Contractor shall be required to obtain payment bonds as follows:

- 1. The penal amount of payment bonds shall equal:
 - (i) Fifty percent of the Contract price if the Contract price is not more than \$1 million;
 - (ii) Forty percent of the Contract price if the Contract price is more than \$1 million but not more than \$5 million; or
 - (iii) Two and one half million if the Contract price is increased.

Advance Payment Bonding Requirements

The Contractor may be required to obtain an advance payment bond if the Contract contains an advance payment provision and a performance bond is not furnished. The Airports Authority shall determine the amount of the advance payment bond necessary to protect the Airports Authority.

Patent Infringement Bonding Requirements (Patent Indemnity)

The Contractor may be required to obtain a patent indemnity bond if a performance bond is not furnished and the financial responsibility of the Contractor is unknown or doubtful. The Airports Authority shall determine the amount of the patent indemnity to protect the Airports Authority.

Warranty of the Work and Maintenance Bonds

1. The Contractor warrants to the Airports Authority, the Architect and/or Engineer that all materials and equipment furnished under this Contract will be of highest quality and new unless otherwise specified by the Airports Authority, free from faults and defects and in conformance with the contract documents. All work not so conforming to these standards

shall be considered defective. If required by the [Project Manager], the Contractor shall furnish satisfactory evidence as to the kind and quality of materials and equipment.

2. The Work furnished must be of first quality and the workmanship must be the best obtainable in the various trades. The Work must be of safe, substantial and durable construction in all respects. The Contractor hereby guarantees the Work against defective materials or faulty workmanship for a minimum period of one (1) year after Final Payment by the Airports Authority and shall replace or repair any defective materials or equipment or faulty workmanship during the period of the guarantee at no cost to the Airports Authority. As additional security for these guarantees, the Contractor shall, prior to the release of Final Payment [as provided in Item X below], furnish separate Maintenance (or Guarantee) Bonds in form acceptable to the Airports Authority written by the same corporate surety that provides the Performance Bond and Labor and Material Payment Bond for this Contract. These bonds shall secure the Contractor's obligation to replace or repair defective materials and faulty workmanship for a minimum period of one (1) year after Final Payment and shall be written in an amount equal to ONE HUNDRED PERCENT (100%) of the CONTRACT SUM, as adjusted (if at all).

J.20 SEISMIC SAFETY

Applicability: The Seismic Safety requirements apply only to contracts for the construction of new buildings or additions to existing buildings.

Flow Down: The Seismic Safety requirements flow down from first tier Contractors to assure compliance with the applicable building standards for Seismic Safety, including the work performed by all Subcontractors.

Suggested Language:

The Contractor agrees that any new building or addition to an existing building will be designed and constructed in accordance with the standards for Seismic Safety required in Department of Transportation Seismic Safety Regulations 49 CFR Part 41 and will certify to compliance to the extent required by the regulation. The Contractor also agrees to ensure that all work performed under this contract including work performed by a subcontractor, is in compliance with the standards required by the Seismic Safety Regulations and the certification of compliance issued on the Project.

J.21 TRANSIT EMPLOYEE PROTECTIVE ARRANGEMENTS

Applicability: Applies to Contracts for transit operations performed by employees of a Contractor recognized by FTA to be a transit operator.

Flow Down: These provisions are applicable to all contracts and subcontracts at every tier.

Suggested Language:

- (1) The Contractor agrees to comply with applicable transit employee protective requirements as follows:
 - (a) General Transit Employee Protective Requirements To the extent that FTA determines that transit operations are involved, the Contractor agrees to carry out the transit operations work on the underlying contract in compliance with terms and conditions determined by the U.S. Secretary of Labor to be fair and equitable to protect the interests of employees employed under this contract and to meet the employee protective requirements of 49 U.S.C. A 5333(b), and U.S. DOL guidelines at 29 C.F.R. Part 215, and any amendments thereto. These terms and conditions are identified in the letter of certification from the U.S. DOL to FTA applicable to theProject from which Federal assistance is provided to support work on the underlying contract. The Contractor agrees to carry out that work in compliance with the conditions stated in that U.S. DOL letter. The requirements of this subsection (1), however, do not apply to any contract financed with Federal assistance provided by the FTA either for projects for elderly individuals and individuals with disabilities authorized by 49 U.S.C. § 5310(a)(2), or for projects for nonurbanized areas authorized by 49 U.S.C. § 5311. Alternate provisions for those projects are set forth in subsections (b) and (c) of this clause.
 - (b) Transit Employee Protective Requirements for Projects Authorized by 49 U.S.C. § 5310(a)(2) for Elderly Individuals and Individuals with Disabilities If the Contract involves transit operations financed in whole or in part with Federal assistance authorized by 49 U.S.C. § 5310(a)(2), and if the U.S. Secretary of Transportation has determined or determines in the future that the employee protective requirements of 49 U.S.C. § 5333(b) are

necessary or appropriate for the state and the public body Subrecipient for which work is performed on the underlying contract, the Contractor agrees to carry out the Project in compliance with the terms and conditions determined by the U.S. Secretary of Labor to meet the requirements of 49 U.S.C. § 5333(b), U.S. DOL guidelines at 29 C.F.R. Part 215, and any amendments thereto. These terms and conditions are identified in the U.S. DOL's letter of certification to the FTA, the date of which is set forth Grant Agreement or Cooperative Agreement with the state. The Contractor agrees to perform transit operations in connection with the underlying Contract in compliance with the conditions stated in that U.S. DOL letter.

- (c) Transit Employee Protective Requirements for Projects Authorized by 49 U.S.C. § 5311 in Nonurbanized Areas If the Contract involves transit operations financed in whole or in part with federal assistance authorized by 49 U.S.C. § 5311, the Contractor agrees to comply with the terms and conditions of the Special Warranty for the Nonurbanized Area Program agreed to by the U.S. Secretaries of Transportation and Labor, dated May 31, 1979, and the procedures implemented by U.S. DOL or any revision thereto.
- (2) The Contractor also agrees to include any applicable requirements in each subcontract involving transit operations financed in whole or in part with Federal assistance provided by FTA.

J.22 CHARTER SERVICE OPERATIONS

Applicability: Applicable to Operational Service Contracts.

Flow Down: Applicable to first tier Contractors.

Suggested Language:

The Contractor agrees to comply with 49 U.S.C. 5323(d) and 49 CFR Part 604, which provides that the Airports Authority is prohibited from providing charter service using federally funded equipment or facilities if there is at least one private charter operator willing and able to provide the service, except under one of the exceptions at 49 CFR 604.9. Any charter service provided under one of the exceptions must be "incidental," i.e., it must not interfere with or detract from the provision of mass transportation.

J.23 SCHOOL BUS OPERATIONS

Applicability: Applicable to Operational Service Contracts.

Flow Down: Applicable to first tier Contractors.

Suggested Language:

Pursuant to 69 U.S.C. 5323(f) and 49 CFR Part 605, the Airports Authority may not engage in school bus operations exclusively for the transportation of students and school personnel in competition with private school bus operators unless qualified under specified exemptions. When operating exclusive school bus service under an allowable exemption, the Airports Authority may not use federally funded equipment, vehicles, or facilities.

J.24 DRUG USE AND TESTING AND ALCOHOL MISUSE AND TESTING

Applicability: Applicable to Operational Service Contracts.

Flow Down: Anyone who performs a safety-sensitive function for the Airports Authority is required to comply with 49 CFR 655, with certain exceptions for contracts involving maintenance services. Maintenance contractors for non-urbanized area formula program grantees are not subject to the rules. Also, the rules do not apply to maintenance Subcontractors.

Suggested Language:

(a) Contractor agrees to establish and implement a drug and alcohol testing program that complies with 49 CFR Part 655, produce any documentation necessary to establish its compliance with Part 655, and permit any authorized representative of the United States Department of Transportation or its operating administrations, the State Oversight Agency of Virginia, or Owner, to inspect the facilities and records associated with the implementation of the drug and alcohol testing program as required under 49 CFR Part 655 and review the testing process. Contractor agrees further to certify its

compliance with Part 655 annually before March 15 and to submit the Management Information System (MIS) reports annually before March 15 to Owner. To certify compliance Contractor shall use the "Substance Abuse Certifications" in the "Annual List of Certifications and Assurances for Federal Transit Administration Grants and Cooperative Agreements," which is published annually in the Federal Register.

- (b) To the extent applicable, Contractor agrees to comply with the following Federal substance abuse regulations:
 - (1) <u>Drug-Free Workplace</u>. U.S. DOT regulations, "Governmentwide Requirements for Drug-Free Workplace (Financial Assistance), 49 C.F.R. Part 32, that implement the Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1988, 41 U.S.C. §§ 701 *et seq*.
 - (2) <u>Alcohol Misuse and Prohibited Drug Use</u>. FTA regulations, "Prevention of Alcohol Misuse and Prohibited Drug Use in Transit Operations," 49 C.F.R. Part 655, that implement 49 U.S.C. § 5331.

J.25 PATENT RIGHTS AND RIGHTS IN DATA AND COPYRIGHT REQUIREMENTS

Applicability: Only applicable to research projects financed by an FTA grant the purpose of which is to finance the development of a product or information.

Flow Down: Applicable to all Contractors and their Contracts at every Tier.

Suggested Language:

CONTRACTS INVOLVING EXPERIMENTAL, DEVELOPMENTAL, OR RESEARCH WORK

- A. **Rights in Data** The following requirements apply to each contract involving experimental, developmental or research work:
 - (1) The term "subject data" used in this clause means recorded information, whether or not copyrighted, that is delivered or specified to be delivered under the contract. The term includes graphic or pictorial delineation in media such as drawings or photographs; text in specifications or related performance or design-type documents; machine forms such as punched cards, magnetic tape, or computer memory printouts; and information retained in computer memory. Examples include, but are not limited to: computer software, engineering drawings and associated lists, specifications, standards, process sheets, manuals, technical reports, catalog item identifications, and related information. The term "subject data" does not include financial reports, cost analyses, and similar information incidental to contract administration.
 - (2) The following restrictions apply to all subject data first produced in the performance of the contract to which this Attachment has been added:
 - (a) Except for its own internal use, the Airports Authority or Contractor may not publish or reproduce subject data in whole or in part, or in any manner or form, nor may the Airports Authority or Contractor authorize others to do so, without the written consent of the Federal Government, until such time as the Federal Government may have either released or approved the release of such data to the public; this restriction on publication, however, does not apply to any contract with an academic institution.
 - (b) In accordance with 49 C.F.R. § 18.34 and 49 C.F.R. § 19.36, the Federal Government reserves a royalty-free, non-exclusive and irrevocable license to reproduce, publish, or otherwise use, and to authorize others to use, for "Federal Government purposes," any subject data or copyright described in subsections (2)(b)1 and (2)(b)2 of this clause below. As used in the previous sentence, "for Federal Government purposes," means use only for the direct purposes of the Federal Government. Without the copyright owner's consent, the Federal Government may not extend its Federal license to any other party.
 - 1. Any subject data developed under that contract, whether or not a copyright has been obtained; and
 - 2. Any rights of copyright purchased by the Airports Authority or Contractor using Federal assistance in whole or in part provided by FTA.

When FTA awards Federal assistance for experimental, developmental, or research work, it is the FTA's general intention to increase transportation knowledge available to the public, rather than to restrict the benefits resulting from the work to participants in that work. Therefore, unless the FTA determines otherwise, the Airports Authority and the Contractor performing experimental, developmental, or research work required by the underlying contract to which this provision is added agrees to permit the FTA to make available to the public, either the FTA's license in the copyright to any subject data developed in the course of that contract, or a copy of the subject data first produced under the contract for which a copyright has not been obtained. If the experimental, developmental, or research work, which is the subject of the underlying contract, is not completed for any reason whatsoever, all data developed under that contract shall become subject data as defined in subsection (a) of this clause and shall be delivered as the Federal Government may direct. This subsection (c), however, does not apply to adaptations of automatic data processing equipment or programs for the Airports Authority or Contractor's use whose costs are financed in whole or in part with Federal assistance provided by the FTA for transportation capital projects.

- (d) Unless prohibited by state law, upon request by the Federal Government, the Airports Authority and the Contractor agree to indemnify, save, and hold harmless the Federal Government, its officers, agents, and employees acting within the scope of their official duties against any liability, including costs and expenses, resulting from any willful or intentional violation by the Airports Authority or Contractor of proprietary rights, copyrights, or right of privacy, arising out of the publication, translation, reproduction, delivery, use, or disposition of any data furnished under that Contract. Neither the Airports Authority nor the Contractor shall be required to indemnify the Federal Government for any such liability arising out of the wrongful act of any employee, official, or agents of the Federal Government.
- (e) Nothing contained in this clause on rights in data shall imply a license to the Federal Government under any patent or be construed as affecting the scope of any license or other right otherwise granted to the Federal Government under any patent.
- (f) Data developed by the Airports Authority or Contractor and financed entirely without using Federal assistance provided by the Federal Government that has been incorporated into work required by the underlying contract to which this provision has been added is exempt from the requirements of subsections (b), (c), and (d) of this clause, provided that the Airports Authority or Contractor identifies that data in writing at the time of delivery of the contract work.
- (g) Unless the FTA determines otherwise, the Contractor agrees to include these requirements in each subcontract for experimental, developmental, or research work financed in whole or in part with Federal assistance provided by the FTA.
- Unless the Federal Government later makes a contrary determination in writing, irrespective of the Contractor's status (i.e., a large business, small business, state government or state instrumentality, local government, nonprofit organization, institution of higher education, individual, etc.), the Airports Authority and the Contractor agree to take the necessary actions to provide, through the FTA, those rights in that invention due the Federal Government as described in U.S. Department of Commerce regulations, "Rights to Inventions Made by Nonprofit Organizations and Small Business Firms Under Government Grants, Contracts and Cooperative Agreements," 37 C.F.R. Part 401.
- (4) The Contractor also agrees to include these requirements in each subcontract for experimental, developmental, or research work financed in whole or in part with Federal assistance provided by FTA.
- B. **Patent Rights** The following requirements apply to each contract involving experimental, developmental, or research work:
 - (1) General If any invention, improvement, or discovery is conceived or first actually reduced to practice in the course of or under the contract to which this provision has been added, and that invention, improvement, or discovery is patentable under the laws of the United States of America or any foreign country, the Airports Authority and Contractor agree to take actions necessary to provide immediate notice and a detailed report to the party at a higher tier until the FTA is ultimately notified.

- Unless the Federal Government later makes a contrary determination in writing, irrespective of the Contractor's status (a large business, small business, state government or state instrumentality, local government, nonprofit organization, institution of higher education, individual), the Airports Authority and the Contractor agree to take the necessary actions to provide, through the FTA, those rights in that invention due the Federal Government as described in U.S. Department of Commerce regulations, "Rights to Inventions Made by Nonprofit Organizations and Small Business Firms Under Government Grants, Contracts and Cooperative Agreements," 37 C.F.R. Part 401
- (3) The Contractor also agrees to include the requirements of this clause in each subcontract for experimental, developmental, or research work financed in whole or in part with Federal assistance provided by FTA.

J.26 ENERGY CONSERVATION

Applicability: Applicable to all Contracts.

Flow Down: The Energy Conservation requirements extend to all Third Party Contractors and their Contracts at every tier.

Suggested Language:

The Contractor agrees to comply with mandatory standards and policies relating to energy efficiency which are contained in the state energy conservation plan issued in compliance with the Energy Policy and Conservation Act.

J.27 RECYCLED PRODUCTS

Applicability: Applicable to all contracts for items designated by the EPA when the Recipient or Contractor procures \$10,000 or more of one of these items during the fiscal year or has procured \$10,000 or more of such items in the previous fiscal year,

Flow Down: These requirements flow down to all to all Contractor and Subcontractor tiers.

Suggested Language:

The contractor agrees to comply with all the requirements of Section 6002 of the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA), as amended (42 U.S.C. 6962), including but not limited to the regulatory provisions of 40 CFR Part 247, and Executive Order12873, as they apply to the procurement of the items designated in Subpart B of 40 CFR Part 247.

J.28 CONFORMANCE WITH ITS NATIONAL ARCHITECTURE

Applicability: Applicable to Contracts and solicitations for ITS projects.

Flow Down: Flow down is to all tiers.

Suggested Language:

The Contractor agrees to conform to the National Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITS) Architecture and Standards as required by SAFETEA-LU § 5307(c), 23 U.S.C. § 512 note, and follow the provisions of FTA Notice, "FTA National ITS Architecture Policy on Transit Projects," 66 Fed. Reg. 1455 et seq., January 8, 2001, and any other implementing directives FTA may issue at a later date, except to the extent FTA determines otherwise in writing.

J.29 ADA ACCESS

Applicability: Applicable to Contracts for rolling stock or facilities construction/renovation.

Flow Down: The requirements flow down to all tiers.

Suggested Language:

The Contractor agrees to comply with 49 U.S.C. § 5301(d), which states the federal policy that elderly individuals and individuals with disabilities have the same right as other individuals to use public transportation services and facilities, and that special efforts shall be made in planning and designing those services and facilities to implement transportation accessibility rights for elderly

individuals and individuals with disabilities. The Contractor also agrees to comply with all applicable provisions of section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended, 29 U.S.C. § 794, which prohibits discrimination on the basis of disability in the administration of programs or activities receiving Federal financial assistance; with the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (ADA), as amended, 42 U.S.C. §§ 12101 *et seq.*, which requires that accessible facilities and services be made available to individuals with disabilities; with the Architectural Barriers Act of 1968, as amended, 42 U.S.C. §§ 4151 *et seq.*, which requires that buildings and public accommodations be accessible to individuals with disabilities; and with other laws and amendments thereto pertaining to access for individuals with disabilities that may be applicable. In addition, the Recipient agrees to comply with applicable implementing Federal regulations, and any later amendments thereto, and agrees to follow applicable Federal implementing directives, except to the extent the FTA approves otherwise in writing.

APPENDIX K FORMS FOR USE IN FTA FUNDED CONTRACTS

K.1 TIME AND MATERIALS REPORT

TIME AND MATERIALS REPORT

Project: Contract No.:			:		
Prime: Sub:					
	Wawk Itom and	l Dagawintian.			
Date of Work:	Work Item and	Description:			
LABOR	N	~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~	Hours		T
Classification	No.	Charge Code	Worked		Line Total
			+		
				<u> </u>	
			-		
1			+		
				<u>I</u>	
EQUIPMENT Classification	No.	Charge Code	Hours Worked	SB	Line Total
			+		
			<u> </u>		
MATERIALS		SALVAGE			
Description Quantity Un	it	Description	Quantity		Unit
				-	
			+		
Location and Description of Work:					
Location and Description of Work:					

Contra	acting Manual	Fourth Edition
K.2	INDEPENDENT COST ESTIMATE	
	Appendix K-2	

INDEPENDENT COST ESTIMATE	SHEET OF _
PROJECT TITLE:	
DATE:	CONTRACT NO.: RFP/PO/RFC/CO:
DATE:PREPARED BY:	
	ATTENTION:
	N OF AN INDEPENDENT COST ESTIMATE IS
	HE WORK AND DETERMINING THE METHOD OF
PREPARING THE ESTIMATE. ESTIMA	ATES MAY BE PREPARED USING MANY FORMS OF
<u>CURRENTLY</u> A	VAILABLE INFORMATION.
DACIC OF THE ECTIMATE.	
BASIS OF THE ESTIMATE:	
The estimate is priced to support a new procu	rement / a change order / a request for change / etc.
The scope of services is to Manufacture / Fur	nish / Design / Construct / Study / etc.
The basis of the Contract is a Purchase Order	r / Professional Services / Design-Build / Design-Bid-Build / etc.
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES:	
Professional Services Estimate is based on	
Estimate includes costs for	
Estimate excludes costs for	
DESCRIPTION OF WORK:	
Describe in words the scope of the work. Ex:furnish / design / furnish and install / c	Provide all plant, labor, equipment, material, supervision to onstruct
Estimate includes cost for quality control etc.	testing laboratory / night work / overtime / shipping / training /
Estimate excludes costs for quality contro	l / testing laboratory / night work / overtime
EXCLUSIONS:	
Environmental Remediation	Right-of-Way
Program Costs	ETC.

INDEPENDENT C PROJECT: DATE:			C	ONTRACT NO RFP/PO/RFC/		OF
CHARGE CODE	<u>DESCRIPTION</u>	<u>QTY</u>	<u>U/M</u>	UNIT COST	AMOUNT	TOTAL
	Durfound Country Labor					
	Professional Services Labor Measured by type and hours	XXX	hrs			
	neadared by type and nours	AAA	1113			
	Scope of Supply					
	Pens / Pencils / Computers Spare parts / ETC.	XXX	ea			
	Construction Work Element ETC. using recognized units of measure and quantities available from review of the scope documents / site visit / or similar description of the work. Include evaluations for Night Work / limited shift / extended shift - resulting in Estimated Premium: Loss in Productivity / Shift Differential / Short Shift	XXX	hrs			
	OR					
	Labor Measured by type and hours	XXX	hrs			
	measured by type and nours	АЛА	1113			
	<u>Material</u>					
	Measured as ea, tons, sq yds, cu yds, etc.	XXX	Var			
	Equipment					
	Measured by type and hours used	XXX	hrs			
	Subcontracts Measured as appropriate: Unit price / etc.					
	OR					
	Labor Measured by type and hours	xxx	hrs			
	Material Material					
	Measured as ea, tons, sq yds, cu yds, etc.	XXX	Var			
	Equipment Measured by type and hours used	XXX	hrs			
	measured by type and nours used	AAA	1113			
	Subtotal Direct Cost					XXXXXX
	Other Direct Costs					
	Mobilization / Travel / Consultants / Bonds / Insurance / Tax / etc.					
	Contigency (10 - 30%)					
	Escalation (0 - x% - Mid-point of Scope)					
	Overhead (if not included above)					
	Fee / Profit (if not included above)					
	Total Estimated Cost:					
	Total Estimated Costs				XXX	XXXXXXX
					Round to:	ZZZZZZ
	NOTES: 1) The work has been priced assuming	ubcontracto	r OH&	P.		
	PREPARED:					
	REVIEWED:					

K.3 COST ANALYSIS

	LYSIS SUMMARY			_		SHEET_	of
					CONTRA	CT NO.:	
DATE:					RFP/PC	D/RFC/CO:	
CHARCE	T		DDENECOTIATION				
CHARGE CODE	<u>DESCRIPTION</u>	<u>ICE</u>	PRENEGOTIATION ESTIMATE	CONT/SUPP1	CONT/SUPP2	CONT/SUPP3	NOTES
CODE							
	Professional Services Labor						
	Scope of Supply						
	C 4 4 W LEI						
	Construction Work Element						
	OR						
	<u>Labor</u>						
	<u>Material</u>						
	Equipment						
	Ch						
	Subcontract Summary						
	Subtotal Direct Cost						
	Subtotal Direct Cost						
	Other Direct Costs						
	Contigency (10 - 30%)						
	Escalation						
	(0 - x% - Mid-point of Scope)						
	Overhead						
	Fee / Profit						
	(if not included above)						
	TOTAL ESTIMATED COST:						
	NOTES: 1) The work has been priced assuming 2) All unit costs are / are not fully marked 3) See Basis of Estimate for details.			tractor / Subcontra	ctor / Supplier OH	&P.	
	PREPARED:						

				CONTRA RFP/PC	SHEET CT NO.: O/RFC/CO:	
CHARGE CODE	DESCRIPTION	PRENEGOTIATION ESTIMATE	CONT/SUPP1	CONT/SUPP2	CONT/SUPP3	NOTES
	Professional Services Labor					
	Measured by type and hours					
	Scope of Supply					
	Pens / Pencils / Computers / Spare parts / ETC.					
	Construction Work Element					
	ETC. using recognized units of measure					
	and quantities available from review of the					
	scope documents / site visit / or similar					
	description of the work. Include					
	evaluations for Night Work / limited shift /					
	extended shift - resulting in Estimated					
	Premium: Loss in Productivity / Shift					
	Differential / Short Shift					
	OR					
	Labor					
	Measured by type and hours					
	Material					
	Measured as ea, tons, sq yds, cu yds, etc.					
	Equipment					
	Measured by type and hours used					
	<u>Subcontracts</u> Measured as appropriate: Unit price / etc.					
	OR					
	<u>Labor</u>					
	Measured by type and hours					
	<u>Material</u>					
	Measured as ea, tons, sq yds, cu yds, etc.					
	Equipment					
	Equipment Measured by type and hours used					
	Measurea by type and nours used					
	Subtotal Direct Cost					
	Other Direct Costs					
	Mobilization / Travel / Consultants / Bonds					
	/ Insurance / Tax / etc.					
		_				
-	Contigency (10 - 30%)					
	Escalation (0 - x% - Mid-point of Scope)					
	Overhead (if not included above)					
	Fee / Profit (if not included above)					
	TOTAL ESTIMATED COST:					

Contra	acting Manual	Fourth Edition
K.4	PRICE ANALYSIS	
		Appendix K-4

	YSIS TLE: BY:			CONTR. RFP/PC	SHEET _ ACT NO.: D/RFC/CO: _	_OF
BACKGROU	ND:					
	oted on the atta	IS: (Choose those ched sheet(s) is d		and reasonable b	pased on the fo	ollowing
		ting suppliers' price		for the same item.	(Complete con	mparison
		d pricing with in-lors influencing any				in-house
with m (Attach Analysi etc. to j	arket data such a data and historica	onents against curre asonableness of the	Index or Inflation ent published stand	Rate over the cor ards, such as labor	responding time	e period.
Item	Proposed Pricing	Average Market Price	Competitor A	Competitor B	In-House Estimate	Other
Discussion:						
Conclusion:						
Attachments:						
Prepared:		_ Reviewed:		Approve	d:	

Instructions for preparing a PRICE ANALYSIS:

The evidence compiled by a price analysis includes:

- Developing and examining data from multiple sources whenever possible that demonstrates or strongly suggests that the proposed price is fair.
- Determining when multiple data consistently indicate that a proposed price represents a good value for the money.
- Documenting data sufficiently to convince a third party that the analyst's conclusions are valid.

The COTR shall collect, examine, estimate or otherwise analyze prices and prepare a table that is self explanatory and appropriately noted as to sources and that supports a conclusion that the proposed/agreed upon price being awarded is a fair and reasonable price to be paid for securing the Work as defined by the procurement documents or existing Contract.

Metropolitan Washington Airports Authority	Metropolitan	Washington	Airports	Authority
--------------------------------------------	--------------	------------	-----------------	-----------

K.5 PROCUREMENT HISTORY

PROCUREMENT HISTORY PROJECT TITLE:		SHEET _ OF _ CONTRACT NO.:
DATE: PREPARED BY:		RFP/PO/RFC/CO:
SOURCE OF FUNDING:		ERP NO
REASON FOR THE PROCUREM	IENT:	
METHOD OF PROCUREMENT: Micro Purchase:	Competitive RFP:	Competitive Bid:
Small Purchase:	A&E Services:	Sole Source:
JUSTIFICATION IF NON-COMP	PETITIVE:	
D .: 1 C C . T		
REASON FOR CONTRACTOR S Lowest responsive, responsible bidde Evaluation results were:	er:	
BASIS FOR PRICE: (Attached Me Accepted proposed price:	emorandum) Negotiated Price:	Other:
COST/PRICE ANALYSIS: The price offered by the supplier estimate), and variance between the oprices was attributed to:	comparative evaluations is%. I	tiation cost analysis (or independent cost Pricing discrepancies between the evaluated
Other sources/data used to affirm pri	ice reasonableness were:	
SUMMARY OF RESPONSIBILIT	Y AND RESPONSIVENESS CHE	ECKS:
DATE OF AWARD: Board Approval Date (if applicable):		

For Change Orders: Identify each and summarize reason for change, dates, cost analysis, time impact, and modification number.

INDEX

Best and Final Offers Best Value Procedure Bids Board of Directors Approval Bonds Bonds for Non-Construction Brand Name or Equal Causes for Debarment Causes for Debarment Claim Submission Clarifications DBE Program Debarment Debarment Debriefing Unsuccessful Offerors Definitions Delegation of Contracting Authority Design-Build Contracts Determination of LDBE/DBE Potential Determination of Responsibility Discussions/Negotiations Disputes E	Proposal Evaluation Prospective Offeror Li Review of Proposals - Revisions/Withdrawls Submission of Proposa Conformity Conformity Determination Construction Construction Construction Construction Contractor R Constructive Acknowledg Constructive Changes Contract Administration Contract Award Contract Closeout Contract Format Contract Types Contract Types Contractor License Requir Contractor Performance Correction of Mistakes Pr Cure Notice	sts 65 Conformance 65 of Proposals 64 als 63 n 19 n 12 Responsibility 22 gement 13 72 47 20 54 20 31 rements 36
A/E Source Selection Contract Contraction Contractor Responsibility Constructive Contractor Contract Administration Contract Administration Contract Contract Contract Contract Contract Format Contract Format Contract Format Contract Format Contract Format Contractor Performance Contractor License Requirements Contractor License Requirements Contractor Performance Contract Format Debarment Deb	Review of Proposals - Revisions/Withdrawls Submission of Proposal Conformity Conformity Determination Construction Construction Construction Construction Constructive Acknowledg Constructive Changes Contract Administration Contract Award Contract Closeout Contract Format Contract Types Contract Types Contractor License Require Correction of Mistakes Pr Cure Notice	Conformance of Proposals 65 of Proposals 64 als 63 19 19 n 12 Responsibility 22 gement 13 72 47 20 54 20 31 1 1 rements 36 51 1 ior to Award 18
Ade Source Selection Abstract of Offers Form 12 Advertised Sealed Bids Advertised Sealed Bids Advertisement of Contracting Opportunities AdP Funded Procurements 33 Air Ine Tenant Procured Projects 33 Airiport Scurity Controlled Distribution Airports Authority Debarment Judge Allowable Profit 39 Alternate or Qualified Offers Alternative Dispute Resolution Amendments Authority Debarment Judge Award Alternates Award With Discussions Best and Final Offers Best Value Procedure Best Approval Bonds for Non-Construction Brand Name or Equal Causes for Debarment Claim Submission 12 Review of Proposals Rubinisation Proposals Submission of Proposals Contracting Construction Contractor Responsibility Construction Contractor Construction Contract Administration Constructive Acknowledgement Construction Acknowledgement Constructive Acknowledgement Constructive Acknowledgement Construction Contract Administration Contract Administration Contract Administration Contract Homand Contract Proma Contract Types Contract Types Contract Closeout Contract Homand Contract Proma Contract Proma Contracting Authority Contract Types Contracting Authority Contract Proma Contracting Authority Debarment Debarme	20 Revisions/Withdrawls Submission of Proposa Conformity Conformity Determination Construction Construction Construction Construction Constructive Acknowledg Constructive Changes Contract Administration Contract Award Contract Closeout Contract Types Contract Types Contract Types Contract Types Contract Contract Contract Types Contract Types Contract Types Contract Contract Contract Contract Types Contract Types Contract Types Contract Types Contract Types Contract Contract Contract Contract Types Contract Type	of Proposals als 63 19 n 12 Responsibility 22 rement 13 72 47 20 54 20 31 rements 36 51 ior to Award 18
Abstract of Offers Form 12 Advertised Sealed Bids 24, 58 AlF Funded Procurements 35 Airline Tenant Procured Projects 3 Airport Security Controled Distribution 1, 25 Aliports Authority Debarment Judge 85 Allowable Profit 39 Alternative Dispute Resolution 80 Alternative Dispute Resolution 7 Authority Debarment Judge 83 Alternative Dispute Resolution 80 Amendments 28 Audit and Inspection of Records 40 Authority Debarment Judge 83, A-1 Authority Debarment Judge 83 Alternative Dispute Resolution 80 Amendments 40 Authority Debarment Judge 83, A-1 Best Value Procedure 20 Bids 24, 58 Board of Directors Approval 1, 20 Bonds for Non-Construction 37 Bonds for Non-Construction 9 Brand Name or Equal C-3 Causes for Debarment 84 Claim Submission 79 Causes for Debarment 12 E Submission of Proposals Confromity Confromity Construction Construction Prostruction Proposals Conformity Determination Construction Proposals Conformity Constructive Acknowledgement Constructive Changes Constructive Acknowledgement Constructive Changes Constructive Changes Constructive Acknowledgement Constructive Changes Constructive Changes Constructive Acknowledgement Constructive Changes Constructive Acknowledgement Constructive Changes Constructive C	Submission of Proposa 24, 58 Conformity Conformity Determination Construction Construction Construction Construction Constructive Acknowledg Constructive Changes Contract Administration Contract Award Contract Closeout Contract Types Contract Types Contract Types Contract Types Contract Contract Contract Types Contract Types Contract Types Contract Contract Contract Contract Types	Als 63 19 n 12 Responsibility 22 gement 13 72 47 20 54 20 31 rements 36 51 ior to Award 18
Abstract of Offers Form Advertised Sealed Bids Advertisement of Contracting Opportunities Advertisement of Contracting Opportunities Alp Funded Procurements Airjune Tenant Procured Projects Airjune Tenant Projects Airjune Tenant Procured Projects Airjune Tenant Procured Projects Airjune Tenant Procured Projects Airjune Tenant Procured Construction Construction Offers Active Tenant Projects Airjune Tenant Avard Contract Administration Contract Administration	tring Opportunities string Opp	19 n 12 22 Responsibility 22 24 47 20 54 20 31 1 rements 36 51 ior to Award 18
Advertised Sealed Bids Advertisement of Contracting Opportunities AlP Funded Procurements Airline Tenant Procured Projects Airport Security Controlled Distribution Airport Security Controlled Constructive Changes Contract Closeout Contract Closeout Contract Closeout Contract Types Contract Types Contractor License Requirements Contractor Performance Contract Performance Contractor Perf	tring Opportunities Seriojects End Distribution ment Judge Seriogects Seriojects Ser	Responsibility 22 Responsibility 22 Rement 13 72 47 20 54 20 31 1 rements 36 51 ior to Award 18
Advertisement of Contracting Opportunities AIP Funded Procurements Airline Tenant Procured Projects Airport Security Controlled Distribution Airport Security Controlled Distribution Airports Authority Debarment Judge Allowable Cost Allowable Profit Alternate or Qualified Offers Alternate or Qualified Offers Audit and Inspection of Records Authority Debarment Judge Award Alternates Award Alternates Award Alternates Award with Discussions Best and Final Offers Best Value Procedure Bids Bonds of Directors Approval Bonds for Non-Construction Brand Name or Equal Causes for Debarment Claim Submission Constructive Acknowledgment Constructive Constructive Constructive Constructive Changes Constructive Changes Contract Administration Contract Format Contract Types Contract Types Contractor Types Contractor License Requirements Contractor Performance Contractor Performance Correction of Mistakes Prior to Award Cure Notice DBE Program Debarment Debarment Debarment Debarment Deberifing Unsuccessful Offerors Delegation of Contracting Authority Design-Build Contracts Determination of Responsibility Discussions/Negotiations Disputes E Causes for Debarment Claim Submission 12 Construction Contractor Responsibility Constructive Acknowledgment Construction Acknowledgment Construction Acknowledgment Construction Acknowledgment Construction Acknowledgment Construction Acknowledgment Construction Contract Types Contract Types Contract Types Contract Types Contract Types Contract Despois Profit Award Contract Types Contractor Performance Contractor Performance Contractor Performanc	tring Opportunities s	Responsibility 22 gement 13 72 47 20 54 20 31 1 rements 36 51 ior to Award 18
AIP Funded Procurements Airline Tenant Procured Projects 3	Services 35 Construction Contractor R Construction Contractor R Constructive Acknowledge Constructive Changes Contract Administration Contract Award Contract Closeout Contract Format Contract Types Contract Types Contract Types Contractor License Requirement States of Contract Types Contractor License Requirement States of Contract Types Contractor License Requirement States of Contractor Performance Correction of Mistakes Procure Notice	Responsibility 22 rement 13 72 47 20 54 20 31 rements 36 51 ior to Award 18
Airline Tenant Procured Projects Airport Security Controlled Distribution Airport Security Controlled Distribution Airport Authority Debarment Judge Allowable Cost Allowable Profit 39 Alternate or Qualified Offers Alternate or Qualified Offers Alternative Dispute Resolution Authority Debarment Judge Award Alternates Authority Debarment Judge Award Alternates Award Alternates Award Alternates Award Alternates Award With Discussions Best and Final Offers Best Value Procedure Board of Directors Approval Bonds Bonds for Non-Construction Brand Name or Equal Causes for Debarment Claim Submission Carrect Sexponsibility Constructive Acknowledgement Contract Administration Contract Closeout Contract Types Contract Closeout Contract Types Contract Closeout Contract Types Contracted Promate Contractor License Requirements Contractor Performance Correction of Mistakes Prior to Award Cure Notice D D D D D D D D D D D D D	Projects 2 d Distribution 3 ment Judge 3 ment Judge 4 ment Judge 5 ment Judge 5 ment Judge 6 ment Judge 7 ment Judge 8 ment Judge 9 men	rement 13 72 47 20 54 20 31 1 rements 36 51 ior to Award 18
Airport Security Controlled Distribution Airports Authority Debarment Judge Allowable Cost Allowable Profit Allowable Profit Allowable Profit Alternative Organified Offers Alternative Dispute Resolution Amendments Audit and Inspection of Records Authority Debarment Judge Award With Discussions Best and Final Offers Best Value Procedure Bonds Bonds Bonds for Non-Construction Brand Name or Equal Airport Security Contract Variation Contract Administration Contract Award Contract Closeout Contract Types Contracting Authority Contractor Performat Contractor License Requirements Contractor Performance Correction of Mistakes Prior to Award Cure Notice D D D D D D D D D D D D D	constructive Acknowledge Constructive Acknowledge Constructive Changes Contract Administration Contract Award Contract Closeout Contract Format Contract Types Contractor License Requirement States of Contract Types Contractor License Requirement States of Contract Types Contractor License Requirement States of Contractor Performance Correction of Mistakes Procure Notice	72 47 20 54 20 31 1 rements 36 51 ior to Award 18
Airports Authority Debarment Judge Allowable Cost Allowable Profit 39 Allowable Profit 39 Alternate or Qualified Offers Alternative Dispute Resolution Alternative Contract Administration Contract Closeout Contract Closeout Contract Format Contract Format Contract Format Contract Types Contractor License Requirements Contractor Performance Correction of Mistakes Prior to Award Cure Notice D D Best and Final Offers Best Value Procedure Bids Board of Directors Approval Bonds 13, 18, 36 Board of Directors Approval Bonds 13, 18, 36 Bonds of Non-Construction Brand Name or Equal Causes for Non-Construction Brand Name or Equal Causes for Debarment Claim Submission 12 E Contract Administration Contract Administration Contract Closeout Contract Closeout Contract Closeout Contract Closeout Contract Promat Contract Format Contract Promat Contracting Authority Design-Build Contracts Design-Build Contracts Determination of LDBE/DBE Potential	ment Judge 85 39 Contract Administration Contract Award Contract Closeout Contract Format Contract Types Contract Types Contracting Authority Contractor License Require Correction of Mistakes Pr Cure Notice	20 54 20 31 1 rements 36 51 ior to Award 18
Allowable Cost Allowable Profit 39 Allowable Profit 39 Alternate or Qualified Offers 29, 64 Alternative Dispute Resolution Amendments Audit and Inspection of Records Authority Debarment Judge Award Alternates Award With Discussions Best and Final Offers Best Value Procedure Bids Board of Directors Approval Bonds Bonds for Non-Construction Brand Name or Equal Causes for Debarment Causes for Debarment Claim Submission Carel Contract Award Contract Closeout Contract Types Contracting Authority Contracting Authority Contracting Authority Contractor License Requirements Contractor Performance Contractor License Requirements Contracto	fers 29, 64 Contract Administration Contract Award Contract Closeout Contract Format Contract Types Contract Types Contracting Authority Contractor License Requirements of Correction of Mistakes Pr Cure Notice	20 54 20 31 1 rements 36 51 ior to Award 18
Allowable Profit Alternate or Qualified Offers Alternative Dispute Resolution Amendments Audit and Inspection of Records Authority Debarment Judge Award Alternates Award With Discussions Best and Final Offers Best Value Procedure Bids Board of Directors Approval Bonds Bonds for Non-Construction Brand Name or Equal Causes for Debarment Causes for Debarment Causes for Debarment Claim Submission Camendments Authority Contract Types Contract Types Contractor License Requirements Contractor Performance Correction of Mistakes Prior to Award Cure Notice D D D D D D D D D D D D D	fers 29, 64 Contract Award Contract Closeout Contract Format Contract Types Contract Types Contract Types Contracting Authority Contractor License Require Contractor Performance Correction of Mistakes Pr Cure Notice	54 20 31 1 rements 36 51 ior to Award 18
Alternative Dispute Resolution Alternative Dispute Resolution Amendments Audit and Inspection of Records Authority Debarment Judge Award Alternates Award With Discussions Best and Final Offers Best Value Procedure Bids Board of Directors Approval Bonds for Non-Construction Brand Name or Equal Causes for Debarment Calim Submission Causes for Debarment Calim Submission Causes for Debarment Causes for Deba	lution 29, 64 Contract Format Contract Types 28 Contracting Authority Contractor License Require Contractor Performance 40 Contractor Performance Correction of Mistakes Pr Cure Notice	20 31 1 rements 36 51 ior to Award 18
Alternative Dispute Resolution Amendments Audit and Inspection of Records Authority Debarment Judge Award Alternates Award with Discussions Best and Final Offers Best Value Procedure Bids Board of Directors Approval Bonds	dution 80 Contract Format 28 Contract Types 40 Contracting Authority Contractor License Require 40 Contractor Performance Contractor Performance Correction of Mistakes Pr Cure Notice	31 1 rements 36 51 ior to Award 18
Amendments Audit and Inspection of Records Authority Debarment Judge Award Alternates Award with Discussions Best and Final Offers Best Value Procedure Bids Board of Directors Approval Bonds for Non-Construction Brand Name or Equal Causes for Debarment Claim Submission Causes for Debarment Causes for Debarment Claim Submission Causes for Debarment Causes for Debarment Claim Submission Causes for Debarment Causes for Debarment Causes for Debarment Claim Submission Causes for Debarment Causes for Debarment Causes for Debarment Claim Submission Causes for Debarment Causes for Debarm	Lecords ge	1 36 51 ior to Award 18
Authority Debarment Judge Award Alternates Award Alternates Award with Discussions Best and Final Offers Best Value Procedure Bids Board of Directors Approval Bonds Bonds for Non-Construction Brand Name or Equal Causes for Debarment Causes for Debarment Causes for Debarment Causes for Debarment Cause North Contractor License Requirements Contractor License Requirements Contractor Energy Requirements Contractor License Requirements Contractor Energy Requirements Contractor License Requirements Contractor Performance Correction of Mistakes Prior to Award Cure Notice D D D D D D D D D D D D D	ge 83, A-1 Contractor License Requirements 40 Contractor Performance 40 Contractor Performance 40 Correction of Mistakes Pr Cure Notice	rements 36 51 ior to Award 18
Authority Debarment Judge Award Alternates Award with Discussions Award with Discussions	ge 83, A-1 Contractor Eleense Requirements of the contractor Contractor Performance Correction of Mistakes Pr Cure Notice	51 ior to Award 18
Award Alternates Award with Discussions Award With Discussions	40 Contractor Performance 17 Correction of Mistakes Pr Cure Notice	ior to Award 18
Award with Discussions Touris Notice Touris Notice	Cure Notice	
Best and Final Offers Best Value Procedure Bids Board of Directors Approval Bonds Bonds for Non-Construction Brand Name or Equal Causes for Debarment Causes for Debarment Claim Submission Clarifications DBE Program Debarment Debarment Debriefing Unsuccessful Offerors Definitions Delegation of Contracting Authority Design-Build Contracts Determination of LDBE/DBE Potential Determination of Responsibility Discussions/Negotiations Disputes E		31, /3
Best and Final Offers Best Value Procedure Bids Board of Directors Approval Bonds Bonds for Non-Construction Brand Name or Equal Causes for Debarment Causes for Debarment Claim Submission Clarifications DBE Program Debarment Debriefing Unsuccessful Offerors Definitions Delegation of Contracting Authority Design-Build Contracts Determination of LDBE/DBE Potential Determination of Responsibility Discussions/Negotiations Disputes E		
Best Value Procedure Bids 24, 58 Board of Directors Approval Bonds Bonds for Non-Construction Brand Name or Equal Causes for Debarment Causes for Debarment Claim Submission Clairifications Debarment Debarment Debarment Debarment Debarment Definitions Definitions Delegation of Contracting Authority Design-Build Contracts Determination of LDBE/DBE Potential Determination of Responsibility Discussions/Negotiations Disputes E	u	
Best Value Procedure Bids 24, 58 Board of Directors Approval Bonds Bonds for Non-Construction Brand Name or Equal Causes for Debarment Causes for Debarment Claim Submission Clairifications Debarment Debarment Debarment Debarment Debarment Definitions Definitions Delegation of Contracting Authority Design-Build Contracts Determination of LDBE/DBE Potential Determination of Responsibility Discussions/Negotiations Disputes E	19	
Bids Board of Directors Approval Bonds Bonds for Non-Construction Brand Name or Equal Causes for Debarment Claim Submission Clarifications 24, 58 Debarment Debriefing Unsuccessful Offerors Definitions Delegation of Contracting Authority Design-Build Contracts Determination of LDBE/DBE Potential Determination of Responsibility Discussions/Negotiations Disputes E	INCE Program	41
Board of Directors Approval Bonds Bonds 13, 18, 36 Bonds for Non-Construction Brand Name or Equal Causes for Debarment Claim Submission Clarifications 1, 20 Debriefing Unsuccessful Offerors Definitions Delegation of Contracting Authority Design-Build Contracts Determination of LDBE/DBE Potential Determination of Responsibility Discussions/Negotiations Disputes E	24 58 Debarment	83
Bonds 13, 18, 36 Bonds for Non-Construction 37 Brand Name or Equal C-3 C-3 Causes for Debarment Claim Submission 79 Clarifications 13, 18, 36 Delegation of Contracting Authority Design-Build Contracts Determination of LDBE/DBE Potential Determination of Responsibility Discussions/Negotiations Disputes E	val Debriefing Unsuccessful C	Offerors 7
Bonds for Non-Construction Brand Name or Equal C-3 Design-Build Contracts Determination of LDBE/DBE Potential Determination of Responsibility Discussions/Negotiations Disputes Causes for Debarment Claim Submission Clarifications C-3 Defigation of Contracting Authority Design-Build Contracts Determination of LDBE/DBE Potential Determination of Responsibility Discussions/Negotiations Disputes E	13 18 36 Definitions	A-1
Brand Name or Equal C-3 Design-Build Contracts Determination of LDBE/DBE Potential Determination of Responsibility Discussions/Negotiations Disputes Causes for Debarment Claim Submission Clarifications 79 Clarifications 12	ion 37 Delegation of Contracting	
Causes for Debarment Claim Submission Clarifications Determination of LDBE/DBE Potential Determination of Responsibility Discussions/Negotiations Disputes E	C ₋₃ Design-Build Contracts	23
Causes for Debarment Claim Submission Clarifications Discussions/Negotiations Disputes E E	Determination of LDBE/I	
Causes for Debarment Claim Submission Clarifications Disputes E E		
Causes for Debarment 84 Claim Submission 79 Clarifications 12		17 79
Claim Submission 79 E Clarifications 12	Disputes	79
Clarifications 12	84	
Flectronically Transmitted Otters	54 Electronically Transmitted	d Offers 28
Code of Edition of Pusings Opportunity	XIV E Mail Notification of Pu	
Competition Guidelines C-2 DDOIECT at EDT	C-2 DDOIECT ALEDT	6
Competitive Proposals (RFP)	FP) II Emergency Purchase Autl	
Competitive Range 18 Endorsements	18 Endorsoments	39
Compliance Fauel Opportunity Contracting Programs	Equal Opportunity Contra	
Concessions 55 Equipment Maintenance Contracts	Fauinment Maintenance (
ACDBE Participation 01 Ethics	01 Ethios	xiv, 19
Advertisement of Opportunities 62 Evaluation Committee (EC)		
Apparent Successful Offeror /0 Evaluation Criteria A/E Contracts	Therefor /0 Evaluation Criteria A/E	
Evaluation Criteria Roth Price and Technical	Hyalijation (riteria – Roth	Price and Technical 14
Board Approval Clarifications 56 Evaluation Criteria – Bour Free and Technical Evaluation Criteria – Price Only		e Only 14
Contract Administration 72 Evaluation Criteria – Technical Only	05 Evaluation Criteria – Tech	
Contracting Officers 55 Evaluation Steps	Hyaluation Stens	15
Contractor Performance 73		
Determination of Decognosibility 68	ongibility 68	
Discussions/Negotiations 67 F		
Electronically Transmitted Offers 64	5118	
Management Contracts 75 Firm Fixed-Price Contracts		ts 31
Pre-Performance Conference 71 Fixed-Price Contracts		
110 1 0.10 mailed Controlled /1 1 1.100-Ont-1 flee Contracts	71 Tixet-Official Contract	51

EOD/Ensight Daymant Towns	25	Due Duenesel Confirment / Site Vi	26
FOB/Freight Payment Terms	35	Pre-Proposal Conference/Site Visit	26
Formula - Assigning Points for Price	17	Price Formula for Assigning Points	17
Full and Open Competition	1	Priced Options	39
		Procurement Cycle	C-1
<u> </u>		Procurement Lead Time	C-1
\boldsymbol{G}		Proposals and Bidding Compared	11
		Protests	77
General Contracting Procedures	35	Public Release of Proposal Information	27
Governmental Purchasing Agreements	2, 25	Purchase Order/Blanket Purchase Order	26
Ī		\overline{R}	
1			
Impasse and Litigation	80	Reckless or Frivolous Claims	80
Insurance	37	Remedies for Inappropriate Claims	80
		Rental, Lease, and Installment Purchases	38
		Reopening Closed Contracts	49
\overline{L}		Request for Quotations (RFQ)	26
L		Requisition Approval Requirements	C-3
		Requisition Funding Considerations	C-4
Labor-Intensive Services Contracts	14	Requisitions	C-1
LDBE 100% Set-Aside	1	Responsibilities of Procurement Offices	4
LDBE Program	41	Responsibility Determination	19
LDBE/DBE Participation	41	Responsiveness	24, 59
Limited Competitive Proposal Procedures	25	Review of a Debarment Determination	85
Litigation	80	Revisions/Withdrawals of Proposals	29
Litigation Bonds	37	RFP Content	12
Living Wage	40	RFP Evaluation Criteria	13
Lump Sum Contract	31	RFQ/Purchase Orders	26
\overline{M}		S	
MDE A MDE D. d. i. d.	40		
MBE & WBE Participation	42	Samples	38
Modifications	. ~	Schedule for Protests	77
Different Types	48	Sealed Bid	24, 58
Impact on DBE/LDBE	49	Show Cause Notice	51, 74
Multiple Awards	38	Single Response to a Solicitation	12
		Sole Source	3
		Full and Open Competition	3
N		Patents or Restricted Data Rights	3
		Procedures	25
Notice-To-Proceed	47	Unique or Innovative Concepts	3
Notifying Unsuccessful Offerors	7	Utility Services and Supplies	3
Trothying Chadecessiai Citerois	,	Solicitation Distribution	26
		Solicitation Process	11
0		Specification Preparation Guidelines	C-3
U		Split Awards	38
		Suspension	83
Opening Proposals	12	Suspension of Work	51
Options	39, 48, 49		
Other Than Full and Open Competition	2		
		T	
P		Termination for Convenience	53
		Termination for Default	52, 74
Payment Considerations	49	Time-and-Materials Contracts	32, 74
		Timely Submission of Proposals	28
Performance Guarantee	70		
Performance Guarantee Performance Period		Timery Submission of Proposats	20
Performance Period	39, 49	Timely Submission of Troposus	20
Performance Period Points of Contact	39, 49 B-1	Timely Submission of Troposus	20
Performance Period	39, 49	Timely Submission of Troposus	20

$oldsymbol{U}$		W	
Un-Priced Options	39	Waiver of Jury Trial	79
Unsuccessful Offerors	7, 70		
Urgent and Compelling Need	2		



METROPOLITAN WASHINGTON AIRPORTS AUTHORITY

Procurement and Contracts Department, MA-29
I Aviation Circle, Suite 154
Washington, DC 20001-6000

This document is available on-line at: www.mwaa.com/contracting